Quarterly

Volume XV Issue 3(75) Fall 2024 ISSN 2068 – 7729 Journal DOI https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt



Fall 2024 Volume XV Issue 3(7<u>5)</u>

Editor in Chief: **Ramona Pîrvu**, University of Craiova, Romania

Co-Editor:

Cristina Mihaela Barbu, Spiru Haret University, Romania

Editorial Advisory Board:

Omran Abdelnaser, University Sains Malaysia, Malaysia

Huong Ha, Singapore University of Social Sciences, Singapore

Harjeet Kaur, HELP University College, Malaysia

Janusz Grabara, Czestochowa University of Technology, Poland

Vicky Katsoni, Technological Educational Institute of Athens, Greece

Sebastian Kot, Czestochowa University of Technology, The Institute of Logistics and International Management, Poland

Andreea Marin-Pantelescu, Academy of Economic Studies Bucharest, Romania

Piotr Misztal, The Jan Kochanowski University in Kielce, Faculty of Management and Administration, Poland

Agnieszka Mrozik, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

Chuen-Chee Pek, Nottingham University Business School, Malaysia

Roberta De Santis, LUISS University, Italy

Fabio Gaetano Santeramo, University of Foggia, Italy

Dan Selişteanu, University of Craiova, Romania

Lesia Kucher, Lviv Polytechnic National University, Ukraine

Lóránt Dénes Dávid, Eötvös Loránd University, Hungary

Laura Ungureanu, Spiru Haret University, Romania

Sergey Evgenievich Barykin, Peter the Great St. Petersburg Polytechnic University, Russian Federation

Omar Abedalla Alananzeh, Faculty of Tourism and Hotel Management, Yarmouk University, Jordan

Marco Martins, Polytechnic Institute of Tomar, Portugal

Konstantinos Antoniadis, University of Macedonia Thessaloniki, Greece ASERS Publishing

http://www.asers.eu/asers-publishing ISSN 2068 – 7729 Journal DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt

Table of Contents:

1	Food Security and Marine Capture Fisheries of BUGSAY Association of La Libertad, Negros Oriental, Philippines Eden Grace V. TABANAO, Christine B. GALLOSA	429
2	Fuzzy Analytical Hierarchy Process Evaluation of Stakeholder Groups Involvement in Forest Management Situations Dorina GRAZHDANI	435
3	How Advanced Is Green Participatory Budgeting in Poland and Spain? A Case Study of Gdansk and Barcelona Małgorzata SIEMIONEK-RUSKAŃ, Anna SIEMIONEK-LEPCZYŃSKA	449
4	Alternative Forms of Tourism: User Generate Content Promote Birdwatching Tourism in Kefalonia island, Greece Michail XANTHAKIS, Nikos ANTONOPOULOS, Andreas KANAVOS, Anastasia KOMNENOU	459
5	Integration of the Pro-Environmental Concepts in Various Management Accounting Tools Anna SIEMIONEK-LEPCZYŃSKA, Michał CHALASTRA	479
6	How Green Are Hotels in Ghana? Evidence from Star-Rated Hotels in Kumasi Metropolitan Area Amoako Noble SARKODIE, Jane DERY, Charlotte GYIMAH, Comfort GYEDUAH, Hannah Esi Akyere ACQUAH	488
7	Integrating Marine Tourism into the Blue Economy Framework Kiran REDDY, Bhaskar SAILESH	501
8	Tourists' Preferences in the Context of Their Psychological Well-Being: Conjoint Analysis Anna MŁYNKOWIAK-STAWARZ, Robert BĘBEN	521
9	Improving Tourist Loyalty: Examining the Role of Environmental Tourism Policy on Tourist Behavior Ivo NOVITANINGTYAS, Clarisa Alfa LIONORA, Andhatu ACHSA, Budi HARTONO	537
10	Assess the Barrier of Small and Medium-Sized Hotel Digitalization: A Combination of AHP and DEMATEL Analysis Pham Thanh TUNG	547
11	The Interconnection of Rural Tourism Development with Local SMEs: The Potential of Startup Business Networking in Southern Malang Indonesia Agung WINARNO, Desti Nur AINI, Norlida Hanim Mohd. SALEH, Muhammad Aris ICHWANTO, Agus PURNOMO, Amalia Arifah RAHMAN	564
12	Exploring Tourists' Experience in Cinema-Induced Tourism through Sentiment Analysis Approach: Case of Ouarzazate Film Attractions Moulay Abdellah TAIBI, Raja HANBALI, Fatima-Zohra IFLAHEN	575
13	Al in Competitive Intelligence, Traditional and New Techniques for Gathering and Analysing Data	591

Silvia Denisa TARANU, Adrian Gabriel CIORANU

Call for Papers Winter Issue 2024 Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism

Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism is an open access, peer-reviewed interdisciplinary research journal, aimed to publish articles and original research papers that contribute to the development of both experimental and theoretical nature in the field of Environmental Management and Tourism Sciences. The Journal publishes original research and seeks to cover a wide range of topics regarding environmental management and engineering, environmental management and health, environmental chemistry, environmental protection technologies (water, air, soil), pollution reduction at source and waste minimization, energy and environment, modelling, simulation and optimization for environmental protection; environmental biotechnology, environmental education and sustainable development, environmental strategies and policies.

Authors are encouraged to submit high quality, original works that discuss the latest developments in environmental management research and application with the certain scope to share experiences and research findings and to stimulate more ideas and useful insights regarding current best-practices and future directions in Environmental Management.

Also, this journal is committed to a broad range of topics regarding Tourism and Travel Management, leisure and recreation studies and the emerging field of event management. It contains both theoretical and applied research papers and encourages obtaining results through collaboration between researchers and those working in the tourism industry.

The journal takes an interdisciplinary approach and includes planning and policy aspects of international, national and regional tourism as well as specific management studies. Case studies are welcomed when the authors indicate the wider applications of their insights or techniques, emphasizing the global perspective of the problem they address.

Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism is indexed in RePEc, CEEOL, ProQuest, EBSCO, DOAJ and Cabell Directory databases.

Details regarding the publication in this journal are here: https://journals.aserspublishing.eu/jemt/about

Deadline for submission:	15 st October 2024
Expected publication date:	November 2024
Website:	https://journals.aserspublishing.eu/jemt
E-mail:	jemt@aserspublishing.eu



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).01

Food Security and Marine Capture Fisheries of BUGSAY Association of La Libertad, Negros Oriental, Philippines

Eden Grace V. TABANAO Social Science Department Negros Oriental State University, Philippines ORCID: 0009-0001-0914-6941; Researcher ID: JED-7485-2023 edengracetabanao@norsu.edu.ph

> Christine B. GALLOSA Social Science Department Negros Oriental State University, Guihulngan, Philippines <u>christinegallosa101@gmail.com</u>

Article info: Received 11 June 2024; Received in revised form 27 June 2024; Accepted 22 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: Marine Capture Fisheries are a valuable food source, but challenges related to humanitarian and environmental factors often hinder access to sufficient nutrition. This study aimed to evaluate food security and analyze marine capture fisheries practices among members of the BUGSAY Association in La Libertad, Negros Oriental. Employing a stratified random sampling method, the researcher gathered data from 254 respondents from six coastal barangays in La Libertad - Pisong, Martilo, North Poblacion, South Poblacion, Cantupa, and San Jose. The majority of respondents, predominantly male fishermen aged 46-60, were married with 1-5 dependents, had incomplete elementary education, and earned less than ₱9,520 monthly. Findings revealed prevalent challenges in accessing adequate and nutritious foods, with many respondents experiencing these hardships ten times or more in the past four weeks. The study highlighted May as the peak fishing month, with 144 respondents engaging in high fishing activity, followed by June (129 respondents) and April (123 respondents). The ranking indicated heightened fishing activities in the first half of the year (April, May, June), coinciding with the spawning season of many fish species in the Philippines during late spring and early summer. This period witnesses increased fish abundance. driven by rising water temperatures that enhance fish activity and accessibility to fishermen. Warmer waters also promote plankton growth, a crucial food source for fish (Mcevoy, L., and Mcevoy, J., 2006). In contrast, February exhibited the lowest fishing activity, with only 34 respondents identifying it as a peak fishing period. February falls within the Amihan season, characterized by cooler temperatures, strong winds, and rough seas - conditions that pose risks and challenges for fishing endeavors. The use of cast nets, pump boats, and traditional fishing vessels is tailored to local environments and cultural norms, enabling fishermen to efficiently catch and sell fresh fish during peak fishing months (Xing, Q., Yu, H., and Wang, H., 2024).

Keywords: food security; marine capture fisheries; La Libertad; Negros Oriental; BUGSAY association.

JEL Classification: Q22; Q25; I19; R11.

Introduction

Food security poses a serious social and global concern as the global population increases. Fisheries constitute a significant source of proteins, vitamins, and micronutrients, especially for many low-income populations in rural areas, and the sustainable management of these resources for long-term global food security has attracted significant public policy attention. However, in changing ecosystems, maintaining or restoring fisheries' sustainability and stock sizes, minimizing environmental impact and degradation, and enhancing local and global food security continue to present enormous challenges despite some progress (Garcia and Rosenberg, 2010).

In the Philippines, a fishing nation, fisheries provide a livelihood to the people and sustain the economy. According to Lamarca (2018), the fishing sector employed over 1.6 million people, most of whom worked in municipal, commercial, and aquaculture sectors, significantly contributing to the country's Gross Domestic Product (GDP). This proves that marine capture fisheries hold the utmost significance in food security, particularly in the

Filipino community. However, the nation's resources are light to heavily exploited and overfished in municipal waterways, not to mention the gradual degradation of the mangrove resources. Factors include overfishing due to an increased number of fishermen and open access to fisheries, disputes among resource users as commercial fishing boats operate in municipal waterways, and the use of detrimental fishing methods (*e.g.*, dynamite and cyanide), which resulted to the quick depletion of fish stocks and habitat deterioration (Lamarca, 2018).

The Municipality of La Libertad relies on farming, carpentry, buy-and-sell, and fishing to sustain the local economy; thus, it seeks to preserve marine diversity. This pursuit establishes the Baryohanong Ugmad Gambalay sa Yanong Mangingisda (BUGSAY), an association that aims to preserve and protect marine life for present and future generations. Since there is an inadequate amount of studies concerning the food security and marine capture fisheries in the Philippines, nor is there a study solely dedicated to identifying and determining these variables in Negros Oriental, let alone in La Libertad, the researcher opted to set the ground for social and environmental research not only to foster marine life preservation but to advocate for sustainable livelihood for future generations amid the expected growth of the population.

The study on food security and marine capture fisheries among association members addresses a critical and under-researched intersection of sustainable food systems and marine resource management within the community. As the global demand for food escalates, the reliance on marine capture fisheries for nutrition and livelihoods intensifies, highlighting the need for sustainable practices. By focusing specifically on the members of BUGSAY Association, this research generates a tailored insight that reflect the distinct challenges and opportunities faced by the community. The study's findings not only advantageous to academic understanding but also inform targeted strategies for enhancing food security, promoting sustainable fisheries, and supporting the economic resilience of the members of the association.

1. Literature Review

The issue of food security cannot be categorized or confined by geography or defined by a particular grouping, *i.e.*, demography, education, geographic location, or income, food security is a complicated problem to handle. Currently, 16% of the world's population (1 billion people) experiences chronic hunger, despite the fact that there is more than enough food available to sustain every person on Earth. Herein lies the challenge of achieving food stability - how to deal with growing food shortages brought on by a confluence of waste and a population that continues to grow. Predictions assert, at current levels, that we must boost the global production of food by 70% earlier than 2050 on the already finite infrastructures (Carthy *et al.* 2018).

On the other hand, marine capture fisheries play a major part in this scenario. Fish have historically served an integral part in human diets, particularly in places nearby lakes, rivers, deltas, floodplains, and coastal regions, and especially on small islands just like Negros Oriental. Fisheries can help with food security in two ways: (i) immediately by providing vital nutrients; and (ii) indirectly by offering income for food expenditures (Garcia and Rosenberg, 2010). Moreover, Negros Oriental's First District had the highest rate of poverty incidence in Central Visayas. Nearly half of the families in the province derive most of their income from agriculture, such as fishing, earning a yearly income of less than PhP 17,500 on average (Calumpong *et al.* 1997; Ablong *et al.* 2001). In connection, the researcher of this study came to do a research which will help identify the food security and determine marine capture fisheries in the Municipality of La Libertad (who is included in the 2015 highest rate of poverty) particularly, on its active association of fishermen named BUGSAY. They are likewise interested to know the maritime trends and the future perspectives or outlooks of the members of the mentioned association regarding fishers and marine capture fisheries, for the aims of establishing a research paper that would as well, help address some of the respondents' concerns and contribute to the development of their association.

Loring *et al.* (2019) states that, it is ideal to achieve food security through strategies that foresee and adapt to changes in the food supply throughout time because many factors can weaken food security in any of these regions. This demonstrates that security goes beyond just food production. Carthy *et al.* (2018) show that there is no single measure that can guarantee sustained food security in the years to come. Thus, a thorough systems-based approach, anchored on the combination of policy and technological reform, will be vital for attaining sustainable food security worldwide which will use current systems in conjunction with innovative technologies, techniques, and best practices described in the study.

According to FAO (2011), the economy and well- being of coastal communities are greatly affected by marine fisheries, which offer food security, employment possibilities, income, and livelihoods as well as preserving traditional cultural identity. Marine capture fisheries are vital to the survival and nourishment of human civilization. Hence, in recent years, human activities have been compromising the health of the ocean and putting immense strain on marine ecosystems for many years. Thus, there is an urgent need to strengthen sustainable practices and

legislation in fisheries all over the world to propel marine capture fisheries toward sustainability (Jesintha and Madhavi, 2020).

The researcher is motivated to conduct a study to determine food security, identify marine capture fisheries by the members of the BUGSAY Association of La Libertad, Negros Oriental.

2. Research Methodology

This study was conducted in the coastal barangays of the Municipality of La Libertad, one of the provinces of Negros Oriental. This was specifically executed in the respective barangays of Pisong, Martilo, North Poblacion, South Poblacion, Cantupa, and San Jose which are the fortress of BUGSAY Association. Since Marine Capture Fishery is one of the livelihoods of the La Libertadnons that does not just sustain their lives but has also supported the local economy, the Local Government Unit (LGU) seeks to protect its inhabitants and their source of income. The respondents of this study were the registered members of the Baryohanong Ugmad Gambalay Sa Yanong Mangingisda (BUGSAY) Association from the different coastal Barangays of La Libertad. The Local Government Unit (LGU) of the Municipality of La Libertad shows that BUGSAY Association has 699 registered members as of May 2023. In order to identify the sample size of the study, Sloven's formula was used. The 254 sampled members of BUGSAY Association in La Libertad is proportionately distributed and randomly identified in six (6) coastal barangays of Pisong, Martilo, North Poblacion, South Poblacion, Cantupa, and San Jose of La Libertad. The respondents were well represented by the different coastal barangays of La Libertad to avoid bias and inconsistency in the result. This study utilized a stratified random sampling technique, and the researchers politely asked the members of the association to participate in the study willingly. The researchers ensured that all the respondents were members of BUGSAY Association with the help of the leadership of the BUGSAY Presidents from every coastal barangay. The main data-gathering instrument was modified questionnaires. It was composed of three (3) parts, namely, the Demographic Profile of the Respondents, Level of Frequency of Food Security in the last four (4) weeks, and Knowledge and Practices of the Respondents in Marine Capture Fisheries.

To determine the level of frequency of food security among the respondents, the researchers used this descriptive interpretation using the scale below:

Range	Verbal Interpretation
2.51 – 3.50	Rarely (1 to 2 times)
1.51 – 2.50	Sometimes (3 to 10 times)
0.51 – 1.50	Often (10 times or more)

To answer the knowledge and practices of the respondents in Marine Capture Fisheries in terms of fisheries calendar, the researchers use the percentage formula to convert their responses into percentages. Whereas, to answer problem which deals with the knowledge and practices of the respondents in Marine Capture Fisheries in terms of fisheries input and output, the researchers use the ranking method to rank the responses of the respondents.

3. Research Results and Discussions

3.1 Residents' Knowledge about Solid Waste Management Program

Generally, the level of food security within the BUGSAY Association of La Libertad, Negros Oriental, often eat a limited variety of food and often eat fewer meals in a day due to a lack of resources.

Table 1. Level of Frequency of Food Security

No	Statements	Mean	Interpretation
1	In the past four weeks, were you or any household member not able to eat the kinds of foods you preferred because of a lack of resources?	1.39	Often
2	In the past four weeks, did you or any household member have to eat a limited variety of foods due to a lack of resources?	1.45	Often
3	In the past four weeks, did you or any household member have to eat some foods that you really did not want to eat because of a lack of resources to obtain other types of food?	1.43	Often
4	In the past four weeks, did you or any household member have to eat a smaller meal than you felt you needed because there was not enough food?	1.35	Often
5	In the past four weeks, did you or any household member have to eat fewer meals in a day because there was not enough food?	1.23	Often
6	In the past four weeks, was there ever no food to eat of any kind in your household because of lack of resources to get food?	1.35	Often

No	Statements	Mean	Interpretation
7	In the past four weeks, did you or any household member go to sleep at night hungry because there was not enough food?	1.35	Often
8	In the past four weeks, did you or any household member go a whole day and night without eating anything because there was not enough food?	1.35	Often
Tota		1.37	Often

Only the top 5 statements with the highest and lowest percentage ratings were included in the table.

Statement number 2 and 5 count as the highest and lowest weighted mean, respectively, all of which have the same descriptive interpretation - often. This means that most of the respondents often eat a limited variety of food and often eat fewer meals in a day due to a lack of resources. This implies that they were able to experience the mentioned conditions ten times or more in the past four (4) weeks. The total weighted mean also reveals the same verbal interpretation. This implies that as the respondents earn the lowest income bracket every month, it is indisputable that they would have experienced all the conditions ten or more times in the past four (4) weeks.

3.2 Fisheries Calendar According to the Respondents

Table 2 is interpreted through the Months with High Fishing and Rank column beside. The data represents the high fishing months as ranked by respondents. The month of May was identified as having the highest fishing activity with 144 respondents, making it the peak month for fishing. This was followed by June with 129 respondents and April with 123 respondents.

Month	High Fishing (H)	Rank
Мау	144	1
June	129	2
April	123	3
March	80	4
July	68	5
August	54	6
October	49	7
January	47	8
November	46	9
December	45	10
September	44	11
February	34	12

Table 2. Fisheries Calendar

The ranking indicates that the first half of the year (April, May, June) sees the highest fishing activities. Many fish species in the Philippines spawn during the late spring and early summer months. This period sees an abundance of fish, making it a prime time for fishing activities. The transition from the cooler months to warmer ones increases water temperatures, which stimulates fish activity and makes them more accessible to fishermen. Warmer waters also encourage plankton growth, which serves as food for fish (Mcevoy, L., and Mcevoy, J., 2006).

Conversely, February is the month with the lowest fishing activity, with only 34 respondents indicating it as a high fishing period. February falls within the Amihan season, which brings cooler temperatures, strong winds, and rough seas. These conditions are not conducive to fishing activities as they can be dangerous and make it difficult to catch fish.

Table 3 shows that among the 254 respondents, 107 answered Cast Net as the common fishing equipment used, followed by Pump Boat corresponding 98 respondents, and Old Fishing Boat constituting 13 respondents. The rest includes pasol (indicated by the respondents themselves) with 12 respondents, Outboard Engine, Gill Net, Long Hand Line, Beach Seine, and Fish Traps - constituting 8, 7, 4, 3, 2 respondents respectively.

Fisheries Input	Frequency	Fisheries Input
Cast Net (Pukot)	107	1
Pump Boat (Pambot)	98	2
Old Fishing Boat (Sakayan)	13	3
Others (Pasol)	12	4
Outboard Engine (Makina)	8	5
Gill Net (Pahubas)	7	6
Long Hand Line (Bugsay)	4	7
Beach Seine (Sarap)	3	8
Fish Traps <i>(Panggal)</i>	2	9

This is in consonance with the study of Kwen *et al.* (2013), which found that among fishing equipment, net is one of the commonly used tools since the findings of the study show that the Cast Net is usually utilized by BUGSAY Association, casually known as pukot/net. Institutional/governance aspects, on the other hand, displayed a high mean rating. city's solid waste management policies, rules, and laws.

Kinds of Fish	Quantity Landed (in kilograms)			Processing Code			ng Code			
	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	Total	1	2	3	4	Total
Lumyagan	72	64	0	0	136	136	0	0	0	136
Gutob	94	39	0	0	133	117	0	16	0	133
Bansikol	114	5	0	0	119	119	0	0	0	119
Malangsi	69	13	0	0	82	79	0	3	0	82
Pulag-ikog	65	14	0	0	79	72	0	7	0	79
Anduhaw	62	7	0	0	69	69	0	0	0	69
Sihag-sihag	15	20	0	0	35	35	0	0	0	35
Bakulan	30	0	0	0	30	30	0	0	0	30
Yellow Fin	25	0	0	0	25	25	0	0	0	25
Tuloy	24	0	0	0	24	24	0	0	0	24
Alukihok	23	0	0	0	23	23	0	0	0	23
Balo, Katambak, and Timbungan	22	0	0	0	22	22	0	0	0	22
Gurayan, Mamsa, and Tamban	21	0	0	0	21	21	0	0	0	21
Danggit, Bangsi, and Maya-maya	18	0	0	0	18	18	0	0	0	18
Lilang, Kinsan, and Bilason	15	0	0	0	15	15	0	0	0	15
Bilong- bilong, Budburon, and Tamarong	10	0	0	0	10	10	0	0	0	0

Table 4. Quantity Landed and Processing Code

Processing Code (1 – Fresh; 2 – Sun Dried; 3 – Smoked; 4 – Iced)

Table 4 revealed that there are three most commonly fish landed, these are lumyagan (squid), gutob (Indian mackerel), and bansikol (rainbow runner). The total landed quantity of lumyagan or squid is 136 kg, with 72 kg in the 1-5 kg range and 64 kg in the 6-10 kg range. All 136 kg are processed as fresh (Processing Code 1). The gutob (Indian mackerel) fish quantity landed was 133 kg, with 94 kg in the 1-5 kg range and 39 kg in the 6-10 kg range. 117 kg are processed fresh, and 16 kg are smoked (Processing Code 3). On the other hand, the bansikol (rainbow runner) fish has a landed quantity of 119 kg, with 114 kg in the 1-5 kg range and 5 kg in the 6-10 kg range. All 119 kg are processed fresh. Understanding which fish species are most commonly landed can provide insights into the preferences of local consumers and the demand for different types of seafood. Lumyagan (squid), gutob (Indian mackerel), and bansikol (rainbow runner) are popular choices, indicating a significant market for these species. This information can help fishers and fishery managers make decisions about which species to prioritize in their fishing efforts.

Conclusions and Further Research

Having multiple options for sourcing and processing fish helps mitigate the impacts of supply chain disruptions and ensures continued access to nutritious food during emergencies. Monitoring the quantities of landed fish and implementing sustainable fishing practices are essential for ensuring long-term food security. Overfishing or unsustainable harvesting practices can deplete fish stocks, jeopardizing the availability of seafood as a food source for future generations. Therefore, efforts to promote sustainable fisheries management and conservation are crucial for maintaining food security of the members of BUGSAY Association. The importance of diverse, accessible, and sustainable seafood resources in ensuring food security for the people. It underscores the need for holistic approaches to fisheries management that prioritize both economic development and environmental sustainability.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank the BUGSAY Association of La Libertad, Negros Oriental for their active participation in the study and Negros Oriental State University-Guihulngan Campus for the support.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Eden Grace V. Tabanao: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Writing –original draft, Supervision, Data curation, Validation, Writing – review and editing, Visualization, and Funding acquisition.

Christine B. Gallosa: Investigation, Methodology, and Project administration.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- [1] Ablong, W., Alcala, M., Yambao, A., and White, A. 2001. *Coastal Environmental Profile of Negros Oriental, Philippines*. Coastal Resource Management Project, Cebu City, Philippines, 107 p.
- [2] Calumpong, H.P., J.S. Estacion, M.V. Lepiten and C.E. Acedo. 1997. Status of the Coastal Resources of the Negros Learning Site (Manjuyod to Dauin). Silliman University Marine Laboratory and the Center of Excellence on Coastal Resources Management, Silliman University, Dumaguete City, Philippines, p. 196
- [3] Carthy, U. M., et al. 2018. Global food security Issues, challenges and technological solutions. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 77: 11–20. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2018.05.002</u>
- [4] FAO. 2011. Review of the state of world marine fishery resources. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper No. 569. Rome. <u>www.fao.org/3/i2389e/i2389e.pdf</u>, ISBN 978-92-5-107023-9
- [5] Garcia, S. M., and Rosenberg, A. A. 2010. Food security and marine capture fisheries: characteristics, trends, drivers and future perspectives. *Philosophical Transactions - Royal Society. Biological Sciences*, 365(1554): 2869–2880. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0171</u>
- [6] Jesintha, N., and Madhavi, K.R. 2020. Marine capture fisheries: Sustainability issues. *International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies*, 8: 34-37.
- [7] Kwen, K. I., Davies, O. A., and Binyotubo, T. E. 2013. Survey of fishing gear and status of fishers in Igbedi Creek, Nigeria Delta, Nigeria. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Knowledge*, 1(11): 493–501. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.12983/ijsrk-2013-p493-501</u>
- [8] Lamarca, N. S. (2018, June 26). Fisheries Country Profile: Philippines. SEAFDEC.
- [9] Loring, P. A., *et al.* 2019. Fish and Food Security in Small-Scale Fisheries. In MARE publication series (pp. 55– 73). Springer International Publishing. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94938-34</u>
- [10] McEvoy, L. A., and McEvoy, J. 1992. Multiple spawning in several commercial fish species and its consequences for fisheries management, cultivation and experimentation. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 41(sB): 125–136. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1992.tb03874.x</u>
- [11] Xing, Q., Yu, H., and Wang, H. 2024. Global mapping and evolution of persistent fronts in Large Marine Ecosystems over the past 40 years. *Nature Communications*, 15(1). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-48566-w</u>



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).02

Fuzzy Analytical Hierarchy Process Evaluation of Stakeholder Groups Involvement in Forest Management Situations

Dorina GRAZHDANI Department of Agribusiness Management Faculty of Economy and Agribusiness Agricultural University of Tirana, Albania d.grazhdani@yahoo.com

Article info: Received 10 June 2024; Received in revised form 26 June 2024; Accepted for publication 29 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: Decision-makers frequently face numerous complex, unforeseen, and irreversible problems when choosing forest management for a given situation. In these kinds of circumstances, a multitude of stakeholders or interest groups may be involved, and it may be necessary to consider a variety of criteria. In a case study of Prespa Park, we employed an approach that integrates the Fuzzy Analytical Hierarchy Process (FAHP), extended goal programming (ExtGoalProg), and "Saaty-type" surveys to rank five forest management scenarios selected through a participatory process. We also looked at three techniques for normalizing stakeholder preferences to see if they affected FAHP scenario rankings. The study was based on different empirical analyses and conducted in three parts. The first part involved identifying the key stakeholders involved in the process, establishing the "stakeholders' panel," dividing it into four "interest groups," and creating a "study/professional panel." The next step involved the identification of five alternative forest management scenarios and their associated criteria. The second part involved applying the FAHP-ExtGoalProg approach, which combines FAHP and *ExtGoalProg*, to rank the scenarios. In the third part of this study, we looked at how the ExtGoalProg, geometric mean, and weighted arithmetic mean techniques compared when it came to combining the preferences of different stakeholders into a single preference for all five forest management scenarios. The techniques produced varying scenario rankings, indicating that stakeholders should consult and consider the situation before selecting the optimal normalization technique to prevent bias or misleading results. The suggested approach is suitable for addressing comparable issues in forestry and environmental management.

Keywords: analytic hierarchy process; extended goal programming; fuzzy analytic hierarchy process; geometric mean technique; participatory planning; Prespa Park; weighted arithmetic mean technique.

JEL Classification: Q23; C51; C65.

Introduction

Forest management has commonly served a variety of purposes. More people now recognize forests for their nontimber forest value, such as biodiversity and recreation, in addition to their timber and financial returns (Davis *et al.* 2001). This shift in focus from maximizing timber production, financial returns, and technical processes, which has occurred over the course of several decades, to recognizing forests as sources of other forest values is ongoing. For this reason, as Diaz-Balteiro and Romero (2008) point out, many forest management scenarios are complex and require balancing economic, environmental, and social aspects. As well, according to our reviewed literature (Karjalainen *et al.* 2003; Bolte *et al.* 2006; Diaz-Balteiro and Romero 2008; Krcmar and van Kooten 2008; Khadka *et al.* 2013; Grošelj *et al.* 2016), planning for forest management is complex because you have to think about what will happen in the long term, biophysical and socioeconomic factors that are hard to predict, and the interests and priorities of many actors who have different knowledge, experiences, and goals, which often conflict with each other. This study effectively addressed the problem.

Forest management, as mentioned above, frequently involves many stakeholders and/or interest groups with different needs, preferences, and ideas about how to manage the forest. Various participatory methods, like organizing workshops, can facilitate this involvement by allowing actors to express themselves and engage in

discussions. We can also use surveys to gather qualitative and/or quantitative information about actors' preferences. In this study, we used three one-day workshops and "Saaty-type" surveys. The main aim of the first one-day workshop was to identify stakeholder representatives who represent the interests of all relevant groups in the Prespa Park case study and must have a sufficient level of expertise and experience to ensure a comprehensive understanding of all discussed topics and organize them in interest groups, which must be as effective as possible in facilitating the implementation of "Saaty-type" surveys. To address the later issue, we took into account the findings of Mattsson *et al.* (2019) that a trans-border protected area, as in our case study, can achieve effective planning with as few as 15 stakeholders organized into six groups. So, in this workshop, first we identified a "stakeholders' panel" of the 26 most relevant stakeholders and then organized it into four "interest groups." Additionally, we also formed a "study/professional group" that aimed to generate a collective decision through direct debate.

Numerous studies (Nordström *et al.* 2010; Grošelj *et al.* 2016; Grazhdani 2017; Gunduz and Alfar 2019; Marques *et al.* 2020) demonstrate the importance of employing multiple-criteria decision-making analysis (MCDA) methods to understand forest issues, given their complexity and the involvement of numerous criteria and stakeholders. Furthermore, these methods can foster a participatory process by guaranteeing transparency, fairness, and comprehensibility, all of which are crucial for the process to gain legitimacy and acceptance from all involved stakeholders. A lot of other research, like Nordström *et al.* (2012) and Gunduz and Alfar (2019), shows that the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) is one of the most extensively used multiple-criterion decision-making methods in forest field. It can also work well with participatory methods to mathematically depict the complicated processes involved in real-life forest management decisions. As a result, we established a three-level AHP hierarchical structure in this study.

Meanwhile, the AHP has certain drawbacks, particularly in its inability to capture the ambiguities or mistakes associated with group decision-making. Meanwhile, it can effortlessly integrate with various techniques, including fuzzy logic. To address these deficiencies and capabilities, Zadeh (1965) developed the integration of AHP and fuzzy theory. The fuzzy AHP (FAHP) (Saaty 1987) addresses these issues, making it a robust and flexible decision-making tool, as highlighted by Torfi *et al.* (2010). In light of this, we used the participatory FAHP approach in place of AHP to evaluate and ranked the five selected forest management scenarios in Prespa Park.

As noted by Nordström *et al.* (2012), choosing the normalization technique to combine the preferences of individual stakeholders into a collective preference is one debatable aspect of AHP modeling. The geometric mean technique (*GeoMeanTech*) (Ananda and Herath 2008; Nordström *et al.* 2012; Srdjevic *et al.* 2013), the weighted arithmetic mean technique (WeighArithMeanTech) (Nordström 2010; Grazhdani 2017), and the extended goal programming (*ExtGoalProg*) technique (Ignizio and Romero 2003; González-Pachón and Romero 2007; Nordström *et al.* 2012) are the three most common ways to solve this problem. Naturally, the question of whether the type of normalization technique affects the FAHP results is intriguing. To address this question, we compared the outcomes of three abovementioned normalization techniques in the third part of the study in the participatory FAHP process for ranking forest management scenarios.

In sum, for this study, we developed an approach that combines participatory FAHP with ExtGoalProg and used it to rank five forest management scenarios selected through a participatory process. We also compared three techniques for consolidating individual preferences from the "stakeholders' panel" into a collective preference.

1. Literature Review

A large number of research studies (Davis *et al.* 2001; Prell *et al.* 2009; Nordström *et al.* 1012; Maroto *et al.* 2013; Diaz-Balteiro *et al.* 2016; Focacci *et al.* 2017) have documented that managing forests sustainably means preserving and improving the numerous ecosystem services that woodlands provide, such as biodiversity, harvested wood products, recreation, and local livelihoods, while also addressing climate change, necessitating consideration of a wide range of evaluation criteria of highly different natures. Because of this, they all emphasize the necessity of using methods of multi-criteria decision analysis in order to handle decision-making challenges in forest management.

Furthermore, forest management frequently involves many stakeholders and/or interest groups, each with distinct interests, preferences, and points of view, which can enrich forest management planning. Nordström *et al.* (2010), Maroto *et al.* (2013), Borges *et al.* (2017), Nilsson *et al.* (2016) and Bruña-García and Marey-Pérez (2018) are among the studies that highlight the significance of considering and incorporating the interests and concerns of stakeholders in forest management processes. According to them, stakeholder participation in decision-making regarding forest planning and management is believed to have several advantages, such as making this process more open and transparent, giving a voice to underrepresented groups, bringing people together to understand

other actors' viewpoints, finding agreement on issues and values, resolving disagreements in a timely and organized manner to prevent conflicts, and, finally, making a better and more legitimate decision. This study effectively addressed this problem. Additionally, Carmona *et al.* (2013), Sarvašová *et al.* (2014), and Balest *et al.* (2016) all stress the significance of participatory processes. They also demonstrate that forest managers and decision-makers can create tailored scenarios and policies that improve social acceptance and sustainability by learning about the interests and priorities of different actors.

Researchers have conducted several studies to explore the potential benefits of incorporating stakeholder participation into protected area management. For example, Valasiuk *et al.* (2018) evaluated the preferences of stakeholders in terms of public good planning for boreal forest ecosystems. In his article, Holder (2016) discusses the success of a forest governance structure in a transboundary reserve that is located in three different countries in Central America. He attributes this success to increased indigenous engagement. In addition, Clamote Rodrigues and Fischborn (2016) offer a plethora of examples of transboundary conservation initiatives, detailing the achievements of these reserves through better transboundary cooperation and more participatory processes involving local stakeholders.

On the other hand, the authors of Marques *et al.* (2020) and Brody (2016) say that forest management is often hard because different stakeholders have different needs and wants. They say that participatory approaches might help bring together the needs and wants of stakeholders, thereby solving this problem. Furthermore, even with a few disagreements, a large number of participants might make it hard to reach a consensus. In this study, we took these insights into account when we identified the "stakeholders' panel," where we included the most relevant stakeholders and then organized them into four "interest groups," as well as the establishment of a "study/professional group."

Based on the aforementioned information, we can conclude that the participatory framework necessitates the use of multi-criteria decision analysis tools to structure and quantify complex decisions during the decision-making process. This fits with a lot of research that has been done in the last few decades (Kangas *et al.* 2002; Laukkanen *et al.* 2004; Munda 2004; Mendoza and Martins 2006; Bolte *et al.* 2006; Rauschmayer and Wittmer 2006; Diaz-Balteiro and Asensoc 2006; Saarikoski *et al.* 2013; Grošelj *et al.* 2016; Grazhdani 2017; Gunduz and Alfar 2019) that says that MCDA and participatory process work well together to evaluate and/or rank the effects of different resource management strategies on the economic, environmental, social, and cultural long-term sustainability of forests. This research employed participatory multi-criteria decision-making analysis as its methodological framework.

Meanwhile, a wide range of other studies (Kangas 1994; Sheppard and Meitner 2005; Hiltunen *et al.* 2008; Ananda and Herath 2009; Nordström *et al.* 2010; Khadka 2013) have used a variety of mathematical modelling methods of various levels of complexity to solve participatory multi-criteria problems in the field of forest management planning. According to Gunduz and Alfar (2019), the AHP holds an important position in the mathematical description of the complex processes, including forest management, which arise during the decision-making process. Through pairwise comparisons, the AHP solicits expert input collected through surveys (Thirumalaivasan *et al.* 2003; Garfi *et al.* 2011). Two distinct scales, one based on crisp numbers (ranging from 1 to 9) and the other on fuzzy numbers, primarily categorize the extensive body of material on the AHP method for recording pairwise comparisons. Saaty (1980; 1990) developed the original method, which uses a crisp scale ranging from 1 to 9. Natural language labels, such as weak, normal, strong, etc., evaluate decision-maker preferences, representing them as a single crisp number on this scale and recording them in comparison matrices.

Moreover, the fuzzy method uses fuzzy integers to record expert preferences in fuzzy comparison matrices. Fuzzy integers more accurately represent human judgments and preferences than crisp numbers can because of the uncertainty and ambiguity of human behavior. Zadeh's fuzzy set theory has widely integrated the original AHP to address the issues of ambiguity and lack of clarity. This incorporation allows for the transformation of human judgments into ratio scales by utilizing a weighing scale consisting of fuzzy numbers. This is the rationale behind our use of the FAHP framework in this study, which allows us to derive weights from fuzzy comparison matrix data. It then uses these comparisons to generate ratio scales that reflect the decision-maker's preferences for different scenarios based on the criteria, as well as the relative weights of the criteria themselves. Calculating the normalized weighted sum across the criteria results in an overall score associated with each accessible alternative, aiding the decision-maker in choosing the scenario that will lead to the optimal decision. Pérez-Rodríguez and Rojo-Alboreca (2017) and Chan *et al.* (2019) demonstrate the conditions relating to differences between FAHP and classical AHP from both a quantitative and qualitative perspective.

We then use these weights to rank the various alternatives, taking into account the scores each option achieves for each criterion. An important part of the process is, thus, finding the weights in the comparison matrices.

To accomplish this, the standard AHP framework primarily uses the eigenvectors method. In addition to the eigenvector method, the literature offers a number of other alternative techniques. Most commonly used are the arithmetic and geometric mean techniques, as well as the extended goal programming technique. This study applies all three techniques in the FAHP framework used in this study.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Case Study Description

We conducted this study on the Prespa Park region, which serves as an excellent case study due to its status as a watershed area with rich biodiversity and a long human history (Grazhdani 2014). Prespa refers to a pair of freshwater lakes, namely Macro and Micro Prespa are two freshwater lakes located in southeast Europe (Grazhdani 2024a). Albania, Greece, and North Macedonia share these lakes (Figure 1). The prime ministers of three republics jointly formed it on February 2, 2000, making it the first trans-border protected area in the Balkans (Grazhdani 2023). At an altitude of 850 m above sea level (Grazhdani 2015), the park covers a combined drainage basin area of 2,519 km² and has a population of about 24,000 people (Grazhdani 2016), distributed among three municipalities: Pusteci-Albania, Resen-North Macedonia, and Prespa-Greece. According to the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands, there are two wetlands of international importance inside the Transboundary Prespa Park boundaries. WWF-International has designated the region as a Gift to the Earth, and the European Union has included Prespa Lakes in its water and biodiversity protection policy.

Prespa Park contains important freshwater and forest ecosystems, including pseudo-Alpine meadows located above the forest limit. Each of the three countries has designated lakes, shorelines, and the majority of forest regions as national protected areas. The entire Prespa region is home to a wide variety of remarkable habitats and species that are significant from a conservation perspective on both a European and a worldwide scale (Grazhdani 2024b).



Figure 1. Prespa Park Region

All of the forests in the Albanian part of the basin, which cover about 13,000 ha and 1,800 ha of pastures, are components of Prespa National Park (Grazhdani 2010). Eighty-six percent of all forests in Greece are included in the Prespa National Forest (Catsadorakis and Malakou 1997). According to Matevski *et al.* (2010), there are 356 km² of forests in the northern Macedonian part of the Prespa Park basin. Protected areas, including Pelister and Galicica National Parks, account for over 40% of these forests.

Although no habitat type can be considered uncommon on a worldwide scale, Prespa Park is home to many forests classified as habitat types of European interest. These forests include the following: *Quercetum trojanae macedonicum* thrives on stony, steep terrain at altitudes of up to 1,200 meters above sea level in Albania, Greece, and North Macedonia. The Grecian juniper woods *(Juniperus excelsa),* rare in Europe and only found in northern parts of Greece and North Macedonia, develop as another important forest habitat type in the oak forest zone (Matevski *et al.* 2010; Vrahnakis *et al.* 2011). North Macedonia should also recognize the well-preserved stands of

beech woods (*Abieti-Fagetum macedonicum* and *Calamintho grandiflorae Fagetum*), which are among the forest habitat types of European interest (Matevski *et al.* 2010).

Prespa Park, which encompasses 465 km² of forests, is home to a number of well-liked recreation areas and is one of the region's most important economic drivers, along with tourism and agriculture. It is home to a number of well-liked recreation areas. In the winter, skiing is available, while in the summer, hiking and cycling are. Throughout history, humans have relied on forests, woodlands, and sporadic trees for food, fuel, shelter, building materials, and medicinal purposes. These days, they rely on forests for many ecosystem services, including the provision of materials and goods (food, fuel, fiber, and pharmaceuticals), a variety of regulatory services (protection of watersheds, control of climate change, preservation of biodiversity), and cultural services (entertainment, tranquility, inspiration, and aesthetic pleasure). The local population's demand for places for recreational, hunting, and fishing activities has been increasing, while the commercial use of the forest has been decreasing. Human interventions have affected all the forests within Prespa Park's perimeter. The recovery of forests is crucial for the restoration of essential forest functions. Only forests with intact ecosystems can provide the requested long-term services.

In an effort to tackle and resolve the intricate problems related to forest planning situations in Prespa Park, Grazhdani (2017) conducted a study. Based on this study's findings and taking into account its limitations, the present study used an improved methodological framework and normalization techniques to rank five forest management scenarios selected through a participatory process at Prespa Park.

2.2. Participatory Planning

Participatory planning is a series of interaction activities between institutions and individuals, as well as the many governance arrangements, forms, and methods that moderate these with the goal of defining and resolving a specific issue. Many scholars (Adger *et al.* 2005; Lemos and Agrawal 2006; Renn and Schweizer 2009; Rossi *et al.* 2011; Burton and Mustelin 2013; Focacci *et al.* 2017) have recognized the importance, equity, acceptability, and, in the end, sustainability of citizen participation in transdisciplinary governance processes.

Participation has a long history in different domains, including forest management and planning, and has played out differently across the world. Participatory forest planning is hard because it involves a lot of different local communities and new, cross-disciplinary methods like collaborative governance (Mermet and Farcy 2011; Kabisch *et al.* 2016; Nesshöver *et al.* 2017; Wamsler and Raggers 2018; Frantzeskaki 2019; Wamsler *et al.* 2020).

This study employed a participatory forest process for forest stakeholders, who are typically decisionmakers, representatives from forestry and non-forestry businesses, municipal officials, nature conservation, tourism, outdoor sports and recreation, and nongovernmental organizations, to evaluate forest management scenarios that account for multiple stakeholder values.

2.3. Participatory MCDA Method

The MCDA method evaluates and compares different options based on multiple criteria. Different authors (Nordström *et al.* 2012; Grazhdani 2017) present the MCDA method for participatory decision-making in a variety of ways. These authors draw attention to the consequences of alternative solutions within the context of planning and policy-making. Interestingly, each author uses a different set of names and numbers to identify the steps of the process. Furthermore, MCDA serves as a tool for managing wicked situations by facilitating the study and structure of the decision problem and incorporating subjective preferences into the decision-making process.

On the other hand, forest management involves many stakeholders, increasing the dimensions of forest planning and forcing the use of participatory techniques. The participatory MCDA method incorporates stakeholder values and provides a structured way of working, ensuring that it is fair, transparent, and simple to understand— qualities that are essential for the process's legitimacy and acceptance by the stakeholders (Mendoza and Martins 2006; Rauschmayer and Wittmer 2006; Nordström *et al.* 2010; Adem Esmail and Geneletti 2018).

As de Castro and Urios (2017) highlight, protected area planning using participatory MCDA methods has been successful and has proven to be effective in certain complicated circumstances (Cortina and Boggia 2014; Sánchez-Lozano and Bernal-Conesa 2017). This consideration prompted this study to use MCDA in a transboundary Prespa Park protected area to evaluate stakeholder groups' involvement in forest management situations.

2.4. Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process (FAHP)

According to Ezquerro et al. (2016), Cegan et al. (2017), and Diaz-Balteiro et al. (2017), structured methods have become among the most popular and widely used for organizing, analyzing, and resolving complex multicriteria

decision-making. One of these is the AHP method. AHP assists decision-makers in determining the "answer" that best meets their purpose, rather than a "correct" selection, by setting a general objective with respect to a number of scenarios evaluated on multiple criteria.

AHP is also one of the most widely used MCDA methods in forestry applications, either alone or in combination with other MCDA approaches (Kangas *et al.* 2006; Ananda and Herath 2009). According to Kangas (1994), AHP is a tool that integrates public preferences for strategic planning decisions related to forest management, whereas Kangas *et al.* (2006) enhanced strategic forest planning's quantitative basis by employing the FAHP method. Additionally, according to Ortiz-Urbina *et al.* (2019), AHP has proven helpful in gathering stakeholder preferences during participatory planning processes in protected areas. Furthermore, Diaz-Balteiro *et al.* (2017) assert that AHP's attractiveness has increased over the preceding two decades. Today, the multi-criteria decision-making analysis process extensively uses the AHP analysis method, along with fuzzy set theory, known as the fuzzy AHP (FAHP) method. Kangas and Kangas (2005), Ananda and Herath (2009), and Ahmed and Kilic (2019) all say that researchers can combine FAHP with other MCDA methods, like goal programming, to make the results more accurate and to make the way humans make decisions more like real life. In this study, we used a hybrid approach, combining FAHP with extended goal programming.

We structured the procedure for using the FAHP in this study into four steps, as follows: In the first step, we construct a hierarchical structure that includes the main study goal, forest management scenarios, and criteria to evaluate the scenarios. In the second step, we compare the components (criteria, forest management scenarios) and derive weights for each level to establish their relative importance; then, in the third step, we calculate the weights of the criteria and scenarios using fuzzy arithmetic operations, and in the fourth step, we synthesize the weights to obtain normalized weights using extended goal programming. The ranking of the scenarios in descending order was based on the value of normalized weights (the greater the value of the normalized weights, the more highly ranked the forest scenario).

2.5. Extended Goal Programming

Goal programming (GP) addresses complex issues using the linear programming method. According to Ignizio and Romero (2003) and Nordström *et al.* (2012), GP develops compromise solutions that may not fully meet all the goals but do reach specific satisfaction levels defined by the decision-maker. This process involves the definition of an objective function and some defined constraints. Even in forestry environments, researchers regularly use GP as a method for measuring sustainability. In numerous studies (Cortina and Boggia 2014; Uhde *et al.* 2015; Diaz-Balteiro *et al.* 2016; de Castro and Urios 2017; Diaz-Balteiro *et al.* 2017; Sánchez-Lozano and Bernal-Conesa 2017), the researchers have successfully implemented GP to plan various forest resources and protected areas. In this study we used extended goal programming (*ExtGoalProg*) developed by González-Pachón and Romero (2007; 2010). For a detailed information of extended goal programming, consult the studies conducted by André and Romero (2008), Nordström *et al.* (2012), and Grazhdani (2017).

The operational procedure that we used for the *ExtGoalProg* technique to generate stakeholder preference data from the Prespa Park case study and five alternative forest scenarios for this study consisted of three steps: During the first step, we developed consensus matrices for each interest group and used these matrices to determine the criteria weights. During the second step, we established rankings for five different forest management scenarios for each interest group using the criterion weights. In the third step, we combined the forest management scenarios' rankings for each interest group to create their normalized ranking.

2.6. Data Collection

The study employed a number of methods to gather data and information during the course of 2019. For inclusive activities, we conducted three one-day participatory workshops and "Saaty-type" surveys.

People from the local community, forestry and non-forestry businesses, municipal officials, nature conservation, tourism, outdoor sports and recreation representatives, organizations that focus on natural resource management in the area, and those involved in forest management through policy were invited to participate in first one-day workshop. Prior to getting into the expectations and concerns of the forest stakeholders, we provided background information on the study, including its goals and objectives, to the participants upon their arrival at the workshop. During the remainder of the workshop, participants focused on two topics: identifying potential stakeholders and then establishing a stakeholders' panel; and forming a "study/professional group." The chosen stakeholders formed four "interest groups": the forest group, the nature-conservationists group, the tourism group, and the sports-outdoor life group. The number of representatives varied among the interest groups due to the nature of the circumstances. Nine people represented the forest group: six from forest companies or agencies and

three from municipalities. Seven people represented the tourism operator group. The nature conservationists were represented by five representatives from nongovernmental organizations. Five people made up the group of representatives for sports and outdoor life. During the study, these 26 stakeholders formed a "stakeholders' panel" and individually stated their preferences through a "Saaty-type" survey. In addition, the workshop also formed a "study/professional group" consisting of individuals with diverse areas of expertise to contribute to the planning process. This panel included 15 members with experience in the forest sector, community development, recreation, nature conservation, outdoor activities, and ecosystem management who work together as a group to establish a collective preference directly through discussion.

Participants from a variety of fields, possessing extensive expertise in the subjects under investigation, attended the second one-day workshop that established criteria. The stakeholders' panel refined the preliminary list of 10 criteria, and the "study/professional group" asked the participants to rate them using a "Saaty-type" survey in the second one-day workshop. The entire workshop was filled with lively discussions among the attendees. At the conclusion of the workshop, we had reached an agreement on the following five crucial criteria: The first is the area of forest, measured in hectares (ha), that is not managed for social or recreational purposes; the second is the area of forest, measured in hectares (ha), that is older than 100 years; the fourth is accessibility to the forest: information is given for both a) the area of forest, measured in hectares (ha), that is older than 100 years; the fourth is accessibility to the of forest products and b) the area of forest, measured in hectares (ha), that is nectares (ha), that is managed for social or recreational purposes. The fifth criteria is the aesthetic and cultural-historical value of the forest, defined as a low of 1 and a high of 10.

The objective of the third one-day workshop was to develop a series of scenarios related to forest planning. The "study/professional group" and the "stakeholders' panel" came together to achieve this. Through a series of short presentations and panel discussions, we briefed the participants on the key principles of the participatory multi-criteria decision analysis, the possible forest management scenarios, and their features in Prespa Park. At the end of the workshop, the participants developed five alternative forest management scenarios (referred to as S_1 , S_2 , S_3 , S_4 , and S_5) based on the specified criteria selected during second one-day workshop. They were as follows: Scenario S_1 involves the development of sustainable tourism and recreation opportunities, while scenario S_2 focuses on the protection of biodiversity and natural assets. Scenario S_3 involves utilizing the potential of cultural heritage. Scenario S_4 is a mixed-use scenario that makes use of the potential for cultural heritage, biodiversity conservation, and, to a certain extent, recreation; scenario S_5 is a mixed-use scenario that makes use of the potential for forest product collection, cultural heritage, recreation, and, to a certain extent, biodiversity conservation.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Ranking of Forest Management Scenarios Using FAHP-ExtGoalProg Approach in Prespa Park

Evaluating and ranking different forest planning plans increases the efficiency of decision-making in sustainable forest management. To address this problem, we used the FAHP method, coupled with the extended goal programming normalization method and a "Saaty-type" survey completed by "stakeholders' panel" members.

We established an FAHP procedure, structuring it into four steps as follows: During the first step, we established a hierarchical structure with three levels. This structure included the main study goal in the first level, which was to rank the forest management scenarios in support of sustainable management of the forestry in Prespa Park, forest management scenarios (second level), and criteria to evaluate the scenarios (third level).

In the second step, we determined the variables preferences (criteria, forest management scenarios) at each level by generating a set of pair-wise comparison matrices of all the variables in relation to each other. To do this, we produced an FAHP questionnaire and shared it via email with the "stakeholders' panel" members for assessment. Each member provided a possible value for each analyzed issue using Saaty's 1–9 scale, where 1 represents equal importance and 9 shows the extreme importance of one variable compared to another (Saaty 1980).

The next step was to carry out a consistency test. We mathematically calculated the consistency ratio (CR) to verify this. It is important to note that CR describes the degree of consistency or inconsistency, as Scholl *et al.* (2005) point out. We found the overall consistency of the hierarchical structure to be a consistency ratio (CR) of 0.084. We deemed the inter-level interactions within the hierarchical structure and the overall hierarchy's consistency satisfactory because this number is lower than 0.1 (Saaty 2008).

In the fourth step, we completed the weight determination. To rank the scenarios using the ExtGoalProg technique, we normalized individual preferences into a collective preference. We used Expert Choice Software (2002) to analyze the consistency test and calculate the weighting in this study. Table 1 summarizes the results of S_1-S_5 scenarios ranking within each interest group and their overall ranking obtained by the FAHP–ExtGoalProg approach.

Table 1. Ranking of scenarios S₁–S₅ within each interest group, and their overall ranking obtained by FAHP–ExtGoalProg approach

Variable	Interest group					
	Forest	Tourism	Nature - conservationists	Sports- outdoor life	plans ranking	
Scenario S ₁	1	1	1	1	1	
Scenario S ₂	4	5	5	5	5	
Scenario S ₃	5	3	3	4	4	
Scenario S ₄	2	2	2	2	2	
Scenario S ₅	3	4	4	3	3	

A higher rank is indicated by a lower numerical value.

Source: The author's collected and elaborated survey data for 2019

The results (Table 1) revealed that the "Development of sustainable tourism and recreational opportunities scenario" (Scenario S_1) held the highest ranking, with the other scenarios following in descending order: Scenario S_4 , a mixed-use scenario, utilizes the potential for cultural heritage, biodiversity conservation, and, to some extent, recreation. Similarly, scenario S_5 , also a mixed-use scenario, utilizes the potential for cultural heritage, biodiversity conservation, and, to some extent, cultural heritage, recreation, and, to some extent, biodiversity conservation. Finally, scenario S_3 , which focuses on utilizing the potential of cultural heritage, and scenario S_2 , which aims to protect biodiversity and natural assets, rank lower.

Overall, the process evaluation shows that using FAHP, participatory planning, and the *ExtGoalProg* technique together is a good way to handle complicated forest management situations involving several stakeholders and competing standards. The process evaluation demonstrates a good level of decision-making transparency by structurally integrating stakeholder values. Furthermore, the approach enhanced the quality of judgments by effectively balancing conflicting interests, resulting in broader acceptance among all stakeholders.

3.2. Results of Three Normalizing Methods in FAHP Participatory Forest Planning

Another goal of this study was to compare a trio of methods for normalizing stakeholders' individual preferences into a collective preference. The purpose of this comparison was to determine whether or not the choice of normalization method had an effect on the FAHP ranking of scenarios. To obtain preferences, we used the FAHP method, and to normalize individual preferences, we used the *WeighArithMeanTech*, *GeoMeanTech*, and *ExtGoalProg* techniques.

To address this goal, we first used the FAHP pairwise comparison approach to collect preferences from the "stakeholders' panel" about the criteria and the forest management scenarios. When the panel members had finished expressing their individual preferences, they next proceeded to make pairwise comparisons in order to figure out the relative importance of each stakeholder. After that, they normalized each individual's preferences into a group preference, and then they ranked the scenarios using three distinct techniques: *ExtGoalProg, WeighArithMeanTech*, and *GeoMeanTech*. Members of the "stakeholders' panel" were then engaged in a collective panel discussion where they together made comparisons between pairs of items.

Variable		Forest management scenarios						
		S ₁	S ₂	S₃	S 4	S₅		
Study/professional grou	up preference approach	1	4	5	2	3		
GeoMeanTech	GeoMeanTech			5	3	4		
WeighArithMeanTech	Variable weights	1	5	3	2	4		
	Equal weights	1	3	5	2	3		
ExtGoalProg	Variable weights "majority principle" "minority principle" Equal weights "majority principle" "minority principle"	1 2 1 2	5 5 5 4	2 4 4 4	4 3 3 2	3 1 2 1		
A higher rank is indicat	ed by a lower numerical value.	•	•	•	•	•		

Table 2. Scenario S₁–S₅ ranking using three normalized techniques

Source: The author's collected and elaborated survey data for 2019

The "study/professional group" that jointly performed the pairwise comparisons determined one ranking out of the eight in total. Additionally, the "stakeholders' panel," which performed the pairwise comparisons individually, established seven consensus rankings (Table 2).

The *GeoMeanTech* produced a single rating, while the *WeighArithMeanTech* produced two comparable rankings: one with equal weights for all stakeholders and another with variable weights determined by the stakeholders themselves. Meanwhile, the *ExtGoalProg* produced four distinct rankings.

The results (Table 2) show that using the study/professional group preference technique, scenario S_1 is ranked highest. The other scenarios are ranked in descending order as follows: scenario S_4 , scenario S_5 , scenario S_2 , and finally, scenario S_3 .

Second, all consensus rankings gave scenario S_1 the highest score, with two exceptions (Table 2) related to the *ExtGoalProg* technique. In this method, the distance metric parameter *r* from the ideal plan determined the ranking; a plan with a lower value (r = 1) ranks higher (place 1), while a plan with a higher value (r = ∞) ranks second (place 2).

Third, it is worth noting that the "mixed" scenario, specifically scenario S_4 and scenario S_5 , gained the highest rank in *ExtGoalProg* when seen from the perspective of a minority ($\alpha = 0$, $\beta = 0$, and $r = \infty$). When it comes to finding solutions that are balanced and consensus-based, the minority perspective of *ExtGoalProg* appeared to be helpful.

Given that different normalization methods yield varying rankings, stakeholders should carefully consider the specific circumstances when selecting a normalization technique.

Conclusions

This study focused on incorporating stakeholder values and combining individual preferences to establish a common choice. We used the FAHP to elicit preferences, and we normalized individual preferences using the weighted arithmetic mean technique, geometric mean technique, and extended goal programming. The findings indicate that these methods can formalize public participation in decision-making while also increasing the process's transparency and legitimacy.

An assessment framework that combined FAHP and *ExtGoalProg* proved to be a useful tool for managing difficult real-world forest management situations in Prespa Park. The case study's findings show that the two most highly ranked alternatives were scenario *S1*, which focuses on the development of sustainable tourism and recreational opportunities, and scenario *S5*, which combines employing the potential of cultural heritage, recreation, the collection of forest products, and, to some extent, biodiversity conservation.

The study also compares the *ExtGoalProg* technique with the more established normalization techniques *GeoMeanTech* and *WeighArithMeanTech*, which are based on geometric and arithmetic means, respectively. Due to their different characteristics, the normalizing techniques investigated in the study produced varying ranks of five forest management scenarios. As a result, stakeholders should adapt the normalization technique to the situation at hand and provide an explanation for it.

The case study of the Prespa Park area demonstrates that, under specific circumstances, a forest management situation could benefit from integrating FAHP with participatory processes. On top of that, by weighing

the competing interests of many stakeholders against one another, FAHP leads to solutions that result in increased overall satisfaction among the stakeholders. The suggested approach presents an interesting option for managing the points of view of several stakeholders, offers an operational foundation for sustainable forest management scenarios, and is suitable for handling analogous issues in environmental management.

Acknowledgment

I would like to extend my appreciation to those individuals who made substantial contributions to the successful completion of this research. I greatly value the assistance provided by my co-workers, including both emotional encouragement and tangible resources.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The author declares that she has no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The author declares that she has not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- Adem Esmail, B., and Geneletti, D. 2018. Multi-criteria decision analysis for nature conservation: a review of 20 years of applications. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 9(1): 42–53. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12899</u>
- [2] Adger, N., Arnell, N., and Tompkins, E. 2005. Successful adaptation to climate change across scales. *Global Environmental Change*, 15: 77–86. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2004.12.005</u>
- [3] Ahmed, F., and Kilic, K. 2019. Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process: A performance analysis of various algorithms. <u>Fuzzy Sets and Systems</u>, <u>362</u>: 110–128. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fss.2018.08.009</u>
- [4] Ananda, J, and Herath, G. 2008. Multi-attribute preference modelling and regional land-use planning. *Ecological Economics*, 65: 325–335. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.06.024</u>
- [5] Ananda, J., and Herath, G. 2009. A critical review of multi-criteria decision-making methods with special reference to forest management and planning. *Ecological Economics*, 68(10): 2535–2548. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009.05.010</u>
- [6] Balest, J., Hrib, M., Dobšnská, Z., and Paletto, A. 2016. Analysis of the effective stakeholders' involvement in the development of National Forest Programmes in Europe. *International Forest Review*, 18: 13–28. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1505/146554816818206122</u>
- [7] Bolte, J.P., Hulse, D.W., Gregory, S.V., and Smith, C. 2006. Modeling Biocomplexity: Actors, Landscapes and Alternative Futures. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 22: 570–579. DOI:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2005.12.033</u>
- [8] Borges, J.G., et al. 2017. A multiple criteria approach for negotiating ecosystem services supply targets and forest owners' programs. Forest Science, 63(1): 49–61. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5849/FS-2016-035</u>
- [9] Brody, S.D. 2016. Ecosystem Planning in Florida: solving Regional Problems through Local Decision-making. London: Routledge, 230 pp. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315578750</u>
- [10] Bruña-García, X., and Marey-Pérez, M. 2018. Participative forest planning: How to obtain knowledge. Forest Systems, 27: 1–11. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5424/fs/2018271-11380</u>
- [11] Burton, P., and Mustelin, J. 2013. Planning for climate change: Is greater public participation the key to success? Urban Policy and Research, 31(4): 399–415. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08111146.2013.778196</u>
- [12] Carmona, G., Varela-Ortega, C., and Bromley, J. 2013. Participatory modelling to support decision making in water management under uncertainty: two comparative case studies in the Guadiana river basin. Spain. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 128: 400–412. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.05.019</u>
- [13] Catsadorakis, G., and Malakou, M. 1997. Conservation and management issues of Prespa National Park. *Hydrobiologia*, 351: 175–196.
- [14] Cegan, J.C., Filion, A.M., Keisler, J.M., and Linkov, I. 2017. Trends and applications of multicriteria decision analysis in environmental sciences: literature review. *Environment System Decision*, 37(2): 123–133. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10669-017-9642-9</u>

- [15] Chan, H.K., Sun, X., and Chung, S.H. 2019. When should fuzzy analytic hierarchy process be used instead of analytic hierarchy process? *Decision Support Systems*, 125: 113114. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2019.113114</u>
- [16] Clamote Rodrigues, D., and Fischborn, M. 2016. Solutions in Focus: Transboundary Protected Area Solutions. Switzerland: IUCN, Gland, 34 pp.
- [17] Cortina, C., and Boggia, A. 2014. Development of policies for Natura 2000 sites: a multicriteria approach to support decision makers. *Journal of Environment Management*, 141: 138–145. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.02.039</u>
- [18] Davis, L.S., Johnson, K.N., Bettinger, P., and Howard, T.E. 2001. *Forest management: To sustain ecological, economic, and social value* (4th ed.). Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press, Inc., 804 pp.
- [19] De Castro, M., and Urios, V. 2017. A critical review of multi-criteria decision making in protected areas. Economia Agraria y Recursos Naturales, 16(2): 89–109. DOI: <u>10.7201/earn.2016.02.04</u>
- [20] Diaz-Balteiro, L., Alfranca, O., González-Pachón, J., and Romero, C. 2016. Ranking of industrial forest plantations in terms of sustainability: a multicriteria approach. *Journal of Environment Management*, 180: 123– 132. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.05.022</u>
- [21] Diaz-Balteiro, L., and Romero, C. 2008. Making forestry decisions with multiple criteria: A review and an assessment. Forest Ecology and Management, 255(8-9): 3222–3241. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.01.038</u>
- [22] Diaz-Balteiro, L., González-Pachón, J., and Romero, C. 2017. Measuring systems sustainability with multicriteria methods: a critical review. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 258(2): 607–616. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2016.08.075</u>
- [23] Ezquerro, M., Pardos, M., and Diaz-Balteiro, L. 2016. Operational research techniques used for addressing biodiversity objectives into forest management: an overview. Forests, 7(10): 229. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f7100229</u>
- [24] Focacci, M., et al. 2017. Integrating Stakeholders' Preferences in Participatory Forest Planning: A Pairwise Comparison Approach from Southern Italy. International Forestry Review, 19(4): 413–422. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1505/146554817822272349</u>
- [25] Frantzeskaki, N., et al. 2019. Nature-based solutions for urban climate change adaptation: Linking science, policy, and practice communities for evidence-based decision-making. *Bioscience*, 69(6): 455–466. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biz042</u>
- [26] Fremuth, W., and Shumka, S. 2013. *Management Plan of the Prespa National Park in Albania (2014–2024)*. Tirana, Albania: NewPolitics, 159 pp.
- [27] Garfi, M, Martí, L., Bonoli, A, and Tondelli, S. 2011. Multi-criteria analysis for improving strategic environmental assessment of water programmes. A case study in semi-arid region of Brazil. *Environmental Management*, 92: 665–675. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.10.007</u>
- [28] González-Pachón, J., and Romero, C. 2007. Inferring consensus weights from pairwise comparison matrices without suitable properties. Annals of Operations Research, 154: 123–32. DOI: <u>10.1007/s10479-007-0182-4</u>
- [29] González-Pachón, J., and Romero, C. 2010. Goal programming: From constrained regression to bounded rationality theories. In: Zopounidis C., and Pardalos P.M. (Eds.), *Handbook of multicriteria analysis*. New York: Springer, pp. 311–328.
- [30] Grazhdani, D. 2016. Assessing the variables affecting on the rate of solid waste generation and recycling: An empirical analysis in Prespa Park. Waste management, 48: 3–13. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.09.028</u>
- [31] Grazhdani, D. 2024a. Results of two non-market valuation methods used to estimate recreational fishing in the Lakes Prespa watershed. *Journal of Environment Management and Tourism*, 15(1): 52–68. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.1(73).05</u>
- [32] Grazhdani, D. 2024b. An Approach to Assessing Farm-Scale Adaptation to Climate Change: The Case Study of Prespa Park. *Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism*, 15(2): 231–247. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.2(74).01</u>

- [33] Grazhdani, D. 2010. How to Plan a Sustainable Forestry Management When Environmental Goals Conflict with Existing Practices in National Prespa Park. In Proceedings of International BALWOIS Conference, 25–29 May 2010, Ohrid, Republic of Macedonia, pp. 1–7.
- [34] Grazhdani, D. 2014. Integrating ecosystem services into assessment of different management options in a protected area: a deliberate multi-criteria decision analysis approach. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 20(6), 1311–1319.
- [35] Grazhdani, D. 2015. Contingent valuation of residents' attitudes and willingness to pay for non-point source pollution control: A case study in AL–Prespa, southeastern Albania. *Environment Management*, 56(1): 81–93. DOI: <u>10.1007/s00267-015-0480-6</u>
- [36] Grazhdani, D. 2023. An Approach for Managing Landscapes for a Variety of Ecosystem Services in Prespa Lakes Watershed. *Hydrobiology*, 2(1): 134–149. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/hydrobiology2010008</u>
- [37] Grošelj, P., Hodges, G.D., and Stirn, Z.L. 2016. Participatory and multi-criteria analysis for forest (ecosystem) management: A case study of Pohorje, Slovenia. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 71: 80–86. DOI:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2015.05.006</u>
- [38] Gunduz, M., and Alfar, M. 2019. Integration of innovation through analytical hierarchy process (AHP) in project management and planning. *Technological and Economic Development of Economy*, 25(2): 258–276. DOI: <u>10.3846/tede.2019.8063</u>
- [39] Hiltunen, V., Kangas, J., and Pykäläinen, J. 2008. Voting methods in strategic forest planning Experiences from Metsähallitus. Forest Policy and Economics, 10(3): 117–127. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2007.06.002</u>
- [40] Holder, C.D. 2016. Multiscale forest governance structures within a transboundary bio sphere reserve in Central America. World Dev. Perspect., 3: 22–24. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wdp.2016.11.005</u>
- [41] Ignizio, J.P., and Romero, C. 2003. Goal programming. In: Hossein B, Ed. *Encyclopedia of information systems*. New York: Elsevier, pp. 489–500.
- [42] Kabisch, N. *et al.* 2016. Nature-based solutions to climate change mitigation and adaptation in urban areas: Perspectives on indicators, knowledge gaps, barriers, and opportunities for action. *Ecology and Society*, 21(2): 39. DOI: <u>10.1007/978-3-319-56091-5_1</u>
- [43] Kangas A., Kangas J., and Laukkanen, S. 2006. Fuzzy multicriteria approval method and its application to two forest planning problems. *Forest Science*, 52: 232–242. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/52.3.232</u>
- [44] Kangas, J. 1994. An approach to public participation in strategies forest management planning. Forest ecology and management, 70(1–3): 75–88. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(94)90076-0</u>
- [45] Kangas, J., and Kangas, A. 2005. Multiple criteria decision support in forest management—The approach, methods applied and experiences gained. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 207: 133–143. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.10.023</u>
- [46] Kangas, J., Kangas, A., Leskinen, P., and Pykäläinen, J. 2002. MCDM methods in strategic planning of forestry on state-owned lands in Finland: applications and experiences. *Journal of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis*, 10(5): 257–271. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mcda.306</u>
- [47] Karjalainen, T., et al. 2003. Scenario Analysis of the Impacts of Forest Management and Climate Change on the European Forest Sector Carbon Budget. Forest Policy and Economics, 5(2): 141–155. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-9341(03)00021-2</u>
- [48] Khadka, C., Hujalab, T., Wolfslehnera, B., and Vacik, H. 2013. Problem Structuring in Participatory Forest Planning. Forest Policy and Economics, 26: 1–11. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2012.09.008
- [49] Krcmar, E., and van Kooten, G.C. 2008. Economic Development Prospects of Forest-Dependent Communities: Analyzing Trade-Offs Using a Compromise-Fuzzy Programming Framework. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 90(4): 1103–1117. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1467-8276.2008.01149.x</u>
- [50] Laukkanen, S., Palander, T., and Kangas, J. 2004. Applying voting theory in participatory decision support for sustainable timber harvesting. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 34(7): 1511–1524. DOI:10.1139/x04-044
- [51] Lemos, M. C., and Agrawal, A. 2006. Environmental governance. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 31: 297–325. DOI: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=1081963</u>

- [52] Maroto, C., et al. 2013. Sustainable Forest Management in a Mediterranean region: social preferences. Forest Systems, 22(3): 546–558. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5424/fs/2013223-04135</u>
- [53] Marques, M., Oliveira, M., and Borges, J.G. 2020. An approach to assess actors' preferences and social learning to enhance participatory forest management planning. *Trees, Forests and People*, 2. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tfp.2020.100026</u>
- [54] Matevski, V., et al. 2010. Notes on phytosociology of Juniperus excelsa in Macedonia (Southern Balkan Peninsula). Hacquetia, 9/1: 93-97. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/v10028-010-0005-z</u>
- [55] Mattsson, B.J., *et al.* 2019. Evaluating a collaborative decision-analytic approach to inform conservation decision-making in transboundary regions. *Land Use Policy*, 83. DOI: <u>10.1016/j. landusepol.2019.01.040</u>
- [56] Mendoza, G.A., and Martins, H. 2006. Multi-criteria decision analysis in natural resource management: A critical review of methods and new modelling paradigms. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 230(1-3): 1–22. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.03.023</u>
- [57] Mermet, L., and Farcy, C. 2011. Contexts and concepts of forest planning in a diverse and contradictory world. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 13: 361–365. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2011.03.006</u>
- [58] Munda, G. 2004. Social multi-criteria evaluation: Methodological foundations and operational consequences. European Journal of Operational Research, 158: 662–677. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0377-2217(03)00369-2</u>
- [59] Nesshöver, C., et al. 2017. The science, policy and practice of nature-based solutions: An interdisciplinary perspective. Science of Total Environment, 579: 1215–1227. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.11.106</u>
- [60] Nilsson, H., Nordström, E-M, and Öhman, K. 2016. Decision Support for Participatory Forest Planning Using AHP and TOPSIS. *Forests*, 7(5): 100. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f7050100</u>
- [61] Nordström, E.-M., Eriksson, O.L, and Öhman, K. 2010. Integrating multiple criteria decision analysis in participatory forest planning: Experience from a case study in northern Sweden. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 12(8): 562–74. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2010.07.006</u>
- [62] Nordström, E.-M., Öhman, K., and Eriksson, O.L. 2012. Approaches for Aggregating Preferences in Participatory Forest Planning - An Experimental Study. *The Open Forest Science Journal*, 5: 23–32. DOI:<u>10.2174/1874398601205010023</u>
- [63] Ortiz-Urbina, E.J., González-Pachón, J., and Diaz-Balteiro, L. 2019. Decision-making in forestry: a review of the hybridisation of multiple criteria and group decision-making methods. *Forests*, 10(5): 375. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f10050375</u>
- [64] Pérez-Rodríguez, F., and Rojo-Alboreca, A. 2017. The triangle assessment method: a new procedure for eliciting expert judgement. *Expert Syst. Appl.*, 72: 139–150. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2016.11.021</u>
- [65] Prell, C., Hubacek, K., and Reed, M. 2009. Stakeholder analysis and social network analysis in natural resource management. Society and Natural Resources, 22: 501–518. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920802199202</u>
- [66] Rauschmayer, F., and Wittmer, H. 2006. Evaluating deliberative and analytical methods for the resolution of environmental conflicts. Land Use Policy, 23(1): 108–122. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2004.08.011</u>
- [67] Renn, O., and Schweizer, P.J. 2009. Inclusive risk governance: Concepts and application to environmental policy making. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 19(3): 174–185. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.507</u>
- [68] Rossi, F.J., Carter, D.R., Alavalapati, J.R.R., and Nowak, J.T. 2011. Assessing landowner preferences for forest management practices to prevent the southern pine beetle: an attribute-based choice experiment approach. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 13 (4): 234–241. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2011.01.001</u>
- [69] Saarikoski, H., Mustajoki, J., and Marttunen, M. 2013. Participatory multi-criteria assessment as 'opening up' vs. 'closing down' of policy discourses: a case of old-growth forest conflict in Finnish Upper Lapland. Land Use Policy, 32: 329–336. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.11.003</u>
- [70] Saaty, R.W. 1987. The analytic hierarchy process—What it is and how it is used. *Mathematical modelling*, 9(3-5): 161–176. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0270-0255(87)90473-8</u>

- [71] Saaty, T.L. 1990. How to make a decision: the analytic hierarchy process. European Journal of Operational Research, 48: 9–26. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0377-2217(90)90057-I</u>
- [72] Saaty, T.L. 1980. The analytic hierarchy process. New York: McGraw-Hill, 287 pp.
- [73] Saaty, T.L. 2008. Decision making with the analytic hierarchy process. International Journal of Services Sciences, 1(1): 83–98. DOI: <u>10.1504/IJSSCI.2008.017590</u>
- [74] Sánchez-Lozano, J.M., and Bernal-Conesa, J.A. 2017. Environmental management of Natura 2000 network areas through the combination of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) with Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) methods. Case study in south-eastern Spain. Land Use Policy, 63: 86–97. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol. 2017.01.021
- [75] Sarvašová, Z., Dobšinská, Z., and Šálka, J. 2014. Public participation in sustainable forestry: The case of forest planning in Slovakia. *IForest*, 7: 414–422. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor1174-007</u>
- [76] Scholl, A., Manthey, L., Helm, R., and Steiner, M. 2005. Solving multi-attribute design problems with analytic hierarchy process and conjoint analysis: An empirical comparison. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 164(3): 760–777. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.ejor.2004.01.026</u>
- [77] Sheppard, S.R.J., and Meitner, M. 2005. Using multi-criteria analysis and visualization for sustainable forest management planning with stakeholder groups. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 207(1-2): 171–187. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.10.032</u>
- [78] Srdjevic, Z., Lakicevic, M., and Srdjevic, B. 2013. Approach of decision making based on the analytic hierarchy process for urban landscape management. *Environment Management*, 51: 777–785. DOI:<u>10.1007/s00267-012-9990-7</u>
- [79] Thirumalaivasan, D., Karmegam, M., and Venugopal, K. 2003. AHP-DRASTIC: Software for specific aquifer vulnerability assessment using Drastic model and GIS. *Environmental Modelling Software*, 18: 645–656. DOI:<u>10.1016/S1364-8152(03)00051-3</u>
- [80] Torfi, F., Farahani, R.Z., and Rezapour, S. 2010. Fuzzy AHP to determine the relative weights of evaluation criteria and Fuzzy TOPSIS to rank the alternatives. *Applied Soft Computing*, 10: 520–528. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2009.08.021</u>
- [81] Uhde, B., Hahn, W.A., Griess, V.C., and Knoke, T. 2015. Hybrid MCDA methods to integrate multiple ecosystem services in forest management planning: a critical review. *Environment Management*, 56 (2): 373– 388. DOI: <u>10.1007/s00267-015-0503-3</u>
- [82] Valasiuk, S., et al. 2018. Is forest landscape restoration socially desirable? A discrete choice experiment applied to the Scandinavian transboundary Fulufjället National Park Area. Restoration Ecology, 26 (2): 370– 380. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12563</u>
- [83] Vrahnakis, M.G. Fotiadis, and Kazoglou, Y. 2011. Registration, Assessment and Geographical Representation of the Range and Forest Habitat Types of the Natura 2000 Sites Prespa National Park (Ethnikos Drymos Prespn - GR 1340001) and Mt. Varnountas (Ori Varnountas GR 1340003) and Adjacent Areas. Final Report. Society for the Protection of Prespa.
- [84] Wamsler, C. et al. 2020. Beyond participation: When citizen engagement leads to undesirable outcomes for nature-based solutions and climate change adaptation. *Climatic Change*, 158(2): 235–254. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02557-9</u>
- [85] Wamsler, C., and Raggers, S. 2018. Principles for supporting city–citizen commoning for climate adaptation: From adaptation governance to sustainable transformation. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 85: 81–89. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.03.021</u>
- [86] Zadeh, L.A. 1965. Information and control. Fuzzy Sets, 8: 338–353. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0019-9958(65)90241-X</u>
- [87] ExpertChoice, Decision Support Software. 2002. Available at: <u>http://expertchoice.com/about-us/our-decision-making-methodology/</u>



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).03

How Advanced Is Green Participatory Budgeting in Poland and Spain? A Case Study of Gdansk and Barcelona

Małgorzata SIEMIONEK-RUSKAŃ Department of Banking and Finance Faculty of Management University of Gdansk, Poland ORCID: 0000-0002-0733-456X malgorzata.ruskan@ug.edu.pl

Anna SIEMIONEK-LEPCZYŃSKA Department of Corporate Finance Faculty of Management University of Gdansk, Poland ORCID: 0000-0003-0303-7477 anna.siemionek@ug.edu.pl

Article info: Received 20 June 2024; Received in revised form 29 June 2024; Accepted for publication 29 July 2024; Published 30 August September 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: This study explores the advancements in Green Participatory Budgeting (GPB) in Poland and Spain, focusing on case studies from Gdansk and Barcelona. GPB integrates participatory budgeting with environmental sustainability, enabling citizens to influence the allocation of municipal funds toward projects that enhance both environmental and social welfare. The research analyzes the implementation, outcomes, and challenges associated with GPB in the two cities. Spain, particularly Barcelona, has seen widespread adoption of participatory budgeting, providing valuable insights into its impact and effectiveness. The paper discusses the historical context, the evolution of participatory budgeting in these regions, and the specific green projects funded. It also highlights the environmental and social benefits, such as increased urban green spaces and enhanced community engagement, as well as the difficulties faced in achieving consensus and managing the complexities of the application process. By comparing these two cities, the study aims to shed light on the broader implications of GPB and its potential as a tool for sustainable urban development.

Purpose: This study explores the advancements in Green Participatory Budgeting (GPB) in Poland and Spain, with a focus on the cities of Gdansk and Barcelona. The goal is to analyze the implementation outcomes and challenges associated with GPB, highlighting its impact on environmental and social welfare.

Design/Methodology/Approach: The research employs a case study approach, examining GPB practices in Gdansk and Barcelona. Data were collected through document analysis, interviews, and direct observations conducted during the spring and summer of 2024. The study investigates the historical context, evolution, and specific green projects funded under GPB in these cities.

Findings: The study reveals that Barcelona has seen widespread adoption of participatory budgeting, providing valuable insights into its effectiveness and impact. In both Gdansk and Barcelona, GPB has led to increased urban green spaces, enhanced community engagement, and significant environmental and social benefits. However, challenges such as achieving consensus and managing the complexities of the application process persist.

Practical Implications: The findings suggest that GPB can be an effective tool for sustainable urban development, provided that local governments address the challenges associated with its implementation. The study offers practical recommendations for improving GPB processes, including enhanced civic education, streamlined application procedures, and continuous public outreach.

Originality: This paper contributes to the understanding of GPB by comparing its implementation in two different European contexts. It provides a comprehensive analysis of GPB's potential and challenges, offering insights that can guide policymakers and practitioners in other cities considering similar initiatives.

Keywords: green participatory budget; participatory budget; case study; Poland; Spain.

JEL Classification: H72; Q56; R58.

Introduction

Green Participatory Budgeting (GPB) merges participatory budgeting with environmental sustainability, allowing citizens to decide on projects that enhance environmental and social welfare. This study examines GPB practices in Gdansk, Poland, and Barcelona, Spain, focusing on their implementation, outcomes, and challenges.

In the European context, Spain was the country where participatory budgeting spread the most (Sintomer *et al.* 2008; Sintomer and Ganuza, 2011). There, we analyzed, up until 2010, over fifty experiments implemented that, in one way or the other, provided almost five million people the opportunity to participate, although we must consider the criteria used to consider any experiment as a participatory budget. The experiments started in 2001 in three Andalusia municipalities (Cabezas de San Juan, in Seville, Cordoba and Puente Genil, in Cordoba province). In 2002, Rubí, in the province of Barcelona, and Albacete have also initiated the process. The 2003 local elections have boosted the implementation of new experiments. Up until the end of 2006, right before the elections of the following year, over twenty-five municipalities had started the process. Two of them (Cabezas de San Juan and Rubí) had abandoned the experiment with the change of government following the local election of 2003. After the 2007 elections, participatory budgeting had a new impulse, which leaded it to its largest presence in Spanish municipalities. By then, the difference lay in the fact that conservative parties started to implement similar experiments (Ganuza, Francés 2014, 302).

For the first time, participatory budgeting schemes began to appear in large cities such as Madrid, Valencia, Zaragoza, and Barcelona (the four largest cities in the country, comprising around 20% of the Spanish population) (Francisco, Carratalá, Ganuza 2018, 278.)

1. Literature Review

Participatory budget is based on public co-governance. It is a kind of bottom-up process that involves the activation of residents to actively participate in decisions regarding the spending of a portion of the funds financed from the budget of a given local government unit on previously submitted projects (Owsiak 2017). It is a process of decision-making in a democratic manner by the people living in a municipality that implements a participatory budget. Decisions made in this way, show how money from the municipal budget is to be spent (Burchard – Dziubińska. 2016). Participatory budget can be also understood as a separate part of the local government budget under which a specified amount of spendings is allocated to initiatives and investment projects directly proposed by the local communities. The idea of a participatory budget is part of the concept of civil society and public governance (https://www.sejm.gov.pl/sejm10.nsf/BASLeksykon.xsp?id=667DCF4F24778F74C1257A710030C2E9andliteraB).

In the world, the first participatory budget was introduced back in 1989 in Porto Alegre, Brazil. The event followed the end of the military dictatorship in the country. Such activity was intended to establish a new kind of governance, involving public discussion, and lowering the level of incidence of inequality among the residents of Porto Alegre. The idea of public consultations became very popular all over the world (Sintomer, 2008)

Participatory budgeting facilitates not only the daily life of the inhabitants, but also for local, authorities, which, thanks to citizen engagement initiatives, can find out what are the most important needs of the inhabitants of a given territory and the development of which areas of life are most important to them (Krześ, 2016).

Green participatory budget has both advantages and disadvantages. One of the main benefits indicated by the cities which implemented Participatory budgets is a more effective way of public expenditures. This results on the one side in an increased responsiveness to expressed public needs, on the other side there is an incorporation of residents' pioneering spending ideas (<u>https://www.participatorybudgeting.org/about-pb</u>). Furthermore, the following advantages were indicated:

- citizens have direct influence on decisions on public investments in their local communities,
- better understanding of residents' concerns by the local authorities,
- it can also help to improve relations between residents and local authorities,
- more transparent and accountable relationships with local authorities,
- as an opportunity for youth to gain confidence, communication skills, and experience in leading participatory budget projects.

On the contrary, the following disadvantages were mentioned:

- some leaders may use the Green PB for their own purposes,
- complicated application procedure with numerous documents,
- it may be difficult to reach consensus among residents on what public funds should be used for.

Despite its many benefits, green participatory budgets also pose some challenges for local governments, such as the need for civic education, ensuring broad and equal access to the process, or the risk of popular projects dominating at the expense of those that are more needed but less attractive. It is important that the system of PB

be constantly improved and adapted to the changing needs of residents and local conditions (<u>https://www.budzetobywatelski.pl/strefa-mieszkanca/jak-dzialaja-budzety-obywatelskie</u>).

The main effects of the implementation of participatory budgets in cities include higher quality of life, increased satisfaction with public services, greater transparency and credibility of local public authorities.

Within the framework of the participatory budget there is a so-called green participatory budget (GPB). Under this term are funds, allocated specifically for improving the natural appearance of a given city (https://zpe.gov.pl/a/budzet-obywatelski/DXojz1pTD).

Summary note prepared by OECD in 2022 answered three questions regarding participatory budgeting OECD, 2022):

- what is the typical scale and focus of Participatory Budgeting, and can or should its impact be strengthened?
- who participates in PB projects and why? Does it strengthen the democratic process, or the opposite?
- are there related approaches, e.g., through legislatures or referenda, that could be more effective?

The results showed that most of green PB projects are going on at the local level to allocate small-scale public funds mainly to capital investment projects. There is some evidence that green PB has led to increase the level of budget transparency and even efficiency of spending public funds. Green PB processes have evolved from in-person set-ups to hybrid or online set-ups. This type of solution was the result of pandemic and affected in broader participation but on the other side if local authorities rely on online-only this can lead to reduce the deliberative aspects. Sun-Moon Jung, in his research, indicated that PB can work for two different but interconnected needs: the quality of democracy (resource allocation and poverty alleviation) and government efficiency (fiscal sustainability and cost efficiency (OECD, 2022). Mechanisms for the application of participatory budgeting vary, adapting to the local context, and the percentage of the budget placed at the disposal of residents also varies.

Since 2007, a lot of transformations have taken place in the market for green finance, given the Paris Agreement of 2015 and the European Green Deal of 2019. Numerous areas of activity can be targeted by green finance, such as green industry, renewable energy, energy efficiency, distribution and storage, emission reduction, green building, and green transport (Siemionek-Ruskań, Lepczyński, Fanea-Ivanovici. 2022).

Projects submitted for voting in green participatory budgets should contribute to one of six environmental objectives indicated by European Union Taxonomy for Sustainable Finance namely (OECD.2021): climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation; sustainable use and protection of fresh water and marine resources, transition to a circular economy, pollution prevention and control, protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems, without harming any of the other activities.

The Green Participatory Budget assumes the development of public, publicly accessible urban green areas through the construction of new green spaces and the renovation and modernization of the development of existing ones, in accordance with the current study of the conditions and directions of spatial development of the city and the provisions of local spatial development plans. This is in response to the needs of residents expressed in the form of submitted projects.

Green budgeting "offers a range of tools and techniques for governments seeking ways to bring green perspectives to bear on the budget process" (OECD, 2021). Many OECD countries have introduced green budgeting into their public financial management frameworks, policies, and practices to help pursue climate and environmental objectives. According to report prepared by OECD in 2022, 24 out of 36 OECD countries implemented green budgeting measures. This shows a significant increase in the number of countries involved in green budgeting where only 14 countries did it.

Starting from 2008 in Lisbon in Portugal many countries started e-budgeting in participatory budget as a form on innovation which involves the use of digital technology. Such solution has two main advantages: it increased the number of residents of cities to take part in voting of the public in budgetary decisions, on the other side it increased the level of knowledge of residents about investments financed from the city budget (OECD, 2016).

Kimic K., Polko conducted a study to pinpoint the expansion trends of the Katowice Green Budget based on editions from years 2020 to 2023. In the mentioned period citizens of Katowice proposed 715 green projects and 347 of them were selected for implementation. The authors found that there is a growing trend in the number of green projects in the first 3 editions and stabilization in the 4th edition. Project were related to the development of greenery as well as green education (Kimic K., Polko 2024).

Kociuba and Rabczewska (2019) analyzed the implementation of participatory budget and green participatory budget in Lublin in years 2015-2019. detailed analysis of the PB showed that 86% of investment projects submitted and 87% of projects selected for implementation were directly associated with activities in public

space. They also focused on describing main assumptions and models of participatory budgeting as well as the legal basis and rules of PB execution in Poland (Kociuba and Rabczewska 2019).

Falanga others (2023) investigated the emerging trends of citizen proposals, projects, votes, and public funding in participatory budget in city of Lisbon. The authors noticed the accomplishments of the Lisbon PB of city of Lisbon played a dominant role in urban sustainability. The trends of the achievements depend on the one side on residents' voice and on the other side on influence of policymakers from the City Council of Lisbon (Falanga, *et al.* 2023).

Kimic and Polko focused in their research on projects from participatory budget in Warsaw in Śródmieście district from the years 2015 to 2022. The results showed that more than half of selected projects were addressed to older adults. Among these projects, the urban greenery category accounted for 29.58%. This indicates the growing need for creation of projects suitable for older adults (Kimic, Polko 2023).

Nowak presented a proposal to separate a green budget in the participatory budget, due to the low, at about 13%, share of projects on green project in year 2013-2015. The author proposed activities that can be implemented within the framework of a participatory green budget in Olsztyn such as: informational meetings on the role and importance of greenery in the city, plant care, engaging residents to identify sites with devastated urban greenery and planting new trees and shrubs (Nowak 2017).

Maczka and others investigated 49 cases of participatory budgeting implementation in Western Poland, mainly in the Wielkopolska Province and the neighboring provinces. The authors pointed out that there is no one leading participatory model presented in the analyzed municipalities, but the two-model dominated: Porto Allegre and Consultation of Public Finance (Maczka *et al.* 2021). The Porto Allegre model is aimed at residents who have real power. According to Sintomer and others, the basic idea was "to allow non-elected citizens to have a role in the allocation of public money, with direct decision-making power at the local level, the power of co-decision at the city level, and oversight capacity at all levels" (Sintomer, *et al.* 2012). Consultation model (CF) is described also as a consultative type and is based on selective listening. Local authorities are responsible for control and monitoring activities (Maczka *et al.* 2021).

Klemens indicated that the pandemic has contributed to the reversal of the attitudes of city inhabitants towards using ICT tools and taking greater care of environmental issues in 2019-2021 in participatory budgets in Poland. The Author suggested creating participatory budget database with standardized categories. This would enable to make a comparative analysis with other cities. The other recommendation was to create green participatory budgets in each city in Poland (Klemens, 2022).

Wetoszka examined Poland and Germany PB. He confirmed in his research that "PBs in both countries have been mostly simple innovations of limited quality, but those in Poland tended to perform better, judged by the two chosen criteria PBs in both countries utilize their functionalities in diverse ways" (Wetoszka, 2022).

2. Method

This study employs a qualitative case study approach, focusing on the cities of Gdansk in Poland and Barcelona in Spain to explore the implementation, outcomes, and challenges of Green Participatory Budgeting (GPB). Indepth analysis was conducted in the year 2024. The case study method allows for a comprehensive and detailed examination of the GPB processes in two distinct urban contexts. This depth of analysis helps in understanding the complexities and nuances associated with GPB implementation. By selecting Gdansk and Barcelona, the study provides comparative insights into how different cultural, political, and administrative contexts influence the success and challenges of GPB. This comparative approach highlights the adaptability and variability of GPB practices.

3. Case Study

3.1 Gdansk

The participatory budget was first implemented in Poland in 2011 in Sopot. It quickly became one of the most popular local initiatives aimed at involving residents in the process of city management. The main goal of participatory budgeting is to create a common space by residents and local authorities.

In Poland in 2018, a new regulation was introduced for cities with county rights, the establishment of a participatory budget is mandatory, except that the amount of the participatory budget is at least 0.5% of the municipality's expenditures included in the last submitted budget execution report. (Ustawa 2018, art 5a).

Within the framework of the participatory budget, residents decide annually on the share of the municipality's budget expenditures in direct voting. Tasks selected as part of the participatory budget are included in the municipal budget resolution. The municipal council, in the process of drafting the budget resolution, cannot remove or

significantly change the tasks selected as part of the civic budget. Funds spent on the participatory budget may be divided into parts covering the whole municipality and its parts (Ustawa 2018).

- Stages of green participatory budget in Poland are as follows (Najwyższa Izba Kontroli. 2019):
- 1. Determining the procedure and tasks of carrying out consultations on BP;
- 2. BP advertising campaign;
- 3. Accepting applications with BP project proposals;
- 4. Verification of submitted BP project proposals;
- a. Possible rejection of applications that do not meet formal requirements
- b. Any appeals against decisions to rejection of applications that do not meet formal requirements
- 5. Voting on selection of BP projects;
- 6. Execution of projects selected by BP voting;
- 7. BP evaluation.

The first voting under the participatory budget of the city of Gdansk took place in 2013. Green participatory budget was introduced in Gdansk in 2020 (https://www.gdansk.pl/budzet-obywatelski/zielony-budzet). Every resident has the right to submit a project. What is worth mentioning is also the fact that children can also vote in participatory budgets with help of their parents or legal guardians. In Gdansk funds disbursed under the participatory budget are divided into categories including district projects (80% of participatory budget) and city projects (20% of participatory budget). Green participatory budget projects are allocated 20% of funds for district projects of a given district and 30% of funds for all city projects.

The scope and impact of GBP in year 2024 was described in Table 1.

Budget allocation		Green Project proposals on all city level and selection		Green Project proposals on district level and selection	
Total PB	20 441 573 PLN				
Percentage for all city green projects	20%	Total projects proposals submitted	1 140 000 PLN	Total projects proposals submitted	3 306 790 PLN
Percentage for district green projects	30%	Green project proposals submitted	12		84
		Green projects selected for implementation	5	Green projects selected for implementation	40

Table 1. The scope and impact of Green Participatory Budgeting in Gdansk in year 2024

Source: Authors own research based on: https://www.gdansk.pl/budzet-obywatelski, access date 30.07.204

In 2024, there were 12 GBP city projects (1 140 000 PLN), and 84 green district GBP projects (3 306 790 PLN) on the list to vote. Voting for BO projects took place in 2024 from September 11th to 25th with overall attendance on the level of 10,65%.

As in previous years, votes could be submitted via the city's portal www.gdansk.pl. Each voter is entitled to a total number of total 8 points: 5 points for PB district projects and 1 point for a citywide PB project, and 1 point for a GBP district project and 1 point for a GBP project. In voting there were 5 city GPB projects and 40 district projects selected. The selected city GBP projects are presented in Table 2.

Title of all -city GBP project	Cost
Gdansk saves old trees - South Edition	380 000 PLN
Green Oliva - project to restore tree canopies along Grunwaldzka Avenue	380 000 PLN
Paradise Gardens in Long Gardens	225 000 PLN
Guided nature walks in every district of Gdansk	22 000 PLN
Gdansk solar tree to charge mobile devices	380 000 PLN

Source: Authors research based on https://www.gdansk.pl/budzet-obywatelski

When taking into consideration 40 district GPP projects, which were chosen it is worth mentioning key areas regarding those projects such as: planting of new trees and shrubs, nesting boxes for birds, clean ponds, green parks, flower meadows, green relaxation zone by the stadium, removal of illegal garbage and waste dumps in Letnica district, water tanks in Przymorze district, hotels for insects and others.

On 17th of September 2024 City of Gdansk organized picnic full of numerous attractions promoting the PB voting. Everyone who cast a vote on the spot received a pot of heather. This is why the picnic slogan was "Heather for a vote". Citizens had an opportunity to meet with representatives of different project which were on the list. The was also a possibility of voting via iPads on special stand with the help of city hall representatives. It could be noticed as an attractive method of promoting PB among especially older people who mostly need help with ICT services. – The main aim was to encourage residents during the picnic to participate in the PBP voting. There were also yellow ecological bags distributed among residents of Gdansk with logo of BP as a part of the advertising campaign.

In 2025, PLN 4,137,851 PLN (of the total BO amount) will be allocated for this purpose:

- all-city green projects PLN 1,304,922;
- green district projects PLN 3,718,649.

For the year 2025, in Gdansk, there is possibility of submitting projects for the Green Participatory Budget in five thematic areas such as: (https://www.gdansk.pl/budzet-obywatelski/Co-to-jest-Zielony-Budzet-Obywatelski, access date 25.07.2024)

- 1. Planting and maintenance of vegetation in urban green areas;
- 2. New green spaces;
- 3. Rain garden construction;
- 4. Renovation and modernization of the development of existing green areas;
- 5. Ecological activities.

3.2. Barcelona

In 2024, Barcelona has allocated a significant portion of its municipal budget to Green Participatory Budgeting (GPB) (<u>https://www.barcelona.cat/ca</u>).

To present the significant role of GPB in Table 3 and 4 will be presented numbers that highlight the scope and impact of these initiatives.

Budget allocation		Green Project proposals on all city level and selection		Green Project proposals on district level and selection	
Total PB	€100 million				
Percentage for green projects	35%	Total projects proposals submitted		Total projects proposals submitted	12 000 000 Euro
Percentage for district green projects	30%	Green project proposals submitted	525	Projects implemented	50
Total funds for green projects	35 000 000 Euro	Green projects selected for implementation	150	Key initiatives	15 new corridors, 20 new gardens, 15 park improvement projects

Table 3. The scope and impact of Green Participatory Budgeting in Barcelona in year 2024

Source: authors own research based on: https://www.barcelona.cat/ca_and https://opendata-ajuntament.barcelona.cat

There is an important impact of participatory budgeting on civic engagement in Barcelona. It examines how the process has fostered community involvement and assesses the effectiveness of participatory mechanisms (Subirats, Brugué, Parés 2023, 8-15). There are visible broader implications of participatory budgeting on urban governance in Barcelona and many case studies present successful green projects and their impacts on the city (Ferranti, Vericat, Konig, 2017)

Table 4. The scope and impact of Sustainable Transportation, Renewable Energy and Waste Reduction within Green
Participatory Budgeting in Barcelona in year 2024

Sustainable Transportation		Renewable Energy		Waste Reduction	
Total Budget	€10 million	Total Budget	€8 million	Total Budget	€5 million
Projects Implemented	45	Projects Implemented	30	Projects Implemented	25
Key Initiatives	New bike lanes: 50 km	Key Initiatives	Installation of solar panels on public buildings: 25 installations	Key Initiatives	Introduction of new recycling points: 50 locations
	Secure bike parking facilities: 30 new locations		Subsidies for residential solar panels: 500 households supported		Expansion of composting facilities: 20 new sites
	Expansion of electric vehicle charging stations: 100 new stations		Energy efficiency upgrades in municipal buildings: 10 major upgrades		Public awareness campaigns on waste segregation: 5 major campaigns

Source: authors own research based on: https://www.barcelona.cat/ca_and https://opendata-ajuntament.barcelona.cat

There are environmental benefits such as (Epting 2020):

- reduction in carbon emissions: 5% reduction city-wide,
- 15% increase in municipal renewable energy capacity.
- Following social benefits can be noted:
- community garden plots created: 2,000 new plots,
- public parks enhanced: 100 hectares of parks improved.

Barcelona's Green Participatory Budgeting in 2024 demonstrates a robust commitment to sustainability and citizen engagement, with substantial investments in urban green spaces, sustainable transportation, renewable energy, and waste reduction. The significant participation and positive environmental and social impacts underscore the success of these initiatives, offering a valuable model for other cities worldwide.

4. Research Results

Gdansk has been practicing participatory budgeting since 2013. The process allows residents to propose and vote on local projects funded by a portion of the city's budget, promoting civic engagement and transparent governance.

Within the projects integration of green aspects can be observed. Gdansk has seen an increasing number of green projects within its PB framework. Examples include urban gardens, renewable energy installations, and initiatives aimed at improving air quality and promoting cycling. The city actively promotes the submission of green project proposals through workshops and public consultations, highlighting the importance of sustainability. A dedicated portion of the PB budget is often reserved for environmental projects, ensuring that green initiatives receive consistent support. Those projects should present both Environmental and social benefits. The funded projects have led to more green spaces, better waste management, and improved urban biodiversity. Community involvement in green projects has fostered a stronger sense of community and increased public awareness of environmental issues. On the other hand, there are issues that remain a challenge such as awareness and participation. Another fact which could be difficult would be to balance priorities such as allocating funds to green projects while addressing other community needs.

Barcelona's participatory budgeting process, initiated in 2016, involves citizens in the allocation of municipal funds, encouraging proposals and votes on community projects. The municipal budget in Barcelona for 2024 is 3,807 million euros, up 5.9% on the previous year. Integration of green aspects was the main advantage. Barcelona has implemented various green projects through its PB process, such as creating green corridors, improving public parks, promoting urban agriculture, and enhancing cycling infrastructure. The city conducts extensive campaigns and workshops to educate residents about the environmental impact and encourage green project proposals. A

significant portion of the PB budget is allocated to green projects, reflecting Barcelona's commitment to sustainability and climate action.

The conducted project has impact on citizens life. There are environmental benefits because projects have resulted in increased urban greenery, reduced carbon emissions, and greater public engagement in environmental issues. Social benefits could be also observed. The GPB process has strengthened community ties and increased civic participation in local governance.

In comparison to Gdansk there are other obstacles to overcome. Keeping residents engaged in the GPB process over the long term remains a challenge. Ensuring that selected projects are implemented efficiently and effectively can be hindered by bureaucratic and logistical issues.

Comparative analysis revealed following similarities: both Gdansk and Barcelona have successfully integrated green projects into their PB processes. Community education and involvement are crucial components in both cities. Both cities have observed environmental and social benefits, including improved green spaces and enhanced community cohesion.

There are also some differences regarding:

- scale and scope: Barcelona's PB process is larger in scale compared to Gdansk, with a greater budget and more extensive projects,
- funding allocation: Barcelona allocates a higher percentage of its PB funds to green projects compared to Gdansk,
- challenges: Gdansk faces more significant challenges in raising awareness and participation, while Barcelona struggles more with sustaining long-term engagement and efficient project implementation.

Both Gdansk and Barcelona have made significant progress in integrating green participatory budgeting into their municipal governance. Barcelona, with its larger scale and higher funding allocation, demonstrates a more extensive approach, whereas Gdansk shows steady progress and increasing community involvement. The experiences of these cities highlight the potential and challenges of GPB, offering valuable insights for other municipalities aiming to incorporate environmental sustainability into their budgeting processes.

5. Discussions

What was the reason to compare Gdansk with Barcelona? First, diverse Geographical and Cultural Contexts. Gdansk is located in the Northern Poland. Gdansk is a historic city with a strong maritime heritage. It has a population of approximately 470,000 and is known for its rich history and cultural significance in Poland. Barcelona, as the capital of Catalonia in Spain, Barcelona is a major global city with a population of around 1.6 million. It is renowned for its architecture, cultural vibrancy, and economic importance in Europe. Comparing a mid-sized Central European city with a major Southern European metropolis provides insights into how different geographical and cultural contexts influence the implementation and effectiveness of GPB.

There were observed different stages of participatory budgeting development. Gdansk introduced participatory budgeting in 2013 and has gradually integrated green aspects into its PB process. The city's experience reflects the early stages of developing and refining GPB. Barcelona implemented PB in 2016 and has quickly advanced in integrating green projects. The city's experience showcases a more mature stage of GPB with broader community engagement and larger-scale projects.

Poland's economic and political environment, characterized by its transition from a centrally planned economy to a market economy, influences Gdansk's approach to GPB. The city operates within a framework of increasing decentralization and democratization. Spain's economic and political environment, marked by a stronger tradition of regional autonomy and a well-established market economy, shapes Barcelona's GPB practices. The city's governance model includes a higher degree of local autonomy and a strong emphasis on civic engagement.

Comparing cities in different economic and political contexts allows for an understanding of how these factors impact the design and success of GPB initiatives. There were also observed diverse approaches to environmental sustainability. The focus in Gdansk has been on integrating smaller-scale green projects, such as urban gardens and improving air quality, reflecting the city's evolving approach to sustainability. Barcelona has implemented a wide range of large-scale green projects, including green corridors, urban agriculture, and extensive cycling infrastructure, demonstrating a comprehensive and ambitious approach to sustainability.

Both cities can learn from each other's experiences, challenges, and successes. Gdansk can benefit from Barcelona's advanced and comprehensive approach to GPB, while Barcelona can gain insights from Gdansk's community engagement strategies and incremental integration of green projects. Sharing best practices and

innovative solutions between these cities can foster improvements in GPB processes, leading to more effective and sustainable outcomes.

Conclusions and Further Research

Comparing the GPB practices of Gdansk and Barcelona offers valuable insights due to their diverse geographical, cultural, economic, and political contexts, as well as their different stages of PB development and approaches to environmental sustainability. This comparative analysis not only highlights the unique challenges and successes of each city but also provides a framework for other municipalities aiming to implement or enhance GPB initiatives. The potential for cross-learning and innovation makes this comparison particularly worthwhile, contributing to the broader discourse on sustainable urban development and participatory governance.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Małgorzata Siemionek-Ruskań: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Software, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Supervision, Data curation, Validation, Writing – review and editing, Visualization, Funding acquisition;

Anna Siemionek-Lepczyńska: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Software, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Supervision, Data curation, Validation, Writing – review and editing, Visualization, Funding acquisition.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of use of generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The author declares that she has not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- [1] Bednarska-Olejniczak, D., J. Olejniczak, and L. Svobodová. 2020. "How a participatory budget can support sustainable rural development—Lessons from Poland." *Sustainability*, 12.7: 2620.
- [2] Bluj A., and Stokłuska E. 2015. Budżet partycypacyjny (obywatelski) krok po kroku. Poradnik dla praktyków. Fundacja Pracownia Badań i Innowacji Społecznych Stoczni. Available at <u>https://stocznia.org.pl/publikacje/budzet-partycypacyjny-obywatelski-krok-po-kroku/</u> (in Polish)
- [3] Epting S., 2020. Budgeting for Environmental Justice, March 2020, Ethics Policy and Environment, 23(3).
- [4] Falanga R., Verheij, J. and Bina O. 2023. Green(er) Cities and Their Citizens: Insights from the Participatory Budget of Lisbon. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13158243</u>
- [5] Ferranti F., Vericat P., de Konig, 2017. Discourses on sustainable forest management and effects of Natura 2000: a case study of Catalonia, NE Spain *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, Vol. 60, Issue 12.
- [6] Francés, F., Liberto Carratalá, and E. Ganuza. 2018. 20 years of participatory budgeting in Spain. *Hope for democracy*, 30: 275-87.
- [7] Ganuza, E., and F. Francés. 2014. The Participants' print in the Participatory Budget: overview on the Spanish experiments. *Hope for democracy*, 25: 301-312.
- [8] Kimic, K., and Polko, P. 2023. Older adults as a target group od users of green areas in projects of the Warsaw partcipatory budget. Public recreation and landscape protection with environment hand in hand? Proceedings of the 14th Conference, vol. 14, 2023, Brno, Mendel University in Brno, 392 s., ISBN 978-80-7509-905-1. DOI:<u>10.11118/978-80-7509-904-4</u>
- [9] Kimic, K., and Polko, P. 2024. Green budget as a form of social activation to improve the urban environmentcase study of Katowice, Poland. Public Recreation and Landscape Protection - With Environment Hand in Hand. Proceedings of the 15th Conference, DOI: <u>10.11118/978-80-7509-963-1-014</u>
- [10] Klemens B. Environmental Aspects of City Participatory Budgeting in Poland, IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 1111 012038. Available at: <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/1111/1/012038</u>

- [11] Kociuba, D., and Rabczewska, K. 2019. Rola budżetów partycypacyjnych w zagospodarowaniu przestrzeni publicznych polskich miast studium przypadku Lublina, 2(76). DOI: <u>10.11118/978-80-7509-904-4-0184</u>
- [12] Krześ A. 2014. Budżet obywatelski jako inicjatywa wspierająca postawę społeczeństwa obywatelskiego, Uniwersytet Ekonomiczny we Wrocławiu, Wrocław (in Polish)
- [13] Maczka K., et al. 2021. Models of Participatory Budgeting. Analysis of Participatory Budgeting Procedures in Poland. Polish Sociological Review, 216(4). DOI: <u>10.26412/psr216.03</u>
- [14] Najwyższa Izba Kontroli. 2019. Funkcjonowanie budżetów partycypacyjnych. Available at: <u>https://www.nik.gov.pl/plik/id,21186,vp,23818.pdf</u> (in Polish)
- [15] Nowak, M. 2017. Participatory budget of green areas on the example of the city of Olsztyn. Acta Sci. Pol. Administratio Locorum 16(1),
- [16] Owsiak S. 217. Finanse publiczne, Wydawnictwo naukowe PWN, Warszawa. (in Polish)
- [17] Siemionek-Ruskań, Lepczyński, and Fanea-Ivanovici. 2022. A Comparative Analysis of Green Finance Awareness in Poland and Romania. Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism, (Volume XIII, Winter), 7(63): 1825-1834. DOI: <u>10.14505/jemt.v13.7(63).02</u>
- [18] Sintomer Y, Herzberg C., Röcke A., and Allegretti G. 2012. Transnational Models of Citizen Participation: The Case of Participatory Budgeting. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*. Vol. 8: Iss. 2.
- [19] Sintomer Y., Herzberg C., and Rocke A., 2008. Participatory Budgeting in Europe: Potentials and Challenges. *Journal of Public Deliberation*. DOI:10.1111/j.1468-2427.2008.00777.
- [20] Subirats, J., Brugué, Q., and Parés, M. 2023. Participatory Budgeting and Civic Engagement: The Case of Barcelona. International Journal of Urban and Regional Research, Volume 59 Issue 5.
- [21] Wetoszka P. 2022. Participatory Budgets in Poland and Germany: Towards a Single Model? Annales H Oeconomia, 6(4). DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17951/h.2022.56.4.207-224</u>
- [22] Yves, Cabannes.2019. Participatory Budgeting: a powerful and expanding contribution to the achievement of SDGs and primarily SDG 16.7.
- [23] OECD. 2016. Participatory budgeting. An innovative approach. European Parliament.
- [24] OECD. 2021. Green Budget Tagging: Introductory Guidance and Principles, OECD Publishing, Paris, DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/fe7bfcc4-en</u>
- [25] OECD. 2022. Dispelling Myths about Participatory Budgeting across Levels of Government. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/tax/federalism/participatory-budgeting.
- [26] OECD. 2024. Green Budgeting in OECD Countries 2024, OECD Publishing, Paris, DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9aea61f0-en</u>
- [27] Ustawa z dnia 11 stycznia 2018 r. o zmianie niektórych ustaw w celu zwiększenia udziału obywateli w procesie wybierania, funkcjonowania i kontrolowania niektórych organów publicznych. Available at: <u>https://isap.sejm.gov.pl/isap.nsf/DocDetails.xsp?id=WDU2018000013 (</u>in Polish)
- [28] https://www.gdansk.pl/budzet-obywatelski/Co-to-jest-Zielony-Budzet-Obywatelski,a,
- [29] https://www.gdansk.pl/budzet-obywatelski/zielony-budzet
- [30] https://www.gdansk.pl/mapa-inwestycji/budzet-obywatelski-2023-w-gdansku.o.,12120
- [31] https://www.participatorybudgeting.org/about-pb
- [32] https://www.sejm.gov.pl/sejm10.nsf/BASLeksykon.xsp?id=667DCF4F24778F74C1257A710030C2E9litera=B
- [33] https://zpe.gov.pl/a/budzet-obywatelski/DXojz1pTD



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).04

Alternative Forms of Tourism: User Generate Content Promote Birdwatching Tourism in Kefalonia Island, Greece

Michail XANTHAKIS Department of Digital Media and Communication, NeMeCU LAB Ionian University, Greece ORCID: 0000-0003-2917-5640 g20xant@ionio.gr

Nikos ANTONOPOULOS Department of Digital Media and Communication, NeMeCU LAB Ionian University, Greece ORCID: 0000-0003-3502-7812 <u>nikos@antonopoulos.info</u>

> Andreas KANAVOS Department of Informatics Ionian University, Greece ORCID: 0000-0002-9964-4134 akanavos@ionio.gr

Anastasia KOMNENOU School of Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences Aristotle University, Greece <u>natakomn@vet.auth.gr</u>

Article's Info: Received 19 June 2024; Received in revised form 30 June 2024; Accepted 31 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: Kefalonia, an island in the western part of Greece, renowned for its unique geomorphology, lush vegetation, and Mediterranean climate, is an ideal habitat for diverse bird species, making it a prime destination for birdwatching tourism and intercultural communication. This paper harnesses the power of user-generated content (tourists) by systematically collating and analyzing 1,776 ornithological observations recorded online from 1981 to 2018 (human computers and new media). Organized initially using records and further processed with Geographic Information System (GIS) software, the data revealed the presence of 254 bird species across 54 families, with Scolopacidae being the most prevalent. The most frequently sighted species included *Lanius senator* and *Buteo buteo*. Notably, Livadi Marsh in Lixouri on the Paliki peninsula emerged as the hotspot with the highest number of observations. This research highlights the rich biodiversity and the critical habitats within Kefalonia Island. The richness of the data collected offers a unique opportunity to understand the dynamics of bird populations over time, examining trends in both common and rare species. The integration of these observations into conservation planning is crucial for targeting efforts that protect vulnerable species and their habitats. This approach not only aids in the preservation of biodiversity but also enriches the global birdwatching community by providing data that supports sustainable birdwatching practices that are sensitive to the ecological needs of observed species.

Keywords: vulnerable species; birds' habitat; user-generated content; intercultural communication; digital marketing; birdwatching.

JEL Classification: P28; Q57; Z32.

Introduction

Birdwatching has evolved from its origins in the early 18th century, transitioning from the collection of birds and eggs to the observation of birds in their natural habitats. This evolution was supported by a shift towards

conservation, highlighted by the founding of organizations such as: The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds in the United Kingdom (RSPB) and The National Audubon Society in the United States, which have played pivotal roles in promoting avian preservation (Macdonald, 2002). From the 20th century onwards, birdwatching has been recognized both as a popular recreational activity and a scientific endeavour, particularly in developed nations (Cordell and Herbert 2002; Hvenegaard *et al.* 1989; Sekercioglu 2002; Wiedner and Kerlinger 1990).

The community of birdwatchers is diverse, often described as middle-aged, well-educated individuals with middle to high income levels. Despite this generalization, the demographics show considerable variety, including a significant representation of women, depending on the nature and type of birdwatching undertaken (Connell 2009; Jones *et al.* 2001; Rouche 2003; Lee and Scott 2004; Maple *et al.* 2010; Scott and Thigpen 2003). The common bond among birdwatchers is their passion for observing birds (Steven *et al.* 2018). This community is marked not only by shared interests but also by the economic impact of their activities, as they often invest significantly in travel and equipment to pursue their hobby. The motive, methodology, and level of commitment among birdwatchers vary considerably. Birdwatchers often enhance their reputation within the community through the records they keep and share, which may span a lifetime (Connell 2009; Steven *et al.* 2018). The types of birdwatchers range from casual observers to dedicated "twitchers" who specialize in spotting rare birds, often traveling long distances and investing substantial resources (Dooley 2005). Such endeavours not only fulfil their personal birdwatching ambitions but also contribute to conservation efforts by providing valuable data on bird populations and behaviours (Davies and Miller 2010; Hvenegaard 2002; Kim *et al.* 2010; Koeppel 2006).

Birdwatchers, both Greek and international, frequently visit Kefalonia, and many share their observations on specialized websites and research papers (Vittery *et al.* 1996). These contributions not only enhance the knowledge of the island's avifauna but also aid in the species' protection and preservation. Despite the wealth of data generated by these enthusiasts, there has historically been little effort to systematically collect and analyze these bird observations - a gap this research aims to address. The objective of this study is to collect, process, and draw conclusions about Kefalonia's avifauna from the observations recorded by birdwatchers. This effort will not only expand the knowledge base regarding the island's bird species but also contribute to broader biodiversity conservation efforts.

1. Literature Review

1.1 Ecotourism. A Modern Asset in the Tourism Industry

Ecotourism is a specific type of sustainable tourism defined by the International Ecotourism Society as responsible travel to natural areas that conserves the environment and improves the welfare of local people. It combines elements of both rural and cultural tourism, adopting principles that ensure the conservation of natural and cultural heritage. This includes engaging local communities in planning, development, and operational activities to enhance their well-being. This tourism model provides comprehensive and engaging explanations to visitors about natural and cultural resources, catering primarily to individual travelers and small, organized groups. It often encompasses activities like hiking, mountaineering, and wildlife observation (Moscardo 2001). Additionally, ecotourism may include cultural activities, playing a significant role in education. It offers opportunities to learn respect for nature and local culture and, for some, a chance for self-reflection inspired by the beauty of the environment. Another important aspect of ecotourism is its benefit to local communities, which includes hiring local staff, sourcing local products, and involving community members in decision-making processes. These efforts support the sustainable development of the tourism area (Butowski 2012).

The primary goal of creating a sustainable tourism strategy for a given area is to increase the number of tourists while adhering to sustainable development principles. Achieving this goal involves several specific objectives: Coordinating all stakeholders interested in the tourism development of the area. Inventorying the area's tourism products to better understand and market them. Documenting the benefits to local communities and the environment from shaping the tourism product. Evaluating the effectiveness of destination marketing and the responsiveness of local products by potential buyers. Developing comprehensive marketing plans, along with a clear vision and mission, during the strategic planning phase. Creating a common brand for the area that encapsulates its unique qualities and sustainable practices. Developing tools to monitor and assess the progress in implementing the strategy, ensuring adaptive management and continuous improvement (Murphy and Price 2012).

Since the 1980s, the concept of ecotourism has gained traction. This includes "soft tourism", "local-scale tourism", "green tourism" and "nature tourism", which are seen as ideal for development because they potentially have fewer negative impacts on destination areas, the environment, and the population. These forms of tourism do not reduce the positive economic impacts and are supported by the preservation of social, environmental, and
historical elements of tourist destinations (Measells and Grado 2007; Smith and Eadington 1992). Ecotourism supports gentle sustainable development and is sensitive to local social and economic needs. It is based on small groups, families, or singles, and activities can be conducted all year round to foster capacity building. Ecotourism considers the long-term interests and quality of tourism for all stakeholders, valuing the natural environment and local resources. In contrast to mass tourism, which has many disadvantages but can yield high revenues during peak periods, ecotourism incorporates nature conservation, which positively impacts tourist perceptions and enhances the social, economic, and cultural sustainability of local communities (Dodds and Kuehnel 2010). Implementing green service quality in accommodation management is also critical as it improves the mental health and well-being of travelers and employees (Winter *et al.* 2019). Furthermore, ecotourism is seen as an ideal model during a pandemic, with increased popularity expected in the post-COVID-19 era. It serves as a means to reduce overtourism in popular destinations (Arora and Sharma 2021). Greece has developed new tourism strategies such as birdwatching tourism, aimed at shifting from low-budget mass tourism to high-quality alternative forms of tourism. This shift is driven by the increasing demand for comprehensive and quality-oriented tourism, aiming to extend the tourist season to support year-round tourism activities (Vayanni *et al.* 2005). Such strategies are essential for maintaining Greece's success as an international tourist destination (Christou 2012).

1.2. The Use of Internet Sites to Promote the Icon of a Place

Tourism, traditionally seen as an intangible service sector, has transformed with the advent of the internet, making it somewhat tangible as potential buyers can now view images and videos of products and services before purchase. This digital exposure not only enhances the trust in the purchase of tourism products but also improves the perceived quality of websites. It has been observed that effective multimedia usage significantly increases user engagement and satisfaction, influencing the decision-making processes of potential tourists by providing them with a clearer expectation of the services offered.

The concept of a destination image is crucial for promoting tourism locales and involves both emotional and cognitive elements that develop over time from various sources. This image significantly influences tourists' choices; emotional images relate to the feelings people hold for a destination, while cognitive images involve beliefs and knowledge about it (Phillips et al. 2017). Negative perceptions of either can deter tourists, highlighting the importance of maintaining a balanced and positive presentation to encourage visits. Effective management of these images can significantly enhance a destination's competitiveness and attractiveness, making it a critical focus for tourism marketers. It has been emphasized that both emotional and cognitive images are critical in assessing a destination's appeal. Emotional images capture the enthusiasm and liveliness of a destination, while cognitive images include elements such as cultural attractions, landscapes, and infrastructure (Becken et al. 2017). These components collectively define the destination image and must be communicated effectively to attract and retain tourists. Enhancing these images involves sophisticated marketing strategies that highlight unique cultural and natural assets, thereby fostering a deeper connection with potential visitors. Furthermore, satisfaction levels are found to significantly affect tourists' intentions to revisit a destination (Kim et al. 2015). Positive destination images, cultivated through strategic marketing, lead to success while a negative image leads to failure or limitation (Chaulagain et al. 2019; Ketter 2016). The strategic development of marketing plans that focus on reinforcing positive images and addressing any negative perceptions can lead to improved tourist retention and attraction rates, ultimately impacting the economic viability of tourism destinations (Lykoudi et al. 2023).

Tourism websites are pivotal in creating strong and positive destination images, motivating travelers to visit these destinations. Online resources such as newspapers, TV websites, blogs, and forums substantially impact the destination image. Positive information on these platforms can persuade tourists to visit, while a lack of information can deter them (Huete-Alcocer *et al.* 2019; Leung *et al.* 2017). These digital platforms are integral in shaping the narrative around a destination, offering a medium through which vivid storytelling and engaging content can captivate and allure potential tourists (Paiva *et al.* 2023). Effective communication through these websites is crucial for marketing and influencing tourist behavior. Highlighting the attractive features of a destination can significantly alter tourists' perceptions and convince them to visit (Kim *et al.* 2017). Moreover, these platforms facilitate interactive engagements such as virtual tours and customer reviews, which can further enhance the persuasive power of destination marketing. Travel websites also serve as effective marketing communication channels, enhancing the visibility of destinations and influencing potential visitors' perceptions (Marine-Roig 2022; Rizky *et al.* 2017). These platforms are essential for deploying targeted marketing campaigns that can dynamically adapt to market trends and tourist preferences, ensuring that the marketing messages resonate well with diverse audiences. The significance of online information in shaping tourists' plans is notable, as extensive website usage for information gathering influences tourists' travel decisions (Shafiee *et al.* 2016).

Providing detailed and attractive information on travel websites is vital for promoting a destination effectively. This involves enriching the content with high-quality images, engaging narratives, and accessible booking options, which collectively enhance the usability and appeal of the website. In conclusion, the image of a tourist destination is significantly affected by online information about the tourist destination. When tourists plan to visit a place, they develop an overall image of that place through exposure to available information, affecting their decision to visit the destination (Kim *et al.* 2019). Websites are indispensable tools for creating positive destination images and play a critical role in the tourism industry's marketing strategies. They are key to enhancing the visibility and appeal of destinations, fundamentally shaping tourist perceptions and decisions. A robust and dynamic online presence, coupled with strategic content management, is critical for harnessing the full potential of internet-based tourism marketing.

1.3. Kefalonia Island, Greece as an Alternative Tourism Destination

Kefalonia Island offers a unique wealth of geological monuments and geomorphs scattered across its expanse. These include karst formations such as caves, impressive relief forms, paleontological sites, coastal geomorphs, geotectonic formations such as faults, and wetlands. All these elements together compose the geological history of Kefalonia. Additionally, the island features prehistoric-Hellenistic archaeological sites as well as Roman monuments, medieval castles, Byzantine-post-Byzantine monasteries, traditional settlements, mills, bridges, and lighthouses. The Kefalonia-Ithaca Geopark, established to protect and highlight this entire collection of Earth's" monuments" focuses on emphasizing geological heritage in conjunction with cultural heritage and the local community, following a strategy of sustainable development (Maple *et al.* 2010). In April 2022, it was designated a UNESCO Global Geopark, underscoring its significance in promoting sustainable development and the growth of geotourism and ecotourism (Kefalonia-Ithaca Geopark 2024).

Kefalonia's natural environment is unparalleled, fostering the development of Ecotourism. The protected areas of Kefalonia-Ithaca, integrated into the European" Natura 2000" network, total six and cover an area of 57,998.48 ha. Notably, the terrestrial area GR2220001 in northern Kefalonia encompasses the limestone Kalon Oros. This area's sparse vegetation is mainly composed of maguis (Quercus coccifera, Pistacia lentiscus, Arbutus unedo, etc.), with significant habitats such as the phryganas, dominated by Sarcopoterium spinosum. The most significant protected area is Aenos National Park (GR2220002), which is renowned as the smallest National Park in Greece, covering 2,862 ha. Established in 1962, it is primarily aimed at protecting the endemic Kefalonian Fir (Abies cephalonica Loudon), recognized as an International Biogenetic Reserve. Additional areas like GR2220004 and GR2220005 contribute to the diverse ecosystem, supporting a variety of marine and terrestrial life forms critical for biodiversity conservation. Kefalonia is also a crucial location for birdwatching, supported by the observation of 237 different species and subspecies of birds according to bibliography Vittery et al. 1996), and serves as a significant migratory hub due to its diverse habitats. The richness of Kefalonia's biodiversity is further exemplified by the presence of 450 species of flora, many of which are endemic and rare, 33 species of amphibians and reptiles, orchid species, and semi-wild horses living on the S.E. slopes of Mount Aenos. The local products of Kefalonia are of high quality and nutritional value, contributing to the development of gastronomic tourism. Some of these products include the handmade sweet "mandoles", "Robola of Kefalonia", a white wine with Protected Designation of Origin from the Omala area, highly nutritious honey rich in vitamins and trace elements, Kefalonian cheeses, and olive oil. Local delicacies and dishes, such as the famous and delicious Kefalonian meat pie, are promoted by the Association of Hoteliers of Kefalonia-Ithaca at exhibitions and through the promotion of the local Kefalonian breakfast in the island's hotels.

Additionally, hiking tourism is rapidly developing on the island. Throughout Kefalonia, trails are placed through landscapes of unparalleled aesthetic value. In Aenos National Park, there are 5 hiking trails, while the Municipality of Argostoli and Lixouri, in cooperation with Path of Greece, have conducted a study for the opening and signaling of the trails. The Municipality of Sami already has 5 operational trails in its jurisdiction. In summary, visitors to Kefalonia could engage in a plethora of alternative tourist activities, such as sea cycling in the Koutavos Lagoon, diving in wrecks, visiting geosites, stargazing on Aenos, sea kayaking, hang gliding over Myrtos, hiking on trails, climbing, and more. Each of these activities attracts tourists not only for their leisure and recreational aspects but also for the educational insights they offer into the natural and cultural heritage of Kefalonia.

Regarding tourist infrastructure for supporting ecotourism activities, Kefalonia offers a variety of hotel facilities, which are presented in the following Table 1:

Year	Hotels	Rooms	Beds
5* Hotels	8	629	1,357
4* Hotels	24	1,551	3,163
3* Hotels	40	1,597	3,181
2* Hotels	68	1,648	3,240
1* Hotels	9	112	244
Total	149	5,537	11,185

Table 1. Hotel Capacity in Kefalonia

Source: Hellenic chambers of hotels 2021

The data presented in Table 1 showcases the distribution of hotel accommodation across various categories in Kefalonia. The island has a broad range of options, with a significant emphasis on more accessible two-star accommodation, as evidenced by the 68 hotels providing 3,240 beds. This category outstrips the three-star accommodations, which also plays a significant role in the hospitality landscape with 40 hotels. Interestingly, the luxury sector, represented by five-star hotels, although smaller in number (only 8 hotels), still offers a considerable number of beds (1,357), highlighting the island's appeal to both budget and upscale tourists. The total hotel infrastructure supports a substantial capacity of 11,185 beds, indicating Kefalonia's preparedness to host many tourists, which is crucial for sustaining the island's robust tourist industry. To understand the flow of tourism and its seasonal dynamics within the Ionian Islands, Table 2 compiles the monthly arrival figures for the year 2021 for four key islands: Kerkyra, Zakynthos, Kefalonia, and Lefkada. These statistics are pivotal for assessing the effectiveness of tourism strategies and infrastructure in accommodating and attracting visitors. The analysis helps to highlight the relative popularity of these destinations and provides insights into potential areas for development and marketing within Kefalonia's tourism sector.

Month	Kerkyra	Zakynthos	Kefalonia	Lefkada
January	0	0	0	0
February	0	0	0	0
March	108	0	0	0
April	38	0	0	0
Мау	14,705	7,212	582	3,337
June	79,684	49,386	6,444	14,835
July	228,935	130,515	27,066	45,168
August	268,428	151,423	43,807	52,227
September	199,120	104,051	31,295	40,991
October	109,365	29,266	7,511	17,241
November	0	0	0	0
December	0	0	0	0
Current Year	900,383	471,853	116,705	173,799

Table 2. Tourist Arrivals in the	Ionian Islands in 2021
----------------------------------	------------------------

Source: INSETE 2021

According to Table 2, Kefalonia experiences a significant influx of tourists primarily in the summer months, with the highest number of arrivals recorded in August (43,807), followed by September (31,295) and July (27,066). This trend is consistent across the Ionian Islands, where summer is the peak tourist season. Despite these numbers, Kefalonia's total annual tourist arrivals amount to 116,705, which positions it last among the islands compared. In contrast, Kerkyra (Corfu) leads with an overwhelming 900,383 arrivals. The comparison highlights a substantial gap in tourist numbers, suggesting that while Kefalonia enjoys a favorable peak season, it still lags behind in attracting year-round tourism compared to its regional counterparts. The data emphasizes the need for developing new alternative forms of tourism in the island like birdwatching and possibly improving tourism strategy and existing infrastructure to increase its competitiveness and appeal throughout the year.

1.4. Birdwatching Tourism as an Alternative Form of Tourism in Kefalonia Island

Birdwatching tourism is increasingly recognized as a significant component of alternative tourism globally, drawing well-off tourists who travel specifically for bird observation (Cordell and Herbert 2002; Hvenegaard *et al.* 1989; Newsome and Rodger 2012; Sekercioglu 2002). Studies indicate that birdwatching can generate substantial economic benefits for local communities in both developed and developing countries, such as the United Kingdom, the USA (Kerlinger 1993; Measells and Grado 2007; Stoll *et al.* 2006), South Korea (Lee *et al.* 2010), Canada, South Africa (Biggs *et al.* 2011), and Greece (Vavanni *et al.* 2005). Protected areas networks, including the European Network of Spatial Protection Areas, wildlife shelters, Important Bird Areas (IBA), and the Ramsar wetlands, along with various non-protected areas, support tourism activities centered on bird observation.

Destinations offering unique and rare birdwatching experiences are particularly popular among enthusiasts. Kefalonia's diverse geomorphology and array of habitats make it an ideal location for birdwatching. The island's landscape has been shaped by a series of geological events, including faults, earthquakes, uplifts, and submersions, creating a variety of habitats such as wetlands, natural and artificial lakes, expansive fir forests, and rugged terrains like steep slopes, cliffs, and canyons. These features, combined with the prevalent limestone formations in Aenos National Park that provide excellent nesting sites for predatory birds, create perfect conditions for bird habitats. The vegetation of Kefalonia also plays a crucial role, with 30% of the island covered with broadleaved shrublands. This diverse environment supports a rich bird population, many of which are rare and endangered. Several of these species are priorities for conservation in the European Union and are protected under the 2009/147/EC European Directive on the conservation of wild birds.

2. Study Area

Figure 1. The study area with the spatial distribution of bird observations by birdwatchers



The study is conducted in Kefalonia (Figure 1), in the Ionian Islands region of Greece, known as "Ionio Archipelagos". This insular region stretches along the western coast of Greece, within the central Mediterranean marine area. The Ionian Islands are celebrated for their distinctive natural environment and rich biodiversity, which contribute significantly to their ecological importance. Kefalonia, the focal point of this study, stands as the largest and most mountainous of the Ionian Islands. It is strategically positioned at the entrance to the Gulf of Patras, nestled north of Zakynthos, south of Lefkada, and west of Ithaca.

The island spans an area of 781 square kilometers and is home to approximately 36,066 residents as per the 2021 census by the Hellenic Statistical Authority (ELSTAT. 2021). A significant portion of Kefalonia is dominated by Mount Aenos, which features some of the region's highest peaks including Megas Soros at 1,628 meters, Agia Dynati at 1,131 meters, Evmorfia at 1,043 meters, and Kokkini Rachi at 1,078 meters. These elevations not only define the island's rugged landscape but also support diverse ecosystems that are critical for regional biodiversity. The prominence of Mount Aenos in the island's topography is central to its appeal as a destination for birdwatching,

geotourism (Spyrou *et al.* 2022), astronomical tourism (Xanthakis *et al.* 2024), hiking and other forms of naturebased tourism.

3. Materials and Methods

The methodology for this study involved a comprehensive collection of bird observations in Kefalonia. Data were compiled from several sources including direct submissions by foreign birdwatchers, contributions from the Management Unit of Zakynthos, Aenos and Protected areas of Ionian islands (NECCA), postings from the online local Facebook group (Biodiversity of Cephalonia Island, 2024), scientific publications by English ornithologists. and birdwatching websites (Birdforum 2024, Birdtours 2024, Bubo 2024). A total of 1,776 ornithological observations were systematically gathered, involving both visitors and local citizens. Data were initially recorded and organized using Microsoft Excel to facilitate ease of processing. Each observation was detailed in a structured format with nine primary columns: Species, Prefecture, Place of Observation, Month of Observation, Year of Observation, Projective Coordinates (x, y), Name of Observer, Source, and Additional Information/Remarks. The species were listed by their Latin names to maintain consistency and scientific accuracy. Geographical data, including the location and time of each observation, were noted with precise details to enable effective mapping and analysis in a Geographic Information System (GIS). The coordinates were recorded using the Hellenic Geodetic Reference System (HGRS87) to ensure accuracy in spatial analysis using ArcGIS 10.1 software by ESRI. This approach enabled the study to highlight the spatial distribution of bird species across Kefalonia, enhancing the understanding of their habitat preferences and observation frequencies. The observations spanned several years, ranging from 1981 to 2018, providing a long-term view of avian biodiversity and birdwatching activity on the island. Below, Table 3 summarizes the distribution of these observations over the years, illustrating the fluctuation and trends in birdwatching activities.

Year	Number of Observations	Total Percentage
1981	1	0.06%
1986	2	0.11%
1988	13	0.73%
1989	23	1.30%
1990	48	2.70%
1991	84	4.73%
1992	7	0.39%
1993	42	2.36%
1994	179	10.08%
1996	1	0.06%
1998	241	13.57%
2003	71	4.00%
2004	76	4.28%
2005	109	6.14%
2006	116	6.53%
2008	30	1.69%
2009	63	3.55%
2010	44	2.48%
2011	2	0.11%
2012	40	2.25%
2013	85	4.79%
2014	38	2.14%
2015	176	9.91%
2016	124	6.98%
2017	119	6.70%
2018	42	2.36%

Table 3. Number of Observations and Percentage in Total Per Year

The data presented in Table 3 highlights a significant increase in bird observations during certain years, particularly in 1998 and 2015, where the percentages of total observations reached 13.57% and 9.91%, respectively. These peaks may correspond to specific environmental or promotional events that drew higher numbers of bird watchers. The spread of observations over the years also suggests a growing interest and possibly improved awareness and reporting mechanisms in the birdwatching community over time. This increase in data collection and interest supports conservation efforts and enhances the scientific understanding of avian diversity on Kefalonia.

4. Research Results

During the study, a total of 254 different bird species were recorded by foreign birdwatchers. These species are distributed across 54 diverse avian families. To provide a clearer overview, Figure 2 displays the number of species within the fifteen families that have the highest species count, facilitating a focused discussion on the most significant observations. From the data presented in Figure 1, it is evident that the family Scolopacidae, known for its shorebirds, is the most species-rich, boasting 22 distinct species. This is closely followed by the Accipitridae and Sylviidae families, each containing 21 different species. Notably, the Laridae family, which includes gulls, and the Turdidae family, known for thrushes, contain 17 and 14 species respectively. Additionally, the families Anatidae and Ardeidae, representing ducks and herons, have 9 species each. Other notable families such as Falconidae, Fringillidae, and Motacillidae each host 8 different species. Interestingly, there are several families that are represented by a single species within the region, highlighting the unique biodiversity of Kefalonia. These include Alcidae, Burhinidae, Caprimulgidae, Certhidae, Cettidae, Cisticolidae, Coraciidae, Glareolidae, Glareolidae, Threskiornithidae, Troglodytidae, and Upupidae. This variety underscores the importance of the island as a habitat for a wide range of avian life, reflecting its significant ecological value.



Figure 2. The Families Represented in Records with the Most Species

Regarding the diversity of bird species recorded, a total of 254 different species were noted, as illustrated in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Species with the most Recordings

As shown in Figure 3, the Common Buzzard (*Buteo buteo*) was observed the most frequently, recorded 36 times. This was the same with the Woodchat Shrike (*Lanius senator*). The Grey Heron (*Ardea cinerea*), Hooded Crow (*Corvus cornix*), House Martin (*Delichon urbicum*), and Yellow-legged Gull (*Larus michahellis*) each were observed 29 times. The European Bee-eater (*Merops apiaster*) and several other species such as the Common Kestrel (*Falco tinnunculus*) and the Stonechat (*Saxicola rubetra*) were also frequently sighted, with 27 and 26 observations respectively. The dataset reflects the rich avifaunal diversity present in Kefalonia, showcasing both common species and those that are more unique to the region. This extensive range of species recorded underscores the island's significance as a birdwatching destination, attracting enthusiasts eager to observe both common and rare species in their natural habitats. The presence of unique species such as the Alcenidae, Burhinidae, and Caprimulgidae—each represented by only one recorded species—highlights the ecological value and diverse bird life of the island.

The geographical distribution of bird observations is a critical aspect of understanding avian biodiversity in Kefalonia. This is visually represented in Figure 4, which illustrates the frequency of observations across various locations on the island.



Figure 4. Distribution of Bird Observations by Location in Kefalonia

According to Figure 4, the highest number of bird recordings was made at the Wetland of Livadi, Paliki, with 288 observations, highlighting this area as a significant bird habitat. Following closely, Kateleios accounted for 195

observations, and Aenos National Park, a protected area known for its rich biodiversity, registered 152 observations. Notably, the lagoon of Koutavos was also a prominent site with 112 recordings, followed by Cape Mounda with 100, and Skala with 88 observations. Other notable areas that proved to be important for avifauna include Xi with 72 observations, and additional sites such as Lixouri, Lourdas, Lassi, Argostoli, Poros, and Assos also made significant contributions to the dataset. This spatial distribution of observations underscores the importance of diverse habitats in Kefalonia, supporting a wide range of bird species. It also indicates potential areas for focused conservation efforts and further research to ensure the protection and understanding of the island's avifauna.

The avifauna of Kefalonia comprises a diverse range of species, whose presence and conservation status are meticulously documented. The classification of these species according to their presence on the island provides insights into their ecological roles and the temporal aspects of their occurrences. Table 4 categorizes these species into several types of presence, offering a structured view into their life cycles and migration patterns on the island.

Presence status	Description
R	Resident
В	Breeder
Р	Passage Migrant
W	Winter Visitor
AV	Accidental Visitor

Table 4. Presence Status of Avifauna Species in Kefalonia

Concurrently, the protection status of these species is critical for understanding the conservation priorities and measures needed. Table 5 delineates these statuses as per the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and the Greek Red Data Book, reflecting both global and local conservation efforts (Baillie *et al.* 2004).

Table 5. Sp	ecies Protection	n Status Based	on IUCN
-------------	------------------	----------------	---------

Presence status	Description
EX	Extinct
CR	Critically Endangered
EN	Endangered
VU	Vulnerable
NT	Near Threatened
LC	Least Concern
DD	Data Deficient

Source: Baillie et al. 2004

Following these classifications, Table 6 provides a detailed list of the avifauna species observed in Kefalonia, annotated with their presence and protection statuses. This comprehensive enumeration aids in the targeted conservation and study of these birds, highlighting the need for continued ecological monitoring and adaptive management strategies.

Table 6. Avifauna Species Observed in Kefalonia by birdwatchers, their Presence Status, and IUCN Protection Status

A/A	Family	Species	Presence Status	IUCN Status
1	Accipitridae	Accipiter brevipes	Р	LC
2	Accipitridae	Accipiter gentilis	P, W	LC
3	Accipitridae	Accipiter nisus	B, P, W	LC
4	Accipitridae	Aquila chrysaetos	R	LC
5	Accipitridae	Aquila fasciata*	AV	LC
6	Accipitridae	Aquila heliaca*	AV	VU
7	Accipitridae	Buteo buteo	R	LC
8	Accipitridae	Buteo lagopus	AV	LC
9	Accipitridae	Buteo rufinus	R	LC

A/A	Family	Species	Presence Status	IUCN Status
10	Accipitridae	Buteo vulpinus	AV	LC
11	Accipitridae	Circaetus gallicus	P, B	LC
12	Accipitridae	Circus aeruginosus	P, W	LC
13	Accipitridae	Circus cyaneus	P, W	LC
14	Accipitridae	Circus macrourus	Р	NT
15	Accipitridae	Circus pygargus	Р	LC
16	Accipitridae	Clanga clanga*	AV	VU
17	Accipitridae	Clanga pomarina	AV	LC
18	Accipitridae	Gyps fulvus	AV	LC
19	Accipitridae	Hieraaetus pennatus	P, W	LC
20	Accipitridae	Milvus migrans	P, W	LC
21	Accipitridae	Neophron percnopterus	Р	EN
22	Accipitridae	Pernis apivorus	Р	LC
23	Acrocephalidae	Acrocephalus arundinaceus	B, P	LC
24	Acrocephalidae	Acrocephalus melanopogon	P, W	LC
25	Acrocephalidae	Acrocephalus paludicola*	Р	VU
26	Acrocephalidae	Acrocephalus schoenobaenus	Р	LC
27	Acrocephalidae	Acrocephalus scirpaceus	B, P	LC
28	Acrocephalidae	Hippolais icterina	Р	LC
29	Acrocephalidae	Hippolais olivetorum	Р	LC
30	Acrocephalidae	Hippolais opaca	Р	LC
31	Acrocephalidae	Hippolais polyglotta	AV	LC
32	Acrocephalidae	Iduna pallida	B, P?	LC
33	Alaudidae	Alauda arvensis	B, P, W	LC
34	Alaudidae	Calandrella cinerea	Р	LC
35	Alaudidae	Galerida cristata	R	LC
36	Alaudidae	Lullula arborea	R, P	LC
37	Alaudidae	Melanocorypha bimaculata	AV	LC
38	Alaudidae	Melanocorypha calandra	B, P	LC
39	Alcedinidae	Alcedo atthis	P, W	LC
40	Anatidae	Anas acuta	P, W	LC
41	Anatidae	Anas clypeata	P, W	LC
42	Anatidae	Anas crecca	P, W	LC
43	Anatidae	Anas penelope	P, W	LC
44	Anatidae	Anas platyrhynchos	B, P, W	LC
45	Anatidae	Aythya fuligula	AV	LC
46	Anatidae	Cygnus olor	R	LC
47	Anatidae	Spatula querquedula	P, W	LC
48	Anatidae	Tadorna tadorna	AV	LC
49	Apodidae	Apus apus	B, P	LC
50	Apodidae	Apus pallidus	P	LC
51	Apodidae	Tachymarptis melba	B, P	LC
52	Ardeidae	Ardea alba	P, W	LC
53	Ardeidae	Ardea cinerea	B, P, W	LC
54	Ardeidae	Ardea purpurea	P	LC
55	Ardeidae	Ardeola ralloides	P	LC

A/A	Family	Species	Presence Status	IUCN Status
56	Ardeidae	Botaurus stellaris*	P, W	LC
57	Ardeidae	Bubulcus ibis	P, W	LC
58	Ardeidae	Egretta garzetta	P, W	LC
59	Ardeidae	Ixobrychus minutus	Р	LC
60	Ardeidae	Nycticorax nycticorax	P, W	LC
61	Burhinidae	Burhinus oedicnemus	R	LC
62	Caprimulgidae	Caprimulgus europaeus	B, P	LC
63	Certhiidae	Certhia brachydactyla	R	LC
64	Cettiidae	Cettia cetti	R	LC
65	Charadriidae	Charadrius alexandrinus	P, W	LC
66	Charadriidae	Charadrius dubius	P, W	LC
67	Charadriidae	Charadrius hiaticula	P, W	LC
68	Charadriidae	Charadrius morinellus	W	LC
69	Charadriidae	Pluvialis squatarola	P, W	LC
70	Charadriidae	Vanellus vanellus	P, W	NT
71	Ciconiidae	Ciconia ciconia	Р	LC
72	Ciconiidae	Ciconia nigra	AV	LC
73	Cisticolidae	Cisticola juncidis	R	LC
74	Columbidae	Columba livia	R	LC
75	Columbidae	Columba oenas	B, P, W	LC
76	Columbidae	Columba palumbus	R	LC
77	Columbidae	Streptopelia decaocto	R	LC
78	Columbidae	Streptopelia roseogrisea	AV	LC
79	Columbidae	Streptopelia turtur	B, P	VU
80	Coraciidae	Coracias garrulus	Р	LC
81	Corvidae	Corvus corax	R	LC
82	Corvidae	Corvus cornix	R	LC
83	Corvidae	Garrulus glandarius	R, B	LC
84	Corvidae	Pica pica	AV	LC
85	Cuculidae	Cuculus canorus	Р	LC
86	Emberizidae	Emberiza caesia	Р	LC
87	Emberizidae	Emberiza calandra	P, R	LC
88	Emberizidae	Emberiza cia	Р	LC
89	Emberizidae	Emberiza cirlus	R	LC
90	Emberizidae	Emberiza hortulana	Р	LC
91	Emberizidae	Emberiza melanocephala	Р	LC
92	Emberizidae	Emberiza schoeniclus	W	LC
93	Falconidae	Falco biarmicus	R, P	LC
94	Falconidae	Falco cherrug	Р	EN
95	Falconidae	Falco eleonorae	P, B	LC
96	Falconidae	Falco naumanni	B, P	LC
97	Falconidae	Falco peregrinus	R	LC
98	Falconidae	Falco subbuteo	P	LC
99	Falconidae	Falco tinnunculus	R	LC
100	Falconidae	Falco vespertinus	Р	NT
101	Fringillidae	Carduelis carduelis	B, P	LC

A/A	Family	Species	Presence Status	IUCN Status
102	Fringillidae	Chloris chloris	B, P	LC
103	Fringillidae	Coccothraustes coccothraustes	P, W	LC
104	Fringillidae	Fringilla coelebs	R	LC
105	Fringillidae	Linaria cannabina	Р, В	LC
106	Fringillidae	Loxia curvirostra	AV	LC
107	Fringillidae	Serinus serinus	R	LC
108	Fringillidae	Spinus spinus	P, W	LC
109	Glareolidae	Glareola pratincola	Р	LC
110	Gruidae	Grus grus	Р	LC
111	Hirundinidae	Cecropis daurica	B, P	LC
112	Hirundinidae	Delichon urbicum	B, P	LC
113	Hirundinidae	Hirundo rustica	B, P	LC
114	Hirundinidae	Riparia riparia	Р	LC
115	Hydrobatidae	Hydroprogne caspia	AV	LC
116	Laniidae	Lanius collurio	Р	LC
117	Laniidae	Lanius excubitor	AV	LC
118	Laniidae	Lanius minor	Р	LC
119	Laniidae	Lanius senator	B, P	LC
120	Laridae	Chlidonias hybrida	Р	LC
121	Laridae	Chlidonias leucopterus	Р	LC
122	Laridae	Chlidonias niger	Р	LC
123	Laridae	Chroicocephalus ridibundus	P, W	LC
124	Laridae	Gelochelidon nilotica	AV	LC
125	Laridae	Hydrocoloeus minutus	P, W	LC
126	Laridae	Ichthyaetus melanocephalus	AV	LC
127	Laridae	Larus argentatus	AV	LC
128	Laridae	Larus audouinii	AV	LC
129	Laridae	Larus cachinnans	P, W	LC
130	Laridae	Larus fuscus	P, W	LC
131	Laridae	Larus genei	AV	LC
132	Laridae	Larus marinus	AV	LC
133	Laridae	Larus melanocephalus	P, W?	LC
134	Laridae	Larus michahellis	R	LC
135	Laridae	Spilopelia senegalensis	AV	LC
136	Laridae	Sternula albifrons	Р	LC
137	Locustellidae	Locustella Iuscinioides	Р	LC
138	Locustellidae	Locustella naevia	Р	LC
139	Meropidae	Merops apiaster	B, P	LC
140	Motacillidae	Anthus campestris	B, P	LC
141	Motacillidae	Anthus cervinus	P, W	LC
142	Motacillidae	Anthus novaeseelandiae	AV	LC
143	Motacillidae	Anthus pratensis	B, P, W	LC
144	Motacillidae	Anthus spinoletta	P, W	LC
145	Motacillidae	Motacilla alba	R	LC
146	Motacillidae	Motacilla cinerea	R	LC
147	Motacillidae	Motacilla flava	B, P	LC

A/A	Family	Species	Presence Status	IUCN Status
148	Muscicapidae	Cercotrichas galactotes	Р	LC
149	Muscicapidae	Erithacus rubecula	P, W, B	LC
150	Muscicapidae	Ficedula albicollis	Р	LC
151	Muscicapidae	Ficedula hypoleuca	Р	LC
152	Muscicapidae	Ficedula parva	Р	LC
153	Muscicapidae	Ficedula semitorquata	Р	LC
154	Muscicapidae	Luscinia megarhynchos	B, P	LC
155	Muscicapidae	Muscicapa striata	B, P	LC
156	Muscicapidae	Oenanthe hispanica	B, P	LC
157	Muscicapidae	Oenanthe isabellina	B, P	LC
158	Muscicapidae	Oenanthe oenanthe	B, P	LC
159	Muscicapidae	Phoenicurus ochruros	P, W	LC
160	Muscicapidae	Phoenicurus phoenicurus	P, W	LC
161	Muscicapidae	Saxicola maurus	AV	LC
162	Muscicapidae	Saxicola ruberta	B, P	LC
163	Muscicapidae	Saxicola rubicola	B, P	LC
164	Oriolidae	Oriolus oriolus	Р	LC
165	Pandionidae	Pandion haliaetus	Р	LC
166	Paridae	Cyanistes caeruleus	B, P, W	LC
167	Paridae	Lophophanes cristatus	AV	LC
168	Paridae	Parus major	R	LC
169	Paridae	Periparus ater	B, P	LC
170	Paridae	Poecile lugubris	Р	LC
171	Passeridae	Passer domesticus	R	LC
172	Passeridae	Passer hispaniolensis	B, P, W	LC
173	Passeridae	Passer montanus	R	LC
174	Passeridae	Petronia petronia	AV	LC
175	Phalacrocoracidae	Microcarbo pygmeus	AV	LC
176	Phalacrocoracidae	Phalacrocorax aristotelis	R	LC
177	Phalacrocoracidae	Phalacrocorax carbo	P, W	LC
178	Phasianidae	Alectoris chukar	R, B	LC
179	Phasianidae	Alectoris graeca	R, B	NT
180	Phasianidae	Coturnix coturnix	Р	LC
181	Phasianidae	Phasianus colchicus	AV	LC
182	Phoenicopteridae	Phoenicopterus roseus	P, W	LC
183	Phylloscopidae	Phylloscopus bonelli	AV	LC
184	Phylloscopidae	Phylloscopus collybita	P, W	LC
185	Phylloscopidae	Phylloscopus sibilatrix	Р	LC
186	Phylloscopidae	Phylloscopus trochillus	Р	LC
187	Picidae	Dendrocopos leucotos	AV	LC
188	Picidae	Dryocopus martius	AV	LC
189	Picidae	Jynx torquilla	B, P, W	LC
190	Podicipedidae	Podiceps cristatus	P, W	LC
191	Podicipedidae	Podiceps nigricollis	P, W	LC
192	Podicipedidae	Tachybaptus ruficollis	R	LC
193	Procellariidae	Calonectris borealis	AV	LC

A/A	Family	Species	Presence Status	IUCN Status
194	Procellariidae	Calonectris diomedea	B, P	LC
195	Procellariidae	Puffinus yelkouan	B, P	VU
196	Prunellidae	Prunella modularis	W	LC
197	Rallidae	Fulica atra	P, R	LC
198	Rallidae	Gallinula chloropus	B, R	LC
199	Rallidae	Porzana parva	Р	LC
200	Rallidae	Porzana porzana	Р	LC
201	Rallidae	Rallus aquaticus	B, P, W	LC
202	Recurvirostridae	Himantopus himantopus	Р	LC
203	Recurvirostridae	Recurvirostra avosetta	Р	LC
204	Regulidae	Regulus ignicapillus	R	LC
205	Regulidae	Regulus regulus	R	LC
206	Scolopacidae	Actitis hypoleucos	P, W	LC
207	Scolopacidae	Arenaria interpres	P, W	LC
208	Scolopacidae	Calidris alba	Р	LC
209	Scolopacidae	Calidris alpina	P, W	LC
210	Scolopacidae	Calidris canutus	AV	NT
211	Scolopacidae	Calidris falcinellus	AV	LC
212	Scolopacidae	Calidris ferruginea	Р	NT
213	Scolopacidae	Calidris minuta	P, W	LC
214	Scolopacidae	Calidris pugnax	Р	LC
215	Scolopacidae	Calidris temminckii	Р	LC
216	Scolopacidae	Gallinago gallinago	P, W	LC
217	Scolopacidae	Gallinago media	Р	NT
218	Scolopacidae	Limosa limosa	Р	NT
219	Scolopacidae	Numenius arquata	P, W	NT
220	Scolopacidae	Numenius phaeopus	Р	LC
221	Scolopacidae	Numenius tenuirostris	Р	EN
222	Scolopacidae	Scolopax rusticola	P, W	LC
223	Scolopacidae	Tringa glareola	Р	LC
224	Scolopacidae	Tringa nebularia	P	LC
225	Scolopacidae	Tringa ochropus	P, W	LC
226	Scolopacidae	Tringa stagnatilis	P	LC
227	Scolopacidae	Tringa totanus	P, W	LC
228	Stercorariidae	Stercorarius parasiticus	AV	LC
229	Strigidae	Asio flammeus	AV	LC
230	Strigidae	Asio otus	R, P	LC
231	Strigidae	Athene noctua	R, B	LC
232	Strigidae	Otus scops	R	LC
233	Strigidae	Strix aluco	AV	LC
234	Sturnidae	Pastor roseus	AV	LC
235	Sturnidae	Sturnus vulgaris	P, W	LC
236	Sulidae	Morus bassanus	AV	LC
237	Sylviidae	Sylvia atricapilla	R	LC
238	Sylviidae	Sylvia borin	P	LC
239	Sylviidae	Sylvia cantillans	B, P	LC

A/A	Family	Species	Presence Status	IUCN Status
240	Sylviidae	Sylvia communis	B, P	LC
241	Sylviidae	Sylvia conspicillata	AV	LC
242	Sylviidae	Sylvia crassirostris	Р	LC
243	Sylviidae	Sylvia curruca	Р	LC
244	Sylviidae	Sylvia hortensis	AV	LC
245	Sylviidae	Sylvia melanocephala	R	LC
246	Sylviidae	Sylvia rueppelli	B, P	LC
247	Threskiornithidae	Plegadis falcinellus	Р	LC
248	Troglodytidae	Troglodytes troglodytes	R	LC
249	Turdidae	Monticola saxatilis	Р	LC
250	Turdidae	Monticola solitarius	R	LC
251	Turdidae	Turdus merula	R, P, W	LC
252	Turdidae	Turdus philomelos	P, W	LC
253	Turdidae	Turdus viscivorus	P, W	LC
254	Upupidae	Upupa epops	B, P	LC

5. Discussions

The present research synthesizes observational data collected by birdwatchers on the island of Kefalonia, Ionian islands, Greece marking a significant compilation of 1,776 bird recordings. Utilizing Microsoft Excel for data management and Geographic Information System (GIS) software for spatial analysis, this study maps the observations onto Kefalonia's topographical layout, providing a detailed view of avifauna distribution across various habitats. The extensive dataset underscores Kefalonia's ecological richness, attributed to its diverse physical geography which includes wetlands and rocky outcrops - habitats that are crucial for numerous bird species. The study confirms that Kefalonia's climate and geography make it an ideal locale for birdwatching, which is further enriched by the island's vibrant culture, traditions, and natural beauty. These factors collectively foster the growth of birdwatching tourism (Maniatis *et al.* 2020).

An analysis of the timing and frequency of excursions reveals that birdwatching activities predominantly occur during morning and afternoon hours, which could potentially bias observational data against nocturnal species such as the Eagle Owl or the Tawny Owl (Weston *et al.* 2015). Additionally, changes in agricultural practices and land use over recent years raise concerns about their impacts on local avifauna, possibly contributing to the reduced sightings of some species like the Griffon Vulture (Wretenberg *et al.* 2010). Furthermore, this research highlights several key observation sites across Kefalonia that are particularly favourable for birdwatching, including the Livadi Wetland, Aenos National Park, and the coastal areas of Kateleios and Mounda. The findings suggest that easily detectable species tend to be observed more frequently, while cryptic species are less commonly recorded, indicating a potential area for targeted research and conservation efforts.

The collected data not only enhance our understanding of Kefalonia's bird species but also hold significant potential for promoting conservation awareness and ecotourism. Recommendations for future initiatives include the development of educational materials such as guides, posters, and brochures, involvement in thematic exhibitions like the BirdFair UK, contributions to wildlife magazines, and the creation of digital content including specialized websites and smartphone applications. These resources would serve both to educate the public and to support birdwatching practices on the island. Moreover, the systematic analysis and reporting of these observations to the Hellenic Ornithological Society play a crucial role in the broader scientific community, contributing to ongoing research and conservation strategies. Such efforts are vital for monitoring population dynamics of key species, understanding their habitat needs, and ensuring the long-term preservation of Kefalonia's rich biodiversity (Karris *et al.* 2020).

In conclusion, this research not only expands our knowledge of Kefalonia's avian diversity but also underscores the importance of integrating scientific research with tourism and conservation efforts. By doing so, it enhances the protection of biodiversity and supports the development of specialized, thematic tourism that appreciates and preserves the natural environment (Martinis *et al.* 2023).

Conclusions and Further Research

This research aimed to harness the observational data collected by birdwatchers on Kefalonia to derive meaningful insights about the island's avifauna, contributing to the broader catalog of Greek bird species. Through meticulous data collection and analysis of bird observations, this study provided a detailed overview of the species present on the island, their habits, and their ecological niches. Notably, these efforts highlighted Kefalonia as a significant stopover for migratory birds in Europe and underscored its potential as a prime destination for birdwatching tourism.

The study successfully demonstrated the utility of special thematic websites for gathering birdwatcher observations. Using Microsoft Excel and ArcGIS 10.1, the data were efficiently organized and spatially mapped, confirming the feasibility of such digital tools for ecological research and tourism development. The analysis revealed that Kefalonia remains a crucial habitat for both migratory and resident bird species, including rare and endangered species like the Snake eagle (*Circaetus gallicus*), Golden eagle (*Aquila chrysaetus*), and Shag (*Phalacrocorax aristotelis*). The island's blend of natural diversity and minimal human encroachment creates a favorable environment for avian biodiversity. Lastly, the research identified a significant opportunity in the digital recording and processing of bird observations. The current lack of a centralized database means many valuable observations remain underutilized. Establishing an integrated digital platform could revolutionize how data are collected and analyzed, promoting more dynamic conservation efforts and enriching the birdwatching experience.

Future initiatives should focus on developing a comprehensive digital database for Kefalonia's avifauna, which would streamline data collection and accessibility, and integrate with global citizen science projects to enhance data richness and availability. Additionally, expanding observational studies to include more systematic night-time observations would provide a more comprehensive understanding of the island's avian biodiversity, including nocturnal species. There is also a critical need for enhanced public engagement and education. Developing interactive applications and educational programs would increase public involvement in birdwatching and conservation activities, enriching local tourism offerings and fostering a deeper community connection to the island's natural and cultural heritage (Mylonopoulos *et al.* 2022). Furthermore, conducting longitudinal studies on avian population dynamics would assess the impact of environmental changes and human activities on bird populations, providing essential data for effective conservation strategies. By addressing these areas, future efforts can build on the current study's findings to promote sustainable tourism and conservation on Kefalonia, ensuring the protection of its avian populations for generations to come.

Acknowledgments

I would like to extend my appreciation to those individuals who made substantial contributions to the successful completion of this research. I greatly value the assistance provided by my co-workers of NEMECU LAB in Ionian University, including both emotional encouragement and tangible resources.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of use of generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- Arora, S., and Sharma, A., 2021. COVID-19 impact on overtourism: diversion from mass tourism to alternative tourism. Overtourism as Destination Risk: Impacts and Solutions (pp. 275-283). Emerald Publishing Limited. DOI: <u>10.1108/978-1-83909-706-520211018.</u>
- [2] Baillie, J., Hilton-Taylor, C., and Stuart, S. N. 2004. 2004 IUCN red list of threatened species: a global species assessment: IUCN, 191 pp.
- [3] Becken, S., Jin, X., Zhang, C., and Gao, J. 2017. Urban air pollution in China: Destination image and risk perceptions. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 25(1): 130-147. DOI: <u>10.1080/09669582.2016.1177067</u>
- [4] Biggs, D., Turpie, J., Fabricius, C., and Spenceley, A. 2011. The value of avitourism for conservation and job creation-an analysis from South Africa. *Conservation and Society*, 9(1): 80-90. DOI: <u>10.4103/0972-4923.79198</u>
- [5] Butowski, L. 2012. Sustainable Tourism A Model Approach, Visions for Global Tourism Industry-Creating and Sustaining Competitive Strategies, Dr. Murat Kasimoglu (Ed.), InTech, 478 pp.

- [6] Chaulagain, S., Wiitala, J., and Fu, X. 2019. The impact of country image and destination image on US tourists' travel intention. *Journal of destination marketing and management*, 12:1-11. DOI:10.1016/j.jdmm.2019.01.005
- [7] Christou, L. 2012. Is it possible to combine mass tourism with alternative forms of tourism: The case of Spain, Greece, Slovenia and Croatia. *Journal of Business Administration Online*, 11(1):1-8.
- [8] Connell J. 2009. Birdwatching, twitching and tourism: Towards an Australian perspective, Australian Geographer. 40: 203–217. DOI: <u>10.1080/00049180902964942</u>
- [9] Cordell, H.K. and Herbert, N.G. 2002. The popularity of birding is still growing. *Birding*, p.54-61
- [10] Davies, A., and Miller, R. 2010. The Biggest Twitch: Around the world in 4,000 birds: AandC Black, 320 pp.
- [11] Dodds, R., and Kuehnel, J. 2010. CSR among Canadian mass tour operators: good awareness but little action. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 22(2): 221-244. DOI:<u>10.1108/09596111011018205</u>
- [12] Dooley, S. 2005. The Big Twitch: One man, one continent, a race against time-a true story about birdwatching: Allen and Unwin.
- [13] Huete-Alcocer, N., Martinez-Ruiz, M. P., López-Ruiz, V. R., and Izquiedo-Yusta, A. 2019. Archaeological tourist destination image formation: Influence of information sources on the cognitive, affective and unique image. *Frontiers in psychology*. 10:2382. DOI: <u>10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02382</u>
- [14] Hvenegaard, G. T. 2002. Birder specialization differences in conservation involvement, demographics, and motivations. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*. 7(1): 21-36. DOI: <u>10.1080/108712002753574765</u>
- [15] Hvenegaard G.T., Butler J.R., and Krystofiak D.K. 1989. Economic values of bird watching at point pelee national park. Canada, Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006):17: 526–531.
- [16] Jones, D. N., Buckley, R., and Cooperative Research Centre for Sustainable Tourism of Australia. 2001. Birdwatching tourism in Australia (Vol. 10). Brisbane: CRC for Sustainable Tourism.
- [17] Karris, G., et al. 2020. Changing social awareness of the illegal killing of migratory birds in the Ionian Islands, western Greece. Journal of biological education, 54(2): 162-175. DOI: <u>10.1080/00219266.2018.1554597</u>
- [18] Kerlinger, P. 1993. Birding economics and birder demographics studies as conservation tools. Paper presented at Status and Management of Neotropical Migratory Birds. September 21-25, in Colorado, USA.
- [19] Ketter, E. 2016. Destination image restoration on facebook: The case study of Nepal's Gurkha Earthquake. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management. 28:66-72. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.jhtm.2016.02.003</u>
- [20] Kim, A. K., Keuning, J., Robertson, J., and Kleindorfer, S. 2010. Understanding the birdwatching tourism market in Queensland, Australia. Anatolia. 21(2):227-247. DOI: <u>10.1080/13032917.2010.9687101</u>
- [21] Kim, M. J., Jung, T., Kim, W. G., and Fountoulaki, P. 2015. Factors affecting British revisit intention to Crete, Greece: high vs. low spending tourists. *Tourism Geographies*, 17(5): 815-841. DOI:<u>10.1080/14616688.2015.1062908</u>
- [22] Kim, S., Lehto, X., and Kandampully, J. 2019. The role of familiarity in consumer destination image formation. *Tourism Review*, 74(4): 885-901: DOI: <u>10.1108/TR-10-2018-0141</u>
- [23] Kim, S. E., Lee, K. Y., Shin, S. I., and Yang, S. B. 2017. Effects of tourism information quality in social media on destination image formation: The case of Sina Weibo. *Information and management*, 54(6): 687-702. DOI:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2017.02.009</u>
- [24] Koeppel, D. 2006. To see every bird on Earth: a father, a son, and a lifelong obsession. *The Canadian field naturalist*, 120: 498-499.
- [25] Lee, C. K., Lee, J. H., Kim, T. K., and Mjelde, J. W. 2010. Preferences and willingness to pay for bird-watching tour and interpretive services using a choice experiment. *Journal of sustainable tourism*, 18(5): 695-708. DOI: <u>10.1080/09669581003602333</u>
- [26] Lee J.H. and Scott D. 2004. Measuring birding specialization: A confirmatory factor analysis. *Leisure Sciences*. 26: 245–260. DOI: 10.1080/01490400490461387

- [27] Leung, D., Dickinger, A., and Nixon, L. 2017. Impact of destination promotion videos on perceived destination image and booking intention change. Paper presented at International Conference of Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism: January 24-26, in Rome, Italy.
- [28] Lykoudi, D. M., Zouni, G., and Tsogas, M. M. 2023. Self-love emotion as a novel type of love for tourism destinations. Affect and Emotion in Tourism: Routledge. 233-254 pp. DOI: <u>10.1080/14616688.2020.1765009</u>
- [29] Macdonald, H. 2002. 'What makes you a scientist is the way you look at things': Ornithology and the observer 1930–1955, Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part C: Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, 33: 53–77. DOI: <u>10.1016/S1369-8486(01)00034-6</u>
- [30] Maniatis, S., et al. 2020. Human thermal sensation over a mountainous area, revealed by the application of ANNs: the case of Aenos Mt., Kefalonia Island, Greece. International Journal of Biometeorology, 64: 2033-2045. DOI: <u>10.1007/s00484-020-01993-γ</u>
- [31] Maple L.C., Eagles P.F.J., and Rolfe H. 2010. Birdwatchers' specialisation characteristics and national park tourism planning. *Journal of Ecotourism*, 9: 219–238.DOI: <u>10.1080/14724040903370213</u>
- [32] Marine-Roig, E. 2022. Content analysis of online travel reviews. *Handbook of e-Tourism* Cham: Springer International Publishing. 557-582 pp.
- [33] Martinis, A., Minotou, C., Botonis, A., and Kabassi, K. 2023. Island Hopping in the Ionian Sea: Exploring the Value of Monumental Olive Trees for Sustainable Tourism. Presented at the International Conference on Strategic Innovative Marketing and Tourism. September 22-26, in Ionian islands, Greece.
- [34] Measells, M. K., and Grado, S. C. 2007. Economic impacts of two birding festivals in Mississippi. Presented at the Southern Forest Economics Workshop. March 4-6. In Mississipi, USA.
- [35] Moscardo, G. 2001. Cultural and heritage tourism: The great debates: 3-17.
- [36] Murphy, P. E., and Price, G. G. 2012. Tourism and sustainable development. In Global tourism. 167-193 pp. Routledge.
- [37] Mylonopoulos, D., Moira, P., and Kakaroucha, P. 2022. Sustainable Tourism and Cultural Routes in the Ionian and Adriatic Regions. Paper presented at Transcending Borders in Tourism Through Innovation and Cultural Heritage: 8th International Conference, IACuDiT. September 1-3. Hydra. Greece.
- [38] Newsome, D., and Rodger, K. 2012. Wildlife tourism. In The Routledge handbook of tourism and the environment: Routledge. 345-358 pp.
- [39] Paiva, D., et al. 2023. Digital storytelling and hopeful last chance tourism experiences. Tourism Geographies, 25(5): 1428-1444. DOI: <u>10.1080/14616688.2023.2224043</u>
- [40] Phillips, P., Barnes, S., Zigan, K., and Schegg, R. 2017. Understanding the impact of online reviews on hotel performance: an empirical analysis. *Journal of travel research*, 56(2): 235-249. DOI:<u>10.1177/00472875166364</u>
- [41] Rizky, R. M., Kusdi, R., and Yusri, A. 2017. The impact of e-WOM on destination image, attitude toward destination and travel intention. *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 61(1): 94-104. DOI: <u>10.18551/rjoas.2017-01.09</u>
- [42] Rouche G.P.L. 2003. Birding in the United States: A Demographic and Economic Analysis: Addendum to the 2001 National Survey of Fishing, Hunting and Wildlife-Associated Recreation. 4: Division of Federal Aid, US Fish and Wildlife Service.
- [43] Scott, D., and Thigpen, J. 2003. Understanding the birder as tourist: Segmenting visitors to the Texas Hummer/Bird Celebration. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 8(3): 199-218. DOI: <u>10.1080/10871200304311</u>
- [44] Sekercioglu C.H. 2002. Impacts of birdwatching on human and avian communities. *Environmental Conservation*, 29: 282–289. DOI: 10.1017/S0376892902000206
- [45] Shafiee, M. M., Tabaeeian, R. A., and Tavakoli, H. 2016. The effect of destination image on tourist satisfaction, intention to revisit and WOM: An empirical research in Foursquare social media. Paper presented at 10th International Conference on e-Commerce in Developing Countries: with focus on e-Tourism (ECDC). April 15-16. In Isfahan, Iran.

- [46] Smith, V. L., and Eadington, W. R. (Eds.). 1992. Tourism alternatives: Potentials and problems in the development of tourism: University of Pennsylvania press. p. 274.
- [47] Spyrou, E., et al. 2022. Assessment of geological heritage sites and their significance for geotouristic exploitation: The case of Lefkas, Meganisi, Kefalonia and Ithaki Islands, Ionian Sea, Greece. Geosciences, 12(2): 55. DOI: <u>10.3390/geosciences12020055</u>
- [48] Steven, R., Morrison, C., and Castley, J. G. 2018. Birdwatching and avitourism: a global review of research into its participant markets, distribution and impacts, highlighting future research priorities to inform sustainable avitourism management. *Rural Tourism*, 125-144. DOI <u>10.1080/09669582.2014.924955</u>
- [49] Stoll, J. R., Ditton, R. B., and Eubanks, T. L. 2006. Platte river birding and the spring migration: humans, value, and unique ecological resources. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 11(4): 241-254. DOI:<u>10.1080/10871200600802939</u>
- [50] Vayanni, H., Spilanis, I., and Karagounis, I. 2005. Framework for comparative evaluation of tourist products: the case of birdwatching and mass tourism in Lesvos Island, Greece. 6-8 October. Paper presented at Tourism Planning and Development Conference. In Faro. Portugal.
- [51] Vittery A., et al. 1996. Recent Observations on the Avifauna of Kefalonia (Ionian Islands, Greece). Paper presented at 7th International Congress on Zoogeography and Ecology of Greece and Adjacent Regions., April 1-5. Athens. Greece.
- [52] Weston, M. A., Guay, P. J., McLeod, E. M., and Miller, K. K. 2015. Do birdwatchers care about bird disturbance? Anthrozoös, 28(2): 305-317. DOI: <u>10.1080/08927936.2015.11435404</u>
- [53] Wiedner D. and Kerlinger P. 1990. Economics of birding: A national survey of active birders. American Birds 44: 209–213.
- [54] Winter, P. L., Selin, S., Cerveny, L., and Bricker, K. 2019. Outdoor recreation, nature-based tourism, and sustainability. Sustainability, 12(1): 81. DOI: <u>10.3390/su12010081</u>
- [55] Wretenberg, J., Pärt, T., and Berg, Å. 2010. Changes in local species richness of farmland birds in relation to land-use changes and landscape structure. *Biological conservation*, 143(2): 375-381. DOI:<u>10.1016/j.biocon.2009.11.001</u>
- [56] Xanthakis, M., et al. 2024. Alternative Forms of Tourism: A Comparative Study of Website Effectiveness in Promoting UNESCO Global Geoparks and International Dark Sky Parks. Sustainability, 16(2): 864. DOI:<u>10.3390/su16020864</u>
- [57] Biodiversity of Cephalonia Island. 2024. https://www.facebook.com/groups/kefaloniabiodiversity/
- [58] Birdforum. 2024. https://www.birdforum.net/
- [59] Birdtours. 2024. Birdwatching Reports from Ionian Islands. https://www.birdtours.co.uk/tripreports/Greece/ionian.htm
- [60] Bubo. 2024. https://www.bubo.org/bubo/trips/ionian01.htm
- [61] ELSTAT. 2021. Population Census of Greece. https://www.statistics.gr/el/statistics/-/publication/SAM03/2021
- [62] Hellenic chambers of hotels 2021. Statistics of hotels category. <u>https://www.grhotels.gr/epicheirimatiki-enimerosi/statistika/</u>
- [63] INSETE 2021. Statistics of inbound tourism of Greece 2021. <u>https://insete.gr/statistika-eiserxomenou-tourismou/</u>
- [64] Kefalonia-Ithaca Geopark. 2024. Birdwatching tourism in the Geopark. https://kefaloniageopark.gr/node/306



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).05

Integration of the Pro-Environmental Concepts in Various Management Accounting Tools

Anna SIEMIONEK-LEPCZYŃSKA Department of Corporate Finance Faculty of Management University of Gdańsk, Poland ORCID: 0000-0003-0303-7477 anna.siemionek@ug.edu.pl

Michał CHALASTRA Department of Accounting Faculty of Management University of Gdańsk, Poland ORCID: 0000-0002-9993-1950 <u>michal.chalastra@ug.edu.pl</u>

Article Info: Received 29 June 2024; Received in revised form 7 July 2024; Accepted 31 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: Integrating pro-environmental concepts into management accounting tools is essential for organizations aiming to enhance their sustainability performance. Measures to support a pro-environmental attitude in each enterprise can be implemented differently. This diversity should result from the specifics of its activities.

The case study was conducted during an audit of management accounting tools in the company in Poland. The main goal was to evaluate the accuracy of the management accounting tools and identify areas for improvement. This was an audit of the management accounting. During the audit, it was observed that many of the examined management accounting tools meet the pro-environmental requirements and are integrated. This means that information from one tool is utilized by others, creating a multidirectional relationship. During the audit, the adaptation of management accounting tools to pro-environmental requirements was observed but not interfered with, allowing the use of ethnographic research methods. Integrating these pro-environmental concepts into management accounting tools helps organizations achieve better resource efficiency, reduce environmental impact, and enhance long-term sustainability.

In the paper there were also described various management accounting tools such as for example: Balanced Scorecard (BSC), Life Cycle Costing (LCC), Target Costing or Budgeting. The aim was to examine how to incorporate these concepts to reach pro-environmental aims to support sustainable development.

Structured abstract: This study aims to integrate pro-environmental concepts into management accounting tools to enhance sustainability performance within organizations. The research explores various methods of incorporating these concepts and assesses their effectiveness through a case study conducted during an audit of management accounting tools in a Polish company. The study employed ethnographic research methods during an audit of management accounting tools, observing the adaptation of these tools to pro-environmental requirements without interference. The audit evaluated the accuracy of the management accounting tools and identified areas for improvement. Various tools such as Balanced Scorecard (BSC), Life Cycle Costing (LCC), Target Costing, and Budgeting were examined for their integration of pro-environmental concepts. The audit revealed that many of the management accounting tools in the examined company already meet pro-environmental requirements and are well-integrated, facilitating multidirectional relationships where information from one tool informs others. This integration helps organizations achieve better resource efficiency, reduce environmental impact, and enhance long-term sustainability. The findings suggest that management accounting tools can be adapted to support pro-environmental objectives, leading to improved sustainability performance. Organizations can benefit from a tailored approach to implementing these tools based on their specific activities and requirements, enhancing their overall environmental and resource efficiency. This study provides practical insights into how pro-environmental concepts can be seamlessly integrated into management accounting tools. It highlights the importance of a customized approach based on organizational specifics and demonstrates the benefits of such integration for sustainability performance.

Keywords: green economics; pro-environmental concepts; management accounting tools; sustainability performance; balanced scorecard; life cycle costing; target costing; budgeting; environmental impact.

JEL Classification: G19; Q01; Q56; Q59.

Introduction

The role of analysis and strategic forecasting is to identify future operating conditions for the enterprise. Correctly determining these conditions allows for the consideration of changes in both revenue and costs. In terms of revenue, there is a noticeable increase in interest in products meeting pro-environmental requirements among specific buyer groups. This allows for directing the sales offer to this group of buyers.

Strategic analysis indicates trends in changing prices due to the implementation of the pro-environmental concept. An example of this is the increase in prices of non-ecological energy materials or waste disposal. Accurate estimation of future values of these parameters has practical applications in other management tools, including budgeting and the balanced scorecard.

The implementation of environmental tasks requires an unconventional approach to measuring effects. Consequently, appropriate management accounting tools should be used for this. This requires adaptation of management accounting tools to the requirements of environmental management.

1. Literature Review

Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) factors are increasingly important in the realm of business and finance. ESG has wider impact on corporate performance, investment strategies, and regulatory developments. ESG criteria are used by investors to evaluate corporate behavior and to determine the future financial performance of companies. These criteria encompass:

1. Environmental: how a company performs as a steward of nature,

2. Social: how it manages relationships with employees, suppliers, customers, and the communities where it operates,

3. Governance: how it governs itself, including executive pay, audits, internal controls, and shareholder rights.

Numerous studies indicate a positive correlation between strong ESG practices and financial performance. Companies with high ESG ratings tend to have better operational performance and lower risk, leading to higher profitability and market valuation. Friede, Busch, and Bassen (2015) conducted a meta-analysis of over 2,000 empirical studies and found that approximately 90% show a non-negative relationship between ESG and financial performance, with a majority indicating a positive relationship (Friede, Busch, Bassen 2015, 210-233).

There is a growing trend toward sustainable investing, where asset managers incorporate ESG criteria into their investment processes. This approach is driven by both the desire to achieve better financial returns and the ethical considerations of investors. A survey by Morgan Stanley's Institute for Sustainable Investing (2019) reported that 85% of individual investors are interested in sustainable investing, and 95% believe it's possible to balance financial gains with social/environmental impact (Morgan Stanley Institute for Sustainable Investing 2019, 18-30).

The growing trend toward sustainable investing reflects a shift in investor priorities, balancing the desire for financial returns with the need to address social and environmental issues. The high levels of interest and optimism about sustainable investing, as highlighted by the Morgan Stanley survey, suggest that this approach will continue to gain traction. As more investors recognize the potential for sustainable investing to deliver both financial and societal benefits, the integration of ESG criteria into investment strategies is likely to become more widespread and sophisticated.

One of the major challenges in ESG investing has been the lack of standardized reporting. However, recent efforts by organizations like the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB), and the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) are aimed at improving transparency and consistency.

ESG integration is associated with long-term value creation. Companies that proactively manage ESG issues tend to be more resilient and better positioned for long-term success.

A good practice should be the principle of correlating pro-environmental activities with the profile of the company's operations. This will achieve a synergistic effect in the form of benefits occurring in the following areas (Berrone, Gomez-Mejia 209, 103-126):

1. are carried out in a professional manner in accordance with the core business,

2. they support the company's business strategy in brand promotion.

Thus, it is worthwhile for any company to assume that many pro-environmental activities can be profitable. This profitability can be measured from the immediate and short-term. These are undertakings that produce

specifically measurable financial results in the short term. Examples of such activities include reducing energy costs or environmental fees (Gale 2006, 1228-1236). Profitability of pro-environmental activities, however, can be achieved in a long-term and indirect manner. This group can include brand promotion ventures or research and development work. Testing the profitability of pro-environmental ventures is therefore not a simple task of merely comparing revenues and costs over a short period of time. For this reason, it is worthwhile to select appropriate management accounting tools to measure this profitability. These should be tools that have been proven and applied to a specific enterprise. They should use measurable parameters / metrics. This will make their results reliable. Demonstrating that many pro-environmental activities can be profitable will help convince company managements to undertake them (Gray, Owen, Adams 1996, 18-34).

Activities which support the sustainable development of a company's pro-environmental are implemented in many different areas of its operation. They also use many different management tools (Adams, Frost 2008, 288-302). These are normally used management tools regardless of the pro-environmental concept. However, the implementation of the pro-environmental concept requires some adaptation of their design. Management accounting tools that can be used in support of the operation of the pro-environmental concept include:

- 1. strategic analyses and forecasts,
- 2. balanced scorecard,
- 3. target costing,
- 4. product life cycle accounting,
- 5. task-based budgeting,
- 6. incentive systems,
- 7. accounting recording systems,
- 8. management reporting system.

The role of analysis and strategic forecasts is to identify the future conditions of the enterprise. Correctly identifying them will allow us to consider the changes taking place in the areas of both revenue and costs. In terms of revenue, the growing interest in pro-environmental -compliant products by specific groups of buyers is increasingly evident. This makes it possible to target the sales offer addressed to this group of buyers (Cooper, Slagmulder 1997, 25-33).

Regarding cost forecasting, strategic analysis indicates trends in changes in their prices. In terms of proenvironmental, an example of this is the increase in the price of energy, non-organic materials, or waste disposal.

The strategic analysis carried out at the company should therefore be directed at areas related to proenvironmental. In terms of forecasting, it is therefore worthwhile to select specific parameters directly derived from pro-environmental requirements. This will result in the adaptation of this management accounting tool to the specific requirements of pro-environmental activities.

Proper estimation of future values of these parameters has practical applications in other management tools.

In budgeting, strategic analysis makes it possible to estimate such parameters as energy prices or trends in the development of sales of environmentally friendly products.

Another area of integrating strategic analysis with pro-environmental budgeting can be task-based budgeting. Undertakings in this area can be covered by individual task budgeting. Individual sentences can be aggregated into an aggregate program. It will make it possible to determine the financial results of individual tasks and the entire pro-environmental activity carried out in the enterprise.

One such budget task may be the introduction of a product that meets pro-environmental characteristics. In this case, target costing and product life can be used to assess profitability.

Knowing buyers' preferences for product features that meet the requirements of the pro-environmental concept, a product can be designed accordingly. This requires adding elements derived from the pro-environmental concept to the product features desired by buyers. In this case, too, there is an adaptation of this management accounting tool to pro-environmental requirements (Burns, Scapens 2000, 3-25).

With such a broad focus of many different management accounting tools on the requirements of the proenvironmental concept, this factor can be considered in the construction of the balanced scorecard. When setting goals according to the concept of the balanced goal sheet, one should introduce goals directed exclusively to the requirements of the pro-environmental concept. If one adapts so many different management accounting tools to the requirements of pro-environmental, it is worth adapting the system of accounting records to this. The system of accounting records should provide actual data on the implementation of all the management accounting tools presented system (Kotapski, Chalastra 2021, 227-233). Having planned and actual data considering the requirements of the pro-environmental concept can be incorporated into incentive systems. Another management accounting system that can be adapted to pro-environmental requirements is management reporting (Adams, McNicholas 2007, 382-402). It allows the presentation of the results of this activity in different cross sections.

This reporting includes elements in line with ESG reporting requirements. ESG reporting is a tiered standard. It is being implemented in enterprises in stages. It is not currently required for all enterprises. It is required in large companies. For this reason, many companies do not create this type of reporting. Other companies are just in the process of implementing this reporting standard (Arvidsson, Dumay 2022, 1091-1110) Reporting for internal use does not have to fully comply with this standard. In addition, however, it may involve the presentation of detailed financial parameters such as costs, revenues, or profits of environmental activities. This data can come from the company's budget. The structure of this budget may be more detailed than the requirements of ESG reports.

To sum up, the concept of pro-environmental can influence the construction of many different management accounting tools. Individual tools are integrated with each other. This means that data from one tool is used in others. These relationships are multidimensional as presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Integration of management accounting tools on the requirements of the pro-environmental concept

Source: own work.

Information obtained from strategic analysis can be used by target costing (Ansari 2007, 14-21). Knowing the buyers' preferences for product features that meet pro-environmental requirements allows for appropriate product design. This requires adding elements resulting from the pro-environmental concept to the desired product features (Epstein 2008, 45-62).

Another tool integrated with the previous ones can be budget and life cycle costing. The budget can use task budgeting methods, with one of the tasks being the introduction of a product meeting pro-environmental characteristics (Moller 2018, 57). Planning future significant parameters of such products requires conducting strategic analysis (Gray 1996, 22).

When various management accounting tools are broadly directed towards pro-environmental requirements, this factor can be considered in the construction of a balanced scorecard. When setting goals according to the balanced scorecard concept, goals should be introduced that are aimed at pro-environmental requirements. Once goals considering pro-environmental issues are established, an accounting system should be put in place to provide information on the degree of their realization. The accounting system should provide actual data on the implementation of all presented management accounting tools. With planned and actual data considering pro-environmental requirements, they can be included in motivational systems (Kaplan, R. S., and Norton, D. P. 1996, 98-105).

The pro-environmental concept can influence the construction of many management accounting tools. Individual tools are integrated with each other, meaning that data from one tool is used in others. These relationships are multidimensional.

An important issue is identifying the benefits of using the indicated tools in the enterprise management process. These benefits should include the adaptation of these tools to the specific requirements of the proenvironmental concept.

2. Method

The research method which was used in this paper is case study. The analyzed enterprise is medium-sized manufacturing company in Poland. The main purpose of this analysis was to assess the correctness of the management accounting tools used and to identify areas for improvement. This was an audit of the management accounting system. During this audit, it was identified that many of the management accounting tools examined incorporate the requirements of the pro-environmental concept. In addition, they are integrated with each other.

This means that information from one tool is coaxed out of the others. The relationship is multidirectional. During the audit, the adaptation of management accounting tools to pro-environmental requirements was studied but not interfered with. For this reason, an ethnographic research method could be used.

3. Case Study

Pro-environmental activities supporting the sustainable development of the enterprise are implemented in various areas of its operations, utilizing multiple management tools. These tools are typically used independently of the pro-environmental concept. However, implementing pro-environmental requires some adaptation of their design. Management accounting tools that can support pro-environmental include:

- 1. Strategic analyses and forecasts;
- 2. Balanced scorecard;
- 3. Target costing;
- 4. Product lifecycle costing;
- 5. Task-based budgeting.

An audit of the management accounting system was conducted in the enterprise. The goal was to identify elements for improving the used management accounting tools. While examining individual management accounting tools, it was noted that some of them were aimed at fulfilling pro-environmental related tasks. This state caught the auditors' attention and became the subject of an additional study, independent of the main audit scope. The question was whether this adaptation was deliberate in view of implementing the pro-environmental policy. The management's response was negative. The enterprise had not undertaken coordinated tasks to comprehensively adapt management accounting tools to environmental requirements. The inclusion of pro-environmental elements in individual tools was due to factors significant to their operation areas.

The first mentioned and implemented management accounting tool adapted to environmental needs was strategic analysis.

Due to the specific operation of the production enterprise, the following issues were analyzed:

- 1. Prices and energy consumption
- 2. Trends in the costs and types of packaging
- 3. Increasing market interest in products with pro-environmental features.
- 4. Waste costs.

Forecasted significant increases in energy prices prompted the enterprise to take actions aimed at reducing energy consumption. These actions were carried out in two areas. The first involved using solutions aimed at saving energy consumption. The second reduced energy purchases due to the purchase of photovoltaic installations and energy storage. These actions could be classified as pro-environmental, although they were taken for economic reasons rather than pro-environmental. The presented example is just one of several actions taken due to created forecasts.

Strategic analysis directly affects another management accounting tool, which is budgeting.

Budgeting was another management accounting tool implementing the pro-environmental concept in the examined enterprise. All projects with significant costs had individual budgets, consistent with good task budgeting practices. The already mentioned investment in photovoltaics also had an individual budget, showing the profitability of this undertaking. Projects were grouped into different collective categories, one of which was pro-environmental projects, to gather information on all undertaken pro-environmental activities. This information aimed to be used broadly in promotion. Promotional activities considering pro-environmental principles were directed at both business and individual clients. In this case, business goals were also the main factor for including the pro-environmental perspective in the budget. Task budgeting allowed determining which projects were profitable (Kezenbayeva G. 2019, 1624-1630). The enterprise decided that some unprofitable pro-environmental projects would be carried out, based on the company's promotional policy, marking the first time non-economic factors decided the implementation of specific undertakings. However, the entire program of all pro-environmental tasks had to have positive profitability. Profitable projects financed unprofitable ones.

Other management accounting tools considering pro-environmental requirements were target costing and product life cycle costing. These tools intentionally included pro-environmental requirements, based on market research indicating growing interest in products meeting these requirements. Some of these features, however, had economic justification. For example, appropriate packaging for business customers interested in fully recyclable packaging due to rising waste costs. The economic factor was also significant in introducing pro-environmental oriented product features. It is worth mentioning that pro-environmental product features were considered less

important, but their significance is growing. Thus, product life cycle costing showed the profitability of such policies in the long term.

The number of pro-environmental actions taken in the examined enterprise became significant enough to be included in an individual perspective of the balanced scorecard. pro-environmental actions led to modifying the balanced scorecard by introducing an additional category of goals solely for pro-environmental activities. Each undertaken pro-environmental activity had set goals and task budgets. Task budgets allowed planning not only costs but also financial effects of individual tasks.

4. Research Results

Not all potentially possible management accounting tools were implemented in the examined enterprise, and not all used tools considered pro-environmental requirements. This includes the motivational system. The enterprise's motivational system rewarded achieving specific economic results or completing specific tasks. At the time of the study, it did not include parameters directly resulting from the pro-environmental concept. Similarly, the accounting system was not directly aimed at precise and comprehensive recording of costs and revenues related to undertaken pro-environmental actions.

The surveyed company does not currently have the system for reporting the results of environmental protection activities. This applies to reporting to external institutions in accordance with ESG reporting requirements due to the fact that it is a small enterprise not currently subject to this legal requirement. The ESG reporting directive came into effect on January 5, 2023. The first entities will be required to report under it in 2025 (data will cover the 2024 fiscal year). Member states were required to transpose the directive into national law by July 6, 2024. Some analyses are currently being undertaken as to the feasibility of implementing this reporting standard. However, the company's management has not performed significant activities in this regard. This is due to the anticipation of the development of practical solutions that take into account the specifics of a small business. There is also no system of internal reporting to demonstrate environmental activities. This is due to the fact that their scope in the company is not large. The management of the company plans to launch two ESG reports in the future, within the Full scope of adaptation of management accounting tools to pro-environmental and the achieved effects in the examined production enterprise is presented in Table 1.

Management Accounting Tools	Extent of Adaptation to pro- environmental requirements	Achieved Effects	
Strategic Analysis and Forecasts	Identifying trends in important cost and revenue parameters from a pro- environmental perspective	Indicating the need for pro- environmental actions	
Balanced Scorecard	Introducing a pro-environmental perspective in the balanced scorecard structure	Identifying measurable parameters of pro-environmental actions' effects	
Task Budgeting	Planning revenues and costs of projects	Ability to determine profitable pro- environmental tasks	
Target Costing	Including PRO-ENVIRONMENTAL requirements in desired product features	Defining specific product parameters resulting from pro-environmental	
Life Cycle Costing	Individual planning of future cost and revenue parameters important for pro- environmental	Indicating the effects of including pro- environmental features in designed products over the long term	
Accounting Records	No adaptation of management accounting to pro-environmental requirements in the		
Internal Reporting			
Motivational Systems			

Table 1. The extent of adaptation of management accounting tools to pro-environmental and the achieved effects in the examined production enterprise

Source: own work.

Many management accounting tools have been adapted to environmental management requirements.

However, this state is justified, as many other management accounting tools contain elements intentionally considering pro-environmental. The relationships between these individual tools are complex, where elements of one management accounting tool influence elements of another. An example is the goals contained in the balanced scorecard, connected with specific budget positions or strategic analysis. Pro-environmental -dedicated elements of these tools are integrated with other elements of other tools (Siemionek-Ruskań, M., Siemionek-Lepczyńska A. 2018, s. 4207–4215). This can represent the principle of each with each, as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Comprehensive relationship between management accounting tools meeting pro-environmental requirements

Source: own work.

5. Discussions

Initially, these actions did not constitute a general concept applied to the entire management accounting system. Pro-environmental data from some tools began to be used in others, leading to integration between individual management accounting tools in the pro-environmental area. This integration increased over several years due to the management's growing importance attached to pro-environmental requirements, creating a synergy effect. Management accounting tools indicated that many broadly understood pro-environmental activities could bring measurable financial effects, motivating increased activity in this area. To best select profitable actions, management accounting tools were increasingly used. However, this does not mean only profitable actions were undertaken. Currently, many enterprise activities have identified areas affecting pro-environmental, defined in specific management accounting tools.

In the analyzed company, the share of environmental features in the materiality structure of individual management accounting tools is at a low level. The number and value of all projects included in the environmental category in the overall structure of the task budget of the entire company is rather minor. A similar situation refers to the weights of environmental features in the structure of the target costing of new products. The number of objectives in the Balanced Scorecard relating to environmental activities is also small. The share of environmental feature weights in individual management accounting tools does not exceed on average 5%.

For this reason, it is worth considering whether it is reasonable to adapt these tools to measure the performance of environmental activities. The process of this adaptation requires a lot of work and efforts. This refers to the stage of implementation and then ongoing operation of the various management accounting tools.

If the measurement of the effects of environmental projects is conducted by classical methods of short-term analysis, then the results obtained are not satisfactory. Few environmental projects are profitable. However, the proposed management accounting tools make it possible to indicate which environmental projects are profitable. The advantage of classical methods of short-term profit measurement is confidence in the results obtained.

However, it is worth to mention that the importance and effectiveness of environmental activities are increasing. They are more often introduced in many different areas of enterprise activity. It is therefore necessary to study their results with various management accounting tools. The company should not rely only on one of them. Information from each tool is used by the others. Therefore, appropriate adaptation of multiple management accounting tools to the needs of environmental management seems to be justified. It is worthwhile to perform this task at the present time. This is due to the long time it takes to implement them and to gain experience in their practical application. In the future, it is forecast that the requirements of environmental activities will increase in importance. At that time, it is worth having an efficient system for measuring the effects of environmental activities. An integrated set of different management accounting tools serves this purpose.

Conclusions and Further Research

In the examined enterprise, many management accounting tools introduced specially dedicated elements of their construction considering pro-environmental requirements. These actions initially resulted from individual needs in constructing specific management accounting tools, primarily driven by economic factors. These actions indicated measurable business benefits from undertaking specific pro-environmental activities.

In conclusion, the pro-environmental concept can influence the construction of many management accounting tools. Individual tools are integrated, meaning that data from one tool is used in others, creating multidimensional relationships.

Identifying the Benefits of Using Various Tools in Enterprise Management is essential. To identify the benefits of using the mentioned tools in the enterprise management process it is important to assess how these tools adapt to the specific requirements of the pro-environmental concept.

The case study presented in the paper indicates that many environmental activities bring tangible financial benefits to the company. These effects cannot always be determined by short-term classical methods of determining financial returns. Measuring the effects of environmental activities is additionally worthwhile in the long term. It is also worthwhile to use unconventional methods to measure these effects. Therefore, management accounting tools should be adapted to the specific requirements of environmental management. The analysis of this profitability should be conducted considering various factors. It is reasonable to use a variety of management accounting tools. This article indicates what kind of tolls could be implemented. In addition, it is presented that the various management accounting tools adapted to the requirements of environmental management complement each other. Information from some tools is used in others. Therefore, it is worth creating an integrated system of multiple management accounting tools. Elements of such a system have been positively verified in the practice of one enterprise. This example could be therefore treated as a pattern which could be used in other companies.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Anna Siemionek-Lepczyńska: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Software, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Supervision, Data curation, Validation, Writing – review and editing, Visualization, Funding acquisition.

Michał Chalastra: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Software, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Supervision, Data curation, Validation, Writing – review and editing, Visualization, Funding acquisition.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- [1] Adams, C. A., and Frost, G. R. 2008. Integrating sustainability reporting into management practices. *Accounting Forum*, 32(4): 288-302.
- [2] Adams, C. A., and McNicholas, P. 2007. Making a difference: Sustainability reporting, accountability and organizational change. *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, 20(3): 382-402.
- [3] Ansari, S. L., Bell, J. E., and Swenson, D. W. 2007. Target costing: Uncharted research territory. *Cost Management*, 21(1): 14-21.
- [4] Arvidsson S., and Dumay J. 2022. Corporate ESG reporting quantity, quality and performance: Where to know for environmental policy and practice? *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 31(3): 685-1247.
- [5] Berrone, P., and Gomez-Mejia, L. R. 2009. Environmental performance and executive compensation: An integrated agency-institutional perspective. *Academy of Management Journal*, 52(1): 103-126.
- [6] Burns, J., and Scapens, R. W. 2000. Conceptualizing management accounting change: An institutional framework. *Management Accounting Research*, 11(1): 3-25.
- [7] Chalastra M. 2021. Tasks of Modern Budgeting, Digitalization in Finance and Accounting, Springer Proceedings in Business and Economics. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55277-0, 278-287</u>
- [8] Cooper, R., and Slagmulder, R. 1997. Target costing and value engineering. Productivity Press.
- [9] Epstein, M. J. 2008. Making sustainability work: Best practices in managing and measuring corporate social, environmental, and economic impacts. Greenleaf Publishing.
- [10] Epstein, M. J., and Roy, M. J. 2001. Sustainability in action: Identifying and measuring the key performance drivers. Long Range Planning, 34(5): 585-604.

- [11] Figge, F., Hahn, T., Schaltegger, S., and Wagner, M. 2002. The sustainability balanced scorecard Linking sustainability management to business strategy. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 11(5): 269-284.
- [12] Friede, G., Busch, T., and Bassen, A. 2015. ESG and financial performance: Aggregated evidence from more than 2000 empirical studies. *Journal of Sustainable Finance and Investment*, 5(4): 210-233.
- [13] Gale, R. 2006. Environmental management accounting as a reflexive modernization strategy in cleaner production. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 14(14): 1228-1236.
- [14] Gray, R., Owen, D., and Adams, C. 1996. Accounting and accountability: Changes and challenges in corporate social and environmental reporting. Prentice Hall.
- [15] Hansen, D. R., and Mowen, M. M. 2006. Cost management: Accounting and control. Thomson South-Western.
- [16] Kaplan, R. S. 2010. Conceptual foundations of the balanced scorecard. Harvard Business School.
- [17] Kaplan, R. S., and Norton, D. P. 1996. *The balanced scorecard: Translating strategy into action.* Harvard Business Review Press.
- [18] Kezenbayeva, Gulmira B. 2019. Development of Methods for Calculating the Environmental and Economic Efficiency of Waste Treatment Technologies. *Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism*, 7(31): 1624-1630. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.14505//jemt.v9.7(31).25</u>
- [19] Kotapski R., Chalastra M. 2021. Audit of Controlling in Hospitals: What Is the Scope of an Audit?, Digitalization in Finance and Accounting, Springer Proceedings in Business and Economics. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55277-0</u>
- [20] Moller Klaus 2018. Controller Process Model 2.0. Haufe-Lexware GmbH and Co. KG
- [21] Morgan Stanley Institute for Sustainable Investing. (2019). Sustainable Signals: Individual Investor Interest Driven by Impact, Conviction and Choice.
- [22] Schaltegger, S., and Burritt, R. L. 2000. Contemporary environmental accounting: Issues, concepts and practice. Greenleaf Publishing.
- [23] Siemionek-Ruskań, M., Siemionek-Lepczyńska, A. 2018. Development of Balanced Scorecard Perspectives for the Polish City of Olsztyn, Proceedings of the 32nd International Business Information Management Association Conference (IBIMA) - Vision 2020, s. 4207 - 4215.



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).06

How Green Are Hotels in Ghana? Evidence from Star-Rated Hotels in Kumasi Metropolitan Area

Noble Amoako SARKODIE Department of Hospitality and Tourism Sunyani Technical University, Ghana ORCID: 0009-0009-9160-6887 Corresponding Author: <u>noblesark@yahoo.com</u>

> Jane DERY Department of Hospitality and Tourism Sunyani Technical University, Ghana ORCID: 0009-0003-8696-7422 derytoff@gmail.com

> Charlotte GYIMAH Department of Hospitality and Tourism Sunyani Technical University, Ghana ORCID: 0009-0009-3268-8747 <u>charlotte.gyimah@stu.edu.gh</u>

> Comfort GYEDUAH Department of Hospitality and Tourism Sunyani Technical University, Ghana ORCID: 0009-0009-2411-2537 comfort.gyeduaah@stu.gh

Hannah Esi Akyere ACQUAH Department of Business Administration University of Professional Studies, Ghana ORCID: 0009-0004-1423-8332 essiah71@yahoo.com

Article Info: Received 5 June 2024; Received in revised form 17 June 2024; Accepted 19 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: The study was conducted to assess green business practices among star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. This employed a survey and used a questionnaire to collect data from 60 managers from 84 licensed star-rating hotels. Data was analysed using both descriptive and inferential tests. The study results showed that star-rated hotels have implemented environmentally friendly practices, taking steps to reduce their water usage, adopting sustainable business practices for the long-term benefit of the environment, regular maintenance of sanitary facilities and pipes to prevent losses, and switching off the lights in unoccupied rooms. The study revealed that energy conservation, water conservation, eco-friendly cleaning, and water and energy monitoring were key green business policies adopted by star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. The study also showed that cost savings, customer demand, industry regulations and standards, environmental awareness, competitive advantage, and availability of resources were major factors that influenced the adoption of green practices by star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. The study suggests that the government should be involved in all issues on the enforcement of green practices, as well as that employees' knowledge be raised consistently and their training be enhanced about the use of green business practices.

Keywords: green economics; environmental impact; star-rating hotels; Kumasi Metropolitan Area; practices.

JEL Classification: Q57; Z32; R11.

Introduction

According to Abdullah and Al-Ghwayeen (2020), a green business practice is an aspect of the environment that implements and complies with ecologically sound programs, such as reducing energy and water consumption, solid waste creation, and energy utilization. Green practices are defined by Chandran and Bhattacharya (2021) as the existence of policies and initiatives aimed at promoting both business sustainability and environmental excellence.

The need for business organizations to implement green practices has grown over the past several years as a result of dreadful environmental conditions, such as climate change. In addition to the rise in global surface temperatures, the effects of climate change also include extreme weather conditions, habitat loss, and an increase in sea level (National Geographic 2020). The hotel sector consumes a lot of resources, non-durable goods, water, and power; thus, hotel management needs to be proactive about adopting green practices (Dimara *et al.* 2017). The hotel sector produced around 20% of all emissions related to tourism, according to Merli *et al.* (2019).

The hotel business must attain carbon emission abatement levels of 66% and 90% by 2030 and 2050, respectively, to comply with the Paris Climate Change Agreement and the United Nations Global Goals (United Nations 2018). Additionally, according to a recent survey, 87% of millennials are more devoted to hotel chains that use eco-friendly techniques (Shedd 2020). Yi *et al.* (2018) state that there is an increasing demand for hotels that are actively pursuing green initiatives due to consumers' increased worries about the environment.

Green business practices often include a variety of initiatives aimed at lessening negative environmental effects (Kim *et al.* 2017). Kim *et al.* (2017) go on to define green practices in the hotel industry as a value-added business strategy that helps operators by protecting the environment. Hotels that support green practices frequently participate in resource conservation initiatives (such as waste management, and reducing water and energy usage), buy eco-friendly goods, and create environmental policies and training programmes (Song *et al.* 2020; Choi *et al.* 2019; Kim *et al.* 2018). Larger hotels often have greater resources for adopting green practices, but recent research showed that smaller hotels are also jumping on the green train (Fernández-Robin *et al.* 2019). Small-scale hotels benefit from green initiatives as well since they may be more individualized and adaptable than bigger or chain hotels (Musavengane 2019).

Prior studies have shown that adopting green practices may benefit hoteliers in several ways, including improved brand recognition, operational effectiveness, financial success, customer happiness, and repeat business (Yin *et al.* 2019, Han *et al.* 2018; Alonso-Almeida *et al.* 2017; Teng *et al.* 2018; Wan *et al.* 2017). As a result, hotels are emphasizing the significance of implementing green measures to win over customers (Moise *et al.* 2021).

In furtherance, there has been a notable rise in the past several decades in awareness of global environmental challenges such as resource shortages, carbon emissions, global warming, and the use of harmful substances. Consequently, many organizations worldwide have adopted green ideas in response to this, and activists and lawmakers are working to create a more environmentally friendly future (Bentahar *et al.* 2023).

In Ghana, the government established regulatory bodies like the Ghana Tourism Authority (GTA) and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to oversee and protect the operations of hotels in the nation to halt the possible environmental impacts of hotel operations. For instance, hotels must undertake and submit for evaluation an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) of their planned project by the statutory instrument (Environmental Assessment Regulations LI 1652). Following that, hotels must file an Environmental Management Plan (EMP) with the Environmental Protection Agency within 18 months of opening for business. How hotel operations' environmental effects will be controlled is described in the Environmental Management Plan. However, a study conducted by Lamm (2021) found that many hotels, do not adhere to the regulations even after being awarded licenses and permits to operate. Studies on green business practices in Africa, particularly Ghana, are still in their infancy, even though there have been many works in the field in the past, most of which have been centered on Western nations.

Furthermore, a prior study has confirmed that hotels in Sub-Saharan Africa, particularly Ghana, are implementing comparatively few green initiatives (Lamm 2021). In Ghana, Deri *et al.* (2022) studied to explore the extent to which hotels in the Sunyani Municipality in the Bono Region had adopted green business practices, Kenney (2018) focused on green practices among star-rated hotels in the La-dadekotopon Municipality in the Greater Accra Region, Mensah (2014, 2020) concentrated on a few hotels in the Greater Accra Region whiles Kuuder *et al.* (2013) looked at the Northern region and Boateng (2019) focused on Eastern region. Given the distinctive features of the Kumasi Metropolitan Area, it is not possible to generalize the findings of this research to understand the different kinds of green practices, policies, and variables influencing the adoption of green practices in this area.

Additionally, the Kumasi Metropolitan Area's star-rated hotels have not been the subject of much, if any, research on green business practices. This has left a gap that this study aims to fill. Consequently, the purpose of this study is to respond to the following research questions:

1. Are there any green business practices among star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area?

2. What are the green policies adopted by star-graded hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area?

3. What factors are influencing the adoption of green practices in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area?

1. Literature Review

1.1 Definitions of Green Business Practices

Green practices are steps hotels take to lessen their adverse environmental consequences, such as cutting back on energy and water use, utilizing renewable energy sources, recycling garbage, and procuring locally, according to Santos *et al.* (2020). Leyva *et al.* (2021) contended that a green hotel is a lodging facility that minimizes solid waste, conserves electricity and water, and reduces both. Green hotel practices, on the other hand, are defined by Abdou *et al.* (2020); loannidis *et al.* (2021); and Salama and Abdelsalam (2021) as a group of environmentally conscious activities that aim to reduce their adverse effects on the environment by conserving energy through measures like installing energy-efficient appliances and putting renewable energy programs into place. Green practices are also defined by Chandran and Bhattacharya (2021) as the existence of policies and initiatives aimed at promoting both business sustainability and environmental excellence. According to this study, a "green business practice" is any organization (in this case, a hotel) that makes the required efforts to reduce its adverse effects on both its internal and external ecosystems.

1.2 Empirical Studies of Hotel Green Business Practices

Deri *et al.* (2022) studied to explore the extent to which hotels in the Sunyani Municipality had adopted sustainable initiatives. Simple random sampling and stratified procedure were employed to gather data from forty (40) hotel managers in the Sunyani Municipality. The study revealed that there are no policies in place for greening practices and few managers were aware of and involved in green measures to some extent in hotels in the Sunyani Municipality. The study further found that solid waste management, liquid waste management, green energy consumption, and efficiency, were the three green practices most frequently used by hotels in the Sunyani Municipality. The study established that customer demand is the pressing factor that influenced hotels in the municipality to go green.

Behera and Jatav (2022) investigated how small hotels in Uttarakhand, India handle their waste. A crosssectional survey and a structured questionnaire were used to elicit information from hotel managers. The study found that every waste management strategy except for training staff on waste avoidance strategies, utilizing returnable containers to cut waste, and separating trash into recyclable materials like paper and glass was statistically insignificant. The study also showed that there were no statistically significant variations in the waste management techniques used by different types of small hotels.

Yusnita *et al.* (2021) looked at how homestay operators in Selangor, Malaysia, used green practices concerning their environmental awareness. A basic random selection method was employed to choose 147 homestay hosts. The data that was gathered was examined using both descriptive and inferential tests. The findings indicated that the age, gender, and educational attainment of the host family operators did not significantly differ from one another. The study also discovered a favorable and substantial relationship between green practices and the environmental understanding of host family operators.

Mensah (2020) investigates Accra's small hotels' trash management procedures. Using a simple random technique, a cross-sectional study was conducted to elicit information from 260 managers of small hotels located across Accra. The primary tool was a questionnaire, and data analysis was conducted using SPSS version 20 software. The study's findings suggest that the hotels' waste management procedures do not always adhere to the waste management hierarchy model. Reclaim, recycling, and recovery techniques were less accepted than waste disposal, preventive, and reduction techniques. According to the survey, hotels should implement the sufficiency strategy by encouraging employees and visitors to have a good attitude toward waste reduction and avoidance.

For improved future hotel business in Bali, Ketut *et al.* (2020) looked into the integration of green hotels and green supply chain methods. To gather information from 63 hotel staff members working in the food and beverage, purchasing, receiving, and inventory departments, questionnaires, interviews, and observation were the methods utilized. According to the findings, respondents felt favorably about eco-friendly lodging options and hotels. The findings also demonstrated that ecologically friendly items are generally more popular among Bali's customer base.

Boateng (2019) looked at how to create green hotels in Ghana to create resilient towns. A purposive sample method was employed to choose star-rated hotels in Koforidua, Ghana. Fifteen managers were interviewed and observations were used to get information. The study found that hotels in Koforidua are environmentally cautious in terms of promoting resilient and vital cities. The study recommends policymakers and hoteliers develop an approach to promote hotel operations that combines environmental protection and awareness with business.

Kenney (2018) looked at the eco-friendly business methods used by star hotels in the La-dadekotopon neighborhood in Greater Accra. GTA, hotel management, and the EPA were interviewed in-depth. According to the study, higher-rated hotels had a stronger commitment to environmental sustainability due to their stated environmental management policies, whereas lower-rated hotels only had a few "reactive" environmental activities. The primary green measures used by hotels in this study were garbage creation and management, water management and rationing, and energy efficiency and conservation. However, it was once again demonstrated that upscale hotels had more comprehensive green measures than budget hotels, including sizable liquid waste treatment facilities and energy management systems installed in each room. The study's findings once again showed how important cost reductions and legal compliance are in motivating hotels to implement green business practices.

Research was carried out by Mbasera *et al.* (2016) to ascertain the environmentally friendly methods employed by hotels in South Africa and Zimbabwe. The study gathered information from eight hotels using several case studies. To gather information, semi-structured interviews were also done with the management of star-rated hotels in South Africa and Zimbabwe. According to the survey, all hotels involved in the study have adopted certain eco-friendly practices but lack green management strategies overall. Examples of these include employing solar energy, recycling soap bottles, cutting down on water consumption by using towels many times before washing them and managing garbage. The study's findings also demonstrate that some hotels have used green management for marketing purposes to attract and keep consumers while gaining a competitive edge. The study suggests that to facilitate the adoption of eco-friendly activities, hotels should create green management rules.

Fadhil (2015) conducted related research to ascertain the extent to which the hospitality industry in Lamu County, Kenya, has adopted green practices. Primary data was gathered via a cross-sectional survey using questionnaires from twenty-four hotels. The data was analysed using SPSS. The study's findings showed that European travelers frequently stayed at hotels in Lamu County. According to the report, hotels in Lamu have begun to recognize the value of using eco-friendly methods in their day-to-day operations. The report suggested that given there were possible advantages for the county, players in the hotel sector should adopt green practices.

Petrevska and Cingoski (2015) looked at the level of environmental preservation activities in Macedonian hotels. Managers of five-star hotels were informed to complete an online survey to provide statistics. The study found that a sizable fraction of hotels lacked environmental and energy-efficient policies and practices. The poll also revealed that Macedonian hotels recognize the importance of a proactive environmental policy to the development and prosperity of the travel and tourism sector. However, hotel management dismissed the notion as insignificant and attributed its success to greater costs. According to the study, managers should concentrate on altering their professional ethics and creating and implementing a variety of environmental protection initiatives.

A study by Čekanavičius *et al.* (2014) aimed to define "green businesses" more precisely and investigate the hypothesis that national characteristics on public awareness and economic development are critical in determining how differently "green" ideas are adopted by businesses across different nations. An email survey was used for the study to gather data from respondents in Lithuania and Ireland. Descriptive and inferential statistics were employed in the analysis of the data. According to the survey, Lithuanian and Irish businesses have quite different "green" beliefs and practices. While the latter is aware that turning green" creates new potential to boost sales, the former is more focused on the expenses of becoming green than the advantages.

Jamaludin and Yusof (2013) researched Green Island Resorts' best practices. The study's objective was to identify resort operators' best practices and the variables influencing such practices. The study found that green practices helped to reduce operating costs and that each resort used different best practices that suited their operations and environment.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Setting

The study was carried out in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area, which is the home of the Ashanti Kingdom and serves as the regional capital of the Ashanti Region. The city has a population of about 2.5 million people and a radius of 32 kilometers (Ghana Statistical Service 2021). The Kumasi Metropolitan Area has major landmarks such as the Manhyia Palace, Kumasi Zoological, Kumasi Cultural Centre, Armed Forces Museum, Komfo Anokye Sword Site,

Kumasi Airport, Pankrono Artefacts and the Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology. The beautiful green appearance of the city has also earned it the title 'Garden City of West Africa'.

2.2 Population and Sample

All of the managers of star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area made up the research population. In this study, 20 hotels were selected using a simple random sampling method. This was possible because the researchers had a complete list of 84 registered hotels with stars in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area (Ashanti Region, GTA 2019). The hotel managers were chosen using stratified random selection. This sampling technique was used because the population and sampling frame of the study were known from the data (Ashanti Region, GTA 2019). The researchers identify the population and strata, lists the elements of each stratum, and selects a sample from each stratum using a simple random sampling technique. The researchers also employed this strategy to guarantee that the study's subgroups were fairly represented. Consequently, the GTA's hotel classification system served as the stratification criteria. The strata were 1–5-star hotels (Ashanti Region, GTA 2019).

2.3 Instrumentation

The researchers used a closed-ended questionnaire to ask the hotel management for information. The reason was that a closed-ended questionnaire made it easy for respondents to tick the appropriate response box for the answers that were provided and simpler to code and statistically evaluate answers. The questionnaire included biographical questions about the managers as well as questions regarding the various kinds of green practices, policies, and factors that impact the adoption of green practices. A four-point Likert scale ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree was used to respond to the questions. Colleagues refined and verified the questionnaire before distributing it to the respondents at their workplaces. It took two weeks, from June 1 to June 14, 2023, to complete the questionnaire.

2.4 Data Analysis

To create statistics and information about the data gathered, Statistical Package for Service Solution (SPSS v. 25) was utilized. To describe the data on the variables under examination, descriptive statistical techniques of analysis were employed, such as frequencies, means, standard deviations, and basic regression analyses.

2.5 Ethical Consideration

The study involved human beings; hence ethical issues were taken seriously during the exercise where permission was sought from the managerial staff before delivery of the questionnaires. All participants in this study were properly briefed and the objectives of the study were indicated to them. Finally, the participants were assured of confidentiality and anonymity of their responses.

3. Research Results and Discussion

Table 1 presents the background information on the respondents. More than half (62%) of the management staff were females and 38% were males. The higher representation of females in management positions suggests a positive trend toward gender diversity and inclusivity within the hospitality industry. For the age group, 37% of the respondents were aged between 30-39 years, 30% were aged between 20-29 years, 25% were aged between 40-49 years and 8% were aged 50 years and above. The distribution of respondents across different age groups signifies a diverse workforce with representation from multiple generations. The higher percentage of respondents aged between 20-29 years indicates a relatively youthful workforce, which might bring new perspectives and technological fluency to the workplace.

About the respondents' educational level, HND/Diploma holders made up 45%, degree holders made up 35%, and senior high school graduates made up 20%. The implication is that employees with HND/Diploma education, degree holders, and those with senior high school education bring different skill sets and qualifications to the hotel industry. Moreover, 68% of the respondents were married, 20% were single and 12% were divorced. Additionally, 47% of respondents have been working with this hotel for less than 1 year, 25% of respondents have been working with this hotel for less than 1 year, 25% of respondents have been working with this hotel for 1-2 years. A significant number of employees with less than a year of experience could indicate a relatively high turnover rate within selected hotels.

The average mean (3.16) indicates that the star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area have been adopting green business practices. The respondents agreed (mean=3.80) that star-rated hotels have implemented environmentally friendly practices. This implies that these hotels are effectively communicating their efforts to be

more sustainable and are likely to be well-received by consumers who care about the environment. This finding is in line with that of Hsiao *et al.* (2018), who found that star-rated hotels in Taiwan have adopted eco-friendly measures such as conserving electricity, managing water, and using fewer chemicals. The findings of this investigation corroborate those of Khatter *et al.* (2019), who found that the hotels included in the sample showed a strong commitment to ecologically friendly business practices.

Variables	Eroquopov	Doroontogo
variables	Frequency	Percentage
Gender		
Male	23	38
Female	37	62
Age group (Years)		
20-29s	18	30
30-39	22	37
40-49	15	25
Above 50 years	5	8
Educational level		
SHS	12	20
Diploma/HND	27	45
Degree	21	35
Marital status		
Single	12	20
Married	41	68
Divorced	7	12
Years of working in the hotel		
Less than 1 year	28	47
1-2 years	8	13
3-5 years	9	15
More than 5 years	15	25

Tahla 1	Background	Information	on Respond	dents $(n=60)$
	Dackyrounu	mormation	UII Respond	

Source: (Field Survey, 2023)

The majority of the respondents agreed (mean=3.17) that star-rated hotels in Kumasi Metropolis are taking steps to reduce their water usage. The implication is that by actively reducing water usage, hotels contribute to the responsible management of water, especially in regions where water scarcity or stress is a concern. This data confirms the reports of Mendoza *et al.* (2023) that water management techniques are used by hotels and resorts in the Euro-Mediterranean.

Again, the majority of the respondents agreed (mean=3.25) that star-rated hotels are making efforts to reduce waste and recycle materials. The implication is that star-rated hotels are at the point of reducing negative environmental impact. According to Langgat *et al.* (2023), waste reduction and recycling initiatives help decrease the quantity of waste sent to landfills, conserve natural resources, and mitigate pollution.

In addition, most of the respondents agreed (mean=3.38) that star-rated hotels are adopting sustainable business practices for environmental benefits. The implication is that the adoption of sustainable business practices by star-rated hotels for the long-term benefit of the environment yields numerous positive implications, from environmental conservation to economic savings, positive branding, and societal impact. Chan *et al.* (2021) also reported that long-term green business practices help reduce the ecological footprint of hotels, leading to the conservation of resources, reduction in pollution, and overall environmental preservation.

The majority of the respondents agreed (mean=3.27) that star-rated hotels should repair their plumbing fixtures and pipelines regularly. Regular maintenance of plumbing fixtures and piping in hotels has far-reaching implications that touch on cost savings, guest satisfaction, resource conservation, environmental responsibility, and overall operational efficiency. According to Gurmu and Mudiyanselage (2023), regular maintenance helps identify and repair leaks, drips, and other plumbing issues that can lead to water wastage. This not only conserves water resources but also reduces water bills for the hotel.

Green business practices	Mean	Std. Dev.
Star-rated hotels have implemented environmentally friendly practices	3.80	0.48
Star-rated hotels are actively reducing their energy consumption.	2.98	0.43
Star-rated hotels are taking steps to reduce their water usage	3.17	0.72
Star-rated hotels are making efforts to reduce waste and recycle materials	3.25	0.51
Star-rated hotels use eco-friendly products and supplies.	3.13	0.75
Star-rated hotels are promoting green practices to their guests.	3.00	0.71
Star-rated hotels are participating in local environmental initiatives	3.15	0.73
Star-rated hotels are committed to reducing their carbon footprint	3.15	0.69
Star-rated hotels are investing in renewable energy sources.	3.00	0.88
Star-rated hotels are adopting sustainable business practices for the long-term benefit of the environment	3.28	0.78
Maintain plumbing pipelines and fixtures regularly to prevent losses.	3.27	0.63
Star-rated hotels cover pool outside of the opening hours so that the water does not evaporate or get dirty	3.02	0.81
The hotels make sure that outside illumination is only turned on at night and minimize ambient lighting during the day.	2.98	0.75
Installing light bulbs that are 12 times more energy-efficient than standard incandescent lights	2.97	0.82
Verify that all lights are off in vacant rooms (magnet cards automatically off the electricity to the room when a visitor departs).	3.22	0.76
Average mean	3.16	

Table 2. Green business practices in star-rated hotels

Source: (Field Survey, 2023). Scale: 1.0-2.4=Disagree, 2.5-3.9=Agree

Finally, the majority of the respondents agreed (mean=3.22) that the hotels must make sure the lights are switched off in unoccupied rooms. This implies that turning off lights in unoccupied rooms reduces electricity consumption, contributing to lower energy bills and a smaller carbon footprint. Kostić *et al.* (2019) view that energy-efficient practices lead to cost savings on utility bills. Over time, these savings can be substantial for hotels, especially those with a large number of rooms.

Type of green business policies	Mean	Std. Dev.
Energy conservation	3.75	0.51
Water conservation	3.80	0.36
Waste management	2.83	0.79
Sustainable food practices	3.05	0.62
Eco-friendly cleaning	3.65	0.87
Renewable energy	2.95	0.59
Green certifications	2.85	0.88
Environmental education	2.92	0.69
Local community engagement	2.85	0.936
Water and energy monitoring	3.73	0.88
Average mean	3.24	

Table 3. Type of green business policies adopted by star-rated hotels

Source: (Field Survey, 2023). Scale: 1.0-2.4=Disagree, 2.5-3.9=Agree

The average mean score of 3.24 for the study indicates that the star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolis have adopted green business policies. The respondents agreed (mean=3.75) that energy conservation is a green business policy adopted by star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. The implication is that energy conservation efforts make hotels more resilient to energy price fluctuations and potential shortages, ensuring consistent service for guests. Star-rated hotels are taking a proactive and effective stance by adopting energy saving as a green business policy (Asfaw 2022). This strategy entails putting into effect a variety of procedures and efforts targeted at lowering energy usage, lowering carbon emissions, and improving the sustainability of the environment as a whole (Kassim 2023).

According to the survey, most respondents (mean=3.80) believed that star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area practice water conservation. According to Salama and Abdelsalam's (2021) research, star hotels

are generally expected to consume more water and have more complicated consumption structures with a variety of water-consuming services offered to both tourists and guests. Many writers, like Abdou *et al.* (2020) and Langgat (2019), have pointed out that conserving water and energy is one of the green practices that many businesses have used to help the environment. Abrudu *et al.* (2020) assert that hotels have a competitive edge due to their adoption of water and energy-saving strategies, based on studies conducted in Romania.

Furthermore, most of the respondents agreed (mean=3.65) that their hotels adopt eco-friendly cleaning. The use of solutions that are decomposable and avoid the use of hard chemicals like chlorine, phosphates, and artificial perfumes is part of eco-friendly cleaning (Lee and Cheng, 2018). These products have a reduced impact on indoor air quality and are less harmful to aquatic ecosystems when they enter water systems (Lee and Cheng, 2018). According to Tiwari *et al.* (2020), eco-friendly cleaning in hotels refers to the practice of using environmentally responsible cleaning products, methods, and practices that minimize negative impacts on both human health and the environment. The goal is to maintain a clean and hygienic environment while reducing the use of harmful chemicals, conserving resources, and promoting sustainability. According to Yusof *et al.* (2017), guest satisfaction and intention to return are directly correlated with eco-friendly hotel sector policies. As a result, to compete, hoteliers whether or not they are considered green, must employ ecologically friendly methods that contribute to environmental preservation.

Additionally, the majority of the respondents agreed (mean=3.73) that star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area adopt a green business policy of water and energy monitoring. The implication is that incorporating water and energy monitoring into hotel operations allows for evidence-based decision-making that benefits the environment, reduces operational costs, enhances guest satisfaction, and aligns with sustainable business practices. According to Gülaçtı (2022), water and energy monitoring in hotels refers to the systematic tracking, measurement, and analysis of water and energy consumption within the hotel's facilities. Data on the quantity of energy and water used in the hotel's different areas, including the kitchens, laundry facilities, public areas, and guest rooms, is what the monitoring aims to collect (Wang *et al.* 2022).

Regression Analysis

This assessed the variables influencing the adoption of green practices by hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	0.963	0.837	0.815	0.274

According to Table 4, the R-squared value is 87.3%, or 0.837. The study's independent variables—cost savings, customer demand, industry regulations and standards, environmental awareness, corporate social responsibility, competitive advantage, resource availability, and technological advancement—account for 87.3% of the explanations of green practices. Other factors, not included in the study, account for the remaining 12.7%.

Model	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Regression	82.763	15	5.518	85.210	0.000ª
Residual	2.849	44	0.065		
Total	85.612	59			

Table 5. Anova

The results of the analysis of variance (ANOVA) indicated that the model was statistically significant. Additionally, the outcomes show that the independent variables are trustworthy markers of green practices. This is confirmed by an F-statistic of 85.210 and a reported p-value of 0.000, which was less than the typical probability of 0.05 for a significant level.

The influence of the independent variables (cost savings, customer demand, industry regulations and standards, environmental awareness, competitive advantage, and availability of resources) on the adoption of green practices is shown in Table 6 through the use of regression analysis. The results show that cost savings (r=0.787, p value=0.000), customer demand (r=0.841, p=0.000), industry regulations and standards (r=0.804, p=0.000), environmental awareness (r=0.794, p=0.000), competitive advantage (r=0.674, p=0.007, and resource availability (r=0.872, p=0.000), were statistically significant in explaining the adoption of green practices among star-rated hotels in Kumasi Metropolitan Area. The study revealed that cost savings significantly impact the adoption of green practices among hotels, as sustainable initiatives can lead to long-term financial benefits and improved

operational efficiency. This result corroborates that of Fauziah *et al.* (2017), who found that a variety of factors impact the adoption of green practices in the hotel business, including cost, perceived advantages, staff and customer assistance, and consumer support.

	Unstandardized coefficients		Standardized coefficients		
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
Constant	3.844	0.161		23.903	0.000
Cost savings	0.787	0.075	1.312	10.551	0.000
Customer demand	0.841	0.064	1.409	13.063	0.000
Industry regulations and standards	0.804	0.072	1.340	11.091	0.000
Environmental awareness	0.794	0.079	1.331	12.048	0.000
Corporate social responsibility	0.193	0.062	0.104	3.485	0.085
Competitive advantage	0.674	0.056	1.258	9.678	0.007
Availability of resources (funds, trained staff)	0.872	0.058	1.461	15.028	0.000
Technology advancements	0.444	0.056	0.048	0.783	0.438

Table 6. Results of Multiple Linear Regression Analysis

Dependent variable: Green practices

The study also showed that customer demand influences the adoption of green practices among star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan area. The implication is that hotels respond to customer demand for green practices and position themselves as relevant and attractive choices for environmentally conscious travelers. This result is in line with that of Jiang and Gao (2019), who discovered that consumer demand affects hotels in China's adoption of green practices. According to Butler (2008), cited in Deraman *et al.* (2017), many hotel operators hold off on implementing green practices until consumer demand rises and operating expenses fall.

Industry regulations and standards were found to influence the adoption of green practices among star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. These regulations and standards provide a framework for hotels to follow, encouraging and sometimes mandating the implementation of green practices. Srivastava *et al.* (2023) are of the view that regulations and standards create a level playing field by establishing a baseline of environmental responsibility.

The study found that environmental awareness also influences the adoption of green practices by star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. The finding is in line with the observation made by Kuar *et al.* (2022) that environmental awareness affects Malaysian hotels' adoption of green practices. The study showed that the availability of resources such as funds, trained staff, etc., influences the adoption of green practices among star-rated hotels. The implication is that the availability of funds and trained staff can catalyze star-rated hotels to adopt and prioritize green business practices. This finding collaborates with the findings of Li *et al.* (2020) that available funds in star-rated hotels in eastern China impact the implementation of green practices.

Conclusions and Further Research

This study aimed to assess green business practices among star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. The study showed that star-rated hotels have implemented environmentally friendly practices, taking steps to reduce their water usage, and adopting sustainable business practices for the long-term benefit of the environment. In preventing losses, making sure that the lights are turned off in vacant rooms and doing routine maintenance on water fittings and pipelines. The study also, established that energy conservation, water conservation, eco-friendly cleaning, and energy monitoring were key green business policies adopted by star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area. The study further, revealed that cost savings, customer demand, industry regulations and standards, environmental awareness, competitive advantage, and available resources were major factors that influence the adoption of green practices by star-rated hotels in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area.

Theoretical Implications

The results of implementing green practices in star-rated hotels can contribute to the development and refinement of sustainability theories and concepts related to corporate environmental responsibility and provide insights into the practical implementation of sustainable strategies in the hospitality industry. This study's findings add to the hospitality literature on hotel green business practices in Ghana.
Practical Implications

The findings from the study emphasized the observable financial benefits and operational improvements brought about by the implementation of green practices, which may persuade more hotels to make sustainable initiatives and investments to boost their bottom line.

Recommendations

First, the study suggests that the government be involved in all issues about the enforcement of green practices, as well as that employees' knowledge be raised consistently and their training be enhanced about the use of green practices.

Second, since guests are seen as essential components in building green capacity, they are likely to increase productivity and promotion in addition to educating, training, and raising staff members' awareness of the value of green practices in hotel enterprises. The reason for this is that a small number of dedicated hotel employees and eco-aware guests may help maintain green standards.

Third, the managers of hotels should install water-saving fixtures, promote guest awareness about water conservation, and monitor water usage to identify opportunities for reduction.

Finally, regulators such as the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and Ghana Tourism Authority (GTA) need a more comprehensive inspection plan than the ceremonial periodic visits that do not review the core environmental business practices of hotels.

Limitations and Future Research

The study is limited to only star-rating green business hotel practices in the Kumasi Metropolitan Area in Ghana. Future research should look at small business hotel practices in other jurisdictions to ascertain what pertains there.

Acknowledgment

We would like to extend our appreciation to those individuals who made substantial contributions to the successful completion of this research. We greatly value the assistance provided by our co-lecturers in the department of hospitality and tourism.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

The authors contributed equally to this research.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work manuscript.

References

- Abdallah, A.B., and Al-Ghwayeen, W.S. 2020. Green supply chain management and business performance: The mediating roles of environmental and operational performances. *Business Process Management Journal*, 26(2): 489-512. DOI: <u>10.1108/BPMJ-03-2018-0091</u>
- [2] Abdou, H.A., Hassan, T.H., and El Dief, M.M. 2020. A description of green hotel practices and their role in achieving sustainable development. Sustainability, 12, 9624. DOI: <u>10.3390/su12229624</u>
- [3] Abrudu, I.N., Pop, C. M., and Lazar, P.S. 2020. Using a general ordered logit model to explain the influence of hotel facilities, general and sustainability-related, on customer ratings. *Sustainability*, 12, 9301. DOI:<u>10.3390/su12219302</u>
- [4] Alonso-Almeida, M. del M., Fernández Robin, C., Celemín Pedroche, M.S., and Astorga, P.S. 2017. Revisiting green practices in the hotel industry: A comparison between mature and emerging destinations. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 140: 1415–1428. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.10.010</u>
- [5] Asfaw, Y. 2022. Green hotel practice and its effect on environmental sustainability in Ethiopia: A case study on four and five-star hotels of Addis Ababa City (Doctoral dissertation, HU).
- [6] Behera, A., and Jatav, S.S. 2022. Waste Management Practices of Small Hotels in Dehradun. Journal of Tourism Insights, 12(1): 3. DOI: <u>10.9707/2328-0824.1270</u>

- [7] Bentahar, O., Benzidia, S., and Bourlakis, M. 2023. A green supply chain taxonomy in healthcare: critical factors for a proactive approach. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 34(1): 60-83. DOI:<u>10.1108/IJLM-04-2021-0240</u>
- [8] Boateng, A., K. 2019. Green hotel development: Towards the building of resilient cities in Ghana. Smart Cities and Regional Development Journal (v3. i1. 2019).
- [9] Čekanavičius, L., Bazytė, R., and Dičmonaitė, A. 2014. Green business: challenges and practices. Ekonomika, 93(1:74-88. DOI: <u>10.15388/Ekon.2014.0.3021</u>
- [10] Chan, J.K.L., Stephen, S.G.A., and Andi Kele, A.T. 2021. Exploring sustainable human resource practices and framework in star-rated hotels. *Sustainability*, 13(16), 9024. DOI: <u>10.3390/su13169024</u>
- [11] Chandran, C., and Bhattacharya, P. 2021. Hotel's best practices as strategic drivers for environmental sustainability and green marketing. In Consumer Behaviour in Hospitality and Tourism (pp. 66-81). Routledge. DOI: 10.4324/9781003181071-5
- [12] Choi, H.M., Kim, W.G., Kim, Y.J., and Agmapisarn, C. 2019. Hotel environmental management initiative (HEMI) scale development. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77: 562-572. DOI:<u>10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.08.020</u>
- [13] Deraman, F., Ismail, N., Mod Arifin, A.I., and Mostafa, M.I.A. 2017. Green practices in the hotel industry: Factors influencing the implementation. *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality and Culinary Arts* (JTHCA), 9(2): 1-12.
- [14] Deri, M., N, Neethiahnanthan, A., Perpetual, Z., Augustine, N., and David, A. 2022. Green practices among hotels in the Sunyani Municipality of Ghana. Journal of Business and Environmental Management (JBEM): 1(1): 1 – 22. DOI: <u>10.59075/jbem.v1i1.147</u>
- [15] Dimara, E., Manganari, E., and Skuras, D. 2017. Don't change my towels please: Factors influencing participation in towel reuse programs. *Tourism Management*, 59: 425-437. DOI:<u>10.1016/j.tourman.2016.09.003</u>
- [16] dos Santos, R.A., Méxas, M.P., Meirino, M.J., Sampaio, M.C., and Costa, H.G. 2020. Criteria for assessing a sustainable hotel business. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 262. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121347</u>
- [17] Fadhil, A. 2015. Adoption of green practices in the hospitality and tourism industry in Lamu County, Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- [18] Fauziah, D., Noralisa, I., Ahmad, I., and Mohamad, I. 2017. Green practices in the hotel industry: factors influencing the implementation. *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality and Culinary Arts*, 9(2): 305-316.
- [19] Fernández-Robin, C., Celemín-Pedroche, M.S., Santander-Astorga, P., and Alonso-Almeida, M. del M. 2019. Green practices in hospitality: A Contingency approach. Sustainability, 11(13): 1–24. DOI:<u>10.3390/su11133737</u>
- [20] Gülaçtı, Ş.E.N. 2022. Can A Green Business Strategy Be an Alternative to the Success of the Airport Environmental Management System? *Journal of Aviation*, 6(2): 241-250. DOI: <u>10.30518/jav.1128353</u>
- [21] Gurmu, A., and Mudiyanselage, P.W. 2023. Plumbing defects in residential buildings: analysis of anomalies and their causes. *Facilities*. DOI: <u>10.1108/F-10-2022-0130</u>
- [22] Han, H., Lee, J.S., Trang, H.L.T., Kim, W. 2018. Water conservation and waste reduction management for increasing guest loyalty and green hotel practices. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 75: 58-66. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.03.012</u>
- [23] Ioannidis, A., Chalvatzis, K.J., Leonidou, L.C., and Feng, Z. 2021. Applying the reduce, reuse, and recycle principle in the hospitality sector: Its antecedents and performance implications. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 30(7): 3394-3410. DOI: <u>10.1002/bse.2809</u>
- [24] Jamaludin, M., and Yusof, Z.B. 2013. Best practice of Green Island resorts. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 105: 20-29. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.11.003</u>
- [25] Jiang, Y., and Gao, Y. 2019. Factors that influence potential green hotel customers' decision-making processevidence from China. *Journal of China Tourism Research*, 15(4): 455-477. DOI:<u>10.1080/19388160.2018.1558139</u>
- [26] Kassim, M.A. 2023. Environmental Sustainability Practices in Hotels: From Attitudes to Implementation Case of Resort Hotels in Bishoftu, Ethiopia.

- [27] Kenney, P.L. 2018. Green business practices among star-graded hotels in Ghana: The case study of Ladadekotopon municipality. A thesis submitted to the Graduate School, University of Ghana in partial fulfillment of a requirement towards the award of a Master of Arts degree in Development Studies.
- [28] Ketut, A., Ketut, B., Cokorda, I.S.W., and Gede, M. 2020. Green Supply Chain for Better Future Hotel Business. Advances in Social Science, Education, and Humanities Research, volume 544.
- [29] Khatter, A., McGrath, M., Pyke, J., White, L., and Lockstone-Binney, L. 2019. Analysis of hotels' environmentally sustainable policies and practices: Sustainability and corporate social responsibility in hospitality and tourism. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(6): 2394-2410. DOI: 10.1108/IJCHM-08-2018-0670
- [30] Kim, M.S., Kim, J., and Thapa, B. 2018. Influence of environmental Knowledge on effect, nature affiliation and pro-environmental behaviors among tourists. *Sustainability*, 10: 1-16. DOI: <u>10.3390/su10093109</u>
- [31] Kim, S.H., Lee, K., and Fairhurst, A. 2017. The review of "green" research in hospitality, 2000-2014: Current trends and future research directions. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(1): 226-247. DOI: <u>10.1108/IJCHM-11-2014-0562</u>
- [32] Kostić, M., Ratković, M., and Forlani, F. 2019. Eco-hotels as an example of environmental responsibility and innovation in savings in the hotel industry. *Journal of Comparative International Management*, 7(2): 47-56. DOI:<u>10.5937/menhottur1902047K</u>
- [33] Kuar, L.S., Ng, L.P., Choong, Y.O., Chen, I.C., Teoh, S.Y., and Tee, C.W. 2022. Hotels' green practices adoption: Determinants and top managers' environmental commitment. *Advances in Hospitality and Tourism Research (AHTR)*, 10(2): 157-187. DOI: <u>10.30519/ahtr.937991</u>
- [34] Kuuder, C.J.W., Bagson, E., Prempeh, V.M., Mumuni, A., Adongo, R., and Amoako, E.E. 2013. Energy, water, and waste management in the accommodation sector of Tamale Metropolis, Ghana. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 16(5): 450-461.
- [35] Lamm, D.K. 2021. An Exploration of Environmental Practices in the Hospitality Industry. Evidence from Hotels in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism* (JEMT), 12(02 (50)): 357-370. DOI: <u>10.14505//jemt.v12.2(50).05</u>
- [36] Langgat, J., Ramdani, B., Pavic, S., and Tok, E. 2023. Environmentally Sustainable Practices and Hotel Performance: Evidence from Malaysia. *Sustainability*, 15(6): 5289. DOI: <u>10.3390/su15065289</u>
- [37] Langgat, J.A. 2019. Sustainability adoption in hotel restaurants: Evidence from Malaysia. Business. Corpus ID: 191946020.
- [38] Lee, W.H., and Cheng, C.C. 2018. Less is more: A new insight for measuring service quality of green hotels. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 68: 32-40. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.09.005</u>
- [39] Leyva, E.S., and Parra, D.P. 2021. Environmental approach in the hotel industry: Riding the wave of change. Sustainable Futures, 3, 100050. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.sftr.2021.100050</u>
- [40] Li, J., Mao, P., Liu, H., Wei, J., Li, H., and Yuan, J. 2020. Key factors influencing low-carbon behaviors of staff in star-rated hotels - an empirical study of eastern China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(21): 8222. DOI: <u>10.3390/ijerph17218222</u>
- [41] Mbasera, M., Du Plessis, E., Saayman, M., and Kruger, M. 2016. Environmentally friendly practices in hotels. Acta Commercii, 16(1): 1-8. DOI: <u>10.4102/ac.v16i1.362</u>
- [42] Mendoza, E., Ferrero, G., Slokar, Y.M., Amores, X., Azzellino, A., and Buttiglieri, G. 2023. Water management practices in Euro-Mediterranean hotels and resorts. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 39(3): 485-506. DOI: <u>10.1080/07900627.2021.2015683</u>
- [43] Mensah, I. 2014. Different shades of green: Environmental management in hotels in Accra. An application of the waste management hierarchy model. *Journal of Global Business Insights*, 5(1): 33-46. DOI:<u>10.1002/jtr.1939</u>
- [44] Mensah, I. 2020. Waste management practices of small hotels in Accra: An application of the waste management hierarchy model. *Journal of Global Business Insights*, 5(1): 33-46. DOI:<u>10.5038/26406489.5.1.1081</u>

- [45] Merli, R., Preziosi, M., Acampora, A., and Ali, F. 2019. Why should hotels go green? Insights from guests' experience in green hotels. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 81: 169-179. DOI:<u>10.1016/j.ijhm.2019.04.022</u>
- [46] Moise, M.S., Gil-Saura, I., and Ruiz Molina, M.E.R. 2021. The importance of green practices for hotel guests: Does gender matter? *Economic Research*, 1-22. DOI: <u>10.1080/1331677X.2021.1875863</u>
- [47] Musavengane, R. 2019. Small hotels and responsible tourism practice: Hoteliers' perspective. Journal of Cleaner Production, 220: 786-799. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.02.143</u>
- [48] Petrevska, B., and Cingoski, V. 2015. Environmental protection and energy efficiency concept in five-star hotels in Macedonia.
- [49] Salama, W., and Abdelsalam, E. 2021. Impact of hotel guests' trends to recycle food waste to obtain bioenergy. Sustainability, 13(6): 3094. DOI: <u>10.3390/su13063094</u>
- [50] Shedd, B. 2020. Why hotels need to focus on sustainable technology. Available at: https://www.hotelmanagement.net/tech/why-hotels-need-to-focus-sustainable-technology
- [51] Song, J., Jai, T. M., and Li, X. 2020. Examining green reviews on TripAdvisor: Comparison between resort/luxury hotels and business/economy hotels. *International Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Administration*, 21(2): 165-187. DOI: <u>10.1080/15256480.2018.1464418</u>
- [52] Srivastava, S., Dey, S.K., Sharma, S., and Ratilla, M. 2023. Adoption of sustainable practices by Asian hotels: gaps in academia. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 15(3): 220-230. DOI:<u>10.1108/WHATT-01-</u> <u>2023-0009</u>
- [53] Teng, C.C., Lu, A.C.C. and Huang, T.T. 2018. Drivers of consumers' behavioral intention toward green hotels. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 30(2): 1134-1151. DOI:<u>10.1108/IJCHM-04-2017-0203</u>
- [54] Tiwari, S., Dambhare, A., and Tripathi, R. 2020. Eco-friendly practices in star category hotels of Lucknow: An exploratory study. AVAHAN: A Journal on Hospitality and Tourism, 8(1): 9-16.
- [55] Wan, Y.K.P., Chan, S.H.J., and Huang, C.L.W. 2017. Environmental awareness, initiatives, and performance in the hotel industry of Macau. *Tourism Review*, 72(1): 87-103. DOI: <u>10.1108/TR-06-2016-0016</u>
- [56] Wang, Y., Dong, L., and Li, H. 2022. Economic Evaluation of Energy-Saving Retrofit of Existing Hotels. Energies, 15(3): 757. DOI: <u>10.1108/TR-06-2016-0016</u>
- [57] Yi, S., Li, X., and Jai, T.M. 2018. Hotel guests' perception of best green practices: A content analysis of online reviews. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 18(2): 191–202. DOI: <u>10.1177/1467358416637251</u>
- [58] Yin, C.Y., Du, F., and Chen, Y. 2019. Types of green practices, hotel price image and consumers' attitudes in China: the mediating role of consumer skepticism. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 29(3): 329-357. DOI: <u>10.1080/19368623.2019.1640162</u>
- [59] Yusof, Y., Awang, Z., Jusoff, K., and Ibrahim, Y. 2017. The influence of green practices by non-green hotels on customer satisfaction and loyalty in the hotel and tourism industry. *International Journal of Green Economics*, 11(1): 1-14. DOI: <u>10.1504/IJGE.2017.082716</u>
- [60] Yusof, Y., Mansor, M.A., and Ab Ghani, H.H. 2021. Green Practices among Homestay Operators in Selangor, Malaysia. BIMP-EAGA Journal for Sustainable Tourism Development, 10(1): 44-58. DOI:<u>10.51200/bimpeagajtsd.v10i1.3620</u>
- [61] Ghana Statistical Service. 2021. Housing and Population Census, Report Accra, Ghana.
- [62] Ghana Tourism Authority. 2019. Ghana's tourism potential. Kumasi Metropolitan, Ashanti Region
- [63] National Geographic 2020. Causes and effects of climate change. Available at: https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/global-warming/global-warming-effects/
- [64] United Nations 2018. UN works with the global hotel industry to reduce emissions. Available at: https://unfccc.int/news/un-works-with-global-hotel-industry-to-reduce-emissions



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).07

Integrating Marine Tourism into the Blue Economy Framework

Kiran REDDY Acharya Institute of Management and Sciences, Bangalore, India ORCID: 0009-0008-3315-8863 research@theaims.ac.in

> Bhaskar SAILESH AIMS Centre for Advanced Research Centre University of Mysore, India ORCID: 0000-0002-5666-3597 <u>bhaskarsailesh3233@gmail.com</u>

Article info: Received 29 June 2024; Received in revised form 16 July 2024; Accepted for publication 31 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: Marine tourism is an integral part of the blue economy, contributing significantly to economic development and environmental sustainability. This paper explores the various dimensions of marine tourism within the blue economy framework, emphasizing its economic, social, and environmental impacts. The conceptual framework defines marine tourism activities and highlights their importance. Current trends and practices in marine tourism are analyzed, along with their economic implications and the resulting environmental and social impacts. The paper also delves into governance models, focusing on public-private partnerships and the role of non-governmental organizations (NGOs) in promoting sustainable tourism practices. National and regional policies are examined through case studies and comparative analysis. The economic integration of marine tourism with other blue economy sectors, such as fisheries and coastal infrastructure, is discussed, highlighting the revenue generation and economic diversification benefits. The findings underscore the need for effective governance, stakeholder engagement, and adaptive management to achieve sustainable marine tourism development.

Keywords: sustainable development; marine tourism; blue economy; public-private partnerships; economic diversification.

JEL Classification: Q01; Q56; Q26; Z32.

1. Introduction

Marine tourism is a pivotal component of the blue economy, an emerging framework that seeks to sustainably harness ocean resources for economic growth while ensuring the conservation and preservation of marine ecosystems. This paper delves into the multifaceted role of marine tourism within the blue economy, highlighting its contributions to sustainable development. The study is particularly significant as it integrates marine tourism into the broader blue economy context - a perspective that remains underexplored in existing literature.

Unlike traditional approaches that tend to examine marine tourism as an isolated sector, this research underscores its interconnectedness with other key blue economy sectors such as fisheries, coastal infrastructure, and marine conservation efforts. This interconnected approach allows for a more comprehensive understanding of how marine tourism not only drives economic growth but also influences social and environmental outcomes.

The novelty of this study lies in its holistic analysis of marine tourism's impact across multiple dimensions - economic, social, and environmental - offering a more nuanced understanding of its role in sustainable development. By exploring governance models, including the dynamics of public-private partnerships and the involvement of non-governmental organizations (NGOs), the paper addresses the critical need for well-rounded sustainable development strategies. These strategies are essential for balancing economic growth with environmental sustainability and social equity, ensuring that marine tourism contributes positively to local and global sustainability goals.

This expanded perspective is crucial for policymakers, industry stakeholders, and researchers, as it provides a robust framework for promoting sustainable practices in marine tourism. The findings of this study are intended

to guide the development of policies and initiatives that foster economic diversification and revenue generation while safeguarding marine environments and enhancing the quality of life for coastal communities.

1.1 Importance of the Blue Economy and Marine Tourism

The blue economy encompasses a wide range of activities including fisheries, aquaculture, coastal tourism, marine biotechnology, and renewable energy. It seeks to balance economic advancement with ecological integrity, addressing pressing issues such as climate change and marine pollution. Recent projections by the International Finance Corporation (IFC) suggest that the blue economy could double its value to \$3 trillion by 2030, creating about 40 million jobs globally (IFC, 2023).

The blue economy is essential for promoting sustainable development, offering economic resilience and environmental sustainability through its integration of diverse marine and coastal activities. The World Bank underscores its potential to drive economic growth while ensuring the health of oceans (World Bank, 2024). Nations like Malaysia recognize the blue economy as pivotal in achieving sustainable development goals, contributing significantly to GDP growth, and fostering inclusive economic progress (Akhtar, 2023).

Marine tourism, a cornerstone of the blue economy, enhances local economies by attracting tourists and generating substantial revenue. Activities such as recreational boating, fishing, water sports, and cruises not only bolster economic growth but also promote environmental awareness and conservation efforts. Sustainable marine tourism practices engage tourists in eco-friendly activities, contributing to the preservation of marine ecosystems and cultural heritage (IFC, 2023; Akhtar, 2023).

1.2 Objectives, Aims and Scope of the Review

This review aims to critically examine the role of marine tourism within the blue economy, assessing its economic, environmental, and social impacts on coastal communities and ecosystems. It will analyze strategies and policies implemented by various countries to promote sustainable marine tourism practices and evaluate the challenges and opportunities in integrating marine tourism into sustainable development frameworks. Additionally, the review seeks to identify gaps in current research and propose future directions to enhance the sustainability of marine tourism initiatives. By providing a comprehensive overview of marine tourism's significance in advancing sustainable development goals, the review will explore its definition and components, including recreational activities, eco-tourism, and cultural tourism. It will present case studies and examples of successful integration of marine tourism with sustainable practices, examine the economic benefits such as job creation, revenue generation, and local economic development, and address the environmental impacts and strategies for mitigating negative effects on marine ecosystems and biodiversity.

Key research questions to be addressed in this review include: What are the economic benefits of marine tourism within the blue economy context, and how do they contribute to local economies? What environmental impacts does marine tourism have on marine ecosystems, and what measures are in place to minimize these impacts? How do policies and regulations support or hinder the sustainable development of marine tourism? What are the social and cultural implications of marine tourism for local communities, and how can these be effectively managed? Finally, what gaps exist in current research on marine tourism, and what future research directions should be pursued to enhance sustainability?

1.3 Structure of the Paper

This paper comprehensively explores marine tourism within the context of the blue economy. The introduction emphasizes its significance and outlines the paper's objectives, including assessing the economic, environmental, and social impacts of marine tourism and exploring policy implications.

The paper evaluates the economic benefits of marine tourism by examining its contributions to local economies through job creation, revenue generation, and infrastructure development. It also analyzes the environmental impacts, such as habitat disturbance and waste generation, and discusses strategies for mitigating these effects through sustainable practices and conservation efforts. The review section details the effectiveness of policies and regulatory frameworks at local, national, and international levels in promoting sustainable marine tourism.

Furthermore, the paper examines the social and cultural implications of marine tourism, including its effects on local communities and cultural heritage, and highlights opportunities for cultural exchange and community engagement. By identifying challenges such as over-tourism and infrastructure development, as well as opportunities for innovation and collaboration, the paper aims to enhance sustainable tourism practices. The conclusion proposes future directions and recommendations for addressing research gaps and promoting responsible tourism in marine environments.

2. Conceptual Framework

This section provides a detailed conceptual framework for understanding marine tourism within the context of the blue economy, focusing on its various activities and broader socio-economic impacts.

2.1 Definition and Scope of Marine Tourism

2.1.1 Marine Tourism Overview

Marine tourism refers to travel and recreational activities undertaken in coastal and marine environments, encompassing a wide range of leisure pursuits and experiences. These activities include recreational boating, scuba diving, snorkeling, whale watching, fishing tours, and cruise tourism (Papatheodorou and Jones, 2020). Each of these activities not only attracts tourists seeking unique marine experiences but also contributes significantly to local economies and environmental conservation efforts.

2.1.2 Types of Marine Tourism Activities

Marine tourism activities can be categorized into several types. Recreational boating and water sports, such as sailing, yachting, jet skiing, and windsurfing, are popular among tourists seeking leisure and adventure in coastal waters (Hall and Weiler, 2021). Scuba diving and snorkeling appeal to marine enthusiasts interested in exploring underwater ecosystems, coral reefs, and marine wildlife habitats (Cater, 2020). Cruise tourism offers comprehensive experiences of coastal destinations, combining leisure activities with cultural and historical tours (Rodrigue *et al.* 2019). Fishing tourism, including fishing tours and charters, attracts anglers interested in sport fishing, contributing to local economies through tourism expenditures and licensing fees (Egan *et al.* 2021).

2.1.3 Economic, Social, and Cultural Importance

The economic impact of marine tourism is substantial, contributing to job creation, revenue generation, and infrastructure development in coastal communities (Jones and Phillips, 2021). Marine tourism boosts local economies by attracting high-spending tourists and supporting related industries such as hospitality, retail, and transportation (Mason and Pomering, 2019). Socially, marine tourism fosters cultural exchange and community engagement by promoting local traditions, cuisine, and cultural heritage (Nienhueser *et al.* 2020). Tourists often participate in cultural activities and interact with local communities, enhancing mutual understanding and appreciation of diverse cultures. Culturally, marine tourism plays a crucial role in raising awareness about marine conservation issues and promoting sustainable practices among tourists and local populations (Meffre *et al.* 2020). Sustainable tourism initiatives, such as marine protected areas and responsible whale watching guidelines, aim to mitigate environmental impacts and preserve marine biodiversity (Hawkins *et al.* 2018).

3. Marine Tourism: Current Trends and Practices

Marine tourism represents a significant sector within the broader tourism industry, characterized by its unique appeal to coastal and marine environments. This section examines current trends and practices in marine tourism, emphasizing global and regional perspectives, growth statistics, market analysis, popular destinations, and activities.

3.1 Global and Regional Trends

Recent research underscores the dynamic growth of marine tourism on a global scale. Higham and Lück (2021) highlight a consistent rise in marine tourism activities, driven by increasing global incomes, enhanced accessibility to coastal areas, and heightened awareness of marine conservation issues. This growth attracts a diverse range of tourists, including adventure seekers, nature enthusiasts, and luxury travelers, each contributing significantly to the economic impact of marine tourism.

Across various regions, popular marine tourism destinations offer unique attractions and activities. The Caribbean, known for its pristine beaches, vibrant coral reefs, and popular water sports like snorkeling and diving, remains a top choice for travelers (UNEP, 2020). Southeast Asia, particularly countries such as Thailand and Indonesia, attracts visitors with its rich marine biodiversity and cultural experiences, including traditional fishing practices and initiatives for marine wildlife conservation (UNWTO, 2019).

Furthermore, there is a notable shift towards sustainable practices in marine tourism worldwide. Many destinations are now actively promoting eco-tourism initiatives such as marine sanctuaries, responsible fishing

tours, and community-based tourism projects that engage local populations (UNWTO, 2021). These initiatives not only enrich visitor experiences but also contribute significantly to environmental preservation and socio-economic development in coastal communities.

3.2 Economic Impact of Marine Tourism

Marine tourism plays a crucial role in economic development, significantly contributing to GDP and employment in coastal regions worldwide. The World Travel and Tourism Council (WTTC) highlights that marine tourism accounts for a substantial portion of the global travel and tourism industry, contributing billions of dollars annually to national economies (WTTC, 2022). Recent studies reaffirm the importance of marine tourism in bolstering the economies of coastal nations. For instance, a 2024 report by the World Tourism Organization (UNWTO) underscores the continued reliance of countries like the Maldives and the Bahamas on marine tourism, with activities such as diving, snorkeling, and beach tourism remaining vital to their GDP (UNWTO, 2024; WTTC, 2022). These activities not only attract international visitors but also create employment opportunities, supporting a wide range of jobs directly and indirectly. Employment opportunities in sectors such as hospitality, transportation, tour guiding, and marine services provide livelihoods for local communities (UNWTO, 2021).

The economic benefits of marine tourism extend beyond direct spending, creating multiplier effects in local economies. Every dollar spent on marine tourism generates additional income for suppliers, retailers, and service providers in the tourism value chain, stimulating economic growth, boosting infrastructure development, and enhancing the quality of life in coastal communities (UNEP, 2020). Recent findings from a 2024 study by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) highlight that these multiplier effects are crucial in sustaining local economies, particularly in small island developing states (IISD, 2024). Additionally, research by Higham and Lück (2021) shows that marine tourism activities not only generate direct revenues but also catalyze investment in infrastructure improvements such as ports, marinas, and recreational facilities, further supporting tourism growth and enhancing the overall attractiveness of coastal destinations.

3.3 Environmental and Social Impacts

Marine tourism significantly influences both the environment and local communities, offering positive contributions alongside challenges that require careful management. Marine tourism can positively impact the environment by fostering conservation awareness and supporting marine protected areas (MPAs). Tourism revenues often fund conservation efforts like coral reef restoration and marine biodiversity protection (Higham and Lück, 2021). However, activities such as snorkeling, diving, and boating can damage coral reefs and disturb marine habitats (UNEP, 2020). Coastal developments for tourism infrastructure, including resorts and marinas, may exacerbate habitat loss and alter coastal ecosystems, impacting species like mangroves and seagrass beds (UNWTO, 2021).

Effective community engagement is crucial for mitigating negative impacts and promoting sustainable practices. Tourism benefits local communities economically through employment, income generation, and improved infrastructure (UNWTO, 2021). It also aids cultural preservation by showcasing traditional practices and facilitating cultural exchanges (UNWTO, 2019). Community-based tourism initiatives empower local communities, integrating cultural heritage into tourism and ensuring that cultural values are respected (UNEP, 2020; UNWTO, 2021).

4. Policy and Governance

Policy and governance frameworks play a crucial role in shaping the sustainable development of marine tourism, ensuring that economic benefits are balanced with environmental and social considerations.

4.1 International Policies and Regulations

The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), particularly SDG 14, focus on conserving and sustainably using oceans, seas, and marine resources. SDG 14 emphasizes protecting marine ecosystems, reducing pollution, and managing marine resources sustainably. Achieving these targets requires integrated ocean governance involving governments, industries, and local communities. Research highlights SDG 14's role in guiding policy and regulatory frameworks for marine tourism, advocating for sustainable practices that contribute to ocean health and resilience (Jones and Macfadyen, 2020). Effective implementation enhances marine biodiversity conservation and supports the viability of marine tourism destinations.

The International Maritime Organization (IMO) sets global standards for shipping activities impacting marine tourism operations. IMO guidelines address environmental protection, safety at sea, and sustainable maritime transport, including regulations on ship emissions, ballast water management, and safety standards for passenger vessels. Research underscores the importance of IMO guidelines in mitigating environmental impacts from marine

tourism, reducing pollution, and enhancing safety measures (Hall *et al.* 2019). Compliance with IMO regulations ensures responsible marine tourism activities, minimizing adverse effects on marine ecosystems and coastal communities.

4.2 National and Regional Policies

National and regional policies are pivotal in shaping marine tourism development and management, addressing specific environmental, economic, and social challenges within diverse geographic contexts.

Case studies provide insights into sustainable policy implementation. Australia's Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority uses zoning regulations and visitor management to protect coral reefs while facilitating tourism. The Galápagos Islands in Ecuador employ strict visitor quotas and rigorous environmental impact assessments to preserve marine biodiversity. These examples highlight the importance of adaptive management and stakeholder engagement in achieving sustainable outcomes.

Comparative analysis assesses how environmental, economic, and social factors influence marine tourism policies across regions. EU member states have unified regulations under the Marine Strategy Framework Directive to achieve environmental goals. In Southeast Asia, countries like Thailand and Indonesia face challenges balancing tourism growth with marine conservation, leading to varied policy responses. Research underscores the need for tailored approaches that consider local contexts and stakeholder interests in crafting effective marine tourism policies. Comparative studies facilitate learning from best practices and addressing gaps in policy implementation to promote sustainable marine tourism development.

4.3 Governance Models for Marine Tourism within the Blue Economy

Effective governance models are crucial for managing marine tourism sustainably within the blue economy, balancing economic benefits with the preservation of marine ecosystems.

Public-private partnerships (PPPs) involve collaboration between governmental bodies and private sector entities to achieve shared goals in marine tourism. These partnerships leverage resources and expertise to enhance infrastructure, promote sustainable practices, and improve visitor experiences. In the Caribbean, PPPs have been key in developing marine protected areas and eco-tourism initiatives that support local communities while conserving marine biodiversity. Such partnerships foster inclusive growth and empower stakeholders in decision-making, ensuring balanced economic development and environmental stewardship.

Non-governmental organizations (NGOs) are vital in advocating for sustainable practices and supporting governance frameworks in marine tourism. NGOs work with governments, communities, and businesses to influence policy, raise environmental awareness, and implement conservation initiatives. In destinations like the Maldives, NGOs collaborate with local stakeholders to establish marine protected areas and promote sustainable tourism practices, mitigating environmental impacts and enhancing destination attractiveness through ecocertifications and community engagement.

5. Economic Integration

5.1 Economic Benefits of Marine Tourism in the Blue Economy

Marine tourism plays a pivotal role in economic integration within the blue economy by generating revenue, diversifying economies, and creating synergies with other sectors. It drives revenue in coastal economies by attracting tourists to activities like snorkeling, diving, and boat tours, which support local businesses, create jobs, and enhance infrastructure (Hall and Higham, 2020; UNEP, 2020). For example, the Caribbean relies on marine tourism for income, diversifying its economy and promoting inclusive growth (CTO, 2021).

Marine tourism also enhances other blue economy sectors, such as fisheries and coastal infrastructure. Tourist demand for fresh seafood supports sustainable fisheries management (Mora *et al.* 2018). Investments in coastal infrastructure, including marinas and ports, benefit both marine tourism and maritime transport (UNWTO, 2021). Australia's integrated coastal zone management strategies highlight this synergy by promoting sustainable tourism, preserving marine biodiversity, and supporting fisheries (GBRMPA, 2021).

5.2 Value Chain Analysis of Marine Tourism

Marine tourism involves a complex value chain with stakeholders contributing to tourism experiences, local economies, and environmental sustainability. Key stakeholders include tourists, tourism operators, local communities, government bodies, environmental organizations, research institutions, and infrastructure providers (Snyder *et al.* 2021; Hall and Higham, 2020).

Local businesses benefit from marine tourism by offering services such as guided tours, equipment rentals, specialized accommodation packages, local crafts, cuisine, and transportation options (Coles *et al.* 2021; Scott and Gössling, 2021). These efforts drive economic growth, preserve cultural heritage, and promote environmental sustainability.

5.3 Investment and Financing Mechanisms

Investment and financing mechanisms are crucial for the sustainable growth of marine tourism within the blue economy. Funding sources include public funding, private investment, international aid, public-private partnerships, and community-based financing (Hall and Higham, 2020; Simpson and Gössling, 2021). Each source supports different aspects of marine tourism, highlighting the need for collaborative efforts.

Financial instruments and incentives such as tax incentives, green bonds, carbon offsets, payments for ecosystem services, microfinance, and insurance products attract investments and promote sustainability (Gössling and Hall, 2020; Dwyer *et al.* 2021). These mechanisms encourage responsible tourism practices, environmental stewardship, and social inclusivity, supporting economic resilience in coastal areas.

6. Sustainability and Environmental Considerations

Sustainability is critical in marine tourism to conserve marine ecosystems, protect biodiversity, and enhance socioeconomic benefits while minimizing negative impacts. This section explores sustainable practices, ecocertifications, standards, business models, and best practices within marine tourism.

6.1 Sustainable Practices in Marine Tourism

Marine tourism can integrate various sustainable practices to mitigate environmental impacts and support conservation efforts. Key certifications and standards guide these practices:

Global Sustainable Tourism Council (GSTC) Criteria: Establish benchmarks for responsible tourism management across environmental, socio-cultural, and economic dimensions (GSTC, 2020).

Blue Flag Certification: Awarded to beaches, marinas, and boating operators meeting rigorous environmental and educational standards (Foundation for Environmental Education, 2021).

Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) Certification: Promotes responsible fishing practices and traceability in seafood supply chains (MSC, 2021).

Green Key Eco-label: Recognizes establishments committed to sustainable operations, including energy efficiency and waste reduction (Green Key, 2021).

Costa Rica's Certification for Sustainable Tourism (CST): Encourages sustainable practices across tourism sectors, enhancing conservation and community engagement (Costa Rica Tourism Board, 2021).

Sustainable business models and best practices further enhance environmental performance:

Community Engagement: Involves local communities in planning and decision-making for equitable benefits (Lew and Hall, 2020).

Resource Efficiency and Waste Management: Focus on reducing energy consumption, water use, and waste generation (Lovelock and Fennell, 2020).

Conservation Efforts: Initiatives such as marine protected areas (MPAs), coral reef restoration, and sustainable fisheries management, funded by tourism revenue (Fletcher *et al.* 2021).

Education and Interpretation Programs: Raise awareness about marine conservation and sustainable practices (Ballantyne *et al.* 2020).

Low-Impact Activities: Promote snorkeling, kayaking, and wildlife watching to minimize disturbances to marine ecosystems (Papathanassis and Gössling, 2020).

By adopting these practices, marine tourism operators can advance environmental conservation, enhance destination resilience, and promote sustainable development.

6.2 Conservation and Marine Protected Areas

Marine tourism can adopt sustainable practices to mitigate environmental impacts and support conservation efforts. Key certifications and standards guide these practices, such as GSTC Criteria, Blue Flag Certification, MSC Certification, Green Key Eco-label, and Costa Rica's CST. These certifications help marine tourism operators minimize environmental impacts, enhance visitor experiences, and contribute to marine ecosystem preservation.

Examples of successful conservation initiatives include:

Great Barrier Reef Marine Park, Australia: Uses zoning, regulations, and collaborative management to conserve the world's largest coral reef system (Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, 2021).

Galápagos Marine Reserve, Ecuador: Protects unique marine biodiversity with regulations for sustainable tourism operations and visitor management (Galápagos National Park Directorate, 2021).

Tubbataha Reefs Natural Park, Philippines: Supports sustainable diving tourism and research initiatives with strict protection measures (Tubbataha Management Office, 2021).

Punta de Choros-Damas Island National Reserve, Chile: Supports sustainable tourism activities like whale watching, contributing to local economic development (CONAF, 2021).

Bonaire National Marine Park, Caribbean: Recognized for community-based management, sustainable dive tourism, and coral reef conservation efforts (STINAPA Bonaire, 2021).

6.3 Climate Change and Marine Tourism

Climate change poses significant challenges to marine ecosystems and tourism activities, necessitating effective adaptation and mitigation strategies. Key impacts include:

Ocean Warming: Leads to coral bleaching, affecting dive tourism (Hughes et al. 2018).

Sea Level Rise: Increases coastal erosion risks and threatens tourism infrastructure (Nicholls et al. 2020).

Extreme Weather Events: Disrupt tourism operations and damage coastal infrastructure (Hall *et al.* 2019). **Ocean Acidification:** Negatively impacts marine organisms vital for diving and seafood-related tourism

(Gattuso and Magnan, 2015).

Shifts in Marine Biodiversity: Affect wildlife tourism activities like whale watching (Lester *et al.* 2020). Adaptation and mitigation strategies include:

Sustainable Tourism Practices: Reduce the carbon footprint, conserve water resources, and minimize waste (Simpson *et al.* 2019).

Integrated Coastal Zone Management: Protects coastal infrastructure and manages beach erosion (McFadden *et al.* 2021).

Community Engagement: Builds resilience by leveraging local knowledge (Hill and Gale, 2019).

Resilient Infrastructure: Ensures continued operation and safety for tourists (Scott et al. 2019).

Robust Policies and Regulations: Curb greenhouse gas emissions, promote renewable energy, and enforce sustainable tourism practices (Higham *et al.* 2020).

These strategies safeguard marine ecosystems, support tourism-dependent communities, and ensure the long-term sustainability of marine tourism in the face of climate change.

7. Technological Innovations and Digital Transformation

Technological advancements are revolutionizing marine tourism by improving operational efficiency, sustainability, and visitor experiences. This section explores the impact of smart tourism technologies and innovations in marine vessel design and operations.

7.1 Role of Technology in Enhancing Marine Tourism

Smart Tourism Technologies

Internet of Things (IoT): Facilitates real-time monitoring of environmental conditions, such as water quality and marine life, enhancing safety and resource management (Kounoudes *et al.* 2020).

Artificial Intelligence (AI): Improves operational efficiencies through predictive analytics, personalized recommendations, and responsive services (Alavi *et al.* 2021).

Virtual Reality (VR) and Augmented Reality (AR): Provide immersive experiences and interactive guides, enhancing visitor engagement and education (Hassan *et al.* 2020).

Innovations in Marine Vessel Design and Operations

Hybrid and Electric Propulsion: Reduces carbon emissions and environmental impact (European Commission, 2021).

Autonomous Vessels: Enhances safety, efficiency, and navigational precision by minimizing human intervention (Yang *et al.* 2021).

7.2 Digital Tools and Platforms

Online Booking Systems and Travel Apps

Booking Platforms: Streamline reservations with secure, user-friendly interfaces, allowing real-time updates and itinerary management (Chang *et al.* 2020).

Travel Apps: Offer real-time weather updates, interactive guides, and personalized recommendations, enhancing the visitor experience (Gretzel *et al.* 2021).

Use of Social Media and Marketing

Social Media: Platforms like Instagram and Facebook showcase marine attractions through engaging content, enhancing visibility and community engagement (Kang and Morrison, 2020).

Digital Marketing: Includes SEO, content marketing, influencer partnerships, and targeted advertising to attract and convert tourists (Hays *et al.* 2021).

7.3 Case Studies of Innovative Practices

Examples from Leading Destinations

Whale Watch Kaikoura, New Zealand: Utilizes VR to offer immersive, educational marine experiences, promoting conservation while reducing physical interactions with wildlife (Whale Watch Kaikoura, 2021).

Visit Svalbard, Norway: Integrates IoT sensors for wildlife tracking and environmental monitoring, enhancing safety and minimizing habitat disturbance (Visit Svalbard, 2021).

Impact of Technology on Visitor Experience and Management

Visitor Experience: VR and AR technologies provide immersive tours and educational content, significantly enhancing satisfaction and engagement (Hassan *et al.* 2020).

Management Efficiency: IoT and AI improve operational management by optimizing routes, monitoring conditions, and personalizing services, thus enhancing resource allocation and reducing costs (Alavi *et al.* 2021).

By integrating these technological innovations, marine tourism operators can enhance visitor experiences, support sustainable practices, and improve operational efficiency while maintaining competitiveness.

8. Case Studies and Best Practices

Successful marine tourism integrates economic development with environmental conservation and community engagement. This section explores case studies that highlight effective practices and identifies key success factors for sustainable marine tourism.

8.1 Successful Integration Examples

8.1.1 Great Barrier Reef Marine Park, Australia

Sustainable Practices: Implements a comprehensive zoning system to manage activities like diving and snorkeling while protecting coral reefs. Includes visitor limits, designated mooring areas, and educational programs to promote reef conservation (Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, 2021).

8.1.2 Cabo Pulmo National Park, Mexico

Community-Driven Conservation: Local community involvement in sustainable fishing and ecotourism has led to significant recovery of marine biodiversity, including coral reefs and fish populations, illustrating how tourism can support ecosystem regeneration (Cabo Pulmo Divers, 2021).

8.1.3 Baa Atoll Biosphere Reserve, Maldives

Eco-Certification and Community Involvement: Adheres to rigorous eco-certification standards, promoting waste management, energy efficiency, and water conservation among resorts and dive operators. Local community engagement aligns tourism with conservation goals (UNESCO, 2021).

8.2 Lessons Learned from Global Practices

8.2.1 Common Challenges and Solutions

Environmental impact is mitigated through eco-certifications such as Green Globe and EarthCheck, which enforce sustainable practices in waste management and energy efficiency (Dredge and Jenkins, 2021). Overcrowding is effectively managed by implementing zoning and visitor management plans, which protect sensitive areas and help maintain visitor satisfaction (Gössling and Hall, 2020; Jones *et al.* 2020). Community opposition is addressed by involving local communities in decision-making processes, ensuring cultural preservation and the equitable distribution of benefits (Scheyvens *et al.* 2020; Higham and Lück, 2021).

8.2.2 Transferable Strategies and Approaches

Adaptive management integrates research, monitoring, and stakeholder feedback to adjust strategies for ecosystem protection and enhance visitor experiences (Jones *et al.* 2020). Capacity building through training programs for operators and communities promotes awareness and fosters responsible behaviors (Scheyvens *et*

al. 2020). Effective policy development, with clear regulations and governance frameworks, ensures compliance and supports robust management practices (Dredge and Jenkins, 2021).

8.3 Comparative Analysis of Different Regions

Australia's Great Barrier Reef exemplifies strong regulatory frameworks and stakeholder engagement, setting a global standard for sustainable tourism (Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, 2021). The Caribbean Islands benefit from their rich biodiversity and cultural diversity, bolstered by regional initiatives such as the Caribbean Challenge Initiative, which enhances ecological resilience (UNEP, 2020). Scandinavia leverages technology and eco-certifications to minimize environmental impact, successfully maintaining its pristine environments (Visit Norway, 2021). Southeast Asia on the other hand faces issues with unregulated tourism growth, inadequate infrastructure, and coastal pollution (UNEP, 2020). The Mediterranean Basin struggles with high tourist densities, habitat degradation, and climate change impacts, which are further complicated by socio-economic pressures (Euro-Mediterranean Center on Climate Change, 2021).

8.4 Opportunities for Cross-Regional Collaboration

Joint research and workshops facilitate the sharing of best practices in marine conservation and tourism management (UNEP, 2020). Consistent sustainable practices and environmental protections across regions are crucial for effective marine management (UNEP, 2020). Collaborations among governments, private stakeholders, NGOs, and local communities are essential for driving conservation and tourism initiatives (Euro-Mediterranean Center on Climate Change, 2021). Leveraging these strategies can help address common challenges, promote sustainable practices, and ensure the resilience of marine ecosystems and communities.

9. Key Challenges in Marine Tourism

9.1 Environmental Challenges

Marine tourism faces significant environmental challenges, including habitat degradation, pollution, overfishing, and biodiversity loss. Habitat Degradation arises from activities like anchoring and diving, which damage coral reefs and seagrass beds, and from coastal development, which causes habitat loss and fragmentation (Cesar *et al.* 2003; Hall and Higham, 2005). Pollution includes marine debris, such as plastics, which threaten marine life and ecosystems, and untreated sewage and runoff that contribute to issues like eutrophication and water quality degradation (Laist, 1997; Baker *et al.* 2001). Overfishing exacerbates the depletion of fish stocks and leads to bycatch, harming endangered species through unsustainable fishing practices (Gutierrez *et al.* 2011; Lewison *et al.* 2014). Biodiversity Loss results from these combined effects, impacting marine ecosystems and reducing their ability to provide essential services, thereby lowering ecosystem resilience (Hughes *et al.* 2003; Costanza *et al.* 1997). Addressing these challenges requires sustainable practices, pollution control, and effective management of marine protected areas, along with community engagement in conservation efforts.

9.2 Economic and Market Barriers in Marine Tourism

Marine tourism encounters several economic and market barriers, including market volatility, economic instability, competition, and market saturation. Market volatility is evident in seasonal fluctuations in visitor numbers and revenues, which can affect financial stability and business operations, as peak seasons typically coincide with favorable weather or holidays, while off-peak periods see reduced traffic (Hall and Higham, 2005). Additionally, global economic factors such as downturns, currency fluctuations, and geopolitical instability can decrease disposable income for travel, impacting demand for marine tourism services (Dwyer *et al.* 2005). Economic instability further exacerbates these issues, particularly in regions heavily reliant on tourism, which are vulnerable to external shocks like pandemics, natural disasters, or shifts in global travel patterns (UNWTO, 2021). Such instability can constrain funding for essential tourism infrastructure, such as ports and marinas, during downturns, limiting the ability to expand or maintain facilities (UNWTO, 2021).

To address these challenges, several strategies can be employed. Diversification of Offerings involves creating a range of tourism products and experiences to attract visitors year-round, helping to mitigate the impact of seasonality (Hall and Higham, 2005). Risk Management Strategies include developing robust practices, such as maintaining financial reserves and diversifying market sources, to buffer against economic volatility (Dwyer *et al.* 2005). Public-Private Partnerships involve collaborating with various stakeholders, including government bodies and private investors, to secure investment in infrastructure and tourism development, sustaining growth during economic fluctuations (UNWTO, 2021). Finally, the Promotion of Sustainable Practices can attract environmentally

conscious travelers and contribute to long-term economic stability by aligning with the growing trend towards responsible tourism (Dwyer *et al.* 2005).

9.3 Competition and Market Saturation

Marine tourism faces several economic and market barriers, including increased competition, market saturation, and associated challenges. Competition among destinations can lead to price wars and reduced profit margins, which may compromise the quality of visitor experiences and sustainable practices (Song *et al.* 2012). Emerging destinations, in particular, may struggle against established ones with stronger branding and infrastructure. Overcoming these hurdles requires strategic marketing and differentiation to attract niche markets (Song *et al.* 2012). Market Saturation is another challenge, as popular marine tourism sites often experience overcrowding, particularly during peak seasons, which can diminish visitor experiences and strain local resources (Gössling and Hall, 2020). Managing carrying capacities is crucial to prevent environmental degradation and ensure sustainable tourism. Effective strategies include visitor quotas, timed entry systems, and infrastructure improvements (Dwyer *et al.* 2005).

To navigate these challenges, several strategies can be considered. Strategic Differentiation involves highlighting unique features and niche offerings to attract travelers seeking authentic experiences. Collaborative Management ensures stakeholder involvement in developing and enforcing sustainable tourism policies, balancing tourism demand with environmental conservation. Infrastructure Development focuses on investing in eco-friendly infrastructure and waste management systems to enhance visitor experiences while minimizing environmental impact. Visitor Education promotes responsible tourism practices and cultural sensitivity through educational programs, fostering more sustainable tourism behaviors. By addressing these economic and market barriers through targeted strategies, marine tourism businesses can enhance resilience, promote sustainable growth, and preserve marine ecosystems for future generations.

9.4 Policy and Regulatory Obstacles

9.4.1 Inconsistent Regulations

Marine tourism encounters significant barriers due to inconsistent regulations across different regions and countries, affecting operational consistency and compliance. Varied Standards in regulatory requirements, such as permits, zoning laws, and environmental impact assessments, differ widely among regions, complicating business operations and hindering the adoption of sustainable practices (Cochrane and Dolan, 2010). Jurisdictional Issues further exacerbate these challenges, as overlapping jurisdictions between national, regional, and local authorities can lead to conflicting regulations or gaps in oversight. This creates legal uncertainties for marine tourism operators and complicates the establishment of coherent management frameworks (Cochrane and Dolan, 2010).

9.4.2 Enforcement Challenges

Effective enforcement of regulations is crucial for sustainable marine tourism, yet several challenges undermine these efforts. Capacity and Resources pose significant hurdles, as limited funding, insufficient personnel, and outdated technological infrastructure can impede effective regulatory compliance (UNEP, 2020). Additionally, Corruption and Governance Issues weaken enforcement mechanisms, with corruption, lack of transparency, and ineffective governance structures undermining regulatory compliance and potentially encouraging illegal or unsustainable practices among marine tourism operators (UNEP, 2020).

9.4.3 Addressing Regulatory Challenges

To address regulatory and enforcement obstacles in marine tourism, coordinated efforts are essential. Harmonization of Standards involves establishing uniform standards and guidelines across jurisdictions to enhance operational consistency and better protect the environment. Capacity Building requires investing in initiatives to improve monitoring capabilities and enforcement efficiency, thereby strengthening regulatory compliance among authorities. Governance Reform entails strengthening governance frameworks, enhancing transparency, and combating corruption to improve regulatory oversight and enforcement effectiveness.

9.4.4 Lack of Integrated Policy Frameworks

The absence of integrated policy frameworks complicates the coordinated management of marine tourism, impacting sustainability and effectiveness. Sectoral Approach: Current policies often adopt a narrow, sectoral approach, focusing either on tourism development or environmental protection without considering their interdependencies. This limited integration overlooks broader impacts and interactions (Hall and Higham, 2005).

Fragmented Governance: Responsibilities for marine tourism management are typically divided among various government agencies, tourism operators, and community stakeholders. This fragmentation can lead to conflicting priorities, inefficient resource allocation, and difficulties in achieving consensus (Hall and Higham, 2005).

9.4.5 Addressing Policy Integration Challenges

To address the barriers and foster integrated policy frameworks in marine tourism, several strategies should be considered. Policy Integration: Developing comprehensive policies that harmonize economic, social, and environmental considerations is crucial. This approach ensures that tourism development goals are aligned with conservation objectives, creating a balanced framework that supports both economic growth and environmental preservation. Governance Coordination: Improving coordination among government agencies, tourism stakeholders, and local communities is essential. Establishing platforms for dialogue, joint planning, and decision-making can enhance management strategies and resolve conflicts. Capacity Building: Investing in training for policymakers, regulators, and stakeholders can significantly improve skills in integrated planning, sustainable tourism practices, and collaborative governance. By addressing these regulatory and policy challenges, policymakers can promote a more sustainable marine tourism sector that effectively balances economic benefits with environmental preservation, thereby ensuring the long-term resilience and health of marine ecosystems and coastal communities.

10. Future Directions and Opportunities

This section explores future directions and emerging opportunities in marine tourism, focusing on emerging trends such as adventure tourism, niche markets, wellness tourism, and eco-tourism.

Emerging trends in marine tourism are reshaping the sector, emphasizing sustainability and innovation:

Wellness Tourism: This trend integrates health-focused experiences into marine settings. Wellnessthemed cruises now offer spa treatments, yoga sessions, and mindfulness activities, providing relaxation in scenic marine environments. Coastal eco-lodges and resorts cater to wellness seekers with activities such as hiking and wildlife observation, promoting eco-friendly practices and a deep connection with nature (Cohen, 2014).

Eco-Tourism: In marine contexts, eco-tourism focuses on conservation and education. Programs raise awareness about marine ecosystems and biodiversity, involving tourists in activities that support marine conservation while highlighting the ecological significance of coastal environments. Sustainable marine expeditions led by eco-friendly operators aim to minimize environmental footprints and promote wildlife conservation (UNWTO, 2021).

Marine Adventure Tourism: This trend includes high-thrill activities such as scuba diving, snorkeling with sharks, and deep-sea fishing. Adventure tourism attracts thrill-seekers with immersive marine experiences while operators incorporate safety measures and conservation principles to reduce environmental impacts (Buckley, 2012).

Digital and Virtual Marine Tourism: Technological advancements enable virtual marine experiences, like VR tours of coral reefs. These innovations provide educational and immersive experiences remotely, reducing the environmental footprint associated with physical travel (Tuzunkan, 2018).

Community-Based Marine Tourism: This approach emphasizes collaboration with local communities to ensure equitable sharing of tourism benefits. Community-based projects involve local stakeholders in decision-making and revenue sharing, promoting sustainable practices and cultural preservation while boosting local economies (Scheyvens *et al.* 2020).

Regenerative Tourism: Moving beyond sustainability, regenerative tourism focuses on restoring and enhancing ecosystems. It includes initiatives such as coral reef restoration and habitat rehabilitation, ensuring that tourism activities contribute positively to environmental recovery and improvement (Goodwin, 2021).

Embracing these trends allows marine tourism to diversify offerings, cater to evolving traveler preferences, and promote sustainability, contributing to the preservation of marine ecosystems and enhancing visitor experiences.

10.2 Potential for Growth within the Blue Economy

The blue economy offers significant growth opportunities for marine tourism through new destinations, innovative products, and technological advancements.

New Destinations and Products: Emerging maritime tourism hubs, noted for their unique biodiversity and cultural richness, are gaining attention. These new coastal and marine destinations, including newly identified island nations and protected areas, offer pristine environments and authentic cultural experiences. Promoting these

destinations diversifies global tourism, alleviates pressure on overcrowded sites, and supports local economies while encouraging responsible tourism practices (UNWTO, 2020). Sustainable tourism development emphasizes eco-friendly practices and community-based initiatives, advocating for stringent environmental regulations to protect marine ecosystems and support local economies, thus enhancing the sustainability of new destinations (UNESCO, 2019).

Innovative Marine Experiences: Marine adventure tourism is expanding with unique experiences like deepsea diving, underwater photography tours, and interactions with species such as whale sharks and dolphins, attracting niche travelers seeking memorable encounters with marine life (Gössling and Higham, 2018). Culinary and cultural experiences in coastal settings, including seafood tours, coastal festivals, and eco-friendly accommodations, are also becoming popular, enhancing cultural appreciation and promoting sustainable practices (UNWTO, 2020).

Cross-Sectoral Linkages and Innovation: Cross-sectoral linkages are crucial for blue economy growth. Blue innovation hubs integrate tourism with marine conservation, fisheries management, renewable energy, and sustainable development, fostering interdisciplinary collaboration and effective marine resource management (OECD, 2019). Integrated coastal management strategies align tourism with conservation efforts and community engagement, balancing economic activities with environmental protection (OECD, 2019). Technological advancements, such as virtual reality (VR), artificial intelligence (AI), and big data analytics, enhance visitor experiences, operational efficiency, and environmental monitoring, supporting sustainable practices (UNWTO, 2020). Circular economy initiatives focus on waste reduction, recycling, and sustainable resource management to minimize ecological footprints and promote sustainability (OECD, 2019).

Embracing these trends and innovations drives sustainable growth in marine tourism, enhances visitor experiences, and supports the preservation of marine ecosystems and coastal communities.

10.3 Strategies for Enhancing Integration in Marine Tourism

Enhancing integration in marine tourism involves a comprehensive approach that includes policy recommendations, strategic planning, collaboration, and stakeholder engagement. These strategies aim to foster sustainable development and maximize the benefits of marine tourism while preserving marine ecosystems.

10.3.1 Policy Recommendations and Strategic Plans

To foster integration in marine tourism, the following policy recommendations and strategic plans are essential:

Policy Recommendations: Harmonizing regulatory frameworks is crucial for streamlining permits, standards, and guidelines across national and international levels, reducing bureaucratic hurdles, and ensuring consistent enforcement of sustainability measures (UNWTO, 2020). Ecosystem-Based Management (EBM) promotes an integrated approach that links marine tourism with conservation, fisheries management, coastal planning, and cultural heritage preservation, ensuring tourism development supports ecological and socio-cultural integrity (UNESCO, 2019).

Strategic Plans: Developing comprehensive destination management plans is vital for aligning tourism with environmental conservation, community empowerment, and economic diversification. These plans should be tailored to the specific needs of each destination, ensuring that tourism contributes positively to local communities and ecosystems (OECD, 2019). Additionally, integrating climate resilience and adaptation strategies into tourism planning is essential for addressing climate change impacts on coastal and marine ecosystems. These measures should enhance the adaptability of tourism infrastructure and practices to environmental changes, protecting both tourism assets and ecological health (UNEP, 2020).

10.3.2 Collaboration and Stakeholder Engagement

Effective integration in marine tourism relies heavily on robust collaboration and stakeholder engagement:

Collaboration: Public-private partnerships are vital for advancing sustainable tourism by combining expertise, resources, and innovation. These collaborations enhance infrastructure investment, marketing efforts, and overall management, leading to more effective and sustainable tourism practices (OECD, 2019). Additionally, establishing multi-stakeholder platforms - comprising government agencies, tourism operators, local communities, conservation organizations, and academia - is crucial. These platforms facilitate dialogue, joint decision-making, and the achievement of shared goals, thereby enhancing sustainability practices and promoting responsible tourism that benefits both local communities and marine ecosystems (UNWTO, 2020).

Stakeholder Engagement: Involving local communities in decision-making, capacity building, and benefitsharing is fundamental for equitable tourism benefits. This engagement supports local livelihoods and fosters a sense of ownership and responsibility towards marine conservation (UNESCO, 2019). Additionally, encouraging certification programs for tour operators promotes sustainable practices, cultural sensitivity, and environmental stewardship, ensuring that tourism operations adhere to best practices for environmental and social responsibility (UNEP, 2020).

11. Conclusion

This section provides a summary of key findings from the review paper on integration of marine tourism into the blue economy framework.

11.1 Summary of Key Findings

Emerging trends in marine tourism, such as adventure tourism, wellness tourism, and eco-tourism, reflect a shift towards more sustainable and immersive experiences aligned with evolving consumer preferences (UNWTO, 2020; Gössling and Higham, 2018). These trends highlight the growing demand for activities that blend excitement and relaxation with a commitment to environmental conservation. Technological advancements also play a crucial role, with smart tourism technologies, digital platforms, and innovative solutions enhancing visitor experiences, operational efficiencies, and environmental monitoring (UNWTO, 2020).

Addressing policy and regulatory challenges is essential for fostering sustainable development, as inconsistencies in regulations and gaps in enforcement can undermine efforts to integrate tourism with environmental conservation and community interests (UNESCO, 2019; OECD, 2019). Economic opportunities, including job creation, income generation, and GDP contributions, demonstrate marine tourism's potential for growth, while underscoring the need to balance economic benefits with environmental protection (OECD, 2019; UNEP, 2020).

Critical success factors for marine tourism include the adoption of sustainable practices, effective stakeholder collaboration, and ongoing innovation. Sustainable practices, such as eco-certifications and conservation initiatives, are crucial for minimizing environmental impacts and ensuring long-term viability (UNESCO, 2019; UNEP, 2020). Collaboration among governments, tourism operators, local communities, and conservation organizations is necessary to achieve sustainable development goals and implement integrated management strategies (UNWTO, 2020; OECD, 2019). Innovation drives the creation of new products, technologies, and strategies to address challenges like climate change and market volatility (Gössling and Higham, 2018; OECD, 2019).

Integrating marine tourism into the blue economy framework offers significant opportunities for sustainable development, economic growth, and cultural enrichment. By leveraging these trends and critical success factors, stakeholders can enhance the sector's potential while safeguarding marine ecosystems and promoting community well-being.

11.2 Policy Recommendations for Enhancing Integration of Marine Tourism into the Blue Economy Framework

Sustainable Tourism Development is essential. Promote eco-certifications, capacity-building programs, and incentives to minimize environmental impacts while enhancing socio-economic benefits (UNWTO, 2020). Adopt ecosystem-based management to balance tourism with conservation, fisheries management, and coastal planning (UNESCO, 2019).

Strengthening Policy Coherence involves establishing harmonized regulatory frameworks to streamline permits and guidelines, ensuring consistency and effectiveness (OECD, 2019). Invest in monitoring and enforcement to uphold environmental standards and combat illegal activities (UNEP, 2020).

Supporting Community Engagement is crucial. Involve local communities in decision-making, benefitsharing, and capacity-building to ensure equitable tourism benefits and preserve cultural heritage (UNESCO, 2019; OECD, 2019).

Framework for Future Policy Development

Develop **Strategic Planning** at national and regional levels to align economic development with environmental conservation and resilience (OECD, 2019). Integrate climate adaptation strategies to address risks from climate change (UNEP, 2020).

Innovation and Technology should be promoted through research and partnerships to advance sustainable marine tourism products and practices. Embrace digital tools like virtual reality (VR) and artificial intelligence (AI) to enhance visitor experiences and improve environmental monitoring (UNWTO, 2020).

By focusing on these areas, policymakers can foster sustainable marine tourism, safeguard ecosystems, and support coastal communities.

11.3 Knowledge Gaps and Research Agenda

11.3.1 Identified Knowledge Gaps

To effectively integrate marine tourism into the blue economy, addressing key knowledge gaps is crucial:

Environmental Impacts and Conservation: A deeper understanding is needed of marine tourism's long-term effects on coastal ecosystems, such as coral reefs and seagrass beds, and the effectiveness of conservation initiatives like marine protected areas (MPAs) (UNEP, 2020; UNESCO, 2019).

Socio-Economic Dimensions: Research should explore how tourism affects coastal communities, focusing on employment, income distribution, cultural preservation, and social cohesion. It is also vital to develop methods for assessing the carrying capacity of marine environments, taking into account ecological limits and socio-economic impacts (OECD, 2019; UNWTO, 2020).

Policy and Governance Challenges: Analysis is needed on the effectiveness of policy interventions and regulatory frameworks for promoting sustainable marine tourism. Additionally, investigating governance structures that support integrated coastal zone management and multi-stakeholder collaboration is essential (OECD, 2019; UNESCO, 2019).

11.3.2 Proposed Research Agenda

Research Priorities: Conduct longitudinal studies to monitor the cumulative impacts of marine tourism on ecosystems, integrating ecological, socio-economic, and cultural dimensions (UNEP, 2020). Implement adaptive management approaches to address changing environmental conditions and stakeholder dynamics (UNWTO, 2020).

Methodological Innovations: Develop integrated assessment frameworks combining ecological modeling, socio-economic analysis, and cultural heritage evaluations for comprehensive marine tourism planning (UNESCO, 2019). Encourage participatory and community-based research methodologies to involve local communities in understanding and managing tourism impacts (OECD, 2019).

By addressing these gaps and advancing research, stakeholders can improve policy formulation, management practices, and stakeholder engagement, leading to more sustainable and resilient marine tourism within the blue economy framework.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all those who contributed to the successful completion of this research. I am deeply indebted to mentors for their invaluable guidance and insightful feedback throughout the research process. Special thanks to the department of Hospitality and Event Management, PES University for providing access to essential resources and data that significantly enhanced the quality of this study.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Kiran Reddy: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Visualization.

Bhaskar Sailesh: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Project Administration, Writing – Original Draft, Supervision, Data Curation, Validation, Writing – Review and Editing, Visualization, Funding Acquisition.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The author declares that generative AI and AI-assisted technologies were used only for correcting grammar and language during the preparation of this work. No AI tools were used for conceptualization, data analysis, or content generation.

Appendices A. List of Acronyms and Abbreviations AI: Artificial Intelligence IoT: Internet of Things MPA: Marine Protected Area UNWTO: United Nations World Tourism Organization OECD: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development UNESCO: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization UNEP: United Nations Environment Programme VR: Virtual Reality B. Glossary of Key Terms Blue Economy: Refers to sustainable use of ocean resources for economic

Blue Economy: Refers to sustainable use of ocean resources for economic growth, improved livelihoods, and ocean health.

Eco-certification: Certification granted to tourism businesses meeting specific environmental criteria.

Integrated Coastal Zone Management: Holistic approach to managing coastal areas considering ecological, economic, and social factors.

Sustainable Tourism: Tourism that conserves ecosystems, supports local communities, and minimizes environmental impacts.

Smart Tourism Technologies: Technologies like IoT and AI applied to enhance tourism experiences and operational efficiencies.

Adventure Tourism: Tourism involving exploration of remote or exotic natural environments.

References

- [1] Akhtar, R. 2023. Importance of the Blue Economy. *Business Today*. Retrieved from http://www.businesstoday.com/articles/importance-of-the-blue-economy
- [2] Alavi, H., Mendoza, A., and Zeadally, S. 2021. Artificial intelligence and machine learning for sustainable development of smart tourism cities. Sustainable Cities and Society, 74, 103193. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.103193</u>
- [3] Apostolopoulos, Y., Chirumo, F., and Monteiro, M. M. 2021. The impact of souvenirs on tourism destination marketing. *Journal of Travel Research*, 60(6): 1273-1290. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287521992617</u>
- [4] Baker, J. R., McIvor, A., and Street, G. M. 2001. Cruise ship impacts on marine resources: A review. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 42(12): 1141-1152. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(01)00161-5</u>
- [5] Ballantyne, R., Packer, J., and Hughes, K. 2020. Environmental education and interpretation: Understanding and enabling change. Routledge.
- [6] Biedenweg, K., Monroe, M. C., Oxarart, A., and Broadbent, E. 2021. Visitor education at national parks and protected areas: A review and synthesis of the literature. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 29(3): 394-412. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1761413</u>
- [7] Bosworth, R., and Haider, W. 2020. Crowdfunding as a vehicle for sustainable tourism development. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 28(5): 739-756. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1712540</u>
- [8] Cater, C. 2020. Scuba diving tourism. In B. Garrod, and S. Gössling (Eds.), Routledge Handbook of Tourism Impacts: Theoretical and Applied Perspectives (pp. 234-248). Routledge.
- [9] Cesar, H., Burke, L., and Pet-Soede, L. 2003. The economics of worldwide coral reef degradation. *International Journal of Tropical Biology and Conservation*, 51(1-2): 23-32.
- [10] Chang, H. H., Shen, H. B., and Wang, T. H. 2020. The influence of online travel community involvement on travel intention: The mediation and moderation effects. *Journal of Travel Research*, 59(7): 1309-1324. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287520920983</u>
- [11] Cochrane, J., and Dolan, H. 2010. Tourism and transport: Issues and agendas for the new millennium. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 8(4): 267-276. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0966-6923(00)00016-0</u>
- [12] Cohen, E. 2014. The evolution of spa and wellness tourism: From traditional to alternative therapies. *Tourism Recreation Research*, 39(2): 131-144. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02508281.2014.11081712</u>

- [13] Coles, T., Dinica, V., and Hall, C. M. 2021. Marine tourism entrepreneurship: A conceptual framework. *Tourism Management*, 82: 104184. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2020.104184</u>
- [14] Costanza, R., et al. 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature, 387(6630): 253-260. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/387253a0</u>
- [15] Curtin, S., and Walker, R. 2021. Valuing ecosystem services from marine protected areas: A review of case studies and methodologies. *Marine Policy*, 124: 104402. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2020.104402</u>
- [16] Dredge, D., and Jenkins, J. 2021. Sustainable tourism governance in a world disrupted. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 29(1): 1-22. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1774586</u>
- [17] Dwyer, L., Forsyth, P., and Dwyer, W. 2005. Tourism economics and policy. Bristol: Channel View Publications.
- [18] Dwyer, L., Forsyth, P., and Spurr, R. 2021. Sustainable finance for tourism development. Annals of Tourism Research, 88, 103164. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2021.103164</u>
- [19] Egan, D., Chuenpagdee, R., and Hynes, S. 2021. The role of recreational fishing tourism in coastal communities: A review. *Marine Policy*, 131, 104634.
- [20] Fletcher, R., Williams, P. W., and Thakuriah, P. 2021. Conservation and sustainable tourism in marine protected areas. Annals of Tourism Research, 88, 103167. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2021.103167</u>
- [21] Gattuso, J. P., and Magnan, A. 2015. Ocean acidification and its impacts: An expert survey. *Climate Change*, 133(2): 225-241. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-015-1523-6</u>
- [22] Gill, D. A., et al. 2020. Capacity shortfalls hinder the performance of marine protected areas globally. Nature, 580(7801): 516-523. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2125-4</u>
- [23] Gossling, S., and Hall, C. M. 2020. Tourism and global environmental change: Ecological, social, economic and political interrelationships. *Global Environmental Change*, 62, 102065. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102065</u>
- [24] Gössling, S., and Hall, C. M. 2020. Tourism and regional development: New pathways. *Tourism Geographies*, 22(5): 753-756. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14616688.2020.1805746</u>
- [25] Gössling, S., and Higham, J. 2018. Tourism and global environmental change: Ecological, social, economic and political interrelationships. *Global Environmental Change*, 62, 102065. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.102065</u>
- [26] Gössling, S., et al. 2020. Marine tourism in Southeast Asia: A comparative analysis of policies and practices in Thailand and Indonesia. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 28(4): 565-584. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2019.1628445</u>
- [27] Gretzel, U., et al. 2021. Smart tourism: Foundations and developments. Journal of Travel Research, 60(5): 1083-1099. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287520950766</u>
- [28] Gutierrez, N. L., Hilborn, R., and Defeo, O. 2011. Leadership, social capital and incentives promote successful fisheries. *Nature*, 470(7334): 386-389. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09689</u>
- [29] Hall, C. M., and Higham, J. E. 2005. Tourism, recreation and sustainability: Linking culture and the environment. *CABI Publishing.*
- [30] Hall, C. M., and Higham, J. E. S. 2020. Marine tourism and climate change impacts: A meta-synthesis of global research. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 28(7): 999-1016. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1723706</u>
- [31] Hall, C. M., and Higham, J. E. S. 2020. Marine tourism: Development, impacts and management. Routledge.
- [32] Hall, C. M., and Weiler, B. 2021. Nautical tourism: Recreational boating and the water-based economy. In J. Saarinen, D. Hall, and B. Müller (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of Tourism Geography* (pp. 293-306). Routledge.
- [33] Hall, C. M., et al. 2019. Climate change, tourist air travel and radical emissions reduction. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 27(1): 1-20. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2018.1543266</u>

Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism

- [34] Hall, C. M., et al. 2019. The IMO Polar Code and tourism in the Antarctic Peninsula. Polar Geography, 42(2): 134-156. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1088937X.2019.1628187</u>
- [35] Hassan, A., and Olfat, M. 2021. Artificial intelligence in smart tourism: Opportunities and challenges. Computers in Human Behavior, 115, 106648. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106648</u>
- [36] Hassan, A., Benlamri, R., and Olfat, M. 2020. Augmented reality and virtual reality in tourism and hospitality: A review of benefits, challenges, and issues. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Technology*, 11(3): 471-493. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JHTT-12-2019-0221</u>
- [37] Haven, J., and Amacher, G. S. 2020. Public-private partnerships for sustainable tourism development in the Caribbean. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 33, 100614. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2019.100614</u>
- [38] Hawkins, J. P., Roberts, C. M., and Clark, V. 2018. The imperative to strengthen and expand marine protected areas: A global review. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 28(2): 252-263.
- [39] Hawkins, R., Scott, D., and Barr, P. 2020. The role of culinary events in destination development. *Journal of Destination Marketing and Management*, 15, 100401. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2020.100401</u>
- [40] Hays, S., Page, S. J., and Buhalis, D. 2021. Social media as a destination marketing tool: Its use by national tourism organisations. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 24(9): 1219-1236. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2019.1626186</u>
- [41] Hearn, A. R., and Bjork, S. 2019. Sustainable marine tourism in the Galápagos Islands: Balancing economic development and conservation. Ocean and Coastal Management, 180, 104908. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2019.104908</u>
- [42] Higham, J. E. S., and Lück, M. (Eds.). 2021. Marine Tourism: Development, Impacts and Management. Routledge. Retrieved from <u>https://www.routledge.com/Marine-Tourism-Development-Impacts-and-Management/Higham-Luck/p/book/9780367138817</u>
- [43] Higham, J., and Lück, M. 2021. Marine wildlife tourism: Understanding and managing the benefits and impacts of interactions with marine animals. CABI. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/9781789240255.0000</u>
- [44] Higham, J., et al. 2020. Climate change, tourist air travel and radical emissions reduction: A call for tourism degrowth transition. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 28(1): 1-19. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2019.1573106</u>
- [45] Hughes, T. P., et al. 2003. Climate change, human impacts, and the resilience of coral reefs. Science, 301(5635): 929-933. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1085046</u>
- [46] Hughes, T. P., et al. 2018. Global warming and recurrent mass bleaching of corals. Nature, 543(7645): 373-377. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21707</u>
- [47] Jones, A., and Phillips, M. R. 2021. The economics of marine tourism. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 90, 103222.
- [48] Jones, P. J. S., and Macfadyen, G. 2020. Governing the oceans in the Anthropocene: A new era for marine policy. *Marine Policy*, 111, 103694. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.103694</u>
- [49] Jones, P. J. S., and Phillips, M. R. 2018. NGOs, governance, and sustainable tourism in the Maldives. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 26(6): 865-880. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2017.1413591</u>
- [50] Jones, P. J., De Santo, E. M., and Monaco, M. E. 2020. Assessing progress in marine protected area governance and management. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 45: 263-290. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012320-094411</u>
- [51] Kang, M., and Morrison, A. M. 2020. Social media and tourism: A review of theory and research. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 35, 100724. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2020.100724</u>
- [52] Kounoudes, A., Georgiou, A., and Giannakoudi, C. 2020. Internet of things in tourism: A review. Sustainable Cities and Society, 54, 101971. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2019.101971</u>

- [53] Laist, D. W. 1997. Impacts of marine debris: Entanglement of marine life in marine debris including a comprehensive list of species with entanglement and ingestion records. In J. M. Coe and D. B. Rogers (Eds.), *Marine Debris: Sources, Impacts, and Solutions* (pp. 99-139). Springer.
- [54] Lester, S. E., et al. 2020. Evaluating trade-offs among ecosystem services to inform marine spatial planning. *Marine Policy*, 118, 103956. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2020.103956</u>
- [55] Lew, A. A., Hall, C. M., and Williams, A. 2020. Sustainable tourism and local community development in the developing world: A case study of Oceania. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 28(4), 554-572. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2019.1624961</u>
- [56] Lovelock, B., and Fennell, D. A. 2020. Managing tourism and sustainability: Issues and applications. Routledge.
- [57] Mason, A., and Pomering, A. 2019. Marine tourism economic impact assessment: A case study of the Great Barrier Reef. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 30: 255-264.
- [58] McCool, S. F., and Bosak, K. 2021. Public-private partnerships in tourism and protected areas: Synergies and challenges. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 29(3): 377-393. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2019.1699212</u>
- [59] McFadden, L., Curnock, M., and Hockings, M. 2021. Integrated coastal zone management: A review. Ocean and Coastal Management, 210, 105688. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2021.105688</u>
- [60] Meffre, S., Bonnefoy, F., and Manica, A. 2020. Developing sustainable whale watching tourism: A review. *Tourism Management*, 81, 104142.
- [61] Mora, C., et al. 2018. Sustainable marine tourism in the Caribbean: A comparative analysis of management strategies. Ocean and Coastal Management, 157: 138-146. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2018.02.012</u>
- [62] Moscardo, G., Ballantyne, R., and Hughes, K. 2020. An analysis of marine tourism research. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 28(12): 1885-1905. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1767629</u>
- [63] Nicholls, R. J., et al. 2020. Sea-level rise and its possible impacts given a 'beyond 4°C world' in the twentyfirst century. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 376(2119): 20160448. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2016.0448</u>
- [64] Nienhueser, W., Valiente, N., and Watson, S. 2020. Local communities, tourism, and the sharing economy: Local tourism experiences in a globalized world. *Journal of Travel Research*, 59(6): 1087-1102.
- [65] Papathanassis, A., and Gössling, S. 2020. Sustainable cruise tourism: Development and management strategies. Routledge.
- [66] Papatheodorou, A., and Jones, A. 2020. Cruise tourism. In B. Garrod, and S. Gössling (Eds.), Routledge Handbook of Tourism Impacts: Theoretical and Applied Perspectives (pp. 267-280). Routledge.
- [67] Rodrigue, J. P., Comtois, C., and Slack, B. 2019. The Geography of Transport Systems (5th ed.). Routledge.
- [68] Ruhanen, L., and Scott, N. 2020. Payments for ecosystem services in tourism: A review and exploration of opportunities. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 28*(12): 1906-1926. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1765782</u>
- [69] Scheyvens, R., Banks, G., Hughes, E., and Jenks, G. 2020. Community tourism governance: A reflection on the past and pathways to the future. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 28(10): 1449-1467. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1796015</u>
- [70] Scott, D., and Becken, S. 2020. Government funding for climate change adaptation in tourism: An analysis of policy and budget. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 28(4): 573-593. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2019.1624962</u>
- [71] Scott, D., Gössling, S., and Hall, C. M. 2019. International tourist perceptions of climate change and air travel. *Journal of Travel Research*, 58(1): 71-84. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287517723723</u>

- [72] Simpson, M. C., and Gössling, S. 2021. The role of private investment in tourism development. Annals of Tourism Research, 89, 103208. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2021.103208</u>
- [73] Simpson, M. C., Gössling, S., and Scott, D. 2019. *Tourism and climate change: Impacts, adaptation and mitigation*. Routledge.
- [74] Snyder, J., Boley, B. B., and Raybourn, J. 2021. Evaluating the economic impact of marine tourism on coastal communities. Ocean and Coastal Management, 210, 105576. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2021.105576</u>
- [75] Song, H., Dwyer, L., and Li, G. 2012. Tourism economics research: A review and assessment. Annals of Tourism Research, 39(3): 1653-1682. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2012.07.005</u>
- [76] Stamboulis, Y., and Skayannis, P. 2020. Sustainable tourism development and its impact on the coastal environment: The case of the Mediterranean islands. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 28(8): 1125-1144. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1721289</u>
- [77] Yang, Z., Luo, J., Wang, Y., and Choo, K. R. 2021. Autonomous marine vehicle: Trends and challenges. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 115: 54-68. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2020.07.038</u>
- [78] Cabo Pulmo Divers. 2021. Cabo Pulmo National Park. Retrieved from https://cabopulmodivers.com/
- [79] Caribbean Tourism Organization (CTO). 2021. Economic Impact of Marine Tourism in the Caribbean. Retrieved from <u>https://www.onecaribbean.org/wp-content/uploads/Economic-Importance-of-Coastal-and-Marine-Resources-to-Tourism-in-Barbados.pdf</u>
- [80] Caribbean Tourism Organization. 2021. Public-Private Partnerships in Sustainable Tourism Development. Retrieved from <u>https://www.onecaribbean.org/wp-content/uploads/2020-CSTPF-Final-for-Design-and-Translation-July-31-2020.pdf</u>
- [81] CONAF (Corporación Nacional Forestal). 2021. Punta de Choros-Damas Island National Reserve. Retrieved from https://www.conaf.cl/parques/reserva-nacional-punta-de-choros-isla-damas/
- [82] Costa Rica Tourism Board. 2021. Certification for Sustainable Tourism (CST). Retrieved from https://www.visitcostarica.com/en/costa-rica/cst
- [83] Euro-Mediterranean Center on Climate Change. 2021. Mediterranean Marine Protected Areas: Sustainable Tourism and Governance Challenges. Retrieved from https://www.cmcc.it/
- [84] European Commission. 2021. Clean maritime agenda for the Black Sea, Baltic Sea, Mediterranean Sea, North Sea, and Atlantic Ocean. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/maritimeaffairs/policy/blue_growth/ports_shipping_en
- [85] European Commission. 2021. *Marine Strategy Framework Directive*. Retrieved from https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/marine-environment_
- [86] Foundation for Environmental Education. 2021. Blue Flag Programme. https://www.blueflag.global/
- [87] Galápagos National Park Directorate. 2021. Galápagos Marine Reserve. Retrieved from https://www.galapagos.org/about_galapagos/about-galapagos/conservation/marine-reserve/
- [88] Global Sustainable Tourism Council. 2020. GSTC Criteria. https://www.gstcouncil.org/gstc-criteria/
- [89] Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority (GBRMPA). 2021. Managing tourism. Retrieved from <u>https://www2.gbrmpa.gov.au/our-work/managing-activities-and-use/tourism/tourism-management-action-strategy</u>
- [90] Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority. 2021. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. https://www.gbrmpa.gov.au/
- [91] Green Key International. 2021. Green Key Eco-label. Retrieved from https://www.greenkey.global/
- [92] IISD. 2024. *Economic impacts of marine tourism in small island developing states*. International Institute for Sustainable Development.
- [93] International Finance Corporation. 2023. Sustaining the Future of our Blue Economy. Retrieved from http://www.ifc.org/en/our-impact/development-outcomes/sustainable-development-goals/sdgs-blue-economy

- [94] International Maritime Organization (IMO). 2021. *Guidelines and Recommendations*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/Pages/Default.aspx</u>
- [95] Maldives Ministry of Tourism. 2020. Sustainable Tourism Initiatives. Retrieved from https://www.tourism.gov.mv/dms/document/1faaf2b096cca9b5b8141c0094b54d55.pdf
- [96] Marine Stewardship Council (MSC). 2021. MSC Fisheries Standard. Retrieved from <u>https://www.msc.org/what-we-are-doing/our-standards</u>
- [97] OECD. (2019). The Ocean Economy in 2030. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/
- [98] STINAPA Bonaire. 2021. Bonaire National Marine Park. Retrieved from https://stinapabonaire.org/
- [99] Tubbataha Management Office. 2021. Tubbataha Reefs Natural Park. Retrieved from https://tubbatahareef.org/
- [100] UNEP 2019. Global tourism plastics initiative. United Nations Environment Programme. Retrieved from https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-tourism-plastics-initiative
- [101] UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme). 2020. *Global Marine Tourism Report*. Retrieved from https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-marine-tourism-report
- [102] UNEP. 2020. Sustainable Tourism in the Caribbean: A Comparative Analysis of Best Practices. Retrieved from https://www.unep.org/
- [103] UNESCO. 2019. Sustainable Tourism. Retrieved from https://en.unesco.org/
- [104] UNESCO. 2021. Baa Atoll Biosphere Reserve. https://en.unesco.org/biosphere/aspac/baa
- [105] UNESCO. 2021. World Heritage Marine Programme. https://whc.unesco.org/en/marine-programme/
- [106] United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). 2020. *Reframing tourism to address plastic pollution*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/story/reframing-tourism-address-plastic-pollution</u>
- [107] United Nations. 2020. Sustainable Development Goals Knowledge Platform. Retrieved from https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal14
- [108] UNWTO (World Tourism Organization). 2019. *Tourism and the Sustainable Development Goals: Good Practices in the Tourism Sector*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.unwto.org/tourism-sustainable-development-goals-good-practices</u>
- [109] UNWTO (World Tourism Organization). 2021. *Global Report on Marine Tourism: Supporting Sustainable Coastal Tourism Development*. Retrieved from https://www.unwto.org/global-report-on-marine-tourism
- [110] UNWTO. 2020. Global Report on Adventure Tourism. Retrieved from https://www.unwto.org/
- [111] UNWTO. 2021. World Tourism Barometer. Retrieved from https://www.unwto.org/
- [112] UNWTO. 2024. *Marine tourism: Current trends and future outlook*. World Tourism Organization.
- [113] Visit Norway. 2021. Sustainable Tourism in Norway. Retrieved from https://www.visitnorway.com/
- [114] Visit Svalbard. 2021. Wildlife Tracking and IoT Integration. Retrieved from https://www.visitsvalbard.com/
- [115] Whale Watch Kaikoura. 2021. Virtual Reality Experience. Retrieved from https://www.whalewatch.co.nz/
- [116] World Bank. 2024. Oceans, Fisheries and Coastal Economies. Retrieved from http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/environment/brief/oceans
- [117] World Wildlife Fund (WWF). 2022. Vision Setting: A Sustainable Coastal and Marine Tourism Sector. Retrieved from <u>https://www.worldwildlife.org/blogs/sustainability-works/posts/vision-setting-a-sustainable-coastal-and-marine-tourism-sector-part-one</u>
- [118] WTTC (World Travel and Tourism Council). 2022. *Economic Impact of Travel and Tourism*. Retrieved from WTTC. <u>https://www.wttc.org/research/economic-impact-research/economic-impact-travel-tourism/</u>



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).08

Tourists' Preferences in the Context of Their Psychological Well-Being: Conjoint Analysis

Anna MŁYNKOWIAK-STAWARZ University of Gdańsk, Sopot, Poland ORCID: 0000-0001-6398-8333; HPE-5679-2023 anna.mlynkowiak-stawarz@ug.edu.pl

> Robert BĘBEN University of Gdańsk, Poland ORCID: 0000-0003-2850-8757 robert.beben@ug.edu.pl

Article's Info: Received 25 June 2024; Received in revised form 9 July 2024; Accepted for publication 27 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: The Purpose: The aim of the study is to determine how tourists' psychological well-being influences their preferences regarding various aspects of travel, such as the type of chosen destination, forms of leisure activities, and the expected intensity of social interactions.

Design/methodology/approach: A conjoint analysis was conducted with a sample of 600 respondents. Participants completed a psychological well-being questionnaire and a conjoint analysis survey to assess their preferences for various aspects of travel. The sample was representative of the adult Polish population according to demographic data.

Findings: The study found that the level of tourists' psychological well-being influences their preferences, particularly concerning the type of chosen tourist destination. Preferences for natural destinations were positively correlated with higher levels of psychological well-being.

Originality: This research fills a gap in the literature by incorporating psychological well-being into the study of tourists' preferences, providing insights into how mental health can influence travel decisions. The findings underscore the importance of considering psychological factors in tourism management and marketing.

Practical implications: Understanding the relationship between psychological well-being and travel preferences can aid in developing tourism offerings that support mental health, thereby contributing to overall social well-being. The study highlights the necessity of considering tourists' psychological well-being during the development of tourism offerings, as tourists' preferences are linked to their psychological well-being.

Keywords: management of tourism, conjoint analysis, tourists' preferences, tourists' behaviour, psychological wellbeing.

JEL Classification: D91; I31; Z32; Z33.

Introduction

The tourism sector is one of the areas of the economy that has experienced a significant downturn in recent years. However, following the crisis and pandemic period, it is recovering (UNWTO,2022). Various crises and fluctuations are inherent in tourism activities, necessitating the development of mechanisms to cope with them (Garau-Vadell et al., 2018; Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2021). In the tourism sector, knowledge about tourists forms the foundation for flexible responses to changes and for making managerial decisions related to the nature of the conducted activities (Ferrer-Rosell and Coenders, 2018; Litvin and Rosene, 2018). However, tourists, their behaviours, and preferences are highly diverse (Sánchez-Pérez et al., 2021; Parra Vargas et al., 2021; Penagos-Londoño et al., 2021). Similarly, consumer decisions regarding tourist trips are based on numerous variables (Tang et al., 2021; Dogra and Adil, 2023; Saini et al., 2023), which are primarily related to tourists' subjective perceptions of the available opportunities. This subjectivity applies to both external factors related to the choice of tourist destination and internal factors, such as the tourist's personality (Alves et al., 2020), attitudes, or perceived psychological wellbeing (Fredricson and Joiner, 2002; Fredricson, 2009).

Therefore, in the evolving environmental, social, and economic conditions, it is crucial to investigate tourists' preferences at the most general level to comprehend the fundamental mechanisms upon which consumers base their choices. Incorporating tourists' fundamental preferences allows for the enhancement of the tourist experience and serves as the foundation for further and broader personalisation of the tourist offering (Mahdi and Esztergár-Kiss, 2023). Preferences are indeed an integral part of making tourist decisions.

Considering the increasing social uncertainty associated with deepening crises - economic, climatic, and energyrelated (Piontek, 2022) - it is also pertinent to examine tourists' preferences in the context of their perceived psychological well-being (Buckley, 2022). The study of the relationship between psychological well-being and various aspects of individuals' lives finds its reflection in various scientific domains (Brooker and Vu, 2020; Bester, 2020; Joseph and McGregor, 2020). This stems from the significance that psychological well-being holds for the quality of individuals' lives. Simultaneously, the incorporation of the context of psychological well-being in the investigation of tourists' preferences represents a recognised research gap. In light of this, the following research question was formulated: does the level of psychological well-being affect specific preferences of tourists related to a tourist trip?

Attempting to answer the posed research question, a study was conducted within the framework of the conjoint analysis model of tourists' preferences regarding selected options for making tourism decisions. These options pertained to the preferred intensity of social interactions during a tourist trip, the nature of the tourist destination, and preferences regarding leisure activities during the tourist trip.

Based on the information provided, the researchers conducted a study using both the psychological well-being questionnaire and a questionnaire developed within the conjoint analysis model to examine tourists' preferences regarding selected features of leisure destinations. During the study, the researchers sought to verify the following research hypotheses:

H1: Preferences regarding the intensity of social interactions during a tourist trip are related to the level of psychological well-being exhibited by the respondents.

H2: Preferences regarding the nature of the tourist destination are related to the level of psychological wellbeing exhibited by the respondents.

H3: Preferences regarding leisure activities during a tourist trip are related to the level of psychological well-being exhibited by the respondents.

The study was conducted between October and November 2022 using the Computer-Assisted Web Interviewing (CAWI) method. It involved 600 respondents recruited through the research panel poznaj.to, which belongs to the PBS Research Agency. The respondents were selected based on quota sampling, with quotas determined according to the data from the Central Statistical Office (GUS) on the gender, education, and place of residence of adult Poles in 2020 (Demographics base, GUS, 2021). In this regard, the selected sample is representative of the adult Polish population with respect to the identified characteristics.

1. Literature Review

1.1. Preferences Regarding Tourist Trips

The decision-making process in tourism is a multifaceted interplay of internal motivations, external influences, emotional connections, and cultural considerations. Certainly, the spectrum of preferred factors influencing tourist decision-making is wide, and researchers typically make subjective selections of the preferences under study.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in changes in tourists' behaviours and preferences (Bęben et al., 2021; Hysa et al., 2022; Khan et al., 2022; Szymańska, 2023; Młynkowiak-Stawarz et al., 2024). Interest in domestic tourism, sustainable travel, individual travel, and short-distance trips has increased due to the pandemic's impact on travel restrictions, health concerns, and economic conditions (Khan et al., 2022; Szymańska, 2023). Additionally, there is a growing global awareness of ecological and green tourist destinations (Gogonea et al., 2021). Tourist preferences are also shaped by factors such as air pollution levels in destination cities, which can influence the attractiveness of a city to tourists (Łapko et al., 2020) previously unseen temperatures in attractive tourist places or other extreme weather phenomena. Furthermore, the planning of tourist trips must consider individual preferences, especially in group settings, to ensure the satisfaction of all tourists involved (Ruiz-Meza et al., 2021).

Simultaneously, it is anticipated that in the post-COVID-19 era there will be a shift towards more deliberate and experiential travel, with a decreasing interest in mass tourism (Wen et al., 2020). Self-planned and self-

executed trips are likely to dominate over group tours, indicating a preference for more personalised and independent travel experiences (Ivanova et al., 2020).

Research on preferences regarding tourist trips often focuses on a single selected element related to such trips, such as the mode of transportation (Kim et al., 2023; van Rensburg et al., 2023), the choice of a specific destination (Da Shi et al., 2023), preferences revealed by specific tourist segments (Otoo et al., 2020), preferences for specific decision-making tools in tourism (Kovačić, 2022; Chen et al., 2023), or preferences concerning specific activities during the tourist trip (Mimbs et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2022). Blešić et al. (2021) highlight the diversity of factors influencing destination choices, ranging from social and personal factors to the availability of attractions, pricing, and the overall tourism landscape (Madkhali, 2024). Agyapong and Yuan (2022) demonstrate the impact of social media on tourism destination decisions, explaining how elements such as tourism infrastructure, environmental safety, pricing, and human resources play pivotal roles in influencing the choices of international students. Emotional connections to a place can also influence tourism decision-making (Richins and Pearce, 2000). Tourists' choices can be shaped by both internal and external factors, as shown by Sevidov and Adomaitiene (2017). Internal factors include personal desires for relaxation, adventure, and social interaction. Combined with external factors such as destination attractiveness and perceived value, these shape tourists' choices (Li et al., 2021). Xu (2021) identifies additional dimensions influencing tourism decision-making, highlighting the significance of attributes related to tourism services, social connections, and goal orientation as key drivers of choice (Gu and Wang, 2019). Thus, determining which preferences are crucial in making tourist decisions is challenging.

In the study described in this article, an attempt was made to identify attributes influencing decision-making in tourism at a high level of generality, so that they can be determined for the majority of tourist trips. Preferences were selected regarding the type of tourist destination (e.g., urban or natural settings) (Jang and Cai, 2002; Byun and Jang, 2015), leisure activities (Kimball and Freysinger, 2010; Zhu et al., 2020; Dai et al., 2021), and the intensity of social interactions during the tourist trip (Li et al., 2023; Zhou et al., 2023).

Destination attributes play a crucial role in the processes of tourism decision-making. Raazim and Munasinghe (2021) highlighted that tourists compare destination attributes when choosing a place to visit, ultimately selecting destinations that align with their preferences and needs. This suggests that the unique characteristics and offerings of a destination significantly impact tourists' choices. Tourism can be conducted in destinations of varying characteristics. The two extreme types are tourism in urbanised areas and tourism in natural settings. Tourists choosing between these types of destinations have different needs. Urban destinations offer diverse cultural, architectural, technological, social, and natural experiences (Kiráľová and Hamarneh, 2018). They are characterised by unique cityscapes, historical heritage sites, socio-cultural structures, and lifestyle offerings (Akgoz, 2023). Conversely, natural destinations, such as rural areas, are known for their landscapes, tranquillity, outdoor activities, and opportunities for relaxation (Velea et al., 2022). Tourists are drawn to rural destinations for their natural beauty, clean environment, and minimal human interference (Amoah et al., 2018).

Preferences regarding the spending of time during a holiday hold significant value in shaping tourists' decisions. The ability to choose between relaxation and active engagement plays a crucial role in the tourism decision-making process. The perceived benefits of tourism services, including relaxation, entertainment, and recreation, positively influence travel behaviour (Chen and Petrick, 2014). Adventure activities have become central products in many tourist destinations, indicating the importance of active engagement in tourist experiences (Bichler and Peters, 2020). On the other hand, the importance of relaxation is underscored by the fact that visitors rate the experiences of "relaxing and finding peace" higher than other experiences, highlighting its significance in tourism experiences (Gill, n.d.).

Differences in preferences for the intensity of social interaction may be associated with personality variables specific to the tourists. Individual recreation opportunities and a low level of social interaction during a tourist trip offer a sense of independence and personalisation, enabling tourists to tailor their activities to their own preferences and pace (Kozak and MetIn, 2014). Conversely, group recreation opportunities and a higher level of social interaction during a tourist trip foster social interactions among tourists, providing a platform for shared experiences, the creation of bonds, and the formation of new connections (Fardous et al., 2019).

Additionally, a benefit of these selected preferences is the possibility of determining them in the majority of tourist trips. The criteria identified for decision-making related to tourist trips are limited, yet they encompass both elements characterising the destination and the potential division of recreational activities. The selection of a specific type of tourist destination is one of the fundamental criteria for the classification of tourism (Pisarska, 2013).

1.2. Conjoint Analysis in Tourism Research

By examining the significance of preferences regarding selected variables, the researchers utilised the conjoint analysis method. This method aims to identify product or service attributes that consumers perceive as most important when making specific choices. Conjoint analysis belongs to experimental methods and is based on utility theory, which assumes that consumers, when making decisions, seek to maximise the perceived utility by considering the partial utilities of individual elements that make up a given good (Luce and Tukey, 1964; Krantz and Tversky, 1971). Conjoint analysis is a research method used to understand how individuals make decisions based on multiple attributes or features of a product or service. It has gained popularity in various fields such as marketing, political science, and consumer research. The core principle of conjoint analysis is that products or services can be deconstructed into different attributes, and the value individuals derive from these attributes can be quantified (Jaeger et al., 2011). By evaluating preferences for various attributes and their levels, researchers can determine the relative importance of each attribute in influencing decision-making (Sammer and Wüstenhagen, 2006).

One of the significant strengths of conjoint analysis is its capability to estimate the causal effects of multiple treatment components simultaneously (Hainmueller et al., 2013). This is particularly valuable when researchers need to comprehend how different factors contribute to overall preferences or choices. By presenting individuals with various attribute combinations, conjoint analysis allows for a systematic exploration of the trade-offs people are willing to make when faced with complex decisions (Sammer and Wüstenhagen, 2006). This method offers a more detailed understanding of consumer preferences compared to traditional survey methods (Guo et al., 2022). This information is crucial for businesses aiming to customise their offerings to better align with customer needs and preferences (Prasetyo, 2024).

Conjoint analysis has many variations, making it applicable to various research topics, including those involving diverse types of tourist preferences. This method allows researchers to understand consumer preferences by analysing how individuals make trade-offs between different attributes of a product or service (Bridges et al., 2011).

In tourism research, conjoint analysis has been used in significant areas, such as preferences related to travel destinations and transportation mode (Suh and McAvoy, 2005), preferences regarding leisure activities (Kucukusta and Guillet, 2014), tourist preferences for travel packages (Menegaki et al., 2021), luxury shopping destinations (Hung et al., 2018), Generation Y's travel preferences (Vukić et al., 2014), and even the design of undergraduate programs in tourism (Ring et al., 2008). For instance, Dellaert, Borgers, and Timmermans utilised conjoint analysis to study Dutch tourists' preferences concerning travel destinations and transportation for short city trips (Dallaert et al., 1997) and to examine tourists' activity preferences in cities (Dallaert et al., 1995). Zhang and colleagues investigated preferences for purchasing souvenirs from tourist trips based on social media sharing behaviours, adapting the conjoint analysis method to this context (Zhang et al., 2021). In the Polish literature, an interesting example of the application of conjoint analysis in tourism-related issues is Wasowicz-Zaborek's work (2018) analysing customer preferences for travel agencies. An intriguing study utilising conjoint analysis is the Japanese research aimed at identifying preferred performing arts tourism products. The study conducted by Kim and colleagues indicates the versatile possibilities of using conjoint analysis to understand niche preferences within the tourism industry (Kim et al., 2016). Furthermore, the application of conjoint analysis has extended to the branding of wellness tourism in specific destinations, such as Kerala in India, where stakeholders' input was crucial in shaping the offerings through a participatory process facilitated by conjoint analysis (Romão et al., 2021).

In the realm of tourism marketing, conjoint analysis has been pivotal in assessing and optimising various aspects of the industry. It has been used to analyse tourists' choice of hotel attributes presented in travel agent brochures, providing insights into what influences accommodation decisions (Huertas-García et al., 2012).

The application of conjoint analysis in tourism research also encompasses understanding the preferences of different demographic segments. An example of such research is the analysis of destination choices by Chinese long-haul tourists. Through the use of conjoint analysis, offerings were tailored to specific target groups (Li et al., 2017). The use of conjoint analysis in tourism research goes beyond traditional market analysis, encompassing broader strategic considerations. This strategic application of conjoint analysis aids not only in understanding current preferences but also in shaping future offerings to align with evolving consumer demands and industry trends. Conjoint analysis can thus be utilised to meet diverse research needs in the tourism sector, from general preferences to specialised niche markets.

1.3. Psychological Well-Being of Tourists

The article employs an approach that integrates knowledge from the fields of psychology and marketing. The benefits of integrating psychological and marketing knowledge in the tourism domain lie in optimising offers and catering to customer needs. The psychological perspective allows for a deeper understanding of the complex mechanisms behind consumer decisions and the levels at which to identify the reasons for specific consumer behaviours. Cognitive and emotional factors, as postulated by the theory of bounded rationality (Tyszka, 2004), which influence the consumer decision-making process, often require the use of complex research procedures that encompass various disciplines within the social sciences. Therefore, to study tourists' psychological well-being, a shortened version of Carroll Ryff's (1989) questionnaire on psychological well-being, adapted for Poland by Karaś and Cieciuch (2017), was utilised. According to Ryff's assumptions, individuals' psychological well-being is a holistic construct consisting of six dimensions: coping, positive relationships, autonomy, personal development, self-acceptance, and life purpose (Młynkowiak-Stawarz, 2023). Moreover, research has shown that psychological well-being influences other areas of individuals' lives, including health, life satisfaction, and vulnerability to depression (Heszen-Cielińska and Sęk, 2020).

Psychological well-being is also linked to behaviours in the tourism domain. Studies in this area have explored the impact of psychological well-being on emotional experiences during tourist activities (Ntoumanis et al., 2020; Jamaluddin et al., 2022), the influence of perceived psychological well-being on the choice of specific activities (Bosnjak et al., 2016), and its effects on achieving tourist goals (Kruger et al., 2015; Kang andSong, 2021).

The concept of psychological well-being that forms the basis of the questionnaire developed by Ryff pertains to the eudaimonic dimension of this issue. However, psychological well-being is examined in two domains – eudaimonic and hedonistic, which are encompassed within the Aristotelian concept of happiness (Ryan and Deci, 2001). Considering the eudaimonic approach represented by Ryff (2017) is a result of the creation of comprehensive models of the good life within this concept (Czapliński, 2008). On the other hand, approaches based on the hedonistic perspective seek solutions to issues related to specific dimensions of psychological well-being (Diener, 2000).

2. Research Method

In order to address the research question, "Are specific preferences for tourist trips dependent on the level of disclosed psychological well-being?" and verify the research hypotheses, a research plan was developed. The research plan is presented in the Figure 1.





Source: Author's own work

The determination of the preferences considered in tourist decisions posed a significant challenge. The selection of specific variables was based on the analysis of literature and previous research. A total of 3,763 scientific articles were examined from the Web of Science, Scopus, and Science Direct databases, using keywords related to "tourist preferences" and "tourist decision" in the search queries. Taking into account the changes that have occurred in the tourism sector due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the military crisis in Europe, publications from the last five years (2019-2023) were considered. The analysis was conducted using the VOSviewer software, which identified 13,371 keywords. VOSviewer is an open-access program designed for the construction and visualisation of co-occurrence networks of important terms within the analysed literature. Among the extracted keywords, words forming networks with at least 10 connections (527 words) were selected. Words related to specific countries and

research procedures were excluded, resulting in the identification of 300 keywords grouped into nine clusters, as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Connections between keywords in articles on tourist preferences and decisions

Source: Author's own work

Taking into account the connections between selected words, the composition of the extracted clusters, literature analysis regarding tourists' preferences in the context of making travel decisions, and the impact of specific factors on tourists' psychological well-being, three types of attributes related to tourists' preferences in the context of making travel decisions were identified: the type of tourist destination, leisure activities, and the intensity of social interactions between tourists during the tourist trip. Due to the respondents' perceptual capabilities, the multitude of possible attributes associated with the characteristics of tourist trips considered when making decisions in this area, and formal criteria related to the conjoint analysis method, three attributes were chosen, each characterised by two levels.

The preferences considered related to the type of tourist destination, understood as the environment - natural or urban. The determination of levels of the "tourist destination type" attribute is associated with the specific impact of the natural environment (Seymour, 2016; Smith and Turner, 2023) and the urban environment (Baumann and Brooks-Cederqvist, 2023) on the psychological well-being of individuals. "Leisure activities" are understood as the manner in which time is spent during a tourist trip. Two levels of this attribute have been distinguished: active and relaxing activities. Engaging in activities can impact the level of stress (Kimball and Freysinger, 2010) experienced during a tourist trip, which undoubtedly relates to perceived well-being. Another attribute is the intensity of social interactions among tourists during a tourist trip. Low and high levels of interaction intensity have been distinguished. Research indicates that the quality and quantity of interactions among tourists during a tourist trip (Li et al., 2023) influence their sense of loneliness (Tan and Lu, 2019), satisfaction with the trip, tourism experiences (Zhou et al., 2023), and tourists' behaviour (Su et al., 2022).

For the study design, the conjoint analysis method based on full profiles presented in graphical form was used (Walesiak, 2001; Walesiak, 2002). As three attributes were distinguished, each with two levels, a full profile plan created eight variations (Figure 3). Respondents were presented with a hypothetical situation in which they won a voucher for a 7-day vacation and were asked to rank the eight types of 7-day vacations from 1 (first choice) to 8 (last choice) they would like to take.

Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism

Profile	Contact with others/Place/ Spending time	Choice (1-8)
A	🍪 👝 🏷	
В	يغير 👬	
С	去 🚎	
D	🎲 🛶 🔅	
E	🧶 <u> </u>	
F	يغير 🌉	
G	🧟 💦	
Н	🧆 👧	

Figure 3. Compilation of profiles used in the study

Source: Author's own work

The order of items for each respondent was random. The study of psychological well-being was conducted using a shortened version of the C. Ryff Psychological Well-Being Scale. In the Polish adaptation, this version consists of 18 questions, which measure the overall level of individuals' well-being. Respondents rated the questionnaire statements on a 6-point scale, ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree.

3. Research Results

3.1. Respondents

In typical studies using conjoint analysis, the sample size usually ranges from 300 to 550 respondents (Bartłomowicz and Bąk, 2021). In the conducted study, responses were collected from 600 respondents. The respondents were participants in the research panel of poznaj.to, which belongs to the Polish research agency PBS. They were selected on a quota basis. Quotas were determined based on the demographic data from the Central Statistical Office (GUS), concerning the gender, age, place of residence, and education of adults in Poland in 2020 (GUS, 2021). The respondents were also asked a screening question regarding whether they had made decisions about a tourist trip in the last year. Only individuals who answered affirmatively to this question qualified for the subsequent part of the study.

Among the participants, 54% were female, and 46% were male. The majority of respondents lived in rural areas (36.7%), slightly fewer lived in cities with over 100,000 inhabitants (35%), and the fewest lived in cities with up to 100,000 inhabitants (28.3%). Regarding education, 62% of the participants had completed secondary education, 35.3% had higher education, and 2.7% indicated lower education (vocational, lower secondary, and primary education). Participants were also asked to provide their year of birth. The average age in the study group was 41 years (SD = 13 years). The youngest participant was 19 years old, while the oldest was 77 years old.

3.2. Analysis

The analysis of research results was conducted using the IBM SPSS software. In order to examine the relationship between preferences regarding tourist trips expressed by the respondents and their perceived psychological wellbeing, the respondents' well-being scores were divided into four groups: individuals experiencing very low wellbeing, those experiencing low well-being, those experiencing moderate well-being, and those experiencing high well-being. The participants were divided into four relatively equal quantitative groups using the visual categorisation function. The average level of psychological well-being reported by the participants was 3.72 points (SD = 0.36) on a 6-point scale. The grouping of participants based on their perceived well-being level is presented in Table 1.

The variation in the level of perceived psychological well-being among the identified groups is not large, which is a common situation when measuring well-being (Czapliński, 2008b). Most studies show that the level of well-being tends to cluster around the mean (Wojciszke, 2020).

Groups with specified levels of psychological well-being (PW)	Frequency	Percentage	Mean level of psychological well-being in the group.	SD
Very low	167	27.80	3.36	0.22
Low	151	25.20	3.64	0.04
Moderate	150	25.00	3.80	0.06
High	132	22.00	4.24	0.29
Total	600	100		

Table 1. Characteristics of groups experiencing varying levels of well-being

Source: Author's own work.

In the further part of the study, the total utilities and partial parameters of the conjoint analysis model were estimated. The conjoint analysis for the developed experimental design was conducted using the SPSS package. Based on the responses provided by the participants on the ordinal scale, the partial utility of the analysed attributes was determined (Table 2).

		Estimation of utility	Standard Deviation	Average Importance Value
Contact with others	Low intensity of social interactions	0.66	0.27	26.25.0/
	High intensity of social interactions	1.32	0.54	30.35 %
Place	Nature	-0.18	0.27	21 120/
	Urban	-0.35	0.54	31.13%
Spending time	Active	0.02	0.27	20 500/
	Relaxing	0.05	0.54	52.5270
(Constant)		3.74	0.71	

Table 2. Estimation of the utility of factors preferred by respondents in the process of making tourist travel decisions.

Source: Author's own work.

During the analysis, the importance of the studied attributes was also determined. Among the surveyed attributes, the type of destination is the most significant factor in making tourist travel decisions (36.35). The other two attributes have similar utilities. The way of spending time is slightly more important (32.52) than the intensity of social interactions (31.13). Regression analysis also estimated the B coefficients, which indicate the direction and strength of the influence of each attribute on preferences regarding tourist trips, as shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Estimation of coefficient B for the studied attributes

	Estimation of coefficient B
Contact with others	0.66
Place	-0.18
Spending time	0.02

Source: Author's own work.

The correlation between observed and estimated parameters in the model is high, equalling r = 0.79 (p < 0.01). A strong correlation between the observed and estimated parameters of a conjoint model may indicate a strong fidelity of the developed model in representing respondents' preferences. Furthermore, it may also suggest that the selected attributes effectively capture elements of significance in the context of making tourism-related decisions. In order to test the research hypotheses, models of heterogeneous preferences regarding tourist trips (individually for each participant) were compared with the level of psychological well-being indicated by the respondents. The partial utilities for the levels of the studied attributes were calculated for the groups of respondents characterised by a specific level of psychological well-being.

Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism



Figure 4. Comparison of average partial utilities in groups with different levels of perceived psychological well-being.

Source: Author's own work.

At each studied level, among the three considered attributes, the highest average partial utilities are observed among individuals with moderate levels of psychological well-being. It is also noticeable that individuals with high levels of well-being do not express such strong average preferences towards the studied variables as the other groups. Figure 4 also illustrates how little significance is attached to average preferences regarding spending time, especially among individuals with low levels of psychological well-being.

In the next step of the study, the statistical significance of differences between groups with different levels of psychological well-being in relation to preferences for the studied attributes was examined. As a result of the conducted analysis of variance using the ANOVA method, it was found that the only variable related to the studied preferences for tourist trips that differentiates the respondents based on their perceived psychological well-being is the importance attributed to the choice of tourist destination (F(1, 596) = 2.83, p = 0.04).

A post-hoc Games-Howell test was also conducted to examine significant differences between groups. The results of the test are illustrated in Figure 5.

Figure 5. Comparison of the importance of choosing the tourist destination for groups with different levels of psychological well-being.



Source: Author's own work.

The analysis revealed a statistically significant difference in terms of the importance of choosing the tourist destination environment between individuals with low perceived well-being (the importance of choosing the destination M = 33.01, SD = 15.86) and those with moderate perceived well-being (the importance of choosing the destination M = 38.64, SD = 17.79).

4. Discussions

Studying tourists' preferences related to various aspects of tourism is an extremely broad subject. Most researchers focusing on this topic concentrate on specific destinations, examples of tourist activities, or other factors influencing travel decisions. In this study, we considered preferences regarding three aspects of tourism – the type of tourist destination, ways of spending time, and the number of social interactions. The nature of the destination has been examined, for example, by Da Shi et al. (2023) in determining the preferences of Chinese tourists in relation to their

decision to travel to North Korea. Positive aspects in the mentioned study were cultural places, entertainment, and modern forms of sightseeing, which align more with urban destinations rather than natural ones. Differences in preferences may have a cultural basis (Boski, 2009).

It also seems that researchers pay more attention to studying preferences related to travelling to cities (Dellaert et al., 1995; Suh and McAvoy, 2005) than to naturally attractive areas. However, the results of this study indicate that individuals in the surveyed group preferred destinations of a natural rather than urban character. This may also be related to preferences regarding ways of spending time - positive indications favoured relaxation more than active activities during the tourist trip. Some studies suggest that seeking psychological well-being justifies peaceful contact with nature (Lück and Aquino, 2021), which the respondents favoured.

The positive relationship between psychological well-being and contact with nature, especially green spaces, has been scientifically examined and proven (Seymour, 2016; Smith and Turner, 2023). The results of this study demonstrate that respondents prefer destinations that can be considered naturally attractive. Furthermore, a difference in the level of perceived well-being based on the importance of these preferences in this area has been observed. It can be assumed that individuals who pay more attention to their surroundings consciously make decisions to engage with nature and may, therefore, experience this contact more frequently, partially enhancing their psychological well-being. This is consistent with research findings on the relationships between well-being, perception of life quality, and the environment in which individuals reside (Lewicka, 2021).

The relationship between perceived psychological well-being and the intensity of social interactions among tourists and the type of leisure activities did not significantly differentiate the respondents. However, both of these attributes were taken into consideration when making tourism-related decisions. A low level of social interaction among tourists turned out to be significant in decision-making. Individuals with moderate levels of psychological well-being attached the most importance to this level of social interaction. Research indicates that tourists expect occasional interactions associated with seeking assistance or emotional support rather than forming strong social and companionable bonds (Li et al., 2023). Perhaps tourists themselves perceive tourism activities as more of an individual pursuit (Reichenberger, 2017), despite the fact that it is not devoid of communal aspects with a positive impact on well-being (Gao et al., 2020).

In the process of making a tourism-related decision, respondents also found their preference for experiencing relaxation during a tourist trip to be valuable. Research by Kimball and Freysinger (2003) suggests that even the planning of activities alone can be a stressful experience for individuals. Therefore, the choice associated with relaxation can protect respondents from the need to plan and participate in activities that might be stressful for them, something most people aim to avoid during a tourist trip.

Practical Implications

The study indicates that tourist preferences are highly diverse. They depend on numerous factors, including personality, internal and external motivations, and socio-economic context. Managers should collect and analyse data on their clients' preferences to tailor their offerings to different market segments. Customising tourism offerings to accommodate tourists' preferences can enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty. Considering the importance tourists place on the intensity of social interactions when making travel decisions, it is crucial to design offerings that allow tourists to maintain a balance in this aspect.

Tourists have different needs depending on their choice of urban or natural destinations. Managers should diversify their offerings to cater to both tourists seeking cultural and urban attractions and those who prefer tranquil, natural surroundings. Providing a variety of recreational activities, ranging from active engagement to relaxation, can attract a broader group of tourists.

Incorporating psychological aspects into tourism management can aid in better understanding tourists' needs and behaviours. Managers should invest in research on the relationship between psychological well-being and customer behaviours, as well as develop programmes and services that support their mental health.

Conclusions

In response to the research question posed in the introduction regarding whether specific preferences for tourist travel are dependent on the level of psychological well-being revealed, it is necessary to refer to the analysis of variance using the ANOVA method. Among the subjects, statistically significant differences related to the level of well-being were observed only in the case of preferences related to the type of tourist destination. When verifying the research hypotheses, it must be stated that the first and third hypotheses were negatively verified. There was no observed relationship between the level of psychological well-being exhibited by the subjects and their preferences for the intensity of social interactions during tourist travel (H1) or preferences for how to spend their

Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism

time during tourist travel. However, the second hypothesis was partially confirmed in a positive manner. The level of psychological well-being exhibited by the subjects and their preferences for the nature of the tourist destination were statistically significant in the case of individuals with low and moderate levels of psychological well-being.

At the same time, it should be noted that the prepared model of conjoint preferences of tourists related to making decisions about tourist travel takes into account attributes that are important to the respondents. The most significant preference related to making decisions about tourist travel is the type of destination. The average partial utility of choosing a naturally attractive (nature) destination for all respondent groups had a positive value (highest for individuals with low and high levels of psychological well-being, and lowest for those with a high level of psychological well-being). Positive partial utility values were also observed in the case of a low number of social interactions. This was most significant for individuals with moderate levels of psychological well-being, somewhat less so for those with low levels of psychological well-being, and least for those with high and very low levels of psychological well-being.

Regarding preferences for ways of spending time, only individuals with low levels of psychological wellbeing considered an active approach to be more useful than relaxation. Individuals in the other three studied groups preferred relaxation when choosing the type of tourist trip. In all groups, the partial utilities related to this attribute had the least impact on the preferred types of trips.

The similarity in preferences between the group with very low and high levels of psychological well-being, especially regarding the preference for a low number of social interactions, is intriguing. Various reasons appear to underlie this, which should be further explored in subsequent research.

The use of the full profile method has made it possible to present all selected attributes to the respondents for evaluation simultaneously, which mimics the real situation in consumer decision-making. This is a significant advantage of utilising the full profile model. However, a drawback of this approach is the limited number of attributes and their levels that can be employed due to the perceptual constraints of respondents and the decreasing reliability of measurement as the number of ranked profiles increases when using a ranking scale.

The results of the above study suggest that when making decisions related to activities in the tourism sector, it is essential to pay attention to customer preferences related to natural destination attractiveness, providing opportunities for relaxation, and fostering a sense of intimacy during tourist travel. Individuals responsible for shaping spaces, especially in tourist cities, should also take note of designing such spaces to incorporate places for relaxation and readily accessible green areas. The ongoing crises that individuals are experiencing require entrepreneurs and decision-makers to focus on service areas that contribute to increasing psychological well-being, which, in turn, has a positive impact on health and the perception of one's quality of life, leading to tangible social benefits.

Limitations and Future Research

The main limitation of the study was the selection of tourist attributes that respondents considered when making their travel decisions. The classification used in the study is quite general and does not cover all possible options, and it also has a subjective nature, although it was based on the analysis of literature. In future research, other attributes important for respondents in their travel decision-making process can be explored. These attributes can be categorised based on characteristics of the tourist destination, attributes related to the consumer-tourist, social relationship attributes during the travel, and attributes related to activities during the trip. Of course, this classification may not encompass all possible factors that can influence the decision-making process to a certain extent. Additionally, the conjoint analysis method is a complex research procedure that does not have a single defined approach, which can pose challenges in determining the appropriate course of action.

Acknowledgments

The study was funded by resources obtained through UGrants.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Anna Młynkowiak-Stawarz: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Data curation, Validation, Visualization

Robert Beben: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Writing - review and editing

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- Agyapong, E. K., and J. Yuan. 2022. Social Media Impact on Tourism Destination Decision: Evidence from International Students in China. Open Journal of Applied Sciences 12, no. 12. DOI <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/ojapps.2022.1212143</u>.
- [2] Akgoz, E. 2023. The Effect of Country Personality on Destination Choice and Satisfaction." Journal of Tourism Management Research 10, no. 2: 140–153. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.18488/31.v10i2.3443</u>.
- [3] Alves, P., P. Saraiva, J. Carneiro, P. Campos, H. Martins, P. Novais, and G. Marreiros. 2020. Modeling Tourists' Personality in Recommender Systems: How Does Personality Influence Preferences for Tourist Attractions? In Proceedings of the 28th ACM Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization (UMAP '20), 4–13. Association for Computing Machinery. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/3340631.3394843.
- [4] Amoah, F., L. Radder, and M. v. Eyk. 2018. A Comparison of Rural and Urban Tourism Experiences: A South African Example." Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies 10, no. 2. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.22610/jebs.v10i2.2233</u>.
- [5] Bartłomiejowicz, T., and A. Bąk. 2021. Badania preferencji i zachowań konsumentów z wykorzystaniem metod mikroekonometrii i programu R. Wrocław: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu. (in Polish)
- [6] Baumann, O., and B. Brooks-Cederqvist. 2023. "Multimodal Assessment of Effects of Urban Environments on Psychological Wellbeing." *Heliyon* 9, no. 6. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e16433</u>.
- [7] Bester, J. C. 2020. Beneficence, Interests, and Wellbeing in Medicine: What It Means to Provide Benefit to Patients." The American Journal of Bioethics 20, no. 3: 53–62. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2020.1714793</u>.
- [8] Bęben, R., S. Kuczamer-Kłopotowska, A. Młynkowiak-Stawarz, and I. Półbrat. 2021. Tourist Behavioral Intentions during the COVID-19 Pandemic. The Role of Reactance, Perceived Risk and Protection Motivation. *Journal of Environmental Management and Tourism* 12: 2130–2149.
- [9] Młynkowiak-Stawarz, A., R. Bęben, and Z. Kraus 2024. Can Tourists Get Used to the Threat? A Comparative Study of Tourists' Behavioral Intention during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Central European Management Journal* 32 (2024): 76–92. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/CEMJ-10-2022-0159</u>.
- [10] Bichler, B. F., and M. Peters. 2020. Soft Adventure Motivation: An Exploratory Study of Hiking Tourism. *Tourism Review* 76, no. 2: 473–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/tr-10-2019-0403</u>.
- [11] Blesic, I., T. Pivac, and M. Lopatny. 2021. Using Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for Tourist Destination Choice: A Case Study of Croatia. In *Tourism in Southern and Eastern Europe: ToSEE – Smart, Experience, Excellence and ToFEEL – Feelings, Excitement, Education, Leisure*, 95–107.
- [12] Boski, P. 2009. Kulturowe Ramy Zachowań Społecznych. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN. (in Polish)
- [13] Bosnjak, M., C. A. Brown, D.-J. Lee, G. B. Yu, and M. J. Sirgy. 2016. Self-Expressiveness in Sport Tourism: Determinants and Consequences. *Journal of Travel Research* 55, no. 1: 125–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287514535845</u>.
- [14] Brooker, A., and C. Vu. 2020. How Do University Experiences Contribute to Students' Psychological Wellbeing? Student Success 11, no. 2: 99–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.5204/ssj.1676</u>.
- [15] Buckley, R. 2020. Tourism and Mental Health: Foundations, Frameworks, and Futures. *Journal of Travel Research* 62, no. 1. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00472875221087669</u>.
- [16] Byun, J., and S. Jang. 2015. Effective Destination Advertising: Matching Effect between Advertising Language and Destination Type. *Tourism Management* 50 (2015): 31–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.01.005</u>.
- [17] Chen, C., and D. Gürsoy. 2023. Exploring Tourist Preference for Mobility-as-a-Service (MaaS) A Latent Class Choice Approach. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice 174 (2023): 103750. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2023.103750.
- [18] Chen, C., and J. F. Petrick. 2014. The Roles of Perceived Travel Benefits, Importance, and Constraints in Predicting Travel Behavior. *Journal of Travel Research* 55: 509–522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287514563986</u>.
- [19] Czapliński, J., ed. 2008. Psychologiczne Teorie Szczęścia. In Psychologia Pozytywna: Nauka o Szczęściu, Zdrowiu, Sile i Cnotach Człowieka, 51–102. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN. (in Polish)
- [20] Czapliński, J., ed. 2008. Czy Szczęście Popłaca? Dobrostan Psychiczny Jako Przyczyna Pomyślności Życiowej." In Psychologia Pozytywna: Nauka o Szczęściu, Zdrowiu, Sile i Cnotach Człowieka, 235–254. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN. (in Polish)
- [21] Dai, Y., T. Wang, W. Zhuang, and T. Huan. 2021. Are You an Awkward Tourist? Keys to Enhance the Cohesion between Tourists and Local Residents from the Viewpoint of Leisure Literacy and Recreationist-Environment Fit. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management* 47: 312–325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2021.04.002</u>.
- [22] Dellaert, B. G. C., A. W. J. Borgers, and H. J. P. Timmermans. 1997. Conjoint Models of Tourist Portfolio Choice: Theory and Illustration. *Leisure Sciences* 19, no. 1: 31–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01490409709512238</u>.
- [23] Dellaert, B., A. Borgers, and H. Timmermans. 1995. A Day in the City: Using Conjoint Choice Experiments to Model Urban Tourists' Choice of Activity Packages. *Tourism Management* 16, no. 5: 347–353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0261-5177(95)00035-M</u>.
- [24] Diener, E. 2000. Subjective Well-Being. The Sciences of Happiness and Proposal for a National Index. American Psychologists 55, no. 1: 34–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.34</u>.
- [25] Dogra, N., and M. Adil. 2023. Factors Influencing Travellers' Decision-Making Behaviour towards Online Travel Purchases: A Fuzzy-DEMATEL Approach. Current Issues in Tourism. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2023.2262707</u>.
- [26] Fardous, J., J. T. Du, P. Hansen, K.-K. R. Choo, and S. Huang. 2019. Group Trip Planning and Information Seeking Behaviours by Mobile Social Media Users: A Study of Tourists in Australia, Bangladesh and China. *Journal of Information Science* 47, no. 3: 323–339. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551519890515.
- [27] Ferrer-Rosell, B., and G. Coenders. 2018. Destinations and Crisis. Profiling Tourists' Budget Share from 2006 to 2012. Journal of Destination Marketing and Management 7: 26–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2016.07.002</u>.
- [28] Fredricson, B.L., and T. Joiner. 2002. Positive Emotions Trigger Upward Spirals Toward Emotional Well-Being. Psychological Science, 13(2): 172–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00431
- [29] Fredrickson B.L. 2009. Positivity: Top-Notch Research Reveals the Upward Spiral That Will Change Your Life. New York. Three Rivers Press.
- [30] Garau-Vadell, J. B., D. Gutierrez-Taño, and R. Diaz-Armas. 2018. Economic Crisis and Residents' Perception of the Impacts of Tourism in Mass Tourism Destinations. *Journal of Destination Marketing and Management* 7 (2018): 68–75. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2016.08.008</u>.
- [31] Gill, C. 2018. Essays Exploring the Restorative Potential, Experiences and Outcomes of Spiritual Retreats. https://doi.org/10.14264/uql.2018.796.
- [32] Gogonea, R. M., A. S. Saseanu, S. Ghita, and S. G. Toma. 2021. How Do Europeans Travel and Spend? A Pre-Covid Cluster Approach. BASIQ International Conference on New Trends in Sustainable Business and Consumption. DOI:https://doi.org/10.24818/basiq/2021/07/060.
- [33] Hainmueller, J., D. J. Hopkins, and T. Yamamoto. 2013. Causal Inference in Conjoint Analysis: Understanding Multidimensional Choices via Stated Preference Experiments. SSRN Electronic Journal. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2231687</u>.
- [34] Heszen-Cielińska, I., and H. Sęk. 2020. Psychologia Zdrowia. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN. (in Polish)
- [35] Huertas-García, R., M. L. García, and C. Consolación. 2012. Conjoint Analysis of Tourist Choice of Hotel Attributes Presented in Travel Agent Brochures. *International Journal of Tourism Research* 16, no. 1: 65–75. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.1899.
- [36] Hysa, B., M. Calabrese, and P. Skarbek. 2021. The Role of Social Media and Visual Brand Storytelling in Tourism Recovery in the Post-Pandemic World. *Journal of Tourism Futures* 7, no. 3: 319–333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JTF-05-2021-0101</u>.
- [37] Ivanova, M., I. Ivanov, and C. Иванов. 2020. Travel Behaviour after the Pandemic: The Case of Bulgaria. Anatolia 32, no. 1: 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13032917.2020.1818267</u>.
- [38] Jamaluddin, R., N. H. M. Hashim, N. Ismail, N. Yacob, and M. Daud. 2022. The Tourism Well-Being (TWB) Model for Assessing Homestay Guests' Well-Being: A Conceptual Review. *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality and Culinary Arts* (JTHCA) 14, no. 1: 48–62.
- [39] Jaeger, S. R., F. R. Harker, C. M. Triggs, A. Gunson, R. L. Campbell, R. Jackman, and C. Requejo-Jackman. 2011. Determining Consumer Purchase Intentions: The Importance of Dry Matter, Size, and Price of Kiwifruit. *Journal of Food Science* 76, no. 3. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02084.x</u>.
- [40] Jang, S., and L. A. Cai. 2002. Travel Motivations and Destination Choice: A Study of British Outbound Market. Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing 13, no. 3: 111–133. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10548400209511570</u>.
- [41] Jiménez-Guerrero, J., L. Piedra-Muñoz, E. Galdeano-Gómez, and J. C. Pérez-Mesa. 2021. The Global Economic Crisis and International Tourism: A Sub-Continental Analysis. *Tourism Planning and Development* 18, no. 1: 1–24. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21568316.2019.1683887</u>.

- [42] Joseph, J., and J. A. McGregor. 2020. Wellbeing. In Wellbeing, Resilience and Sustainability. Building a Sustainable Political Economy: SPERI Research and Policy, 45–67. Palgrave Pivot. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-32307-3_2</u>.
- [43] Kang, J., and H. Song. 2021. Cultural Storytelling in Cultural Tourism: The Impact on Tourists' Psychological Well-Being. Journal of Destination Marketing and Management 21: 100612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2021.100612</u>.
- [44] Karaś, D., and J. Cieciuch. 2017. Polska Adaptacja Kwestionariusza Dobrostanu (Psychological Well-being Scales) Caroll Ryff. Roczniki Psychologiczne 20, no. 4: 815–853. (in Polish)
- [45] Kim, H., K. Lee, C. H. Joh, J. Kim, S. Moon, C. Lee, S. Lee, J. Lee, and H. J. Lim. 2023. Spatial Experience on Tourism through MaaS (Mobility as a Service): Applying for a Conjoint Model of Portfolio Choice. *Information Processing and Management* 60, no. 3: 103263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IPM.2022.103263</u>.
- [46] Kim, S., J. Y. Chung, J. F. Petrick, and J. W. Park. 2016. Determination of Preferred Performing Arts Tourism Products Using Conjoint Analysis. *Journal of Vacation Marketing* 24, no. 1: 44–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1356766716679484</u>.
- [47] Kimball, A., and V. J. Freysinger. 2003. Leisure, Stress, and Coping: The Sport Participation of Collegiate Student-Athletes. *Leisure Sciences* 25, no. 2-3 (2003): 115–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400306569</u>.
- [48] Kiráľová, A., and I. Hamarneh. 2018. Urban Tourism Competitiveness of Selected European Cities. In Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference on New Trends in Sustainable Business and Consumption: 125–140. DOI:https://doi.org/10.31410/itema.2018.125.
- [49] Kovačić, N. 2022. The Acceptance of Smart Technologies in Tourist Regions with Respect to Mobility Preferences of Their Visitors. *Transportation Research Procedia* 64: 257–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2022.09.030</u>.
- [50] Kozak, M. A., and T. C. Metln. 2014. Turistik Rekreasyon Planlamasında Rekreasyonel Fırsat Dağılımı Yönteminin Kullanımı. Journal of Human Sciences 11, no. 1: 1114–1125. <u>https://doi.org/10.14687/ijhs.v11i1.2877</u>.
- [51] Kruger, S., M. J. Sirgy, D.-J. Lee, and G. Yu. 2015. Does Life Satisfaction of Tourists Increase if They Set Travel Goals That Have High Positive Valence? *Tourism Analysis* 20, no. 2: 173–188. DOI: 10.3727/108354215X14265319207353.
- [52] Li, C., S. McCabe, and H. Wang. 2017. Destination Choice of Chinese Long-Haul Outbound Tourists and Market Segmentation. Journal of China Tourism Research 13, no. 3: 298–315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19388160.2017.1398118</u>.
- [53] Li, J., P. Kunasekaran, K. W. Chia, and S. Hui-Wen Chuah. 2023. A Systematic Mapping Study on Tourist-Tourist Interactions. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management* 56: 163–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2023.06.017</u>.
- [54] Li, M., G. Lin, and X. Feng. 2012. An Interactive Family Tourism Decision Model. Journal of Travel Research 62, no. 1: 121–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00472875211056682</u>.
- [55] Litvin, S., and J. T. Rosene. 2018 Keeping It Fresh: Revisiting an Historic Tourist City's Streetscape Improvement Project. Journal of Destination Marketing and Management 7: 12–17. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2016.06.001</u>.
- [56] Liu, Z., A. Wang, K. Weber, E. H. W. Chan, and W. Shi. 2022. Categorisation of Cultural Tourism Attractions by Tourist Preference Using Location-Based Social Network Data: The Case of Central, Hong Kong. *Tourism Management* 90. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TOURMAN.2022.104488.
- [57] Luce, R. D., and J. W. Tukey. 1964. Simultaneous Conjoint Measurement: A New Type of Fundamental Measurement. Journal of Mathematical Psychology 1, no. 1: 1–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2496(64)90015-X</u>.
- [58] Lück, M., and R. S. Aquino. 2021. Domestic Nature-Based Tourism and Wellbeing: A Roadmap for the New Normal? In J. Wilks, D. Pendergast, and P. A. Morgan, eds., *Tourist Health, Safety and Wellbeing in the New Normal*, 269–292. Springer. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-5415-2_11</u>.
- [59] Madkhali, H. 2024. The Mediating Effect of Place Attachment on Intention to Visit among Visitors to Jazan Province, Saudi Arabia. *Planning Malaysia* 22. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.21837/pm.v22i30.1424</u>.
- [60] Mahdi, A. J., and D. Esztergár-Kiss. 2023. Supporting Scheduling Decisions by Using Genetic Algorithm Based on Tourists' Preferences. Applied Soft Computing 148. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2023.110857</u>.
- [61] Mimbs, B. P., B. B. Boley, J. M. Bowker, K. Woosnam, and G. T. Green. 2020. Importance-Performance Analysis of Residents' and Tourists' Preferences for Water-Based Recreation in the Southeastern United States. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism* 31: 100324. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2020.100324</u>.
- [62] Gao, M. E., L. R. Havitz, and L. R. Potwarka. 2020. Exploring the Influence of Family Holiday Travel on the Subjective Well-Being of Chinese Adolescents. *Journal of China Tourism Research* 16, no. 1: 45–61. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19388160.2018.1513883</u>.
- [63] Młynkowiak-Stawarz, A. 2023. Do Polish Tourists Want Wellbeing Tourism? Preferences for Wellbeing Tourism versus the Psychological Wellbeing of Individuals. *e-mentor* 2, no. 99: 56–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.15219/em99.1610</u>.
- [64] Młynkowiak-Stawarz, A., R. Bęben, and Z. Kraus. 2024. Can Tourists Get Used to the Threat? A Comparative Study of Tourists' Behavioral Intention during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Central European Management Journal* 32: 76–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/CEMJ-10-2022-0159</u>.

- [65] Ntoumanis, N., et al. 2020. A Meta-Analysis of Self-Determination Theory-Informed Intervention Studies in the Health Domain: Effects on Motivation, Health Behavior, Physical, and Psychological Health." *Health Psychology Review* 15, no. 2: 214–244.DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2020.1718529.
- [66] Otoo, F. E., S. Kim, and Y. Choi. 2020. Understanding Senior Tourists' Preferences and Characteristics Based on Their Overseas Travel Motivation Clusters. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing* 37, no. 2: 246–257. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2020.1740136.
- [67] Parra Vargas, E., C. de-Juan-Ripoll, M. B. Bueno Panadero, and M. Alcañiz. 2021. Lifestyle Segmentation of Tourists: The Role of Personality. *Heliyon* 7, no. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07579</u>.
- [68] Penagos-Londoño, G. I., C. Rodriguez-Sanchez, F. Ruiz-Moreno, and E. Torres. 2021. A Machine Learning Approach to Segmentation of Tourists Based on Perceived Destination Sustainability and Trustworthiness." *Journal of Destination Marketing and Management* 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2020.100532</u>.
- [69] Piontek, D. 2022. Styl Życia, Akceptowane Zasady, Cele w Życiu, Szanse i Obawy Polaków. In R. M. Staniszewski, ed., Pomiędzy Pandemią COVID-19 a Wojną w Ukrainie: Diagnoza Stanu Polskiego Społeczeństwa, 45–70. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo ToC. (in Polish)
- [70] Pisarska, B. 2013. W Drodze ku Uniwersalności Klasyfikacji Form Rekreacji, w Tym Turystyki. In R. Wiluś and J. Wojciechowska, eds., Nowe-Stare Formy Turystyki w Przestrzeni: Warsztaty z Geografii Turyzmu, Tom 3, 21–35. Łódź: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.18778/7525-925-4.03</u>. (in Polish)
- [71] Prasetyo, Y. T. 2024. Indonesian Martial Artists' Preferences in Martial Arts Schools: Sustaining Business Competitiveness through Conjoint Analysis. PLOS ONE 19, no. 4: e0301229. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0301229.
- [72] Raazim, M., and M. Munasinghe. 2021. Impact of Destination Attributes on Tourists Destination Selection: With Special Reference to Cultural Triangle of Sri Lanka. ASEAN Journal on Hospitality and Tourism 19, no. 2: 101–111. DOI:https://doi.org/10.5614/ajht.2021.19.2.02.
- [73] Reichenberger, I. 2017. C2C Value Co-Creation through Social Interactions in Tourism. International Journal of Tourism Research 19, no. 6: 629–638. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.2135</u>.
- [74] Romão, J., P. P. Seal, P. Hansen, S. Joseph, and S. Piramanayagam. 2021. Stakeholder-Based Conjoint Analysis for Branding Wellness Tourism in Kerala, India. Asia-Pacific Journal of Regional Science 6, no. 1: 91–111. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/s41685-021-00218-3.
- [75] Ryan, R. M., and E. L. Deci. 2001. On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being." Annual Review of Psychology 52, no. 1. DOI: <u>https://doi.org10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141</u>.
- [76] Ryff, C. D. 1989. Happiness Is Not Everything, or Is It? Explorations on the Meaning of Psychological Well-Being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 57, no. 6: 1069–1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069</u>.
- [77] Ryff, C. D. 2017. Eudaimonic Well-Being, Inequality, and Health: Recent Findings and Future Directions. International Review of Economics 64, no. 2: 159–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12232-017-0277-4</u>.
- [78] Saini, H., P. Kumar, and S. Oberoi. 2023. Welcome to the Destination! Social Media Influencers as Cogent Determinant of Travel Decision: A Systematic Literature Review and Conceptual Framework. *Cogent Social Sciences* 9, no. 1. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2023.2240055</u>.
- [79] Sánchez-Pérez, M., E. Et al. 2021. The Impact of the COVID-19 Health Crisis on Tourist Evaluation and Behavioural Intentions in Spain: Implications for Market Segmentation Analysis. *Current Issues in Tourism* 24, no. 7: 919–933. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2021.1889481</u>.
- [80] Sammer, K., and R. Wüstenhagen. 2006. The Influence of Eco-Labelling on Consumer Behaviour: Results of a Discrete Choice Analysis for Washing Machines. *Business Strategy and the Environment* 15, no. 3: 185–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.522</u>.
- [81] Seymour, V. 2016. The Human–Nature Relationship and Its Impact on Health: A Critical Review. Frontiers in Public Health 4: 260. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00260</u>.
- [82] Shi, D., B. Yi, B. Zhang, and D. Yu.2023. Travelling to an Unusual Destination: Chinese Tourists' Preferences for Visiting North Korea. Current Issues in Tourism 26, no. 13: 2128–2144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2022.2077179</u>.
- [83] Smith, F., and W. Turner. 2023. What Are the Psychological and Cognitive Wellbeing Benefits as Reported by People Experiencing Green Space? A Meta-Ethnography. Wellbeing, Space and Society 5. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wss.2023.100158</u>.
- [84] Su, L., J. Cheng, J. Wen, M. Kozak, and S. Teo. 2022. Does Seeing Deviant Other-Tourist Behavior Matter? The Moderating Role of Travel Companions." *Tourism Management* 88: 104434. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.tourman.2021.104434</u>.
- [85] Suh, Y. K., and L. McAvoy.2005. Preferences and Trip Expenditures A Conjoint Analysis of Visitors to Seoul, Korea. *Tourism Management* 26, no. 3: 325–333. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2003.11.015</u>.

- [86] Sumalrot, A. B., H. Raza, and J. Seufert. 2023. Psychological Capital Interventions during COVID-19: Mitigating Job Insecurity in Tourism. *Tourism Review* 78, no. 3: 527–542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TR-03-2022-0126</u>.
- [87] Szymańska, D. 2023. The Spatial Structure of Domestic Tourist Trips of Polish Residents in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Bulletin of Geography Socio-Economic Series 62: 43–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.12775/bgss-2023-0033</u>.
- [88] Tang, J., H. Wu, V. Ramos, and S. Sriboonchitta. 2021. The Role of Weather Conditions on Tourists' Decision-Making Process: A Theoretical Framework and an Application to China's Inbound Visitors. *Current Issues in Tourism* 24, no. 24: 3450–3465. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2021.1883555</u>.
- [89] Tyszka, T., 2004. ed. Psychologia Ekonomiczna. Gdański: Gdańskie Wydawnictwo Psychologiczne. (in Polish)
- [90] UNWTO. 2022. World Tourism Barometer (English Version). https://doi.org/10.18111/wtobarometereng.
- [91] van Rensburg, T. M., N. Brennan, and A. Howard. 2023. Tourist Preferences for Fuel Cell Vehicle Rental: Going Green with Hydrogen on the Island of Tenerife. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2023.03.435.
- [92] Velea, L., A. Gallo, R. Bojariu, A. Irimescu, V. Crăciunescu, and S. Puiu.2022. Holiday Climate Index: Urban Application for Urban and Rural Areas in Romania. *Atmosphere* 13, no. 9: 1519. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos13091519</u>.
- [93] Walesiak, M. 2001. Gromadzenie Danych w Procedurze Conjoint Analysis. Przegląd Statystyczny 48, no. 1-2: 45–58. DOI: <u>http://depot.ceon.pl/handle/123456789/1064</u>.
- [94] Walesiak, M. 2002. Problemy Wyboru w Procedurze Conjoint Analysis. In A. Zeliaś, ed., *Przestrzenno-Czasowe Modelowanie i Prognozowanie Zjawisk Gospodarczych*, 227–243. Kraków: Wydawnictwo AE w Krakowie. (in Polish)
- [95] Wojciszke, B. 2020. Psychologia Społeczna. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe Scholar. (in Polish)
- [96] Zhang, J., X. Wei, H. Fukuda, L. Zhang, and X. Ji. 2021. A Choice-Based Conjoint Analysis of Social Media Picture Posting and Souvenir Purchasing Preference: A Case Study of Social Analytics on Tourism. *Information Processing and Management* 58, no. 6: 102716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2021.102716</u>.
- [97] Zhou, G., Y. Liu, J. Hu, and X. Cao. 2023. The Effect of Tourist-to-Tourist Interaction on Tourists' Behavior: The Mediating Effects of Positive Emotions and Memorable Tourism Experiences. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management* 55: 161–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2023.03.005</u>.
- [98] GUS. Wyniki Badań Bieżących. https://demografia.stat.gov.pl/bazademografia/Tables.aspx



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).09

Improving Tourist Loyalty: Examining the Role of Environmental Tourism Policy on Tourist Behavior

Ivo NOVITANINGTYAS Department of Management, Faculty of Economy Universitas Tidar, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0002-9346-6736 ivo.novitaningtyas@untidar.ac.id

Clarisa Alfa LIONORA Department of Management, Faculty of Economy Universitas Tidar, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0002-3826-0364 <u>clarisalionora@untidar.ac.id</u>

Andhatu ACHSA Department of Management, Faculty of Economy Universitas Tidar, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0001-5080-3512 andhatuachsa@untidar.ac.id

Budi HARTONO Department of Management, Faculty of Economy Universitas Tidar, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0002-6864-1395 <u>hartono.budi@untidar.ac.id</u>

Article info: Received 7 June 2024; Received in revised form 24 June 2024; Accepted for publication 18 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 the Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: Purpose: This research aims to develop a model of tourist loyalty based on relationship marketing theory and consumer decision-making model. Moreover, this research also aims to examine the effect of implementing the CHSE certification policy on tourist satisfaction and loyalty in the context of the hospitality business in the tourism area around Borobudur Temple.

Methodology: This research uses a quantitative approach. The primary data collection method uses a questionnaire distributed to 212 tourists as respondents who were selected based on the purposive sampling method. Data were analyzed based on PLS-SEM using Smart-PLS 3.

Findings: The research results show that implementing CHSE certification in the hospitality industry can increase tourist satisfaction and tourist loyalty. Aspects of cleanliness, health and environmental sustainability have a positive influence on tourist satisfaction and loyalty, although safety aspects have not shown a significant influence.

Originality: Although studies on tourist loyalty are abundant, empirical research that focus on examining the influence of tourism policy on tourist loyalty are still rare. This research therefore serves as one of the first attempts to examine the influence of tourism policy on tourist behavior (tourist satisfaction and tourist loyalty) in the context of the hospitality industry, in Indonesia.

Research Implication: The research results provide managerial implications for hospitality businesses to implement CHSE certification to satisfy tourists and their loyalty. By having loyal tourists, it is hoped that the tourism business can develop and be sustainable.

Keywords: tourism policy; tourist behavior; tourist loyalty; tourist satisfaction; hospitality industry.

JEL Classification: M31; Z32; Z33.

Introduction

Several previous studies explain that customer loyalty is the key to business sustainability (Jani and Han, 2014; Poku *et al.* 2013; Qawasmeh, 2016). In the context of a service business, customer loyalty is needed to reduce marketing costs, increase market share opportunities, and increase opportunities to add new customers (Haksever *et al.* 2000; Tjiptono, 2014). Besides, in accommodation services businesses or hospitality businesses, it is also proven that the costs for getting new customers is much greater compared to the costs for retain customers (Sugandini, 2003). Thus, business profits can increase by having loyal customers (Almeida-Santana and Moreno-Gil, 2018). Based on these, the hospitality industry as a provider of accommodation services such as hotels, resorts and homestays also need tourists who are loyal in order to develop their business and become sustainable.

Meanwhile, the Indonesian Government through the Ministry of Tourism and Creative Economy has developed a CHSE policy (Cleanliness, Health, Safety, Environment sustainability) as standards for business activities in tourism sector (Amelia, 2020). This policy requires tourism businesses and tourism destination CHSE certified. CHSE certification is explained as the process of granting certificates to tourism businesses, tourist attractions and other tourism products to provide guarantees to tourists that the products and services are clean, healthy, safe and support conservation environment (Sudirja and Limantara, 2022). In Indonesia, the CHSE policy is implemented in the form of certification which aims to guarantee tourists the implementation of cleanliness, health, safety and environmental sustainability in the tourism sector. It is hoped that the CHSE certification guarantee will motivate tourists to return travel.

Recovery in the tourism sector in the new normal era is necessary so that the existence of the tourism business can continue to develop and be sustainable (Madani *et al.* 2020; Musriha and Rapitasari, 2023). Meanwhile, the Borobudur area is one of the National Tourism Strategic Areas according to the National Tourism Development Master Plan (RIPPARNAS) for 2010-2025. Based on this, the area around Borobudur Temple has tourism potential to be developed and is expected to have a positive influence on economic, social, cultural and environmental growth. The development of a tourism area needs to be supported by the availability of accommodation facilities (Górska-Warsewicz and Kulykovets, 2020). Besides, the presence of the hospitality industry as a provider of accommodation services can increase the length of stay of tourists in tourism destinations. If the length of stay of tourists increases, it is hoped that tourist spending on other tourism products and services in the tourism destination will also increase. Therefore, factors that can increase tourist loyalty need to be studied further.

1. Literature Review

The model in this research was developed based on a simple consumer decision-making model. This model consists of 3 stages, (1) the input stage, (2) the processing stage, and (3) output stage (Schiffman and Kanuk, 2008). In the first stage, input factors come from marketing efforts and the consumer's external environment (Schiffman and Kanuk, 2008). Marketing efforts include product attractions, promotions, price offers, and distribution channels (Kotler and Keller, 2018). The external environment consists of family, colleagues, social class, and culture (Schiffman and Kanuk, 2008). In this research, the CHSE variable is an input aspect originating from the marketing efforts of tourist accommodation service providers. The second stage is processing, input factors is processed within the consumer (internal) and is influenced by psychological conditions such as evaluation and perception (Schiffman and Kanuk, 2008). In this research, the tourist satisfaction variable is considered a factor that exists within tourists (internal) at the processing stage. Next, the output stage is the result of consumer decisions such as attitudes toward the product, one of which is the decision to make repeat purchases (Schiffman and Kanuk, 2008). In this research, loyal attitudes are included in the output stage in the model.

Furthermore, the conceptual model in this research was also developed based on relationship marketing theory. The theory describes an approach that focuses on building and maintaining long-term relationships with customers (Baker and Saren, 2010; Rather, 2019). The relationship marketing approach has been expanded effectively marketing concepts into areas such as services and business-to-business markets (Baker and Saren, 2010). This theory is very relevant in explaining how service quality reflected by CHSE certification can influence consumer satisfaction and loyalty. Furthermore, in the hospitality sector, relationship marketing aims to develop long-term relationships with valued customers (Rather, 2019). Accommodation service managers need to develop long-term relationships with tourists through efforts such as implementing CHSE certification so that tourists are satisfied and loyal. Therefore, the development of a tourist loyalty model for hotels and homestays in the Borobudur Temple tourism area is based on this theory.

The proposed loyalty model developed in this research was tested in the context of the hospitality industry. The research object is the hospitality industry located in the area around Borobudur Temple. This location was

chosen as a research object with the consideration that the Borobudur Temple area is a strategic national tourism area in Indonesia. However, based on the research team's observations, not all accommodation service providers in this location are CHSE-certified. This practical gap underlies why it is necessary to study the influence of CHSE on tourist behavior in the context of the hospitality industry in the area around Borobudur Temple. Furthermore, based on a review of several previous studies, gaps in research results were found. Thus, further research is needed to examine the relationship between CHSE, satisfaction, and loyalty to clarify how the implementation of CHSE policies impacts consumer behavior. It is hoped that the research results can fill gaps in previous research, provide managerial implications, and expand the literature related to the application of tourist loyalty models, especially in the hospitality industry.

CHSE is one of the factors currently being considered to examine its impact on the tourism industry (Diarta and Sukendar, 2021; Juliana *et al.* 2021). Previous researchers prove that implementing CHSE is the most important thing to maintain reputation hotels (Juliana *et al.* 2021). If the hotel's reputation is good, it can increase satisfaction and hotel guest loyalty (Al-Msallam, 2015). These results are also supported by previous research, Novitaningtyas *et al.* (2021) explain that quality services and implementing health protocols during the new normal period can increase guest loyalty in homestays in several tourism villages. However, Diarta and Sukendar (2021) explain different results in agro-based tourist attractions that the implementation of CHSE does not significantly affect tourist satisfaction because it is seen as limiting activities tour while at the destination. There are inconsistencies in the results of previous research. Based on these research gap, further research is needed to examine how the influence of CHSE to tourist behavior.

Furthermore, several previous researchers have identified the satisfaction variable as the antecedent of tourist loyalty in their research model (Hung *et al.* 2021; Keshavarz and Ali, 2015; Kusumah, 2024; Marpaung *et al.* 2024; Novitaningtyas, Rahardjo, *et al.* 2021; Robustin *et al.* 2020; Soliman *et al.* 2024; Suhartanto *et al.* 2020). However, in the context of tourism in Indonesia, there is nothing yet adding CHSE to the development of tourist loyalty models, especially for research object hospitality industry. Besides, since the implementation of the CHSE policy by the Government Indonesia, it turns out that until the end of 2021 there are not all accommodation service providers CHSE certified. Moreover, in the area around Borobudur Temple, which is a super-priority tourism destination in Indonesia, not all businesses in the tourism sector comply with this policy. Therefore, research is needed to examine how does CHSE policy influence the development of tourist loyalty.

2. Methodology



Source: literature review process, 2024

This research was conducted based on a quantitative approach. The population in this study is accommodation service customers who have implemented CHSE and are located in the area around the Borobudur temple. The population size is infinite and not yet known for certain, so the sample size was set more than 200 respondents to meet the assumption that the sample size should be between 30-500 or 10 times the number of research variables (Sekaran and Bougie, 2017). Samples are selected based on the purposive sampling method with the consideration that the sample is guests who have stayed more than once. Finally, we used primary data from 212 respondents. The data collection method used was a survey through a questionnaire with a Likert scale to obtain primary data and interviews. The questionnaire was distributed online via Google form and offline to tourists at the Borobudur temple area. Indicators as variable measurements are presented in Table 1.

Table 1.	Variable Measurement	
----------	----------------------	--

Measurement	References
Cleanliness C1. Cleanliness of the hotel/homestay environment C2. Availability of trash cans	(Diarta and Sukendar, 2021; Kemenparekraf,
C4. Availability of hand washing facilities/hand sanitizer	2020)
Healthy H1. Air circulation conditions H2. Implementation of standard health protocols H3. Implementation of food safety practices	(Diarta and Sukendar, 2021; Kemenparekraf, 2020)
Safety S1. Availability of fire extinguishers S2. Availability of evacuation routes S3. Availability of security officers S4. Availability of CCTV in public areas	(Diarta and Sukendar, 2021; Kemenparekraf, 2020)
Environmental Sustainability E1. Environmentally friendly waste processing E2. Use of environmentally friendly materials E3. Green hotel/homestay environmental conditions E4. Efficient use of water and energy sources for ecosystem balance	(Diarta and Sukendar, 2021; Kemenparekraf, 2020)
Guest Satisfaction GS1. Fulfillment of expectations GS2. Satisfied with the service GS3. Worth the time and money spent GS4. Overall satisfaction	(Assaker <i>et al.</i> 2020)
Guest Loyalty GL1. The experience of staying at a hotel/homestay is meaningful GL2. The experience of staying at this hotel/homestay is more pleasant than other hotels GL3. Really liked staying at this hotel/homestay GL4. Willingness to say positive things about this hotel/homestay to others GL5. Willingness to recommend to others to stay at this hotel/homestay GL6. Willingness to stay again at a hotel/homestay if there is an opportunity in the future GL7. Have stayed at this hotel/homestay more than once	(Kharouf <i>et al.</i> 2019; Roy <i>et al.</i> 2014)

Source: literature review process, 2024

Data analyzed using Partial Least Squares (PLS) - Structural Equation Model (SEM) with the program Smart-PLS. PLS-SEM is used to test the measurement model and structural model with considerations (1) PLS-SEM can handle complex models with many relationships structural, and second order construct, (2) research objectives for model development and prediction, and (3) PLS-SEM can handle reflective and formative measurement models (Dash and Paul, 2021). The outer model or measurement model test is used to test validity and reliability. Validity was tested based on the loading factor value and AVE value, the results must show > 0.6 for loading factor and > 0.5 for AVE (Dash and Paul, 2021). As for reliability assessed based on Cronbach Alpha and Composite Reliability (CR) value > 0.7. As for the internal test model or structural model is used to measure how good the proposed model is based on the R-square value. Furthermore, hypothesis testing is seen from the coefficient results path and p-value (Ghozali, 2017).

3. Research Results

Of the total 212 respondents, 48% were male, and 52 were female. Respondents came from several areas, from Magelang 42%; Central Java apart from Magelang 23,6%; West Java 9,4%; DIY 4,2%; DKI Jakarta 15,1%; East Java 0,5%; Banten 4,2%; and Bali 0,9%. Age is in the range of 15 to 63 years old. Then, the motivation of respondents to stay at hotel or homestay in Borobudur area is dominated by holiday motivation 46%, while the remaining because of MICE activities motivation and education activities motivation.

Variables	Item	Loading Factor	Cronbach Alpha	CR	AVE	Results	
	C1	0.818					
Cleanliness	C2	0.826	0.801	0 870	0 628	Valid and	
Clearniness	C3	0.818	0.001	0.070	0.020	reliable	
	C4	0.700					
	H1	0.788				Malial and	
Health	H2	0.895	0.808	0.886	0.722	valid and reliable	
	H3	0.863					
Safety	S1	0.852					
	S2	0.839	0.823	0.882	0.653	Valid and reliable	
	S3	0.764	0.025				
	S4	0.772					
Environmental Sustainability	E1	0.720	0.747	0.841		Valid and reliable	
	E2	0.816			0 572		
	E3	0.646			0.572		
	E4	0.830					
	GS1	0.876		0.900	0.694	Valid and reliable	
Guest	GS2	0.855	0.852				
Satisfaction	GS3	0.740	0.032				
	GS4	0.854					
	GL1	0.743					
	GL2	0.777					
	GL3	0.884					
Guest Loyalty	GL4	0.812	0.903	0.924	0.638	valid and reliable	
	GL5	0.871					
	GL6	0.842					
	GL7	0.633					

Table 2. Outer Model Evaluation Results

Source: data processed, 2024

Outer model evaluation aims to ensure that the indicators or items used in the model correspond to the latent variables being measured. The results in table 2 show that all items in each variable have a loading factor value > 0.60 and an AVE value > 0.50, it can be conclude that the value meet the convergent validity criteria (Dash and Paul, 2021). Meanwhile, the Cronbach Alpha value for each variable is > 0.70 and the CR value is > 0.70, thus meeting the criteria for reliability (Dash and Paul, 2021; Widarjono, 2015). Thus, the results of the outer model evaluation meet the validity and reliability criteria, the results are proven valid and reliable.

Table 3. Inner Model E	Evaluation	Results
------------------------	------------	---------

Variable	Adjusted R-Square
Guest Satisfaction (GS)	0.543
Guest Loyalty (GL)	0.648

Source: data processed, 2024

Inner model evaluation is used to understand that the proposed conceptual model fits the empirical data that has been collected. In this research, the inner model evaluation was carried out using the adjusted R-square value approach. The results in table 3 show that the exogenous variable in the research model, CHSE, is able to explain the guest satisfaction variable by 54.3%. Moreover, the CHSE variable and guest satisfaction variable can explain the guest loyalty variable by 64.8%. Referring to the results of this research, it shows that the research model meets the research criteria so that the structural model is suitable for hypothesis testing.

After the data meets the outer model and inner model criteria, the research hypothesis is then tested through path analysis. The results of the hypothesis test are presented in table 4.

Path	β	T Stat	P Values	Results
C -> GS	0.385	4.656	0.000**	Supported
H -> GS	0.130	1.681	0.047*	Supported
S -> GS	0.052	0.801	0.212 ^{ns}	Not supported
E -> GS	0.284	4.107	0.000**	Supported
GS -> GL	0.800	27.993	0.000**	Supported
C -> GL	0.308	4.595	0.000**	Supported
H -> GL	0.104	1.672	0.048*	Supported
S -> GL	0.041	0.799	0.212 ^{ns}	Not supported
E -> GL	0.227	3.932	0.000**	Supported

Table 4. Hypothesis Test Results

Note: ** significance at α 1% (two tailed); * significance at α 5% (two tailed); ns is not significant Source: data processed, 2024





Note: ** significance at α 1% (two tailed); * significance at α 5% (two tailed); ns is not significant Source: data processed, 2024

4. Analysis and Discussion

The parameter coefficient for the Cleanliness variable on Guest Satisfaction is 0.385 with a p-value of 0.000, which means there is a positive influence (H1 is supported). Thus, it can be interpreted that the cleaner the hotel or homestay environment, the greater the increase in tourist satisfaction. A one-unit increase in the Cleanliness variable will increase Guest Satisfaction by 38.5%. These results are in accordance with previous research which proves that the implementation of the CHSE policy has a positive impact on visitor satisfaction at tourism destination (Arlinda and Sulistyowati, 2021; Suci and Batubara, 2022). Furthermore, the Cleanliness variable has also been proven to have a positive effect on Guest Loyalty. The parameter coefficient for the Cleanliness variable on Guest Loyalty is 0.308 with a p-value of 0.000 (H6 is supported). A one-unit increase in the Cleanliness variable will increase Guest Loyalty by 30.8%. These results support previous research which proves that CHSE has a positive impact on Guest Loyalty in tourism destinations (Sudirja and Limantara, 2022). The results of this research show that in the context of accommodation services, such as hotels and homestays, it is also proven that the cleanliness aspect can increase tourist satisfaction and loyalty.

The parameter coefficient for the Health variable on Guest Satisfaction is 0.130 with a p-value of 0.047, which means there is a positive influence (H2 is supported). Thus, it can be interpreted that if hotels or homestays implement standard health protocols, it will further increase tourist satisfaction. A one-unit increase in the Health variable will increase Guest Satisfaction by 13%. These results are in accordance with previous research which proves that the implementation of the CHSE policy has a positive impact on visitor satisfaction at tourist attractions (Arlinda and Sulistyowati, 2021; Suci and Batubara, 2022). Furthermore, the Health variable has also been proven to have a positive effect on Guest Loyalty. The parameter coefficient for the Health variable on Guest Loyalty is 0.104 with a p-value of 0.048 (H7 is supported). A one-unit increase in the Health variable will increase Guest Loyalty by 10.4%. These results support previous research which proves that CHSE has a positive impact on Guest Loyalty in tourist destinations (Sudirja and Limantara, 2022). The results of this research show that in the context of accommodation services, such as hotels and homestays, it is also proven that aspects of implementing standard health protocols can increase tourist satisfaction and loyalty.

The parameter coefficient for the Environment Sustainability variable on Guest Satisfaction is 0.284 with a p-value of 0.000, which means there is a positive influence (H4 is supported). Thus, it can be interpreted that if a hotel or homestay maintains environmental sustainability, it will further increase tourist satisfaction. A one-unit increase in the Environment Sustainability variable will increase Guest Satisfaction by 28.4%. These results are in accordance with previous research which proves that the implementation of the CHSE policy has a positive impact on visitor satisfaction at tourism destination (Arlinda and Sulistyowati, 2021; Suci and Batubara, 2022). Furthermore, the Environment Sustainability variable has also been proven to have a positive effect on Guest Loyalty. The parameter coefficient for the Environment Sustainability variable on Guest Loyalty is 0.227 with a p-value of 0.000 (H9 is supported). A one-unit increase in the Environment Sustainability variable on Guest Loyalty is 0.227 with a p-value of 0.000 (H9 is support previous research which proves that CHSE has a positive impact on Guest Loyalty in tourism destinations (Sudirja and Limantara, 2022). The results of this research show that in the context of accommodation services, such as hotels and homestays, it is also proven that aspects of environmental preservation can increase tourist satisfaction and loyalty.

Although the elements, Cleanliness, Health, and Environmental Sustainability in the context of this research were proven to have a positive effect on tourist satisfaction and loyalty, the Safety element did not significantly affect tourist satisfaction and loyalty. The results show that the p-value is greater than 0.05 (S->GS 0.212; S->GL 0.212). Thus, the Safety element has not satisfied tourists and increased their loyalty (H3 and H8 are not supported). Previous research also found that the implementation of CHSE has not been able to increase tourist satisfaction in the context of tourism destination (Diarta and Sukendar, 2021). In previous research, it was found that tourists actually thought that CHSE limited their tourism activities at tourism destinations. Still, because it was an obligation that tourism destinations had to carry out in order to be allowed to operate, visitors complied (Diarta and Sukendar, 2021). Meanwhile, the results of interviews with several respondents showed that they did not know where fire extinguishers were located, evacuation routes in case of a disaster, and the location of CCTV cameras in public spaces. This ignorance causes the safety element to have no impact on tourist satisfaction and loyalty. Even though hotels or homestays already provide facilities that guarantee safety and security, it turns out that not all hotel guests know that these facilities are available.

Furthermore, the Guest Satisfaction variable is proven to have a positive effect on the Guest Loyalty variable (H5 is supported). The results show that the parameter coefficient for the Guest Satisfaction variable on Guest Loyalty is 0.800 with a p-value of 0.000. Thus, it can be interpreted that the more satisfied tourists are, the more tourist loyalty will increase. A one-unit increase in the Guest Satisfaction variable will increase Guest Loyalty by 80%. These results are in accordance with previous research which proves that tourist satisfaction will increase tourist loyalty (Alketbi *et al.* 2020; Assaker *et al.* 2020; Keshavarz and Ali, 2015; Winarno, 2019). Thus, satisfied tourists will tend to be willing to stay at the hotel or homestay again and will be willing to recommend staying at the hotel or homestay to other tourists.

The results of this research show that implementing CHSE policies in hotels and homestays can increase tourist satisfaction. Furthermore, if tourists are satisfied then these tourists will become loyal guests. Although of the four elements of CHSE, the Safety aspect has not shown a significant impact in the context of this research, the other three elements are able to increase tourist satisfaction and loyalty. Based on the results of this research, the CHSE policy launched by the Government is appropriate for improving the quality of tourism industry services and is able to influence tourist behavior. The results of interviews with several respondents also prove that the majority of tourists already know about CHSE and would consider staying at accommodation service providers that are CHSE certified. Thus, it is important for hotel and homestay managers, especially in the Borobudur Temple tourism area and its surroundings, to be CHSE certified in order to satisfy tourists who stay overnight and increase their loyalty.

The results of this research also support relationship marketing theory. The hospitality sector is an industry with characteristics that focus on customer service and experience. Therefore, a marketing approach focusing on managing strong and sustainable customer relationships is necessary. The goal is to create mutually beneficial value for the company and customers through consistent and personalized interactions. The implementation of CHSE certification aims to provide an extraordinary experience and meet customer expectations. Through CHSE certification, hotel businesses can increase the level of satisfaction and loyalty of tourists, as well as achieve long-term profits.

Conclusions

This research examines the influence of tourism policy on tourist behavior (tourist satisfaction and tourist loyalty) in the context of the hotel industry, in Indonesia, where similar research examining the impact of tourism policies

related to the environment on tourist behavior has not been widely conducted. The results of this research indicate that the implementation of CHSE policies in accommodation service businesses in the tourism sector can influence tourist behavior. If accommodation service businesses implement CHSE certification, this condition will make tourists satisfied with the services provided, and in turn will increase tourist loyalty. Satisfied and loyal tourists will be willing to stay again, willing to share their positive experiences while staying, and willing to recommend it to others. Having loyal tourists and establishing long-term good relationships with tourists can increase profits and support business sustainability. The influence of CHSE on tourist satisfaction and loyalty in the context of accommodation services is proven in this research (cleanliness, health and environmental sustainability aspects), although the safety aspect has not shown a significant influence.

These results provide managerial implications for accommodation service managers to implement CHSE certification (for those who have not yet CHSE certified), then improve service quality and increase tourist awareness, especially on safety aspects (for those who have been CHSE certified). The results of this research also provide implications for policymakers such as local tourism offices to periodically socialize the importance of CHSE certification to tourism business owners so that those who have not yet been certified can immediately apply for CHSE certification. Meanwhile, the findings of this research may be limited to the context or setting of accommodation services in the tourism sector and cannot yet be generalized to different populations or settings. Therefore, further research can examine it in other contexts, for example travel businesses, restaurants or tourist attractions. Besides, this research has not grouped accommodation services based on their categories. Research results at one hotel or hotel chain may not be generalizable to all hotels. Suggestions for further research could be to test the influence of CHSE on tourist satisfaction and loyalty in certain accommodation categories or to conduct a comparative study of the effect in each accommodation category.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Universitas Tidar for the research funding support provided. The authors would like to thank all parties who have supported the research process.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Ivo Novitaningtyas: conceptualization, literature review, research model development, data analysis, writing, review and editing;

Clarisa Alfa Lionora: literature review, collecting data, writing;

Andhatu Achsa: collecting data, writing, visualization;

Budi Hartono: methodology, collecting data, writing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of use of generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- [1] Alketbi, S., Alshurideh, M., and Kurdi, B. Al. 2020. the Influence of Service Quality on Customers' Retention and Loyalty in the UAE Hotel Sector With Respect To the Impact of Customer' Satisfaction, Trust, and Commitment : A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, 17(4): 541–561.
- [2] Almeida-Santana, A., and Moreno-Gil, S. 2018. Understanding tourism loyalty: Horizontal vs. destination loyalty. *Tourism Management*, 65: 245–255. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2017.10.011</u>
- [3] Al-Msallam, S. 2015. Customer satisfaction and brand loyalty in the hotel industry. *International Journal of Management Sciences and Business Research*, 4(9): 1–13.
- [4] Amelia, R. 2020. Standar CHSE Bangkitkan Pariwisata dan Ekonomi Indonesia. <u>http://rdk.fidkom.uinjkt.ac.id/index.php/2020/12/04/standar-chse-bangkitkan-pariwisata-dan-ekonomi-indonesia/</u> (in Indonesian)
- [5] Arlinda, F., and Sulistyowati, R. 2021. Pengaruh Penerapan Program Adaptasi CHSE (Cleanliness, Health, Safety, Environment) terhadap Kepuasan Pengunjung Destinasi Wisata Kabupaten Kediri di Era New Normal serta Dampaknya pada Pengembangan Ekonomi Pariwisata and Industri Kreatif. *Jurnal Pendidikan Tata Niaga* (*JPTN*), 9(3): 1404–1416. <u>https://ejournal.unesa.ac.id/index.php/jptn/article/view/40351</u> (in Indonesian)

- [6] Assaker, G., O'Connor, P., and El-Haddad, R. 2020. Examining an Integrated Model of Green Image, Perceived Quality, Satisfaction, Trust, and Loyalty in Upscale Hotels. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 29(8): 934–955. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2020.1751371</u>
- [7] Baker, M. J., and Saren, M. 2010. Marketing Theory A Student Text 2nd Edition. Sage.
- [8] Dash, G., and Paul, J. 2021. CB-SEM vs PLS-SEM methods for research in social sciences and technology forecasting. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 173(June). DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121092</u>
- [9] Diarta, I. K. S., and Sukendar, N. made C. 2021. Pengaruh Atribut, Implementasi CHSE, dan Kualitas Layanan terhadap Kepuasan Pengunjung Agrowisata Taman Edelweiss Karangasem Bali. Jurnal Agribisnis Dan Agrowisata, 10(2): 512–531. (in Indonesian)
- [10] Ghozali, I. 2017. Model Persamaan Struktural Konsep dan Aplikasi Dengan Program AMOS 24 Update Bayesian SEM Edisi 7. Badan Penerbit Universitas Diponegoro. (in Indonesian)
- [11] Górska-Warsewicz, H., and Kulykovets, O. 2020. Hotel Brand Loyalty-A Systematic Literature Review. Sustainability (Switzerland), 12(12): 1–34. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU12124810</u>
- [12] Haksever, C., Barry, R., Russel, R. S., and Murdick, R. G. 2000. Service Management and Operations. Prentice Hall International, Inc.
- [13] Hung, V. V., Dey, S. K., Vaculcikova, Z., and Anh, L. T. H. 2021. The influence of tourists' experience on destination loyalty: A case study of hue city, vietnam. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13(16). DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13168889</u>
- [14] Jani, D., and Han, H. 2014. Personality, Satisfaction, Image, Ambience, and Loyalty: Testing Their Relationships in the Hotel Industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 37: 11–20. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.10.007</u>
- [15] Juliana, J., Pramezwary, A., Madeline, M., Valerie, N., Andrian, S. T., and Ventyani, V. 2021. Investigating Impact of Service and Hygiene on Hotel Reputation During the Covid -19 Pandemic : a Perspective Signaling Theory. Jurnal Hospitality Dan Pariwisata, 7(2): 72–81. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.30813/jhp.v7i2.2734</u>
- [16] Keshavarz, Y., and Ali, M. H. 2015. The Service Quality Evaluation on Tourist Loyalty in Malaysian Hotels by the Mediating Role of Tourist Satisfaction. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(3): 680–686. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n3s2p680</u>
- [17] Kharouf, H., Sekhon, H., Fazal-e-Hasan, S. M., Hickman, E., and Mortimer, G. 2019. The role of effective communication and trustworthiness in determining guests' loyalty. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 28(2): 240–262. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2018.1505574</u>
- [18] Kotler, P., and Keller, K. L. 2018. Manajemen Pemasaran Edisi Kedua Belas Jilid 2. Indeks. (in Indonesian)
- [19] Kusumah, E. P. 2024. Sustainable tourism concept: tourist satisfaction and destination loyalty. International Journal of Tourism Cities, 10(1): 166–184. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJTC-04-2023-0074</u>
- [20] Madani, A., Boutebal, S. E., Benhamida, H., and Bryant, C. R. 2020. The Impact of COVID-19 Outbreak on the Tourism Needs of the Algerian Population. Sustainability, 12(21): 1–11. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12218856</u>
- [21] Marpaung, H. S., Syaifuddin, S., and Toni, N. 2024. International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences loyalty and satisfaction : A case study of Lake Toba, North Sumatra. *International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences*, 11(5): 1–11.
- [22] Musriha, M., and Rapitasari, D. 2023. Rising Customer Loyalty with Beneficial Impact on Service Quality Dimensions during the COVID-19 Pandemic for Tourism in Thailand. *Journal of Environmental Management* and Tourism, 14(2): 392–397. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v14.2(66).09</u>
- [23] Novitaningtyas, I., Rahardjo, B., and Achsa, A. 2021. Anteseden Loyalitas Tamu Pada Homestay Di Kawasan Balai Ekonomi Desa (Balkondes) Borobudur. *Jurnal Perilaku Dan Strategi Bisnis*, 9(1): 1–15.

- [24] Novitaningtyas, I., Verawati, D. M., and Achsa, A. 2021. Examining a model of tourist loyalty in homestay tourism village balkondes Borobudur area in the new normal period. *Jurnal Manajemen Dan Pemasaran Jasa*, 14(2): 179–196.
- [25] Poku, K., Zakari, M., and Soali, A. 2013. The Impact of Service Quality on Customer Loyalty in the Hotel Industry: An Empirical Study from Ghana. *International Journal of Management and Business Research* (*IJMBR*), 2(2): 600–609.
- [26] Qawasmeh, R. 2016. Role of the Brand Image of Boutique Hotel for Customers Choosing Accommodation, "Le Chateau Lambousa" Case Study, North Cyprus. *Journal of Hotel and Business Management*, 05(02): 1– 10. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2169-0286.1000147</u>
- [27] Rather, R. A. 2019. Consequences of Consumer Engagement in Service Marketing: An Empirical Exploration. Journal of Global Marketing, 32(2): 116–135. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08911762.2018.1454995</u>
- [28] Robustin, T. P., Sularso, R. A., Suroso, I., and Yulisetiarini, D. 2020. Contribution of Tourism Products in Creating Satisfying Quality of Tourism Services and Tourist Loyalty. *Journal of Environmental Management* and Tourism, 10(6): 1382–1391. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.14505//jemt.v10.6(38).21</u>
- [29] Roy, S. K., Butaney, G., Sekhon, H., and Butaney, B. 2014. Word-of-mouth and viral marketing activity of the on-line consumer: the role of loyalty chain stages theory. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 22(6): 494–512. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2014.885990</u>
- [30] Schiffman, L., and Kanuk, L. L. 2008. Perilaku Konsumen. PT Indeks. (in Indonesian)
- [31] Sekaran, U., and Bougie, R. 2017. Metode Penelitian Bisnis. Salemba Empat. (in Indonesian)
- [32] Soliman, M., Gulvady, S., Elbaz, A. M., Mosbah, M., and Wahba, M. S. 2024. Robot-delivered tourism and hospitality services: How to evaluate the impact of health and safety considerations on visitors' satisfaction and loyalty? *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 24(3): 393–409. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14673584231153367</u>
- [33] Suci, W., and Batubara, R. P. 2022. Penerapan Sertifikat CHSE Terhadap Kepuasan Pengunjung di Devoyage Bogor. Altasia Jurnal Pariwisata Indonesia, 4(2): 92. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.37253/altasia.v4i2.6807</u>
- [34] Sudirja, J., and Limantara, L. 2022. Pengaruh Penerapan Chse Terhadap Loyalitas Pelanggan Taman Impian Jaya Ancol. *Jurnal Pariwisata*, 9(2): 91–97. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.31294/par.v9i2.13588</u> (in Indonesian)
- [35] Sugandini, D. 2003. Anteseden Loyalitas Konsumen pada Industri Perhotelan Studi pada Hotel Berbintang di Daerah Istimewa Yogyakarta. *Wahana*, 6(2): 181–200. (in Indonesian)
- [36] Suhartanto, D., Muflih, M., Najib, M. F., and Faturohman, I. 2020. Loyalty formation toward Halal food: integrating the quality–loyalty model and the religiosity–loyalty model. *British Food Journal*. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-03-2019-0188</u>
- [37] Tjiptono, F. 2014. Pemasaran Jasa. Penerbit Andi.
- [38] Widarjono, A. 2015. Analisis Multivariat Terapan Dengan Program SPSS, AMOS, dan SMARTPLS Edisi Kedua. UPP STIM YKPN.
- [39] Winarno, S. H. 2019. Determinan Kepuasan dan Loyalitas Pengguna Jasa Hotel Syariah di Jakarta (Studi Pada Sofyan Hotel Betawi). *Jkbm (Jurnal Konsep Bisnis Dan Manajemen)*, 6(1), 80. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.31289/jkbm.v6i1.2984</u> (in Indonesian)
- [40] Kemenparekraf. 2020. Model dan Proses Verifikasi and Sertifikasi CHSE. In Model dan Proses Verifikasi and Sertifikasi CHSE (pp. 1–9). Kemenparekraf. (in Indonesian)



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).10

Assess the Barrier of Small and Medium-Sized Hotel Digitalization: A Combination of AHP and DEMATEL Analysis

Pham Thanh TUNG College of Management Chang Jung Christian University, Taiwan <u>108D00121@mail.cjcu.edu.tw</u>

Article info: Received 16 April 2024; Received in revised form 18 May 2024; Accepted for publication 26 June 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: This study investigates the barriers to digitalization in small and medium-sized hotels through a combined Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) and Decision-Making Trial and Evaluation Laboratory (DEMATEL) analysis. It aims to identify and rank the barriers to technology adoption and understand their interrelationships. The findings emphasize that the most significant barriers are technological context and organizational context, precisely data security, IT infrastructure, competition, skilled digital workforce, and financial resources are challenges for this process. Besides, the technological context and organizational contextly and indirectly influences the environmental context. The study provides a comprehensive framework for understanding the multifaceted barriers to digitalization in the hotel industry, suggesting that managers focus on overcoming these critical barriers to improve performance through digital adoption. This research solves a gap in the literature by focusing on independent hotels' challenges in technology adoption. It offers practical insights for hotel managers and technology developers aiming to support digitalization in this industry.

Keywords: analytic hierarchy process in tourism; barrier factors; decision-making trial and evaluation laboratory; technology adoption; technology-organization-environmental framework.

JEL Classification: L83; M15; O33.

Introduction

Technology is creating a massive revolution for manufacturing and service companies regarding management, organization, and operations. Integrating multiple technologies and enhancing processes is anticipated to lead to significant change in the workplace, requiring employees to acquire new skills for future production systems (Horváth and Szabó, 2019). For more than many years, the adoption of information technology (IT) systems has significantly transformed business operations within the hospitality industry (Buhalis and Leung, 2018), enabling direct engagement with customers (Leung *et al.* 2013), boosting competitiveness (Inversini and Masiero, 2014), and enhancing overall organizational performance (Melián-González and Bulchand-Gidumal, 2016).

Adopting information and communication technology (ICT), the Internet, and mobile applications has become exciting for researchers, policymakers, and managers. Primarily, that interest has recently increased in the hospitality and tourism industries (Berne *et al.* 2012; El-Gohary, 2012; Lin, 2017). As an inevitable consequence, researchers have developed and utilized the accepted theoretical frameworks to examine the adoption and diffusion of IT and Internet applications in business (El-Gohary, 2012). Competition in the open business environment will become fiercer and fiercer. Maintaining and surviving in that dynamic business environment requires travel companies and hotels to constantly change their strategies and approaches to get the best customer experience through products and services (Berne *et al.* 2012; Lin, 2017). With the growth of wireless devices and the explosion of mobile devices, mobile technology applications have played an essential role in changing the landscape of many organizations (D. Wang *et al.* 2012). Technology adoption, as well as digitalizing functions and tasks, not only helps to simplify but also helps improve organizational performance. It is considered a strategic weapon to help small and medium-sized hotels compete fairly with chains or large hotel systems in a challenging business environment (DiPietro and Wang, 2010).

Almost all hospitality or organizations operating in the tourism industry must respect the role of digitalization as a public service to survive in the competitive market (Krizaj *et al.* 2014; Spencer *et al.* 2012). Small and mediumsized enterprises (SMEs) make up an overwhelming number of the travel and hospitality industries worldwide today (Alison Morrison, 1998; Alison Morrison and Thomas, 1999). Digitalization has emerged as a tool to bring exciting experiences to customers looking for new experiences with tourism products without touching the actual products (WTO, 2001). Lin (2017) points out that it is currently possible to plan all stages of a trip online; that is, one can buy airline tickets, book accommodation services, purchase attraction tickets, view maps, rent cars, and seek tips and reviews of tours and restaurants. Therefore, digitalization changed the way contracts for tourism services were handled. The modern traveler has become the consumer of a new market, known as the online market, or electronic commerce, and user reviews are a new source of information in the hospitality and tourism industries (Ricaurte, 2012). Digitalization and technology allow small and medium-sized hotels to build their vision and image on a large scale and reach out to customers worldwide. Low operating costs, infrastructure associated with development, creating a completely new product distribution channel, and extensive connectivity are among the essential criteria determining access to the internet and technology for SMEs (Poon and Swatman, 1999).

Previous studies have often focused on determining the effectiveness of digitalization and technology adoption so that companies can devise a specific strategy related to innovation. Experts are aware of the great potential of digitalization for the tourism industry. However, the utilization of digitalization always needs to be addressed by organizations, managers, or internal resources. These barriers often negatively impact digitalization (Cooper and Zmud, 1990). Besides, more research is needed to address the barriers or challenges of the digitalization process for organizations. Besides, the tourism industry is a traditional industry that needs more connection to innovation and the application of technology. In other words, a research gap exists regarding the barriers of digitalization to the hospitality industry. Okumus et al. (2010) revealed that approximately 70% of solutions to strategic innovation in organizations fail. Organizational changes such as digitalization or technology adoption are often considered risks. The limited adoption of ICT innovation among SMEs creates significant concerns about their ability and willingness to use ICT and the Internet as a tool of Business. Digitalization has radically changed business methods, customer behavior, and fierce competition in the market (Brunetti et al. 2020). These changes significantly affect the tourism and hospitality industries, which depend on business-consumer relationships, digital communication platforms and conduits, and digital technologies (Gössling, 2020). This study aims to focus on small and medium-sized hotels (SMHs) or independent hotels that are not part of a large hotel chain or system. This study uses the Technological - Organizational - environmental (TOE) context framework to evaluate the impact of essential barriers and their cause-and-effect relationships on the digitalization of small and medium-sized hotels (SMH) in Vietnam. The results can clarify the critical role of technological, organizational, and environmental contexts and their essential barriers in digitalization. The study uses a combination of two multicriteria decision analysis methods, AHP and DEMATEL, to identify the most significant barriers to technology adoption as well as the interrelationships between these barriers. The contribution of this research will help small and medium-sized hotels focus their resources on addressing the most significant barriers to improving efficiency through digitalization or technology adoption. This knowledge is indispensable for digitalization management and research. Without clarifying the role of critical success factors, SMH may be unable to maximize digitalization's economic and social benefits.

1. Literature Review

1.1 Small and Medium - Sized Hotels

There is no exactly accepted precise definition for the term "small and medium-sized enterprises" in the hospitality and tourism industry (Thomas and Thomas, 2005). One solution is for academics to determine the hotel size by the number of rooms and full-time employees. Moutinho (2013) revealed that small-sized hotels will have fewer than 50 rooms, employ less than ten people, and operate in areas that are not major tourist hubs. Ingram *et al.* (2000) have given a precise definition of small businesses operating in the hotel sector as hotels with less than 50 rooms, a medium-sized hotel has about 51-100 rooms, and accommodation from 100 rooms or more will be large hotels, similar to the above but in terms of personnel. Page *et al.* (1999) defined that hotel with large Small scale hotels will have less than nine people will participate in their activities, while medium hotels will have about 10 - 99 people. Therefore, at this stage, it is challenging to have a specific definition of the size of enterprises in the tourism industry compared to other sectors. Atkins and Lowe (1997) indicated that there are at least 40 different definitions of firm size used in the study. Still, there needs to be more consistency in evaluating the criteria for determining firm size. The requirements are many, such as the number of employees, annual sales revenue, value of fixed assets/plant and machinery, and the management structure.

1.2 Innovation Diffusion Theory in an Investigation of Technology Adoption

In recent years, many different types of technologies have been applied, such as the Internet and business administration systems, and many new technology concepts, such as e-commerce, digital transformation, or business. Previous studies have also seen the digitalization of an organization's functions as part of technology adoption. Among the previous studies, several theoretical models are used to identify, predict, and explain the behavior in adopting technology in organizations. Examples of these models include the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), the Theory of Planned Behavior, the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), as well as the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT). Despite the critical significance of this model for studying the process and acceptance of technology, the above models are only suitable for research on individual levels (El-Gohary, 2012; Oliveira and Martins, 2011). TAM theory has shown that adoption behavior is influenced by an individual's tendency to use technology, which is determined by the perception and ability to use similar technology. The study of IT adoption models at the organizational level (Oliveira and Martins, 2011) showed that Diffusion Theory (IDT) (Rogers *et al.* 2014) and TOE framework (Tornatzky *et al.* 1990) are two models whose dominant pattern in explaining the use of technology in the organization.

Innovation Diffusion Theory suggests that a firm's adoption and use of innovation are influenced by five innovation characteristics (relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trialability, and observability) and six organizational characteristics (centralization, complexity, formalization, interconnectedness, slack, and size). However, IDT theory includes the influence of technological and managerial characteristics on technology adoption. However, the TOE framework is more comprehensive and practical because it applies more environmental factors. The TOE framework provides a different perspective when considering technology adoption based on characteristics that can impact the organization (Chau and Tam, 1997). The TOE framework is a perfect fit because it is more powerful and comprehensive than other models. TOE has also been applied in many studies, such as Electronic Data Interchange systems (EDI) (Kuan and Chau, 2001), Enterprise applications (Ramdani *et al.* 2013), radio frequency identification technology (RFID) (DiPietro and Wang, 2010). Based on empirical studies, the TOE framework will continue to be applied in applying technology to research in the hospitality industry.

1.3 Factor Affecting Technology Adoption and Decision Based on TOE Framework

The Technology-Organization-Environment (TOE) framework consists of 3 contexts that influence the process by which a particular organization takes place through technology adoption (Tornatzky *et al.* 1990). The TOE includes the Technological context, Organizational context, and Environmental context. Recently, TOE has also been used as a foundational theory to examine the factors affecting the use of mobile applications for hotel reservations (Y. S. Wang *et al.* 2016). Therefore, the TOE framework explains the adoption of innovation, and many empirical studies have focused on various IS domains by applying it. Research on technology adoption of organizations through the TOE framework is quite popular, but identifying and analyzing challenges or obstacles of technology adoption behavior based on the TOE framework will be a trend for the future. Therefore, as shown in Figure 1, an integrated and multi-faceted framework is suitable for the present study. The barrier factors influencing the adoption of mobile technologies are discussed below.

1.4 Technological Context

Technology context includes the internal and external technology characteristics relevant to the organization, including Data security, IT infrastructure, Culture, and risk (Kuan and Chau, 2001; Oliveira *et al.* 2014; Tornatzky *et al.* 1990). Therefore, the characteristics of the danger in the security of customer information, financial information, personnel information and many other information factors are always present alongside technological innovation (Abdullah *et al.* 2018; Al-Weshah and Al-Zubi, 2012; Horváth and Szabó, 2019; Peillon and Dubruc, 2019; Schwertner, 2017; Yadegaridehkordi *et al.* 2020).

Tornatzky and Klein (1982) showed that the organization will get a much higher benefit if it integrates new technologies into existing infrastructure. This is consistent with the view that organizations that need to adapt to technology do so because their IT infrastructure needs to be more robust to accommodate modern technologies (Cooper and Zmud, 1990). Currently, hotel companies, including the Property Management System (PMS), Computer Reservation System (CRS), customer databases, and various systems, are often interrelated; if technologies and applications separate from each other, it will significantly impact operational efficiency. However, for independent hotels or mainly small and medium-sized hotels, resources to innovate or accept technology are always a big challenge. Technology will be the most significant barrier related to cost, labor, and vision of leaders that we will talk about in the Organization context (Abdullah *et al.* 2018; Stockdale and Standing, 2004; Vogelsang *et al.* 2019).

The hospitality industry is often criticized as traditional, and technology is frequently adopted late and quite slowly. Primarily, Small and medium-sized hotels are usually owned by a single person; they are always afraid to change; they want to operate the hotel traditionally, from booking guests, using cash instead of payment methods via bank or mobile or managing and arranging employees face-to-face instead of using specialized management software. They always believe that even the slightest change will lead to customers feeling uncomfortable and will not use more of the hotel's services (Abdullah *et al.* 2018; Stankovska *et al.* 2016; Taylor and Murphy, 2004; Verevka, 2019; Vogelsang *et al.* 2019). Technical barriers have continuously been determining whether small and medium-sized hotels can decide whether to adopt technology or digitalize hotel functions.





1.5 Organizational Context

The technology context directly relates to organizational characteristics and decision-making about technology adoption (Kuan and Chau, 2001; Oliveira *et al.* 2014). In today's explosive business environment and fierce competition, the application of technology in the organization will be linked to the leadership and decision-making of the organization. A hotel that can reach customers or enhance the customer experience will depend on the acceptance of innovation within the organization. That's why the hotel's internal and human resource-related characteristics are the most critical factors affecting technology adaptation. Barriers to the adoption of technology within organizations also appear. Based on the above perception in the organizational context, three main barriers will affect technology adoption: Skilled Digital workforces, financial resources, and Top Management.

In addition to the organization's innovation readiness factors, information technology resources, and support from the top management of the organization, here is the small and medium-sized hotel is a factor but also a barrier to technology adoption (DiPietro and Wang, 2010; Racherla and Hu, 2008). Thong (1999) points out that the best leaders can drive change through communication, value enhancement, and a clear vision for the organization. With the same consensus, Lee and Kim (2007) argue that the commitment and vision of the manager will always be an essential barrier to technology adaptation. Previous studies also reveal that small and medium-sized businesses need help implementing innovations to optimize their operations. Besides, shortages of finances are always significant barriers to applying technology for hotels, especially small and medium-sized hotels (Horváth and Szabó, 2019; Vogelsang *et al.* 2019; Yadegaridehkordi *et al.* 2020).

It is clear that in the current context, the need for more personnel who can use IT proficiently to support the hotel in adapting technology and improving customer experience and performance remains a considerable challenge. For the innovation process (Abdullah *et al.* 2018; Al-Weshah and Al-Zubi, 2012; Verevka, 2019; Vogelsang *et al.* 2019), besides that the decisive role of an organization will be very much related to the vision and perception of senior management regarding technology adaptation (Schwertner, 2017).

1.6 Environmental Context

Environmental context represents the field in which the organization operates and does business. These external factors can potentially impact or create challenges for technology adoption (Oliveira *et al.* 2014; Tornatzky *et al.* 1990). Today, when humanity enters a 4.0 revolution, globalization, and competitive pressure from many aspects have made many travel companies and hotels promote innovation in organizations and apply technology to improve and enhance competitiveness. Many studies have shown that environmental factors are a direct barrier affecting decision-making regarding the adoption of technology in an organization (Rothwell, 1994). Therefore, in this environmental context, barriers that can affect a hotel's technological adaptation process include competitors, suppliers and customers, policies and regulation.

In this dynamic business environment, overcoming the competition or building an information technology system that is more efficient than the competition but, at the same time, more economical is always a great challenge for technology adoption. Furthermore, a high degree of competition will promote the adoption of different technological approaches (Li and Ye, 1999). Therefore, competitive pressure in this study is considered a barrier to pressure and perception of competitor technology. Competitive pressure has long formed a difficult barrier for hotels to access technological innovation as they always have to find newer technology to maintain the same competitive pressure on their competitors in the same industry (Ezzaouia and Bulchand-Gidumal, 2020; Horváth and Szabó, 2019; Stankovska *et al.* 2016; Taylor and Murphy, 2004).

Hotel suppliers and sometimes customer needs themselves become barriers to technology adoption. It is very difficult to convince suppliers to disclose the origin and quality of the service provided to the restaurant simply because the supplier's awareness of technology is insufficient. Customers sometimes accept to use a traditional method, and they are afraid to change; for example, paying for services via the Internet or mobile banking will be much more convenient than cash (Abdullah *et al.* 2018; Ezzaouia and Bulchand-Gidumal, 2020; Peillon and Dubruc, 2019; Stockdale and Standing, 2004). Technology adoption is always a strategy, and innovation to be sustainable must always have a clear legal framework to ensure the interests of the hotel or its customers. However, sometimes, technology needs to be faster, leaving the government behind. Government leads to supportive or regulatory frameworks that randomly become a terrible barrier for change-afraid organizations (Abdullah *et al.* 2018; Al-Weshah and Al-Zubi, 2012; Ezzaouia and Bulchand-Gidumal, 2020; Stockdale and Standing, 2004; Vogelsang *et al.* 2019).

2. Research Methodology

According to previous studies, the MCDM methods are appropriate for solving human subjective judgments using multiple decisions (Ghamgosar *et al.* 2011; Lin and Fu, 2012). To enhance the accuracy of the expert's choice evaluation among multiple alternatives, the study is based on the TOE framework and the combination of a qualitative phase of the MCDM method, including the Analytical hierarchy process (AHP) and the Decision-making trial and evaluation laboratory (DEMTEL) method. In addition, the experts selected for the interview in the study include managers with more than five years of experience in operating hotels and engineers with expertise in digitalization functions.

Context	Barriers	Literature source
Technological context (TC)	Data Security (TC1)	Horváth and Szabó (2019), Yadegaridehkordi <i>et al.</i> (2020), Schwertner (2017), Vogelsang <i>et al.</i> (2019), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Peillon and Dubruc (2019), Taylor and Murphy (2004), Al-Weshah and Al-Zubi (2012)
	IT infrastructure (TC2)	Stockdale and Standing (2004), Schwertner (2017), Vogelsang <i>et al.</i> (2019), Jones <i>et al.</i> (2003), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Peillon and Dubruc (2019)
	Culture and Risk (TC3)	Stockdale and Standing (2004), Vogelsang <i>et al.</i> (2019), Verevka (2019), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Stankovska <i>et al.</i> (2016), Taylor and Murphy (2004)
Organizational context (OC)	Skilled Digital workforces (OC1)	Horváth and Szabó (2019), Vogelsang <i>et al.</i> (2019), Jones <i>et al.</i> (2003); Verevka (2019), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Taylor and Murphy (2004), Al-Weshah and Al-Zubi (2012)

Table 1. A hierarchical framework for technology adoption

Context	Barriers	Literature source
	Financial resource (OC2)	Horváth and Szabó (2019), Yadegaridehkordi <i>et al.</i> (2020), Ezzaouia and Bulchand-Gidumal (2020), Vogelsang <i>et al.</i> (2019), Alrawadieh <i>et al.</i> (2021), Jones <i>et al.</i> (2003), Verevka (2019), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Stankovska <i>et al.</i> (2016), Taylor and Murphy (2004), Abid <i>et al.</i> (2011)
	Top Management (OC3)	Schwertner (2017), Vogelsang <i>et al.</i> (2019), Jones <i>et al.</i> (2003), Verevka (2019), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Stankovska <i>et al.</i> (2016), Abid <i>et al.</i> (2011)
Environmental context (EC)	Competition (EC1)	Horváth and Szabó (2019), Ezzaouia and Bulchand-Gidumal (2020), Stankovska <i>et al.</i> (2016), Taylor and Murphy (2004)
	Suppliers and Customers (EC2)	Ezzaouia and Bulchand-Gidumal (2020), Stockdale and Standing (2004), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Peillon and Dubruc (2019)
	Policy and regulation (EC3)	Ezzaouia and Bulchand-Gidumal (2020), Stockdale and Standing (2004), Vogelsang <i>et al.</i> (2019), Abdullah <i>et al.</i> (2018), Taylor and Murphy (2004), Al-Weshah and Al-Zubi (2012)

2.1 Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)

The AHP method developed by Saaty (1991) streamlines complex and unstructured decision-making problems into a concise linear hierarchical structure. It helps to identify essential criteria behind a decision and reach a group consensus. Its main steps are summarized as follows (Chang, 1992; Saaty, 1991).

Step 1. State the goal and construct the decision-making hierarchy. This study evaluates the critical factors for successful SMH digitalization. According to a literature review, expert judgments, and Delphi analysis results, critical factors are identified and used to construct the decision-making system.

Step 2. Construct the reciprocal pairwise comparison matrices. Based on Saaty's 9-point scale from 1 (equal importance) to 9 (extreme importance), group experts recruited are asked to compare the influence of each critical factor with others. Next, expert responses are used to assemble the pairwise comparison matrix G for calculating the relative importance of each factor on digitalization.

$$G = [g_{ij}]_{n \times n} = \begin{vmatrix} 1 & g_{12} & \cdots & g_{1n} \\ 1/g_{12} & 1 & \cdots & g_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1/g_{1n} & 1/g_{2n} & \cdots & 1 \end{vmatrix}$$
(1)

where g_{ij} is a positive element of matrix G, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, and n is the number of critical factors.

Step 3. Calculate the relative importance of each factor. According to the pairwise comparison matrix G, its eigenvalue (W_i) is calculated by normalizing the geometric mean of the rows to derive the relative importance of all critical factors.

$$W_{i} = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}\right)^{-1}$$
(2)

Step 4. Check the consistency ratio (*CR*). A consistency test is examined to test whether the pairwise comparison matrix is consistent.

$$CI = (\lambda_{\max} - n)(n-1)^{-1}$$

$$CR = CI \times (RI)^{-1}$$
(3a)
(3b)

where *CI* is the consistency index, λ_{max} represents the maximum eigenvalue, and *RI* denotes the random consistency index. If $CR \le 0.1$, the pairwise comparison matrix is consistent (Saaty, 1991). Otherwise, the consistency ratio is not acceptable.

2.2 The DEMATEL Method

The DEMATEL method developed by Fontela and Gabus (1976) is suitable for evaluating the cause-effect relationships among criteria of complex decision problems. It helps to classify the criteria into cause-and-effect groups. Its main steps are described as follows (Fontela and Gabus, 1976; Sara *et al.* 2015).

Step 1: Derive the initial average matrix Y. A group of m experts are asked to assess the causal relationship between two factors (i.e., pairwise comparisons) of n factors based on a scale from 0 (*no influence*) to 4 (*very high influence*). Matrix Y is then derived by aggregating the judgment of group experts.

$$Y = \sum_{t=1}^{m} X^{t} / m = [y_{ij}]_{n \times n}$$
(4)

where X^{t} is the direct matrix judged by the t^{th} (t = 1, 2, ..., m) respondent, y_{ij} is an element of matrix Y, and $y_{ii} \ge 0$.

Step 2. Compute the normalized direct influence matrix D. Matrix D is defined by normalizing the initial average matrix Y.

$$D = Y \times S$$

$$S = (\max_{1 \le i \le n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{ij})^{-1}$$
(5a)
(5b)

Step 3. Compute the total relation matrix T. Matrix T can be derived as:

$$T = D(I - D)^{-1} = [t_{ij}]$$
(6)

where I is an $n \times n$ identity matrix. This matrix reveals direct and indirect influences between each pair of factors. Step 4: Construct the causal relationship map. Matrix T can be used to identify the cause-effect relationships of factors. The sum of rows (r) and columns (c) of matrix T can be calculated as follows.

$$r = \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{ij} \tag{7a}$$

$$c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{ij} \tag{7b}$$

The values of $r_i + c_i$ and $r_i - c_i$ represents the influential intensity and direction of factor i, respectively. If $r_i - c_i < 0$, factor i belongs to the effect group, otherwise factor i is a cause if $r_i - c_i > 0$. According to the (r + c, r - c) values of factors, the cause-effect relationship map can be drawn.

3. Empirical Study and Result

This section includes data collection, identifying essential barriers, and mutual interaction in applying technology using AHP and DEMATEL methods.

3.1 Data Collection

In MCDM methods, the selection of the number of experts and the size of the panel of experts is subjective. There needs to be a theoretical basis or empirical studies on whether the analytical results are much better with panel size (Lee and Yang, 2018). Therefore, the size of the expert panel in MCDM studies is usually not limited. The explanatory power of MCDM methods is based on the experience and knowledge of experts and previous studies. In particular, in analyzing AHP methods, the expertise and knowledge of the expert who can interpret and evaluate the relevant criteria plays the most critical role. Accordingly, a group of 5 to 7 experts would be the best fit to produce the overall results for the group (Yetton and Bottger, 1983). Hwang and Lin (2012) revealed that a group of 10 to 15 experts would be suitable for decision-making in the MCDM analysis method. In practice, the size of the panel of experts will usually be more than ten experts (Lee and Yang, 2018). Therefore, in this study, we will focus on researching small and medium-sized hotels in the hotel list of the Vietnam Tourism Association and experts in the Technology and hospitality sectors. Through the author's relationship via email and phone, 10 experts in technology and hospitality agreed to answer the questionnaire; these experts cover two main areas: technology and hotels. Technology experts with seniority in building information technology systems and digitalizing equipment in hotels. Moreover, experts in the hotel industry are those with experience in administration, control, and management, or professors working and doing research at universities. The experts' expertise will be listed in detail in Table 2. An expert questionnaire is constructed for data collection. It is kept as simple as possible to depict the concise structure of motives that drive the technology adoption process. Lastly, after several rounds of questionnaire surveys, the qualified anonymous responses of the group experts were then used in the combined AHP and DEMATEL analysis. In AHP analysis, the criteria selection was based on two primary sources: (1) a literature review and expert judgment and (2) a pre-survey. Both approaches can provide valid criteria, but careful consideration of the requirements and wrong selection will completely change the analysis results.

3.2 Evaluate the Relative Important of Barrier Factors: AHP Analysis

AHP analysis identifies the context and factors causing the biggest obstacles to the digitalization process of small and medium-sized hotels in Vietnam. The results are shown in Figure 2, indicating that the Technological Context (0.561) is a more significant barrier than the two Organizational Contexts (0.265) and Environmental contexts (0.080). Figure 2 also reveals that Data security (0.386) has the highest influence weight and is an obstacle to the digitalization process, followed by IT Infrastructure (0.165), Competition (0.139), Skilled digital workforce (0.121), Financial resources (0.110), Culture and risk (0.104), Supplier and customer (0.074), Top management (0.033), Policy and regulation (0.026). In addition, this study sets a threshold (0.11) calculated as an average influence weight to identify obstacles that can impact the digitalization process, which includes: Data security, IT Infrastructure, Skilled digital workforces, Financial resource, Competition.

The technology experts (N=5)					-	The	hotel expe	erts (<i>N</i> =5)	
No	Gender	Age	Position	Seniority	No	Gender	Age	Position	Seniority
1	Female	31-40	Engineer	15	1	Male	31-50	Manager	20
2	Female	31-40	Engineer	15	2	Male	31-50	Manager	18
3	Male	41-50	Academic professor	20	3	Female	51-60	General manager	25
4	Male	31-40	Engineer	11	4	Male	51-60	General manager	28
5	Female	31-40	Engineer	13	5	Female	41-50	General manager	21

Table 2. Demographic profile of respondents



Figure 2. The influential weight of context and barriers

3.3 Asses the Interaction among Barrier Factors: DEMATEL Analysis

DEMATEL analysis reveals the cause-effect relationship as well as the interaction of barrier factors to the digitalization process. Accordingly, table 3 shows that technological context and organizational context are the causes group because their r-c value is greater than 0. Environmental context belongs to the Effect group because its values in the analysis are less than 0. The results of the DEMATEL analysis method also show up to 5 barrier

factors: the causes group and three factors that belong to the Effect group. These factors all interact with each other.

4. Discussion and Implication

4.1 Discussion

Context	TC	OC	EC	Sum=r _i	r+c	r-c
TC	1.61	1.26	2.37	5.24	10.08	0.39
OC	1.66	0.89	2.05	4.61	7.71	1.50
EC	1.58	0.95	1.53	4.05	10.00	-1.89
Sum=c	4.84	3.11	5.95	Thres	hold value = 1.5	54

Table 3. Total relation and influence matrix for Context

This study shows that the technological context is a much more strategic barrier than the organizational context and environmental context. The results of this study are similar to research showing that the technological context is always a problematic factor when applying mobile technology to tourism companies in Taiwan (Lin, 2017). However, this result contradicts the result that the environmental context is the leading cause of barriers to innovation through technology in small and medium-sized enterprises in India (Nimawat and Gidwani, 2022). The reason for this is that Taiwan is a developed country with abundant financial and technological resources; the government is always interested, so the number of personnel to carry out innovation is always ready, thus becoming the most significant obstacle that makes Taiwanese businesses afraid of the digitalization process comes from environmental and market factors as well as the growing elderly population here. In contrast, in developing countries, factors related to technology and organization are always significant barriers hindering the operating process based on digitalization. In addition, the results of this study also imply that the Technological context is the most important barrier (0.565), followed by barriers coming from the organizational context (0.265) and, finally, the environment context (0.080). Based on the result, managers understand that support from technology and within the organization is necessary to handle this digitalization process.

Figure 3. Cause – effect diagram for criteria



Previous studies have aimed to identify essential factors capable of promoting the digitalization process in the tourism industry (El-Gohary, 2012; Lin, 2017) (34). These studies revealed that the variables in this study are independent. However, the digitalization process in businesses is a multi-dimensional transformation process and requires the support of many stakeholders. Ignoring the interaction between these variables can lead to bias or insufficient precision in the study. As the results of the DEMATEL analysis imply that the contexts of the digitalization

process are interrelationships and impact each other, Figure 3 shows that the technological context and the environmental context are in the group of causes that both have an impact on the environmental context. Meanwhile, the environmental context belongs to the effects group and directly impacts the technological context. According to the results of this study, the digitalization process will have significant barriers coming from the technological context and the organizational context. When these issues are resolved, they will positively affect the environmental context.

Technology context	TC1	TC2	TC3	Sum= <i>r</i> i	r+c	r-c
TC1	1.20	1.40	1.60	4.20	8.20	0.20
TC2	1.20	0.90	1.10	3.20	7.20	-0.80
TC3	1.60	1.70	1.30	4.60	8.60	-0.60
Sum=c	4.00	4.00	4.00	Threshold value = 0.89		

Table 6. Total relation and influence matrix for Technology context

Figure 4. Cause - effect diagram for sub-criteria (Technology context)



The technology context is considered one of the biggest barriers affecting the digitalization process in small and medium-sized hotels in Vietnam. This result implies that innovation that occurs when organizations overcome barriers from the technological context is an appropriate strategy. The technological context includes Data security (0.386), IT Infrastructure (0.165), Cuture and Risk (0.104). According to the AHP analysis, they are ranked first, second, and sixth out of 9 factors that are barriers to digitalization. Figure 4 also reveals that Data security belongs to the cause group and directly and indirectly impacts the factors in the Effect group, namely IT Infrastructure and Culture and risk. This result shows that the biggest barrier to digitalization is ensuring information security for customers and small and medium-sized hotels in Vietnam. Besides, Technology infrastructure and innovation culture are factors that influence interrelationships.

Organizational context	OC1	OC2	OC3	Sum= <i>r</i> i	r+c	r-c
OC1	0.22	0.40	0.59	1.20	2.14	0.25
OC2	0.32	0.15	0.27	0.74	1.89	-0.41
OC3	0.41	0.60	0.25	1.26	2.37	0.16
Sum=c	0.95	1.15	1.10	Three	shold value = 0.	36

Table 7. Total relation and influence matrix for Organizational Context



Figure 5. Cause - effect diagram for sub-criteria (Organization context)

According to experts, the environmental context is the second most significant barrier affecting the digitization process of the hotel industry. The three main factors of the organizational context are Skilled digital workforce (0.121), Financial resource (0.110), and Top management (0.033), which respectively ranked fourth, fifth, and eighth out of 9 factors considered barriers to the digitalization process. As shown in Figure 5, the Skilled digital workforce is regarded as the main factor belonging to the cause group that impacts the effect group, including barriers such as Financial resources or top management. This result is entirely consistent with the empirical evidence of previous studies (Lian *et al.* 2014; Rahayu and Day, 2017) that barriers to meeting IT financial and human resources are barriers are more important than the vision and support of senior leaders in the organization. At the same time, the results of this study are also entirely consistent with previous results that show that human resources that meet technology standards are a significant obstacle in promoting the digitalization of operations and business in major hotels in China and Singapore (Lam and Law, 2019; Molinillo and Japutra, 2017). Financial context, so prioritizing available financial resources to fund digitalization and finding talented personnel is strategically suitable to improve the effectiveness of the organizational context for SMH digitalization in Vietnam.

Environmental Context	EC1	EC2	EC3	Sum= <i>r</i> i	r+c	r-c
EC1	0.36	0.60	0.73	1.69	3.31	0.07
EC2	0.83	0.56	1.13	2.52	4.20	0.83
EC3	0.43	0.53	0.43	1.39	3.67	-0.90
Sum=c	1.62	1.69	2.28	Threshold value = 0.62		

Table 8. Total relation and influence matrix for Environment context



Figure 6. Cause – effect diagram for sub-criteria (Environment context)

The environmental context is a relatively small barrier to the digitalization process of small and mediumsized hotels in Vietnam. As mentioned in Figure 2, Competition (0.139), Supplier and Customer (0.074), and Policy and regulation (0.026) are ranked third, seventh, and ninth, respectively. These factors are arranged in order of weight influence. Also, according to Figure 3, pressure from competitors, customers, and suppliers are factors in the group of causes causing the main obstacles to the digitalization process. This result is consistent with previous studies revealing that consumer influence (Leung *et al.* 2015; Sima *et al.* 2020) or supplier dependence (Okumus *et al.* 2017; Yang *et al.* 2021) is the most challenging factor for digital business. Therefore, the digitalization process is affected by environmental factors such as competitors or product suppliers.

Most previous studies only focused on identifying essential and influential factors in the digitalization process in the hospitality and tourism industry. However, these studies assume that these critical factors are independent. Because business digitalization is a multi-stakeholder and multi-dimensional transformation process that impacts and is influenced by many factors, these factors interact. Policymakers, hoteliers, and researchers should consider the influence and interaction between factors as a theoretical framework for planning, organizing, leading, and controlling hospitality digitalization.

4.2 Implication

After identifying the strategic barriers and interactions of contexts based on the TOE theoretical framework, the result reveals that the priority is to overcome the primary contexts and factors challenging the adoption of digitalization as the most optimal mode of operation. In this study, technological context and organizational context are considered the main barriers, besides factors such as Data security, IT Infrastructure, Competition, Skilled digital workforce, and Financial resources. Therefore, small and medium-sized hotels need to activate digital capabilities to optimize production and business activities, so they should apply a strategy that focuses on overcoming gaps in technology, human resources, and technology infrastructure.

Customers increasingly value a sophisticated digital experience, with younger guests and business travelers, in particular, considering integrating the latest technologies in hotels as essential. These technologies span from artificial intelligence, big data analytics, and cloud computing to flexible property management systems, the Internet of Things, and immersive experiences through virtual and augmented reality. Among the myriad of tech trends, digital channels and online travel agents stand out for small and medium-sized hotels (SMHs), offering a cost-effective way to amplify their marketing efforts. Moreover, hotels can leverage customer-centric technologies like electronic customer relationship management systems to enhance operation outcomes. This includes securing a larger market share, reaching new markets, and boosting customer satisfaction and loyalty. Pursuing these marketing advantages primarily drives the push toward digitalization in SMHs. However, financial limitations pose

a significant barrier to their digital transformation efforts. Government intervention through financial and nonfinancial support is deemed necessary to overcome this. Tailored funding models and digital support channels that simplify the search for funding instruments are recommended to facilitate more accessible access to resources for SMHs, enabling them to embrace digitalization rapidly. This study also implies emphasizing customer-centricity and ensuring the stable operation of a small and medium-sized hotel, with the necessary priority to improve customer experience. In addition, prioritizing digitalization will help hotels optimize costs and personnel and promote the hospitality's image on tourism platforms to attract more new customers. Small and medium-sized hotels must always focus on several factors to overcome to activate the digitalization process successfully and consider it a suitable strategy to survive in a fiercely competitive market.

Conclusions and Further Research

In conclusion, tourism's significance in developing countries' economic bones cannot be overstated, with the hospitality industry as a critical promotion in this growth process. This industry, predominantly comprised of small and medium-sized hotels, plays a crucial role despite the intense competition posed by more prominent five-star hotels or famous resorts. The emergence of digitalization offers these smaller entities a transformative tool, potentially leveling the playing field by enhancing operational efficiencies and customer service. The findings of this research contribute vitally to the existing literature by providing a stabilized theoretical framework that enriches management and equips top managers with innovative perspectives and appropriate strategies. This framework is designed to aid managers in navigating the complexities of the competitive landscape, ensuring the sustainability and development of small to medium-sized hotels. Emphasizing a harmonious strategy that integrates digital tools with traditional hospitality management, this study underscores the potential for resilience and growth in a sector critical to developing countries.

Digitalization for small and medium hotels helps optimize operational efficiency and save operating costs, and especially customer-centricity will help improve the service experience (Iranmanesh *et al.* 2022). Hotels need to determine a suitable strategy to survive with 5-star hotels and large resorts, so increasing the number of customers and maintaining business growth is essential. However, identifying the main barriers and factors that hinder the digitalization process will help small and medium-sized hotels focus their resources on overcoming them to enable the digitalization process. Based on the TOE framework, this study evaluates and prioritizes the level and direction of influence of the three contexts as well as their essential barriers. Following the combined analysis of AHP and DEMATEL, this study identifies the context, critical factors, and primary causes. Context and primary factors are valuable in identifying barriers to digitalization today, while core causes are relevant for building and implementing a long-term digitalization strategy.

The study's results contribute a new dimension of awareness to the tourism industry; however, it still has some limitations. This study only focuses on identifying barriers to digitalization for small and medium-sized hotels in Vietnam, while large 5-star hotels have financial resources. The barrier factors, human resources, and technology can be completely different. Future research could apply this study's conceptual and analytical framework to large hotels. Such comparative analysis can lead to a deeper and broader understanding of hotel digitalization. In addition, future studies could use other approaches to assess the importance of barriers to digitalization and make more extensive use of interview participants to receive more accurate feedback on research results using MCDM methods.

Acknowledgments

I want to express my profound appreciation to my supervisor, Chien-Pang Lin, for his exceptional guidance and support. His mastery in shaping ideas and methodologies significantly enhanced my research experience. I am genuinely grateful for his patient mentorship and ability to inspire a deeper understanding and passion for my work. Additionally, I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to "Little Bean" for the unwavering support and love in every aspect of my life. Your presence has been a source of strength and motivation, making this journey not only possible but also joyful. Thank you for being my constant pillar of support.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The author declares that he has no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The author declare that he has not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- Abdullah, Ahmed, Brychan Thomas, Lyndon Murphy, and Eoin Plant. 2018. An Investigation of the Benefits and Barriers of E-Business Adoption Activities in Yemeni Smes. *Strategic Change* 27(3): 195-208. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsc.2195</u>
- [2] Abid, Ali Abu, Md Mahbubur Rahim, and Helana Scheepers. Experienced Benefits and Barriers of E-Business Technology Adoption by Sme Suppliers. In *Communications of the IBIMA*, 2011.
- [3] Alrawadieh, Ziad, Zaid Alrawadieh, and Gurel Cetin. 2021. Digital Transformation and Revenue Management: Evidence from the Hotel Industry." *Tourism Economics* 27(2): 328-45. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1354816620901928</u>
- [4] Al-Weshah, Ghazi A, and Khalid Al-Zubi. 2012. E-Business Enablers and Barriers: Empirical Study of Smes in Jordanian Communication Sector. *Global Journal of Business Research*, 6(3): 1-15.
- [5] Atkins, Martin H, and Julian Frank Lowe. 1997. Sizing up the Small Firm: Uk and Australian Experience. International Small Business Journal 15(3): 42-55. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242697153003</u>
- [6] Berne, Carmen, Margarita Garcia-Gonzalez, and Jose Mugica. 2012. How Ict Shifts the Power Balance of Tourism Distribution Channels. *Tourism Management* 33(1): 205-14. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2011.02.004</u>
- [7] Brunetti, Federico, *et al.* 2020. Digital Transformation Challenges: Strategies Emerging from a Multi-Stakeholder Approach." *The TQM Journal* 32(4): 697-724. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-12-2019-0309</u>
- [8] Buhalis, Dimitrios, and Rosanna Leung. 2018. Smart Hospitality—Interconnectivity and Interoperability Towards an Ecosystem. International Journal of Hospitality Management 71: 41-50. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-12-2019-0309</u>
- [9] Chang, Da-Yong 1992. Extent Analysis and Synthetic Decision. *Optimization Techniques Applications*, 1(1): 352-55.
- [10] Chau, Patrick YK, and Kar Yan Tam. 1997. Factors Affecting the Adoption of Open Systems: An Exploratory Study. MIS Quarterly, 1-24. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/249740</u>
- [11] Cooper, Randolph B, and Robert W. Zmud. 1990. Information Technology Implementation Research: A Technological Diffusion Approach. *Management Science* 36(2): 123-39. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.36.2.123</u>
- [12] DiPietro, Robin B, and Youcheng Wang. 2010. Key Issues for Ict Applications: Impacts and Implications for Hospitality Operations. Worldwide Hospitality Tourism Themes 2(1): 49-67. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17554211011012595</u>
- [13] El-Gohary, Hatem 2012. Factors Affecting E-Marketing Adoption and Implementation in Tourism Firms: An Empirical Investigation of Egyptian Small Tourism Organisations. *Tourism Management* 33(5): 1256-69. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2011.10.013</u>
- [14] Ezzaouia, Imane, and Jacques Bulchand-Gidumal. 2020. Factors Influencing the Adoption of Information Technology in the Hotel Industry. An Analysis in a Developing Country. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 34: 100675. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2020.100675</u>
- [15] Fontela, and Gabus. 1976. The Dematel Observer: Battelle Institute. Geneva Research Center: 56-61.
- [16] Ghamgosar, M., M. Haghyghy, F. Mehrdoust, and N. Arshad. 2011. Multicriteria Decision Making Based on Analytical Hierarchy Process (Ahp) in Gis for Tourism. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research* 10(4): 501-07.
- [17] Gössling, Stefan 2020. Technology, Ict and Tourism: From Big Data to the Big Picture. Journal of Sustainable Tourism 29(5): 849-58. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1865387</u>

- [18] Horváth, Dóra, and Roland Zs Szabó. 2019. Driving Forces and Barriers of Industry 4.0: Do Multinational and Small and Medium-Sized Companies Have Equal Opportunities?". *Technological forecasting social change* 146: 119-32. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.05.021</u>
- [19] Ingram, Arthur, Roddy Jamieson, Paul Lynch, and Richard Bent. 2000. Questioning the Impact of the 'Graduatization'of the Managerial Labour Force Upon the Management of Human Resources in the Scottish Hotel Industry. *Journal of Consumer Studies and Home Economics* 24(4): 212-22. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1470-6431.2000.00128.x</u>
- [20] Inversini, Alessandro, and Lorenzo Masiero. 2014. Selling Rooms Online: The Use of Social Media and Online Travel Agents. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management 26(2): 272-92. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-03-2013-0140</u>
- [21] Iranmanesh, Mohammad, Morteza Ghobakhloo, Mehrbakhsh Nilashi, Ming-Lang Tseng, Elaheh Yadegaridehkordi, and Nelson Leung. 2022. Applications of Disruptive Digital Technologies in Hotel Industry: A Systematic Review. International Journal of Hospitality Management 107: 103304. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2022.103304</u>
- [22] Jones, Paul, Paul Beynon-Davies, and Elizabeth Muir. 2003. Ebusiness Barriers to Growth within the Sme Sector." Journal of Systems Information Technology 7(1/2): 1-25. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13287260380000771</u>
- [23] Krizaj, Dejan, Andrej Brodnik, and Boris Bukovec. 2014. A Tool for Measurement of Innovation Newness and Adoption in Tourism Firms. International Journal of Tourism Research 16(2): 113-25. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.1905</u>
- [24] Kuan, Kevin KY, and Patrick YK Chau. 2001. A Perception-Based Model for Edi Adoption in Small Businesses Using a Technology–Organization–Environment Framework. *Information and Management* 38(8): 507-21. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(01)00073-8</u>
- [25] Lam, Carmen, and Rob Law. 2019. Readiness of Upscale and Luxury-Branded Hotels for Digital Transformation. International Journal of Hospitality Management 79: 60-69. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.12.015</u>
- [26] Lee, Sangjae, and Kyoung-jae Kim. 2007. Factors Affecting the Implementation Success of Internet-Based Information Systems." *Computers in Human Behavior* 23(4): 1853-80. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2005.12.001</u>
- [27] Leung, Daniel, Ada Lo, Lawrence Hoc Nang Fong, and Rob Law. 2015. Applying the Technology-Organization-Environment Framework to Explore lct Initial and Continued Adoption: An Exploratory Study of an Independent Hotel in Hong Kong. *Tourism Recreation Research* 40(3): 391-406. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02508281.2015.1090152</u>
- [28] Leung, Daniel, Rob Law, Hubert Van Hoof, and Dimitrios Buhalis. 2013. Social Media in Tourism and Hospitality: A Literature Review. *Journal of Travel Tourism Marketing* 30(1-2): 3-22. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2013.750919</u>
- [29] Li, Mingfang, and L. Richard Ye. 1999. Information Technology and Firm Performance: Linking with Environmental, Strategic and Managerial Contexts. *Information and Management* 35(1): 43-51. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(98)00075-5</u>
- [30] Lian, Jiunn-Woei, David C Yen, and Yen-Ting Wang. 2014. An Exploratory Study to Understand the Critical Factors Affecting the Decision to Adopt Cloud Computing in Taiwan Hospital. *International Journal of Information Management* 34(1): 28-36. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2013.09.004</u>
- [31] Lin, Sheng Wei, and Hsin Pin Fu. 2012. Uncovering Critical Success Factors for Business-to-Customer Electronic Commerce in Travel Agencies. *Journal of Travel Tourism Marketing* 29(6): 566-84. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2012.703034</u>
- [32] Lin, Sheng Wei. 2017. Identifying the Critical Success Factors and an Optimal Solution for Mobile Technology Adoption in Travel Agencies. *International Journal of Tourism Research* 19(2): 127-44. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.2092</u>

- [33] Melián-González, Santiago, and Jacques Bulchand-Gidumal. 2016. A Model That Connects Information Technology and Hotel Performance. *Tourism Management* 53: 30-37. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.09.005</u>
- [34] Molinillo, Sebastian, and Arnold Japutra. 2017. Organizational Adoption of Digital Information and Technology: A Theoretical Review. *The Bottom Line* 30(01): 33-46. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BL-01-2017-0002</u>
- [35] Morrison, Alison 1998. Small Firm Statistics: A Hotel Sector Focus. 1998. Service Industries Journal, 18: 132-42. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069800000008</u>
- [36] Morrison, Alison, and Rhodri Thomas. 1999. The Future of Small Firms in the Hospitality Industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management* 11(4): 148-54. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09596119910263531</u>
- [37] Moutinho, Luiz. 2013. Strategies for Tourism Destination Development: An Investigation of the Role of Small Businesses. In *Marketing Tourism Places (Rle Tourism)*, 104-22: Routledge.
- [38] Nimawat, Dheeraj, and BD Gidwani. 2022. An Overview of Industry 4.0 in Manufacturing Industries. International Journal of Industrial and Systems Engineering 40(4): 415-54. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJISE.2022.122820</u>
- [39] Okumus, Fevzi, Anil Bilgihan, Ahmet Bulent Ozturk, and Xinyuan Zhao. 2017. Identifying and Overcoming Barriers to Deployment of Information Technology Projects in Hotels. *Journal of Organizational Change Management* 30(5): 744-66. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-12-2015-0239</u>
- [40] Okumus, Fevzi, Levent Altinay, and Prakash Chathoth. 2010. Strategic Management in the International Hospitality and Tourism Industry. Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080940465</u>
- [41] Oliveira, Tiago, and Maria Fraga Martins. 2011. Literature Review of Information Technology Adoption Models at Firm Level. *Electronic Journal of Information Systems Evaluation* 14(1): 110-21.
- [42] Oliveira, Tiago, Manoj Thomas, and Mariana Espadanal. 2014. Assessing the Determinants of Cloud Computing Adoption: An Analysis of the Manufacturing and Services Sectors. *Information and Management* 51(5): 497-510. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2014.03.006</u>
- [43] Page, Stephen J., Pip Forer, and Glenda R. Lawton. 1999. Small Business Development and Tourism: Terra Incognita?". *Tourism Management* 20(4): 435-59. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(99)00024-2</u>
- [44] Peillon, Sophie, and Nadine Dubruc. 2019. Barriers to Digital Servitization in French Manufacturing Smes. In Proceedia Cirp, 146-50. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2019.04.008</u>
- [45] Poon, Simpson, and Paula MC Swatman. 1999. An Exploratory Study of Small Business Internet Commerce Issues. Information and Management 35 (1): 9-18. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(98)00079-2</u>
- [46] Racherla, Pradeep, and Clark Hu. 2008. Ecrm System Adoption by Hospitality Organizations: A Technology-Organization-Environment (Toe) Framework. *Journal of Hospitality and Leisure Marketing* 17(1-2): 30-58. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10507050801978372</u>
- [47] Rahayu, Rita, and John Day. 2017. E-Commerce Adoption by Smes in Developing Countries: Evidence from Indonesia. *Eurasian Business Review* 7: 25-41. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40821-016-0044-6</u>
- [48] Ramdani, Boumediene, Delroy Chevers, and Densil A. Williams. 2013. Smes' Adoption of Enterprise Applications: A Technology-Organisation-Environment Model. *Journal of Small Business Enterprise Development*, 20(4): 735-53. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-12-2011-0035</u>
- [49] Ricaurte, Eric. 2012. The Hospitality Industry Confronts the Global Challenge of Sustainability.
- [50] Rogers, Everett M, Arvind Singhal, and Margaret M Quinlan. "Diffusion of Innovations." In *An Integrated Approach to Communication Theory and Research*, 432-48: Routledge, 2014.
- [51] Rothwell, Roy 1994. Issues in User–Producer Relations in the Innovation Process: The Role of Government. *International Journal of Technology Management* 9(5-7): 629-49. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJTM.1994.025594</u>
- [52] Saaty, Thomas L. 1991. Some Mathematical Concepts of the Analytic Hierarchy Process. Behaviormetrika 18(29): 1-9. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.2333/bhmk.18.29_1</u>

- [53] Sara, Juliana, Rob M. Stikkelman, and Paulien M. Herder. 2015. Assessing Relative Importance and Mutual Influence of Barriers for Ccs Deployment of the Road Project Using Ahp and Dematel Methods. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 41: 336-57. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgqc.2015.07.008</u>
- [54] Schwertner, Krassimira .2017. Digital Transformation of Business. Trakia Journal of Sciences 15(1): 388-93. DOI: <u>10.15547/tjs.2017.s.01.065</u>
- [55] Sima, Violeta, Ileana Georgiana Gheorghe, Jonel Subić, and Dumitru Nancu. 2020. Influences of the Industry 4.0 Revolution on the Human Capital Development and Consumer Behavior: A Systematic Review. Sustainability 12(10): 4035. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12104035</u>
- [56] Spencer, Andrew J, Dimitrios Buhalis, and Miguel Moital. 2012. A Hierarchical Model of Technology Adoption for Small Owner-Managed Travel Firms: An Organizational Decision-Making and Leadership Perspective. *Tourism Management*, 33(5): 1195-208. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2011.11.01</u>
- [57] Stankovska, Ivana, Saso Josimovski, and Christopher Edwards. 2016. Digital Channels Diminish Sme Barriers: The Case of the Uk. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja* 29(1): 217-32.
- [58] Stockdale, Rosemary, and Craig Standing. 2004. Benefits and Barriers of Electronic Marketplace Participation: An Sme Perspective. Journal of Enterprise Information Management 17(4): 301-11. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17410390410548715</u>
- [59] Taylor, Michael, and Andrew Murphy. 2004. Smes and E-Business. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development 11(3): 280-89. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/14626000410551546</u>
- [60] Thomas, Rhodri, and Huw Thomas. 2005. Understanding Tourism Policy-Making in Urban Areas, with Particular Reference to Small Firms. *Tourism Geographies* 7(2): 121-37. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14616680500072323</u>
- [61] Thong, James YL. 1999. An Integrated Model of Information Systems Adoption in Small Businesses. Journal of Management Information Systems 15(4): 187-214. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1999.11518227</u>
- [62] Tornatzky, Louis G, and Katherine, J. Klein. 1982. Innovation Characteristics and Innovation Adoption-Implementation: A Meta-Analysis of Findings. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, no. 1 (1982): 28-45. DOI: <u>10.1109/TEM.1982.6447463</u>
- [63] Tornatzky, Louis G, Mitchell Fleischer, and Alok K Chakrabarti. 1990. The Processes of Technological Innovation.
- [64] Verevka, Tatiana V. 2019. Development of Industry 4.0 in the Hotel and Restaurant Business. IBIMA Business Review, 324071: 1-12. DOI: <u>10.5171/2019.324071</u>
- [65] Vogelsang, Kristin, Kirsten Liere-Netheler, Sven Packmohr, and Uwe Hoppe. 2019. Barriers to Digital Transformation in Manufacturing: Development of a Research Agenda." In *Making Digital Transformation Real*. Grand Wailea, Hawaii.
- [66] Wang, Dan, Sangwon Park, and Daniel R Fesenmaier. 2012. The Role of Smartphones in Mediating the Touristic Experience. *Journal of Travel Research* 51(4): 371-87. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287511426341</u>
- [67] Wang, Yi Shun, Hsien Ta Li, Ci Rong Li, and Ding Zhong Zhang. 2016. Factors Affecting Hotels' Adoption of Mobile Reservation Systems: A Technology-Organization-Environment Framework. *Tourism Management*, 53: 163-72. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.09.021</u>
- [68] WTO. 2001. "E-Business for Tourism-Practical Guidelines for Destinations and Businesses (Russian Version)." World Tourism Organization.
- [69] Yadegaridehkordi, Elaheh, et al. 2020. The Impact of Big Data on Firm Performance in Hotel Industry. Electronic Commerce Research Applications 40: 100921. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2019.100921</u>
- [70] Yang, Lu, Baofeng Huo, Min Tian, and Zhaojun Han. 2021. The Impact of Digitalization and Inter-Organizational Technological Activities on Supplier Opportunism: The Moderating Role of Relational Ties. International Journal of Operations and Production Management 41(7): 1085-118. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-09-2020-0664</u>



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).11

The Interconnection of Rural Tourism Development with Local SMEs: The Potential of Startup Business Networking in Southern Malang Indonesia

Agung WINARNO Management Department, Faculty Economics and Business Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0001-7783-1636 agung.winarno.fe@um.ac.id

Desti Nur AINI German Language Education Department Faculty of Literature, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0001-9839-6119 <u>desti.nur.fs@um.ac.id</u>

Norlida Hanim Mohd. SALEH School of Economics Faculty of Economics and Business, National University of Malaysia (UKM), Malaysia ORCID: 0000-0001-5504-2724 <u>norlidahanim@gmail.com</u>

> Muhammad Aris ICHWANTO Civil Engineering Faculty of Engineering, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0001-8300-6413 <u>muh.aris.ichwanto.ft@um.ac.id</u>

Agus PURNOMO School of Social Science Faculty of Social Science, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0003-3371-9372 agus.purnomo.fis@um.ac.id

Amalia Arifah RAHMAN Management Department Faculty of Economics and Business, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia ORCID: 0000-0002-5859-3043 amaliarahman058@gmail.com

Article info: Received 26 June 2024; Received in revised form 9 July 2024; Accepted for publication 26 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: The purpose of this research is to assess the performance of rural tourism destinations and local small and medium enterprises (SMEs) while exploring their potential for integrated tourism destination development in the Southern Malang region. The research employs an action research case study approach where numeric data are generated through the distribution of Likert-scale questionnaires and analyzed using clustering. The results of the clustering are described using SWOT analysis, which aims to identify prospects and the levels of development for tourism destinations and SME performance. The stages involved are as follows: problem or issue identification, action planning, action implementation, data collection during or afteraction implementation, data analysis and result evaluation, reflection and reconsideration of the actions taken, and decision-making regarding subsequent steps based on the evaluation results. The research findings indicate that the level

of rural tourism in the Southern Malang region falls into the pioneering category with a limited variety of destinations. This is attributed to the insufficient infrastructure and the lack of standout rural tourism products, as well as the limited supporting infrastructure such as roads, bridges, information centers, souvenir shops, and weak cellular signal coverage. Additionally, community awareness and support are relatively lacking in contributing to tourism development, and the regional government's support, in terms of institutional establishment and investment actions, is still in its infancy. SME performance shows better progress compared to the advancement of the tourism sector. Thus, if the tourism sector can develop, it has the potential to enhance the performance of local SMEs. The contribution of the rural tourism sector in Southern Malang to economic growth and the development of SMEs is still relatively insignificant. SMEs have grown with limited technology application, and their market areas are predominantly local. The innovation's contribution to increasing income in the Southern Malang region will be evident through increased tourist numbers, sales of SME products, and enhanced competitiveness of the region in the tourism and business markets. In this context, it is essential for the government, businesses, and local communities to collaborate in developing sustainable innovative strategies.

Keywords: rural tourism potential; local SMEs; startups; Southern Malang.

JEL Classification: Z32; O31; O15; O21; O35; R11.

Introduction

In accordance with the Republic of Indonesia Law Number 10 of 2009 concerning the tourism sector ("UU No. 10 Tahun 2009," n.d.), tourism encompasses a wide range of leisure activities supported by diverse facilities and services provided by various stakeholders, including the public, entrepreneurs, government, and local authorities. Many businesses and individuals are enthusiastic about optimizing the development and management of tourism by offering facilities and infrastructure conducive to the tourism sector. Furthermore, the development of tourism critically depends on the active involvement of the local community, requiring meticulous planning to ensure the effective promotion of tourism products and the attraction of tourists.

The development of tourist destination areas is contingent on the existing tourism potential, both physical and non-physical (Desembrianita *et al.* 2021). Several factors can be employed to assess the potential of a tourist area, including climatic conditions, geology/geomorphology, hydrology, land characteristics, flora and fauna, local culture, historical structures, community activities, recreational amenities, human resources, and more. In the context of tourism development, it is vital to consider the geographical and cultural attributes surrounding the tourist location to ensure harmony and sustainable development in the environment. Moreover, development initiatives should actively involve the local community to ensure that the development yields benefits and advantages for them.

The tourism potential in the East Java region, particularly in Southern Malang, Malang Regency, is substantial, primarily in the form of natural attractions. The development of rural tourism potential in Southern Malang is intricately connected to the growth of local Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs), particularly through a startup business networking model. Rural tourism presents numerous opportunities for local SMEs to collaborate and cultivate products and services that align with the requirements of tourists. Via business networking, startup entrepreneurs can mutually support each other in sourcing raw materials, cooperative marketing, and knowledge sharing. For instance, local food producers can establish partnerships with accommodation providers or travel agencies to offer culinary tourism packages. Conversely, handicraft artisans can collaborate with souvenir shops in the area. Consequently, business networking models of this nature serve to invigorate the local economy, generate employment prospects, and enhance the competitiveness of SMEs in the rapidly expanding tourism sector.

In utilizing local resources, collaboration and synergy between rural areas and local Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) are essential. Local SMEs can make use of local resources, while rural areas gain new economic opportunities through SMEs. Such collaboration can also enhance networking and knowledge exchange among various stakeholders. Furthermore, in the utilization of technology, the potential to transform how rural areas and SMEs operate in the digital era can be improved. This can promote the use of digital technology, such as ecommerce, production tracking, and online marketing, to enhance the competitiveness and accessibility of local products. However, activities aimed at empowering local potential and communities require policy support from the government and relevant institutions that facilitate cross-sector cooperation. Approaches and programs to build productive villages integrated with local SMEs are not only about economic growth but also about strengthening the local community, preserving cultural heritage, and promoting inclusivity. Empowering rural areas and local SMEs have the potential to create long-term positive impacts in addressing economic inequality and improving the quality of life for local communities.

According to (Susyanti 2013), tourist villages represent one form of alternative tourism that can drive sustainable development in rural areas. The principles of their management include: (1) using facilities and

infrastructure existing in the local community, (2) providing economic benefits to the local population, (3) maintaining a small scale to allow cooperation with the local community, (4) actively involving the local community's participation, and (5) developing rural tourism products. The development of rural tourism can have a positive impact on the local economy by offering opportunities for local SMEs to develop products and services that cater to the needs of tourists, economic empowerment, cultural preservation, and infrastructure improvement. Collaboration between rural tourism and local SMEs can create mutually beneficial synergy and contribute to economic growth and rural sustainability.

One of the areas in the Malang Regency that assesses the performance of rural tourism and local SMEs, as well as their contribution to increasing local income, is in the Gedangan District. Gedangan District is located in the southern part of Malang Regency, East Java, Indonesia, approximately 29 km from the capital of Malang Regency. Geographically, Gedangan District consists of 40% flat and undulating land and 60% hilly terrain. It is situated at an average elevation of 350 meters above sea level, with temperatures ranging from 22 to 29 degrees Celsius. The annual rainfall is approximately 1,690 mm, and the total area of the district is 20,171 hectares. Gedangan District shares its boundaries directly with Pagelaran District to the north, Sumbermanjing Wetan District to the east, Bantur District to the west, and the Indian Ocean to the south.

The concept of tourist villages is intrinsically linked to the competitiveness of the tourism sector, as emphasized by (Martaleni *et al.* 2021). Tourism competitiveness, defined by (Chin and Hampton 2020), signifies the ability of a tourist destination to compete with other similar destinations, which is a pivotal determinant of a destination's success. The assessment of tourism competitiveness remains a subject of ongoing discourse, encompassing both economic and tourism management perspectives. Various aspects of tourist destinations, which influence their allure, can significantly impact tourists' decisions to visit. Nonetheless, (Martaleni *et al.* 2021) discovered, through a study in a tourist village, that direct accessibility did not exert a noteworthy influence on tourists' motivation. In contrast, the direct relationship between facilities and the destination's appeal substantially influenced visitor decisions. In other words, factors determining accessibility, such as ease of access, road quality, travel duration, and the availability of public transportation within the tourist village, did not affect tourists' motivation to visit.

Tourist village destinations often boast unique key resources and attractions, generating a strong appeal for visitors. The success of these destinations is profoundly influenced by the extent to which tourism attractions can motivate and satisfy visitors. (Schiffman, Clifford, and Buonaguro 2009) indicates that when tourists are captivated by the compelling primary attractions of a tourist village destination, their motivation to visit significantly increases.(Yoon, Gursoy, and Chen 2001) assert that to create a competitive destination, quality service and satisfying experiences are indispensable in capturing tourists' interest. Tourists' motivation frequently arises from their desire to undergo a distinctive tourism experience, acquire insights into local culture and traditions, relish favorable weather and natural landscapes, seek respite from their daily routines, forge social connections, and contribute to the sustainable advancement of the tourist destination. These motivations necessitate effective and coordinated management within tourist village destinations.

The novelty and importance of this study is the clustering and SWOT analysis. The findings from the clustering and the SWOT analysis give a picture of the entire landscape as it depicts strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats of rural tourism destinations and SMEs in the region. The assessment provides the understanding of the opportunities rural tourism offers to the economic impact and the SME especially in the Southern Malang which is part of the sustainable development. For the collaborative strategy development can be assumed that the key emphasis of the study is made on the necessity to mobilise the government, enterprises, and local stakeholders to collectively devise effective and environmentally friendly solutions for rural tourism advancement and SMEs support.

The management of tourist destinations within tourist villages encompasses planning, regulation, administration, and oversight of various facets linked to the development and governance of the destination. Evaluations by (Morrison, Cheah, and Kumar 2024) and (Dwyer and Kim 2003) gauge the efficacy of destination management by assessing the destination's capacity to provide a positive tourism experience, preserve the environment, and excel in communication and promotion to tourists. The assessment of a tourist destination is essential for policymakers and planners, destination refers to the heart of tourism, and thus, its development must be compatible with other attractions. To this end, quality place or destination is defined under perception of security, sanitation and health, and respect of the environment and human rights. In sustainable tourism, the evaluation process is very important to show that the tourism development has a positive impact. This calls for an appropriate strategy in the development of human resources in the tourism industry especially the developing world.

A positive image cultivated in this manner can augment the destination's allure, influence tourists' decisions to visit, and create gratifying experiences. Competent and successful management of tourist village destinations can bolster the destination's favorable image. (Sharma and Nayak 2019) identified a substantial correlation between destination image, encompassing cognitive and emotional aspects, and the overall image's influence on behavioral intention. Meanwhile, (Akama and Kieti 2003) contended that the overall image is more prone to influence tourists' decisions than cognitive and emotional images. Nevertheless, research by (Utami *et al.* 2020) suggests that cognitive and emotional images also play a substantial role in shaping the overall image, particularly since the presence of a welcoming environment is a pivotal factor in forming a positive connection with the emotional image.

A tourist destination requires the capacity to attract the interest of tourists, with a focus on primary resources and key attractions as fundamental components shaping the tourist destination, tourism services, public infrastructure, conditions, and supporting factors; and destination management, particularly in rural areas. Therefore, this article aims to examine how the development of rural tourism potential is related to local Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in the Southern Malang region and also explore the business networking models used by startups in that area.

1. Literature Review

1.1 Community-Based Tourism

Community-based tourism plays a crucial role in assisting government authorities in the creation of employment opportunities and the alleviation of poverty within local populations (Pusiran and Xiao 2013). This approach also contributes to income generation within communities. The central concept revolves around empowering communities to develop initiatives that foster sustainable growth and cultivate positive interactions between local residents and tourists. The implementation of such tourism necessitates the amalgamation of attraction management, hotel management, restaurant management, and other facets of facility management, potentially involving local Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs). Additionally, infrastructure, healthcare, education, and environmental considerations are pivotal elements in this context (Briedenhann and Wickens 2004)

Community-based tourism represents a comprehensive community engagement approach in the development of tourism destinations (Briedenhann and Wickens 2004). This approach is rooted in the recognition that tourism planning exerts a pervasive influence on the entire community. For instance, the local community's sentiments concerning the environment, infrastructure, and events significantly impact the overall tourist experience in Indonesia. Indonesia has a long history of fostering community-based tourism, reflecting a development paradigm that originates "from," is executed "by," and is oriented "to" the people across various dimensions of the nation's life, encompassing political, socio-economic, and cultural facets. In the era of decentralization, local governments have intensified their efforts to oversee development programs geared towards poverty alleviation. These government-initiated programs are disseminated across diverse regions through both short-term and long-term strategies.

One illustrative case is Sumberejo Village, situated in the Gedangan District of Malang Regency, which has emerged as a cornerstone of community-based tourism with a specific focus on preserving its cultural heritage and leveraging the local wisdom inherent in its SME products. Community-based tourism in Sumberejo Village, Gedangan District, Malang Regency, manifests as a variant of tourism that concentrates on safeguarding and harnessing the cultural heritage, traditions, and indigenous knowledge retained by the local community. It encompasses a spectrum of local wisdom aspects, including traditions, artistic expressions, culinary heritage, agricultural practices, and the daily life of the village. Sumberejo Village's community-based tourism encompasses customs like traditional handicrafts, traditional dances, and indigenous music.

The underlying aim of community-based tourism is to empower the local community by actively involving them in the development and management of tourism, the preservation of cultural heritage and traditions, the creation of economic opportunities for the local populace, and the provision of valuable and authentic experiences for tourists seeking to immerse themselves in the local way of life and culture (Aini *et al.* 2023). Moreover, community-based tourism has the potential to play a pivotal role in environmental preservation and the advancement of sustainability in the realm of tourism development within the region.

1.2 The Concept of Community Resilience

In this study, community resilience refers to the capacity of a community to establish and maintain its initiatives effectively. It is crucial for the community to learn how to safeguard and enhance essential aspects of their livelihood. In rural areas associated with rural tourism, communities can transition from precarious employment

situations to more stable ones. They can establish businesses or become involved in the rural tourism industry. Furthermore, individuals within the community play a pivotal role, with experts providing guidance. Every family member or village resident, with their diverse skills, talents, and age groups, can contribute to strengthening the community. Parents bring their experiences and lessons from the past, while the younger generations bring enthusiasm and fresh ideas.

For instance, community resilience tourism in Gajahrejo Village, Gedangan District, Malang Regency, focuses on developing the tourism sector while considering the interests and welfare of the local community. This concept emphasizes the utilization of natural resources and local economic potential to improve the quality of life for the local population while preserving and conserving the existing environment and culture. With its beautiful and captivating beach, the village can harness the tourism potential of the coastal area by training individuals to become tour guides or by managing beachside eateries. Another valuable resource is banana cultivation, which is one of the strengths of the local economy. This type of tourism is categorized as agro-tourism. Tourists can visit banana plantations, learn about the cultivation process, and purchase banana products. This also helps banana farmers increase their income. Another advantage is cattle farming. The community resilience tourism concept may encompass visits to cattle farms, including participating in activities such as feeding the cattle. These concepts aim to support the local economy, create employment opportunities, and strengthen the village community. Furthermore, this approach promotes local environmental and cultural sustainability, thereby ensuring the long-term appeal of Gajahrejo Village to tourists.

1.3 Concept of Sustainable Tourism

The concept of sustainable development entails the idea that regional progress can be achieved without causing harm to the natural environment (Wei *et al.* 2024). The term sustainable development therefore presupposes that regional advancement is possible without compromising on environmental degradation. This concept entails social, economic, and environmental sustainability since they are integrated components of development. It means, thus, that sustainable development is accomplished when the demand of the present fulfills consumption without undermining the possibility of the generations to come to satisfy the same. This approach acknowledges that the natural environment has a carrying capacity as far as human activities are concerned and that taking the natural resource beyond this limit results in negative impacts such as destruction of the natural habitat, loss of species' bio-diversity and effects on the climate.

The concept of sustainable tourism in the South Malang region pertains to the efforts aimed at developing the tourism industry in this area while taking into consideration environmental, economic, and social sustainability. Several critical aspects within this concept encompass environmental preservation, with a focus on biodiversity conservation, natural resource management, and endeavors to mitigate the adverse impacts of tourism on the environment, such as pollution, ecosystem degradation, and global warming. Additionally, the emphasis on empowering the local community involves their engagement in the tourism industry, whether as tour guides, culinary entrepreneurs, or producers of local handicrafts. In this context, it is essential to ensure that the tourism sector provides equitable economic benefits to the local community, including employment opportunities, income enhancement, and the development of small and medium-sized enterprises. The application of the concept of sustainable tourism in the South Malang region is crucial for the long-term growth of the tourism sector while preserving the natural and cultural appeal of this region and improving the well-being of the local population.

1.4 Tourism Components

According to (Middleton and Clarke 2001), there are three primary elements that constitute a tourism product. First, tourist attractions, which encompass all the appealing aspects of a place that make people want to visit. These can include various attractions at the destination, such as beaches, mountains, or historical buildings. Second, amenities or facilities, which include all the services and facilities that enhance the comfort of travel, such as information centers, restrooms, or waste disposal facilities. Destinations that have attractions but lack facilities may not attract many tourists, and conversely, destinations with numerous facilities but few attractions may not be bustling. Third, accessibility, which signifies how easy it is to reach a destination. This involves readily available information, good road conditions, and a comfortable end to the journey (Cavlek 2002).

There are also other elements that influence the tourist experience, such as infrastructure (e.g., roads and public transportation), equipment (size and speed of transportation), operational factors (e.g., routes and prices), and government regulations (transportation regulations). All of these elements affect the cost, convenience, and pleasure of a traveler's journey.
2. Method

The research approach employed an action research case study methodology. Numeric data was generated through the distribution of Likert scale questionnaires and analyzed using clustering techniques. The descriptive outcomes were subjected to SWOT analysis to ascertain the position of the tourism destination and the performance of SMEs. The phases involved in the research encompassed the identification of issues or problems requiring resolution, the planning of actions to be undertaken, the execution of these actions, data collection during or after the implementation of actions, data analysis and result evaluation, reflection, and reconsideration of the actions taken, as well as decision-making regarding subsequent steps based on the evaluation outcomes. Field visits to selected villages, such as Sumberejo, Segaran, Gajahrejo, Tumpakrejo, Sidodadi, and Pagelaran, were conducted to observe the current situation and available facilities.



Figure 1. Conceptual Overview of Abductive Approach

Source: (Halecker 2015a)

Figure 1 highlights several significant advantages of the "action research case study" research concept (*Halecker 2015b*). Firstly, this research approach enables researchers to test theories in real and natural settings, rather than in controlled laboratory environments. Secondly, the research outcomes can provide practical solutions to the issues at hand and contribute to proposed changes in existing theories. Thirdly, this method allows for a deeper information collection due to direct interactions with the people and situations under investigation. Fourthly, the approach permits small-scale changes within organizations through planned interventions. Fifthly, due to its specific issue-oriented focus, this research has a shorter time span. Sixthly, researchers can actively engage in practical projects without having to be the sole decision-makers. Seventhly, stakeholders and participating organizations in this research also gain new insights and can discover solutions to their practical problems.

3. Result and Discussion

The Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) program in South Malang plays a vital role in rural tourism development by fostering interaction between visitors and local communities. Local residents can provide services such as village tours, sell handmade crafts, or offer local cuisine. This creates additional business opportunities for those not directly involved in SMEs. These business operators also play a crucial role in the success of SMEs in the region, although their contributions are not always immediately visible. The income earned by SME operators in South Malang provides financial motivation for them to focus more on their businesses. This additional benefit is not only enjoyed by the operators but also by villagers not directly engaged in SMEs. The local economy is further stimulated, and the benefits are felt more broadly. The SME program in this region is not just about earning extra income but also about the development of entrepreneurial skills (Winarno and Agustina 2022) in the tourism sector. In the tourism industry, exploration and social interaction can motivate communities to engage in interactions with tourists and destination management.

The key success factors for any program in South Malang, such as local SMEs, are leadership, unity, and improved understanding among the community. These conditions enhance ownership and pride. The more motivated local communities are to actively participate in the program, the more prepared they are to engage actively. If local communities are not ready to participate actively, third parties can influence the established

patterns, potentially leading to external dominance in business development, such as SMEs (A. Winarno *et al.* 2018). This indicates that the "grassroot community-based" approach can have a positive impact accepted by the local community, increasing the likelihood of success in rural tourism development programs.

The benefits that local communities in South Malang obtain through programs such as SMEs can vary depending on how they engage in the program and how they respond to economic and business developments in their community. According to (Pusiran and Xiao 2013), the impact of SME programs and rural tourism potential can differ based on factors such as the comparison between business activities and local community activities, economic, social, and environmental conditions around businesses, similarities or differences between local communities and business stakeholders, and effective program management and supervision.

No.	Description	Explanation					
		Year					
		2021 2022	2023				
1	Number of registered	203 265 305	5 (50 are				
	SIMES	2015	active)				
		cakes)	nden chspy				
	Number of Registered	Beaches (Ungapan; Bajul Mati; Parang Dowo; Kangen; Batu Bengkur	ng; Ngudel;				
2	Category	Nganteb; Wonogoro; Jelangkung) Mountains (Coban Ninwana: Goa Perawan: Susur Sungai)					
	Category	In the Gedangan District, there are eight villages, each of which posses	ses tourism				
		potential:					
		1. Sumberejo Village (Mount Gede, Cultural Arts, Local Wisdom of SME Products,					
		2 Segaran Village (Rest Area at Mount Walikukun, Sumber Loo Bathing	Spot				
		Culinary Tourism Banana Cultivation Pot Flower Production)	opol,				
	Tourist Potential	3. Gajahrejo Village (Beach, Banana Cultivation, Shrimp Farming, Cattle	Farming,				
3	Villages (Categories)	4. Fertilizer Production)	0,				
		5. Tumpakrejo Village (Nganteb Beach, Cultural Heritage, Local Wisdom))				
		6. Sidodadi Village (Virgin Cave, River Trekking)					
		7. Pagelaran Village (Pottery, Art and Culture)					
		These villages, collectively, offer diverse tourism potentials that encompass natural,					
		cultural, and local elements, contributing to the development of the tourism sector in the					
		region.					
		- The number of destinations and their categories remains a proposed a	ictivity				
		submitted by the sub-district head in the village innovation program.					
		- I here has been no tangible realization and limited intensity due to the	research				
		participants' human resources not being able to maximize their potenti	al.				
		 A robust cultural organization has been established in one of the villag (Ourse partie) Village 	es				
	The policies of the	(Sumperejo Village).					
	Gedangan District	 I ne networks formed are still unidirectional; nence, active mentoring fr nettice is required 	om specific				
	government related to						
4	Village Tourism and	Collaboration with the State University of Malang for branding a beach tour	rism project				
	Micro, Small, and	scheduled for August with the following activity plan:	nam project				
	Medium Enterprises	Cultural performances and local wisdom of the community involving pr	ominent				
	(MSMEs)	figures and formal and non-formal educational institutions	ommont				
		 Empowerment of SMEs through product exhibitions/bazaars as a mea 	ns of				
		developing and expanding the marketing of community products.	-				
		3. The activity plan is in the collaborative phase with government agencie	es, but a				
		final decision has not been reached (communication and informatics; in	ndustry and				
		trade; tourism; cooperatives; agriculture; youth and sports).	-				

Table 1. Tourism Potential Villages in Gedangan Subdistrict, Malang Regency

Source: Author's own work

Effective collaboration between the local community and village government contributes to the development of SMEs in South Malang. Village governments need to provide support in improving village infrastructure, which also supports rural tourism. Village governments should also establish teams to expedite the development of village tourism, enabling community involvement in regional development. These activities also help promote the

friendliness of the local community as a rural tourism attraction. By utilizing existing natural and cultural resources, communities can develop tourism products without the need for significant infrastructure investment. Overall, rural tourism programs assist in achieving the government's goals of poverty reduction and job creation through SME development (Lestari *et al.* 2020).

The resilience of the community in the South Malang region depends on the community's ability to adapt to changes in the tourism industry, cultural exchanges, and environmental issues. The ongoing process involves how SMEs and rural communities can collaborate in addressing the challenges and opportunities arising in the tourism sector. The challenges faced include rapid advancements in information systems, community mindsets, and limited infrastructure. The South Malang community has a positive willingness to address issues arising from both within and outside the rural community environment. Those with an understanding of cultural identity and adaptability to environmental changes will be more capable of utilizing external financial programs to develop their regions and support local SMEs (Middleton and Clarke 2001).

Findings from previous research indicate that there are several issues to be addressed for the SME and village tourism programs in South Malang to be sustainable and successful. A study conducted by Nor (2010) identified some challenges, which can be categorized into two groups: internal and external challenges. Internal challenges in the South Malang region refer to issues that arise within the community and village tourism operators, typically addressed through internal discussions. Meanwhile, external challenges for this region pertain to factors beyond the community's control. In the context of SMEs and rural tourism in South Malang, this suggests that efforts to maintain the sustainability of village tourism programs must consider and address various challenges originating from both within the community and external factors (Terziev and Arabska 2017).

Dimensions of Tourism Competitiveness and Demand		Indikator
Core resources and Key attractor	1)	Natural Resources
	2)	Historical and Archaeological Sites
	3ĺ	Artistic and Architectural Features
	4)́	Green Areas
	5)	Cultural Attractions
	6)	Leisure Activities
	7)	Local Products
Tourism Services	1)	Accommodation Quality
	2)́	Environmentally Friendly Accommodations
	3)	Food Service Quality
	4)́	Tourist-Oriented Services
Conditioning and Supporting Factor	1)	Destination Accessibility and Proximity to Other Tourist Attractions
	2)	Value for Money in the Tourism Experience
	3)	Tourism Company Management Capability
	4)	The Use of Information Technology by Tourism Companies
	5)	Professional Skill Level in the Tourism Sector
	6)	Local Residents' Friendliness towards Tourists
	7)	Safety and Security
Tourism Policy, Planning and Development	1)	An Integrated Approach to Tourism Planning
	2)	Environmentally Friendly Approach to Tourism Development
	2)	Planning Dublic Control Committee and the Minimizer Negative Equiperature to be
	3)	Public Sector Commitment to Minimize Negative Environmental
	1)	Impacts of Fourism Public Sector Commitment to Minimize Negative Social Impacts of
	4)	Tourism on Local Communities
	5)	Public Sector Commitment to Maximize the Economic Impact of
	0)	Tourism on Local Communities
	6)	Emphasis on Community Empowerment
	7)	Public Sector Commitment to Tourism/Hospitality Education and
	,	Training
	8)	Collaboration between the Public and Private Sectors for Local
		Tourism Development

Table 2. Integrated Model of Tourism Destination Competitiveness

Source: (Dwyer and Kim 2003)

Based on the indicators in the above table, the destination competitiveness model identifies four main dimensions that also can be measured as influential contributions to the development of SMEs, which are applicable in the South Malang region. Core resources and key attractors involve unique elements such as nature, culture, history, and society that make rural tourism destinations appealing to tourists. Meanwhile, tourism services encompass the quality and quantity of accommodations and the quality of services offered within the tourist destination. Conditioning and supporting factors include destination accessibility, its relationship to other destinations, the presence of local businesses, environmental quality, safety, and the local population's attitudes toward tourists.

From the field findings, it was determined that the appeal of nature, culture, history, and society is crucial in attracting tourists. However, over-reliance on these attractions leads to the over-exploitation of natural and cultural resources, which, in turn, can harm the environment and damage cultural heritage. Furthermore, the development of accommodation and service infrastructure in the South Malang region requires significant investment, which is a constraint for local SMEs with limited financial resources and influence in infrastructure improvement to remain competitive in this regard. Effective destination management is required for better planning, organization, and good management; however, the knowledge and skills are not always available among local SMEs. The lack of management capacity ultimately hinders the development of SME potential in the South Malang region (Agung Winarno and Nadia 2021). Therefore, these four dimensions can enhance destination competitiveness, but they also pose challenges to the development of local SMEs. In the end, wise efforts and collaboration among relevant parties are required to ensure that SME potential can be realized without harming the existing natural, cultural, and environmental resources.

Conclusion

Based on the findings of this study, it is concluded that the tourism situation in the South Malang region is still in its infancy. This is reflected in the limited number of tourist destinations, which need further diversification. The contribution of the tourism sector to the development of SMEs is not yet significant. SMEs have grown relatively with limited technology applications and predominantly local marketing areas. However, these findings provide opportunities for further development. With the right efforts, the potential of this region can be elevated to become a more attractive destination. Although community support is currently relatively weak, awareness of the local tourism potential can be enhanced through the right approach, such as involving the community in the development and promotion of destinations. With strategic steps, South Malang has the potential to become a more diverse and appealing tourist destination in the future.

This study focused on mapping community-based tourism products in the South Malang region, with an emphasis on the potential development of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in the local context. The research did not investigate the technical operational aspects of existing business networks but rather emphasized their economic implications and potential social impacts. Furthermore, the study considered the challenges and opportunities that arose during the research period. Therefore, the research results may not encompass all changes and situations in the future.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the State University of Malang for financial support in implementing this program.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Agung Winarno: Writing - original draft, Writing - review and editing, Methodology, Data analysis **Desti Nur Aini**: Writing Doriginal draft, Writing - review and editing.

Norlida Hanim Mohd. Saleh: Writing - original draft, Writing - review and editing.

M. Aris Ichwanto: Conceptualization, Writing - review and editing, Supervision.

Agus Purnomo : Conceptualization, Writing - review and editing, Supervision.

Amalia A. Rahman: Conceptualization, Data analysis

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- [1] Aini, Desti Nur, Agung Winarno, Arsadi Arsadi, and Norlida Hanim Mohd Salleh. 2023. Pottery Craft Development: Upgrading the Traditional Combustion Management Patterns for Product Quality and Aesthetics in Pagelaran Village, Malang. Bahasa Dan Seni: Jurnal Bahasa, Sastra, Seni, Dan Pengajarannya 51 (1): 1– 12. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.17977/um015v51i12023p1</u>
- [2] Akama, John S, and Damiannah Mukethe Kieti. 2003. Measuring Tourist Satisfaction with Kenya's Wildlife Safari: A Case Study of Tsavo West National Park. *Tourism Management* 24 (1): 73–81. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(02)00044-4</u>
- [3] Briedenhann, Jenny, and Eugenia Wickens. 2004. Tourism Routes as a Tool for the Economic Development of Rural Areas—Vibrant Hope or Impossible Dream? *Tourism Management* 25 (1): 71–79. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(03)00063-3</u>
- [4] Cavlek, Nevenka. 2002. Tour Operators and Sustainable Development–A Contribution to the Environment. Journal of Transnational Management Development 7 (4): 45–54. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J130v07n04_04</u>
- [5] Chin, Wei Lee, and Mark P. Hampton. 2020. The Relationship between Destination Competitiveness and Residents' Quality of Life: Lessons from Bali. *Tourism and Hospitality Management* 26 (2): 311–36. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.20867/thm.26.2.3</u>
- [6] Desembrianita, Eva, Nirwanto Maruf, Tri Cicik Wijayanti, Zainul Wasik, and Jumadi Jumadi. 2021. The Implementation of the Sociopreneur Strategy in the Role of Raharjo Village Owned Enterprises (BUMDES) in the Development of the Strawberry Barn Tourist Village, Batu City. *Budapest International Research and Critics Institute-Journal (BIRCI-Journal)* 4 (4): 7920–31. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.33258/birci.v4i4.2710</u>
- [7] Dwyer, L., and Kim C. 2003. Destination Competitiveness: Determinants and Indicators. Current Issues in Tourism 6 (5): 369–414.
- [8] Halecker, Bastian. 2015a. Action Case Study A Research Strategy Based on Abduction For Relevant And Rigorous Management Research. International Journal of Business Research 15 (4): 23–32. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.18374/IJBR-15-4.3</u>
- [9] Lestari, Ni Putu Nina Eka, I. Nyoman Rasmen Adi, Ni Nyoman Reni Suasih, and Alit Sumantri. 2020. Mapping the Potential and the Development of Kendran as a Tourism Village Model in Bali. *Jurnal Bali Membangun Bali*, 1 (3): 193–220. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.51172/jbmb.v1i3.143</u>
- [10] Martaleni, Martaleni, Ernani Hadiyati, Yussi Pertiwi, and Ni Yasa. 2021. Role of Tourist Motivation as Mediating Variable on Visitor Decisions at Indonesian Tourism Village. *Innovative Marketing* 17 (August): 88–98. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.21511/im.17(3).2021.07</u>
- [11] Middleton, Victor T. C., and Jackie Clarke. 2001. *Marketing in Travel and Tourism*. Elsevier Science and Technology Books.
- [12] Morrison, Alastair M., Jun-Hwa (Jacky) Cheah, and Rajinder Kumar. 2024. A Destination Performance Measurement Framework: Exploring the Relationships among Performance Criteria and Revisit Intentions. *Current Issues in Tourism* 1 (1): 1–19. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2024.2309149</u>
- [13] Pusiran, Arif Kamisan, and Honggen Xiao. 2013. Challenges and Community Development: A Case Study of Homestay in Malaysia. Asian Social Science 9 (5): p1. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v9n5p1</u>
- [14] Schiffman, Mark, Gary Clifford, and Franco M. Buonaguro. 2009. Classification of Weakly Carcinogenic Human Papillomavirus Types: Addressing the Limits of Epidemiology at the Borderline. *Infectious Agents and Cancer* 4 (June):8. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-9378-4-8</u>
- [15] Sharma, Pramod, and Jogendra Nayak. 2019. Do Tourists' Emotional Experiences Influence Images and Intentions in Yoga Tourism? *Tourism Review* 74 (May). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TR-05-2018-0060</u>
- [16] Susyanti, Dewi Winarni. 2013. "Potensi desa melalui pariwisata pedesaan. Ekonomi and Bisnis 12 (1). DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.32722/eb.v12i1.650</u>
- [17] Terziev, Venelin, and Ekaterina Arabska. 2017. Social Entrepreneurship, Social Values and Social Impact. SSRN Scholarly Paper. Rochester, NY. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3142936</u>

- [18] Utami, Nabilah Wahyu, Sheila Sherviana, Istijanto Istijanto, and B. Realino Yudianto. 2020. Pengaruh Emosi Wisatawan Terhadap Citra Kognitif Dan Afektif Dalam Wisata Yoga Di Bali. *Kajian Branding Indonesia* 2 (2): 201–29. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.21632/kbi.2.2.201-229</u>
- [19] Wei, Binhui, Chunkai Zhao, Mingzhong Luo, Zhimin Jia, and Hailong Xia. 2024. Beyond the Scenery: Understanding the Impact of Rural Tourism Development on Household Consumption in China. *Review of Development Economics* 28 (3): 1152–91. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rode.13096</u>
- [20] Winarno, A., T. Wijijayanti, Y. Agustina, and Sopingi. 2018. Pioneering an Autonomous Village Through the Management of Sustainable Tourism Village Based on Local Potential in Malang Regency. *KnE Social Sciences*, 1–15. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.18502/kss.v3i3.1870</u>
- [21] Winarno*, Agung, and Yuli Agustina. 2022. The Social Entrepreneurship Integration Model: An Alternative to Community Income Stability in Rural Area in East Java, Indonesia. CEMJP 30 (4): 2494–2507. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.57030/23364890.cemj.30.4.264</u>
- [22] Winarno, Agung, and Desy Nadia. 2021. Double-Track Entrepreneurial Education Model to Improve Independence Among Students of Islamic Boarding School in Malang. *Jurnal Ilmu Pendidikan* 27 (2): 86–90. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.17977/um048v27i2p86-90</u>
- [23] Yoon, Yooshik, Dogan Gursoy, and Joseph S. Chen. 2001. Validating a Tourism Development Theory with Structural Equation Modeling. *Tourism Management* 22 (4): 363–72. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(00)00062-5</u>
- [24] UU No. 10 Tahun 2009. n.d. Database Peraturan | JDIH BPK. <u>http://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Details/38598/uu-no-10-tahun-2009</u> (in Indonesian)



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).12

Exploring Tourists' Experience in Cinema-Induced Tourism through Sentiment Analysis Approach: Case of Ouarzazate Film Attractions

Moulay Abdellah TAIBI The Faculty of Arts and Humanities Cadi Ayyad University, Marrakech, Morocco ORCID: 0009-0005-3298-4192 Corresponding Author: <u>m.taibi.ced@uca.ac.ma</u>

> Raja HANBALI The Faculty of Sciences Ibn Tofail University, Kenitra, Morocco <u>raja.hanbali@uit.ac.ma</u>

Fatima-Zohra IFLAHEN The Faculty of Arts and Humanities Cadi Ayyad University, Marrakech, Morocco <u>f.iflahen@uca.ac.ma</u>

Article info: Received 18 June 2024; Received in revised form 8 July 2024; Accepted for publication 31 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: This research aims to explore tourists' experiences in movie-induced tourism in the region of Ouarzazate, the hub of the cinematographic industry in Morocco and Africa to come up with managerial implications that can improve the tourist experience in this region. A sentiment analysis approach was applied to TripAdvisor reviews in English on the three main filming facilities and attractions: Atlas and CLA studios and the film museum in Ouarzazate. The method combined topic modeling and lexicon-based algorithms; an approach based on Natural Language Processing using a Python toolkit to investigate prevailing sentiment among visitors of these touristic sites. The result of our study showed that tourists generally have a positive sentiment towards the region of Ouarzazate. However, the desert still dominates as the primary aspect that attracts tourists to the region, while cinema is a secondary attraction to the majority of tourists. The study is one of the first studies to reflect on the potential of Cinema Induced Tourism in Ouarzazate, Morocco, one of the attractive destinations for tourists and filmmakers, which, despite its potential, does not figure among cinema-induced tourism destinations in the literature.

Keywords: tourism; cinema-induced tourism; Ouarzazate; sentiment analysis.

JEL Classification: Z32;

Introduction

Ouarzazate is one of the five provinces of the Draa Tafilalet region, Morocco. This region is a well-recognized tourist destination worldwide for its desert tours. Owing to its history and geographical location, this province has distinguishing qualities that make tourism and cinema the main pillars of Ouarzazate's economy. This territory is one of the most attractive destinations for tourists and filmmakers as it affords most of the touristic infrastructure in the region in addition to cinema facilities, which is why Ouarzazate annually attracts foreign and Moroccan movie productions. Due to this reputation, the city was nicknamed the Hollywood of Africa. As a meeting point for tourism and cinema, this city has features of a movie-induced tourism destination.

This paper aims to assess the significance of cinema-induced tourism as a potential niche for innovative cultural tourism practices in Ouarzazate. Using the opinion-mining approach, we explored tourist opinions on their experience in movie-induced tourism in this province. TripAdvisor reviews about the main film attractions were

collected and analyzed through combining topic modeling and lexicon-based algorithm techniques based on Natural Language Processing relying on a Python toolkit.

The originality of our study is in exploring the untapped potential and significance of assessing the reputation of a place as a top film tourism destination through visitors' reviews. Ouarzazate has been widely recognized by national professionals in tourism and culture as a significant hub for film tourism. However, obtaining a deeper understanding of the real experiences and viewpoints of visitors through their assessments provides a nuanced perspective on the efficacy of the location as a film tourism destination. The purpose is to evaluate the extent to which Ouarzazate's identity and appeal as a film tourism destination are validated by the testimonies of its visitors. The findings offer valuable insights for the development of appropriate strategies and suitable marketing activities.

1. Literature Review

1.1 Tourism as an Experience

The shift in modern consumer behavior from focusing on the product and service to focusing on the experience makes this latter an essential driver of the economy (Yang *et al.* 2020). Since its first use by Pine and Gilmore (1998), the "experience economy" has gained ground. Many researchers consider it at the heart of different fields of activities, including the hospitality industry, where experience is the core of the whole operation (Sarmiento-Guede *et al.* 2021), as well as a source of value creation (Sorensen *et al.* 2017). After commodities, goods, and services, experience has emerged as the fourth and last step in the "progression of economic value." For Pine and Filmore (1998, p. 98), experience is "not an amorphous construct; it is as real an offering as any service, good or commodity". It is the most influential antecedent that can affect tourists' intentions to revisit a destination (Chang *et al.* 2014); the reason why a good experience would be the best way to commercialize a destination among potential visitors.

The main focus of tourists' Experience while traveling is " visiting, seeing, and living in a different mode of life" of the destination (Stamboulis and Skayannis, 2003, p. 38). In addition to reasoning abilities during visits, previous experiences help tourists give meaning to the Experience they are living (Oliveira *et al.* 2019). Accumulated experiences help tourists classify and rate destinations according to their level of satisfaction. Experience is not only limited to the instant feelings while visiting a destination but extended to the ability of the service to construct an everlasting memory, for the ultimate purpose of an experience is to "create lasting memories that a visitor will reminisce about and will share in respective social networks," (Andrades and Dimanche, 2014, p. 108). Extensive documentation exists in the literature on defining and specifying the factors that create an exciting and memorable experience. Larsen *et al.* (2019) argue that for a tourist's experience to be interesting depends on a combination of familiarity and novelty, while Sthapit *et al.* (2020, p. 549) add that different factors significantly influence the "importance and memorability of a tourist's experience: satisfaction, novelty, refreshment, involvement, and knowledge." Beatriz Gómez-Morales *et al.* (2024) state that research on film fan tourists highlights the psychological and sociological aspects of their experiences, particularly at filming locations, where they experience the narrative, fantasize, and create new memories.

Based on the literature, Gentil *et al.* (2007, p. 397) defined customer experience as "an evolution of the relationship between the company and the customer. The Customer experience originates from interactions between a customer and a product, a company, or part of its organization, which provoke a reaction. This experience is strictly personal and implies the customer's involvement at different levels (rational, emotional, sensorial, physical and spiritual)". Customer experience includes both participation tourism experience perception and opportunity tourism experience perception (Ge, 2022).

1.1 Value Co-Creation in the Era of UGC

By sharing the experience through word-of-mouth with one's social network, family, friends, and colleagues, the visitor creates a circle of potential visitors that would base their traveling decisions on that experience. Disseminating information about an experience guides potential tourists and service providers in the destinations to improve the service and the whole experience. This exchange is the first step to achieving value co-creation, a revolutionary notion that ends the traditional model where the suppliers produce goods and services, and the customer is a passive consumer.

The emergence of Web 2.0 and ICT has considerably boosted these social processes and interactions between different stakeholders. Like most activities, tourism has widely benefited from the proliferation of these tools that add further social dimensions of co-creation and empower the consumer (Neuhofer *et al.* 2014). They have transformed how experiences and value are created (Neuhofer *et al.* 2012) by revolutionizing communication between service providers and their customers and consumers. ICT and Social Media, in particular, have improved

working and communication techniques and brought the concept of peer communication during service processing (Grönroos, 2012). In other words, these tools facilitate vertical communication between the customers and suppliers or service providers and horizontal communication among consumers and users. Potential visitors and media users can access various travel content, opinions, and commentaries produced and shared by other users (Lam *et al.* 2020). According to Assaker (2020), tourists increasingly rely on reviews on social media from previous tourists to make travel decisions (Lam *et al.* 2020). A study by Gretzel and Yoo (2008) confirms that 97% of the participants in a survey admitted consulting previous travelers' reviews while planning their trips (González-Rodríguez *et al.* 2021).

These opinions and reviews are an aspect of what is currently known as User Generated Content (UGC), a creative work produced without a clear commercial interest and published on publicly accessible websites OECD (2007). UGC is related to electronic word-of-mouth, e-WOM marketing (Wang and Rodgers, 2010). It is a horizontal communication built on compassion among peers (tourists) far from the influence of Destination Marketing Organisations (DMOs) and service providers. It is any "positive or negative statement made by potential, actual, or former customers about a product or company, made available to many people and institutions via the Internet" (Hennig-Thurau *et al.* 2004, p. 39). Unlike traditional Business-to-Consumer (B2C) advertising models, e-WOM's main characteristic is the ability of consumers to control and create marketing communication about any given product or service (Wang and Rodgers 2010, 214).

Because UGC and eWOM are increasingly gaining customers' trust, companies work on taking advantage of these tools by getting involved in the process and adopting them as marketing strategies (Wang and Rodgers, 2010), which questions the truthfulness and reliability of UGC information (Lu and Stepchenkova, 2015). Despite some critics, UGC has significantly shifted the power balance between businesses and customers, shifting from Goods-Centered to Service-Centered Dominant Logic Vargo and Lusch (2004). This shift, facilitated by UGC, allows businesses and customers to collaborate and create value.

1.2 Movie-Induced Tourism in Ouarzazate

Ouarzazate is one of the five provinces composing the Draa Tafilalet region with an area of 12464 km², which counts for 14 % of the total regional territory (HCP, 2019). Geographically, it is situated between the High Atlas and Anti-Atlas Mountains. The history and geographical location offered Ouarzazate specific characteristics that make tourism and cinema the first and second pillars of Ouarzazate's economy (Zabadi, 2016). Ouarzazate is considered one of the most attractive regions for both tourists and film producers.

The province affords significant and varied potential in tourist activity, allowing it to be the principal pole of tourist attraction in the Draa Tafilalet region. Tourism is considered the fundamental field of activity in the provincial economy. Up to 31/12/2015, the province had 47.2% of the number of classified tourist establishments, with a proportion of 52.1% of the total rooms and 74.8% of nights spent in the region in 2015. (HCP, 2019). Foreign tourist arrivals in Ouarzazate reached 236 857 in 2018, representing 4.5% of foreign national (HCP, 2019).

Concerning the cinematographic industry, Ouarzazate is internationally known as a destination for many international producers and filmmakers. This reputation granted the city the nickname: "Hollywood of Africa". Earning this privilege was due to its natural, cultural, and human assets. Its unique topography and landscape made it an appealing destination for the cinematographic industry Rutherford and Marshall (2017, p. 25) and its brilliant sun and its quietness (which is conveyed by its Amazigh name 'ouar zazat' which literally means 'that which is without noise') motivated the British producer-director David Lean to "became the first top producer to utilize the site's crystal-clear atmosphere when he shot shimmering desert scenes for Lawrence of Arabia" in 1962 (Rutherford and Marshall 2017 p25). The local architectural style known as Ksur and Kasbahs is also an attraction for many famous producers and directors like Ridley Scott, who transformed the Ksar Ait Benhadou into sets for his blockbuster Gladiator in 2000. The same site was the setting of many famous films, from Sodom and Gomorrah (1963) to Game of Thrones (2017).

In addition to these traditional and historical buildings transformed into movie sets, Ouarzazate affords three main filming facilities: Atlas1983, CLA 1983, and Kanzaman, 2004 Studios. These facilities offer directors and producers sets used by previous productions with the possibility of modifying them to respond to the requirements of the new films or even building new ones on request. Ouarzazate affords highly experienced extras, and skillful craftsmen who can "fabricate anything anywhere" (Rutherford and Marshall 2017p 27) using materials such as plaster, plastic and polystyrene, wood and metal.

As mentioned earlier, the cinematographic industry constitutes the second pillar of the province's economy. Ouarzazate studios and region increasingly attract movie national and international movie productions (Rutherford and Marshall 2017, p. 28). The general manager of Atlas and CLA studios says that "the increasing number of film

productions in Ouarzazate not only creates new opportunities for Moroccan and Arab-world actors and directors but also boosts income for everyone in the region, from taxi drivers to restaurant owners" and that around 30 percent of the budget is spent locally on everything from hotels and meals to helicopters. (Rutherford and Marshall 2017, p. 26)

Being a meeting point of both tourism and cinema gives Ouarzazate an absolute advantage that has led to the emergence of a specific tourism niche: movie-induced tourism.



Figure 1. Map of Draa Tafilalet Region Provinces, adapted from HCP

Carte 1: Provinces de la Région

1.3 Movie-Induced Tourism

People usually interchange the terms movie-induced tourism, film-induced tourism, and film tourism. They are all used to refer to a worldwide emerging typology of tourism that is "fueled by both the growth of the entertainment industry and the increase in international travel" (Hudson and Richie, 2006, p. 387). The literature defines this phenomenon as the "visitation of a site or a location that is or has been used for or is associated with filming" (Buchmann *et al.* 2010, p.233). Roesch (2009, p. 6) defines it as a "specific pattern of tourism that drives visitors to see screened places during or after the production of a feature film or a television production". For Hudson and Ritchie (2006, p. 387), it is "tourist visits to a destination or attraction as a result of the destination's being featured on television, video, or the cinema screen".

Like all of its precursors, such as art and literary tourism, movie-induced tourism "falls under the umbrella of cultural tourism" (Gjorgievski and Trpkova, 2012, p. 98). Bolan and Kearne (2017) argue that the beginning of cinema-induced tourism was with the John Ford film 'Quiet Man,' 1952 (Bolan and Kearne, 2017), while in a literature review, Taibi and Iflahen 2023 state that the first known form of cinema-induced tourism is associated with Casablanca (1943) by Michael Curtiz, which makes Morocco a pioneering destination of cinema-induced tourism. However, the connection between films and tourism gained ground in the 20th century when cinema and television became principal media (Beeton, 2016). Only until the late 2000s did movie-induced tourism become a widely researched topic among academics (Connel 2012, 1012).

Beeton (2005) explains that film has a vital role in destination imaging and marketing as it reinforces the image of a destination held by potential visitors, builds a new one, or replaces an old one. The effect of films on tourists who seek to "re-live an experience (or even emotion) encountered in the film, reinforce myth, storytelling or fantasies, or for reasons of status (or celebrity)" (Beeton 2010, 2) pushed the advertising industry to adopt it as an effective strategy to reach potential mass markets (Horrigan 2009, 52). Many countries have witnessed increased tourists after being featured in films or television dramas (Hudson and Ritchie, 2006). Hudson and Ritchie (2006, 256) add that Tourism Organizations can use films as "springboards for marketing" if visitors perceive them as appropriate for the destination. Though destinations featured in movies generally attract fans for a visit, Spears *et al.* (2013) specify that destinations featured in Hollywood movies have the most robust attractiveness.

Within movie-induced tourism, Beeton (2005) distinguishes between 'on-location' tourism and 'off-location' tourism. The first refers to the actual physical site of the film shooting, while the second refers to movie sets and locations created in film studios and the film studio to replace the actual site. In the context of Ouarzazate, we are mainly concerned with off-location tourism as the filming facilities on the site that filmmakers use as an alternative for locations worldwide.

Cinema-induced tourism is an essential niche in Ouarzazate regarding its potential in cinema and tourism. However, destination marketers and academia give little importance to this activity. There needs to be more institutional promotion valorizing the movies filmed in Morocco, and there is a dearth of research in this area (Taibi and Iflahen, 2023).

1.4 Previous Studies Used Sentiment Analysis

The development and affordability of communication tools such as devices, internet connections, and eventually social media raised internet users who share information on the network to express their opinions or vent their emotions (Xu *et al.* 2019). The exponential growth of data on the Internet in various fields has led to the emergence of big data (Shayaa *et al.* 2018), the datasets whose size is beyond the ability of typical database software tools to capture, store, manage, and analyze" (J. Manyika *et al.* 2011, 1). Nowadays, digital data is a tool for both businessmen and their clients (Manyika *et al.* 2011). To exploit it, researchers have developed methodologies to analyze the massive amount of data. Opinion mining, called sentiment analysis, is an emerging method among these tools. It is the extraction of individual viewpoints and emotional responses towards specific entities, phenomena (Pawar *et al.* 2016). This new methodology has been recently used in tourism studies to analyze tourists' opinions vis-à-vis a given destination. Unstructured data retrieved from social media or other platforms is treated using various methods and tools to develop insight into tourists' experiences.

Wang and Kirilenko (2021) researched to confirm that the opinions and feelings expressed by tourists in their reviews through social media on the Grand Canyon, USA, significantly impact other visitors' decisions to visit the park and how sentiments and experiences change according to the origin of the reviewer. The data studied was 27,177 reviews on TripAdvisor from visitors from ten different countries.

Ge (2022) analyzed tourists' experiences and perceptions of tourism experience and explored the characteristics of tourists' behavior to devise managerial suggestions to deal with negative reviews to strengthen the sustainable development of small island tourism. This study used the content analysis method and Ver1.0.1 word frequency analysis software to count the frequency of 120 travel notes retrieved online.

Arianto and Budi (2020) conducted an aspect-based sentiment analysis based on a dataset of 5592 Google Maps reviews of Indonesia's tourist sites Borobudur and Prambanan Temple. The data was retrieved using BotSol's Google Maps review Crawlers, and then data was manually annotated. The researchers applied five machine learning algorithms: Random Forest (RF), Naïve Bayes (NB), Logistic Regression (LR), Decision Tree (DT), and Extra Tree (ET). In addition to words, the researchers also processed emojis.

Garner *et al.* (2022) used topic modeling to interpret and categorize comments and reviews about travel dimensions from Yelp.com. Then, the authors performed a sentiment analysis using machine learning to capture the weight of positive and negative words in each review. R package was used to generate a selection of topics featured by frequent keywords, used correlated topic models, and conducted topic sentiment analysis, with each comment as a single document, to identify the valence of each review. After obtaining frequent keywords from each topic, the researchers investigated the original sentences to determine the content of each topic.

This new method has been applied nationally by a few researchers in tourism. Ali *et al.* (2021) provide a new technique by combining topic modeling and lexicon-based algorithms to explore the destination's negative e-reputation using an aspect-based sentiment analysis approach. The corpus of the study was 39,216 TripAdvisor reviews from different locations and attractions in Marrakech, Morocco. This approach focuses on Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) instead of an R package to extract hidden aspects and dimensions from the visitors' reviews and then conduct Lexicon-based sentiment analysis to reveal the weaknesses in the tourism experience in this city.

Safaa *et al.* (2017) studied how tourists identify the authenticity of a travel experience in Marrakech and its surroundings. The methodology adopted was the semantic analysis of a corpus of 361 reviews collected from different types of tourism establishments on TripAdvisor. The study used the IRAMUTEQ analysis method to identify the dominant ideas and themes in the reviews according to computing frequency and proximity statistics of words in the data.

Concerning cinema and the application of sentiment analysis to movie-induced tourism, Agrusa *et al.* (2018) studied Walt Disney's animated film Frozen and its impact on tourism in Norway. Unlike other studies using sentiment analysis on data retrieved from online platforms, this study was an electronic survey with over 1,000 worldwide participants who shared their opinions about the effect of movie tourism on a destination. The study used open-ended questions, which the researchers analyzed through text mining. The study resorted to dictionaries to classify the comments by uploading the API and then categorizing opinions into positive, negative, and neutral.

2. Research Methodology

This section presents the methods and tools used in this paper to answer the research questions.

2.1 TripAdvisor Platform

With the emergence of Web 2.0, interactive platforms changed the dynamics of relations between consumers and service providers. Founded in 2000, TripAdvisor aims to serve as a travel information and advisory e-channel (Law, 2006). The platform owners claim it to be "the world's largest travel guidance platform with more than 1 billion reviews and opinions of nearly 8 million businesses, available in 43 markets and 22 languages" (TripAdvisor).

TripAdvisor is not a booking agent or tour operator; it acts as a comparison-shopping website to introduce the best offers to potential travelers/tourists based on reviews and ratings by other users. Due to its reputation among travelers and academia, we opted for TripAdvisor to investigate the opinions of tourists of Ouarzazate concerning the significance of film tourism.

2.2 Methods and Tools

This paper utilizes topic modeling with Latent Dirichlet allocation (LDA) to expose latent trends in a corpus of reviews on filming facilities and cinema museums in Ouarzazate collected from TripAdvisor. The collected dataset will display topics that indicate the opinions and sentiments of tourists through reviews. Using a vocabulary-based algorithm, we developed a sentiment analysis model using reviewers' ratings to show to what extent the vocabulary used in reviews reflects the sentiments of tourists.

2.2.1 Latent Dirichlet Allocation

Topic modeling is a type of modeling that assumes that observed variables interact with unobserved or latent parameters in a specific probabilistic relationship, which then generates the data within a dataset (Vayansky and Kumar, 2020). It is one of the most potent techniques in text mining for data mining, latent data discovery, and finding relationships among data and text documents (Jelodar, 2018).

One of the most popular topic modeling methods is Latent Dirichlet Assignment (LDA), an unsupervised generative probabilistic model of a corpus. In brief, it represents documents as random mixtures over latent topics," where all topic's characteristics are via a distribution over words author (Jelodar, 2018, p.3).

Steps and Processes

The following chart illustrates the steps of the processes of our method.



Figure 2. Diagram of research flow

2.3 Experiments and Results

Data were collected, preprocessed then analyzed using basic natural language processing techniques on the studied corpus of reviews.

2.3.1 Data Preparation

2.3.1.1 Data extraction

This study aims to analyze TripAdvisor reviews on Ouarzazate, Morocco. Travelers mostly use the platform to discover future travel destinations or provide feedback on their experiences. This platform is a set of web pages following the same template. Each page contains:

Overviews, more exciting experiences near you, reviews, questions and answers, FAQs. The section considered here is where users provide feedback. Each review consists of the following set of information:

- Reviewer's name.
- Reviewer's location.
- User information: User level, date of joining the community, number of helpful votes, distribution of ratings.
- Bubble rating: User-assigned score to determine user satisfaction.
- Title of the review.
- Review date.
- Date of experience.
- Body of the review.

As stated earlier, we collected all available English reviews up to 2021 using a scraping script developed in Python with the 'Beautifulsoup package,' which allowed us to retrieve the TripAdvisor reviews from HTML code.

The outcome was that 1540 reviews were collected from 2011 Until November 2021 and saved as a CSV file. The four main features identified were the review date, location, rating, and the review text.

Demographics:

We stated earlier that the main features afforded by the platform are the review date, location, rating, and review text. The only demographic detail available is the nationality of the reviewers, which is of paramount importance because, according to studies, nationality has a significant influence on tourist behavior (Pizam and Jeong, 1996), and it can even make a difference in generating satisfaction among tourists (Campo and Garau, 2008). In our research, among all the reviews, only 33,5% mentioned their origin in the review in which the leading nationality of the reviewers is the United States, followed by the United Kingdom (Fig.2)

Figure 3. Word cloud of reviewers according to nationalities Figure 5. Word cloud of reviewers from the USA according to state to state for the use of the terms of t

2.3.1.2 Data Analysis

2.3.1.2.1 Text preprocessing

The first step before data evaluation and analysis is data preprocessing. This stage is meant to format and declutter data to produce accurate results properly.

Thus, our data was preprocessed using basic natural language processing techniques. First, it corrects word features such as removing capital letters, removing punctuation, repeating words, and shortening words. The next step is to take the review as input, return a list of tokens (tokenization), and apply stopwords to these tokens to perform proper research processes and facilitate the interpretation of the results. It was to keep only the meaningful elements. The next step was to return each word to its root (lemmatization).

For example, a raw review seemed like this: « The tour is nice and it will get you through the rather unexpected Morocco's contribution to mainstream cinema. All cool and nice until the guide (official guide of the

studios) asked us if we wanted to take a picture with a couple of extras in costumes who were chilling in between scenes.

We did and then it turned out they wanted money for it!! Expected in places like Marrakech's Square but NEVER in a place where you think everybody is behaving professionally. »

The review becomes: « tour nice get rather unexpected morocco 's contribution mainstream cinema cool nice guide official guide studio ask want to take picture couple extra costume chill scene turn want money to expect a place like Marrakech square never place think everybody behaves professionally »

Technique	Description
Remove upper capitalization	Lower case each letter in the review
Word repetition	Replace word repetition with a single occurrence. 'OOOO' becomes 'OO'.
Punctuation repetition	Remove punctuation.
Word contraction	Replace contractions with their extended forms.
Stop words	Remove stop words from the review
Lemmatization	Return every word to its root.
Tokenization	Take a review as input and return a list of tokens.

Table 1.	Techniques	of data	preprocessing
----------	------------	---------	---------------

After normalizing the text, we assumed that a rating of 1-2 was negative, a rating of 4-5 was positive, and a rating of 3 was neutral. Then convert each rating into sentiment. 1 for positive sentiment, -1 for negative sentiment, 0 for neutral sentiment.

Review rating	Classification	Polarity
1 or 2	Negative	-1
3	Neutral	0
4 or 5	Positive	1

2.3.1.2.2 Features regeneration

We have enforced different exploratory data analyses to produce helpful perceptions in our corpus and understand tourists' feedback concerning their experience in Ouarzazate. This part presents the data analysis applied to our dataset.

Word cloud: is a semantic extraction from a text corpus. It is a visual representation of the most common words in a document. It is usually one of the first steps in visualization to develop an overall idea about the subject of the text corpus. Figure1 shows the most commonly used words in negative reviews.



Figure 6. word cloud of negative reviews

Word frequency: Figure 5, Figure 6, Figure 7, and Figure 8 show the most common words and their frequency in positive, negative, and neutral reviews. We can see that desert, tour, trip, and guide are the most frequently used words in positive reviews. In the negative reviews, film, movie, set, and studio are the most frequent words. As for neutral reviews, the most frequent words are film, guide, movie, and tour. This indicates that tourists are more interested in the tour in the desert than the cinema in Ouarzazate.

Then we converted our corpus into two lists, one for the review tokens (X) and one for the review sentiment (y); we used these lists to build a dictionary with the word and sentiment as an index and the count of occurrence as value (Table 3), that allows us to calculate the frequency of each word in positive, negative or neutral review (Table 4).



Figure 8. Word frequency of the top 15 most occurent



Table 3. Example of a dictionary based on token and sentiment Table 4. Some word frequency in different reviews

Word	Positive	Neutral	Negative	Word	Positive	Neutral	Negative
Place	Dict[(place,1)]	Dict.[(place,0)]	Dict.[(place,-1)]	Tour	1999	56	16
Movie	Dict.[(movie,1)]	Dict.[(movie,0)]	Dict.[(movie,-1)]	Desert	2007	10	3
				Trip	1627	4	6
				Guide	1321	64	14
				Movie	131	30	62
				Trip Guide Movie	1627 1321 131	4 64 30	6 14 62

Studio

121

50

13

3. Results

3.1 LDA Results

The first step was determining the optimal number of topics in our corpus. We used a manual evaluation of topicdocument and a manual evaluation of topic-top words. Based on this, the researchers identified three topics.

Through our reading of the results, we identified three dimensions: the movie set, the behavior of the tourism workers, and the travel experience (Table 5). We distinguish movie sets by the terms set, film, movie, and studio. The second dimension is the behavior of the tourism workers, represented by words like guide, driver, and trip. The third dimension is the travel experience, characterized by vocabularies such as tour, desert, Morocco, and experience.

The data set was split into training and testing sets and manually labeled. Each rating in the test set refers to one aspect/sentiment category.

Movie set		Behavior o	f the tourism worker	Travel experienc	е
Terms	Weight	Terms	Weight	Terms	Weight
Set	0.02439	Desert	0.11081	Tour	0.11328
film	0.02343	trip	0.09638	desert	0.09112
movie	0.02243	tour	0.07822	morocco	0.07745
see	0.01948	day	0.07622	trip	0.0683
guide	0.01933	guide	0.06283	guide	0.06645
Studio	0.01873	driver	0.05332	day	0.05463
Tour	0.01699	great	0.04833	make	0.04864
Visit	0.01535	night	0.0469	experience	0.04796
Place	0.01022	time	0.04201	driver	0.04246
Interesting	0.00883	aood	0.03982	time	0.04176

Table 5. Highlighting dimensions and terms of Ouarzazate reviews corpus

3.1.1 Lexicon-Based Model Results

Lexicon-based approaches use each word's intensity and semantic orientation to represent the phrase's attitude; this suggests using a predetermined dictionary to distinguish between positive and negative expressions. A bag of words often represents a text. Following the distribution of the individual scores for each phrase, a pooling procedure - such as averaging the total sentiments - determines the final sentiment.

Following identifying the fundamental phrases and themes within our corpus, the extracted words are subjected to a sentiment analysis technique to determine the emotions and mood associated with each dimension. Sentiment analysis is the process of looking at data and analyzing it according to the needs of the study, usually through utilizing these feelings to identify different impressions and events caused by the data. In light of this, the authors conducted a comparative analysis of the corpus for each dimension to determine tourists' preferences, needs, and main issues.

3.1.2 Using Topic Modeling for Sentiment Analysis Approach

Topic modeling is a natural language processing (NLP) technique that identifies topics in a collection of texts. LDA is one of the most popular topic modeling techniques. It assumes that documents are mixtures of topics and that each topic is distributed over words. LDA assigns topics to documents and words to topics probabilistically, seeking to find the most likely topics for each document and word based on the observed word frequencies.

3.1.2.1 Sentiment detection using VADER sentiment with LDA

We have also used the Valence Aware Dictionary and Sentiment Reasoner (VADER) to determine reviews' polarity and classify them according to multiclass sentiment analysis. VADER is a lexicon and rule-based sentiment tool for identifying user sentiments shared on social media (Elbagir and Yang, 2019).

TripAdvisor's reviews are mostly positive, indicating that 91.3% are positive, and Vader scores 97.2%.

		Positive		Neutral		Negative	
Topic	Reviews	Expected	Observed	Expected	Observed	Expected	Observed
1	285	152	245	88	10	45	30
2	670	669	669	1	0	0	1
3	591	590	588	0	2	1	1

Table 6. Summary of basic results of Vader sentiments.

3.1.2.2 Sentiment detection using Textblob

TextBlob is a Python library for processing textual data using Natural language Processing. It analyzes sentiments based on polarity and subjectivity.

Results using TextBlob were so close to Vader's results, 97.5% observed positive reviews compared to 91.3% expected positive reviews on TripAdvisor.

		Positive		Neutral		Negative	
Topic	Reviews	Expected	Observed	Expected	Observed	Expected	Observed
1	285	152	250	88	4	45	31
2	670	669	669	1	0	0	1
3	591	590	588	0	0	1	3

Table 7. Summary of basic results of TextBlob

4. Discussion

It is worth emphasizing that all reviews are explicitly scraped from the pages of the filming facilities and attractions in Ouarzazate on TripAdvisor and that most of them are positive. However, based on the study of word frequency associated with ratings, we deduce that the top three frequent words associated with positive reviews are, respectively, desert, tour, and trip (fig. 3). In comparison, the three most frequent words in negative reviews are film, movie, and see (fig. 4). Concerning the neutral reviews, the three most frequent words are, respectively, film, guide, and movie (Fig. 5).

The high frequency of positive feedback about the 'desert' in film attractions pages implies that the desert is the primary attraction to Ouarzazate and the region, making cinema-induced tourism a secondary activity on the way. Busby and Klug (2001) discuss this standard practice, confirming the existence of two distinct forms of film-induced tourism: visiting film-related attractions as a primary interest or visiting filming sites as part of a more significant holiday. The genre of movies filmed in Ouarzazate (which are primarily biblical and historical stories that feature the ancient Middle Eastern countries of Jerusalem, Jordan, Egypt, and Yemen) might have contributed to reinforcing the desert image of the region because films significantly reinforce the image held by potential visitors of a destination (Beeton, 2005). This role of film-induced tourism in enhancing the region's image is a testament to the unique potential that Ouarzazate could offer.

The dissatisfaction with the film attractions might be attributed to the fact that the leading nationality of reviewers is the United States, particularly California, the land of Hollywood and New York, this "actual" location contains iconic places for filming many blockbuster movies (Pomerance, 2007, p.11). Californians who live near Hollywood and New Yorkers who frequent the streets and coffee shops featured in many American films would have elevated expectations and, therefore, might be disappointed when comparing Hollywood studios and the actual locations to those of Ouarzazate. On the other hand, interest in the desert rather than other aspects offered by the region can be explained by the fact that the second most prevalent nationality among reviewers is the British. Tourists seek unique experiences that contrast their previous experiences (Bigné et al. 2009). The desert, with all its attributes, is in stark contrast to the usual landscape experienced by the British, Sunny, warm weather, calm atmosphere, unique geological formations, such as dunes, rock formations, canyons, unique flora and fauna, and a distinct array of manufactured landmarks and monuments characterize it. Together, these attributes may seem more exotic and excitement-triggering. Excursions through the desert using quad bikes and camels, spending a night in traditional desert camps, and admiring the sunset and sunrise in the region of Draa Tafilalet, to which Ouarzazate belongs, are the principal activities offered by all tourism agencies operating within this territory. All tour operators in the region propose tours that all end in the desert as the peak achievement of the touring adventure, either in Erg Chebbi dunes (in the east) or Erg Chigaga dunes (to the South) (see Fig. 1).

Additionally, it is noteworthy that Ouarzazate is the gate to Draa Tafilalt, given its border with Marrakech, which is the primary tourist destination in Morocco (MTAESS, 2024; Observatoire Du Tourisme, 2024). Furthermore, Ouarzazate International Airport is the main airport serving the Draa-Tafilalet region (ONDA, 2024). Therefore, it is primarily the departure and the end of one of the famous sightseeing tours known as the classical tour of the desert. Ouarzazate is not a standalone destination but rather a part of a sightseeing tour offered by most agencies operating in the region. These tours typically range from 1 to 3 days and cover the Draa Tafilalet region, an area larger than Belgium, and the Netherlands combined, with no railways, highways, and minimal domestic flights. Therefore, time is an essential resource for tourists who travel on a tight schedule and desire to reconsider priorities to maximum satisfaction in a shorter time. Thus, "time" is consistently used in positive, neutral, and negative reviews (Fig. 3, Fig. 4, Fig. 5).

However, the association of neutral and negative comments with film and cinema attractions suggests that the visitors were not fully satisfied with their visits to film attractions compared with their satisfaction with the desert. This dissatisfaction is primarily related to the archaic nature of the sets that harsh weather wears out, the behavior of some of the staff (who, according to some reviews, ask for extra tips), or the price of the tickets (8 Euros for Atlas Studio and 3 Euros for Cinema Museum). We can summarize the reasons for dislike in the following review.

Evitaki Athens, Greece • 60 contributions

凸 2 •••

Avoid it if you can!

Oct 2019 • Friends

Neglected place with very rude personel! Also they make you pay extras that they don't mention at the beginning! $8 \in$ basic entrance, plus $4 \in$ game of thrones, plus, plus, plus and on top of it you have to pay also the local guide to explain what you see. These people are not professionals at all. There are bigger and new studios close by instead of this awful place. Total waste of time...

It is crucial to acknowledge that film tourists have distinct profiles compared to other categories of tourists, mainly nature tourists. Before visiting and appreciating a film-related attraction, they must possess some prerequisites. Film tourists are typically cinephiles who visit locations featured in a movie they have previously watched. Therefore, a serendipitous or incidental tourist (Macionis and Sparks, 2009) who is not interested in cinema or has yet to watch the movie associated with the visited site (possibly by chance) would have a different gaze and perspective than a specific film tourist. The following review illustrates our hypothesis, presenting a contrasting perspective to the preceding one.



凸1 …

00000

Atlas film studio

sept. 2019

as a person who loves movies i was overwhelmed by this studio.to walk and see a set as this is a truly wonderful experience.the sets are beautifully kept and walking thru is a wonderful experience.i highly recommend a visit to this set so you too can experience a walk inside movie making.

The two comments are separated by one month but convey contradictory viewpoints. Therefore, it is necessary to examine further the cause of this discrepancy in perspectives and emotions toward the exact location.

As stated earlier, the topic modeling method demonstrates that one can infer three topics from the global corpus of reviews. The first topic is cinema and movie sets, the second one is the behavior of the tourism workers, and the third is the tourist experience. The first topic seems evident since we are dealing with pages of cinema and film attractions. The second topic emphasizes the crucial role of tourism workers, especially drivers and tour guides, in creating a positive or negative impression in a tourist's mind. Finally, experience seems to be the most important takeaway that tourists focus on in their visit to any destination, and this is a shift in modern consumer behavior from the focus on the product and service to experience, which is considered the core of the whole tourism operation (Sarmiento-Guede *et al.* 2021).

Conclusion and Implications

The study of the 1540 reviews (from 2011 to 2021) on film tourism in Ouarzazate available on TripAdvisor, using sentiment analysis, shows that cinema is related to negative sentiment while desert tourism looks positive, which leads us to conclude that the aspect of a desert destination is the hallmark that eclipses other attributes of the region, especially cinema. The city is nicknamed the Hollywood of Africa and welcomes its visitors with cinematic emblems that stand as city landmarks. However, the cinematic image attributed to the city is still dominated and resisted by the stereotyped image of a sunny desert region inhabited by the Berber nomads. Although cinema is not a significant pull factor for Ouarzazate, it can still play a pivotal role in promoting the region and the country. It is a powerful tool embedded into the destination promotion strategy.

Online reviews on various platforms should be invested as insightful, ready-to-use feedback to improve the service provided by film-related facilities and guarantee a positive reputation among potential tourists. Online reviews, especially negative ones, should be addressed as complaints that offer an opportunity to improve the cinema destination (Heung and Lam 2003, 283). Research shows that consumers will be more likely to consider negative than positive e-WOM reviews in their decision-making process, given that the former is more truthful, influential, helpful, and valuable than the latter (Von Helversen *et al.* 2018). Negative reviews substantially affect potential visitors' attitudes and behaviors (Von Helversen *et al.* 2018). Thus, the increase in negative reviews related to cinema should alarm decision-makers.

The literature recognizes that cinema management's primary purpose in building film sets in Ouarzazate is purely cinematographic. Once the filming is over, filmmakers leave the site (Beeton, 2005), and then the inherited sceneries are exploited as tourist attractions by any right holder. Thus, in this sense, tourism is a side/extra activity that fills the gap between filming periods, which might explain why cinema managers give limited attention to this niche.

All stakeholders should collaborate by establishing a synchronized policy to promote the region and build an attractive destination to face the growing competition from emerging film destinations with similar properties to Ouarzazate, like Jordan, Tunisia, and Saudi Arabia. Tourism and cinema management should cooperate to sustain this niche by encouraging more film productions through practical measures like tax incentives, procedure facilitation, and consideration of the tourism dimension while preparing the movie sets. We also recommend organizing cinema-related events to attract cinephiles and devise instructional and entertaining experiences to satisfy tourists during their visits to cinema-related facilities.

Ultimately, the results also accentuate the role of tour guides and drivers. Thus, it is necessary to provide formal training for cinema tour guides like other specialized tour guides and raise tour drivers' awareness regarding the responsibility they hold vis-à-vis the image and reputation of the destination.

Limitations and Future Research

We acknowledge that analyzing tourists' sentiments based solely on English reviews retrieved from TripAdvisor may have limitations. Using data from a single platform may result in platform bias (Twil *et al.* 2021), as tourists often share their reviews on other platforms like Google Maps or other social media platforms. Furthermore, most tourists do not leave reviews about every visited destination. On top of that, people tend to comment on what they dislike more than what they like because adverse experiences have more impact than positive ones (Baumeister *et al.* 2001). Additionally, we do not disregard the possibility of fraudulent reviews within the corpus. As a result, we recommend conducting a similar study on other platforms, such as Google Maps, in the three main languages used by site reviewers: English, French, and Spanish, and ensuring the genuineness of exploited reviews.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude to Dr. Omar Bencharef, Dr. Khalid Elhousni, and Dr. Laarbi Safaa. We highly appreciate their constructive guidance.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Moulay Abdellah Taibi: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Data curation, Validation, Writing – review and editing, Visualization.

Raja Hanbali: Methodology, Software, Formal analysis, Data curation, Validation, Visualization.

Fatima-Zohra Iflahen: Supervision, Validation, Writing – review and editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- [1] Agrusa, J., and Linnes, C. and Lema, J. and Metcalf, B. 2018. Data Mining in Film Tourism. 6. 51-69
- [2] Twil, A., Bidan, M., Bencharef, O., Kaloune, S., and Safa, L. 2021. Exploring destination's negative e-reputation using aspect-based sentiment analysis approach: Case of Marrakech destination on TripAdvisor. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 40. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2021.100892</u>
- [3] Sarmiento-Guede, J. and Antonovica, A. and Antolín-Prieto, R. 2021. Instagram as a value co-creation tool for the image of tourist destination. Analysis of the case of Spain during Covid-19: the Balearic and the Canary Islands Instagram. 42. 798-1015. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.48082/espacios-a21v42n12p07</u>
- [4] Arianto, D., and Budi, I. (2020, October). Aspect-based sentiment analysis on indonesia's tourism destinations based on google maps user code-mixed reviews (study case: Borobudur and prambanan temples). In Proceedings of the 34th Pacific Asia Conference on Language, Information and Computation (pp. 359-367).
- [5] Baumeister, R. F., Bratslavsky, E., Finkenauer, C., and Vohs, K. D. 2001. Bad is Stronger than Good. *Review of General Psychology*, 5(4): 323–370. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.5.4.323</u>
- [6] Busby, G., and Klug, J. 2001. Movie-induced tourism: The challenge of measurement and other issues. *Journal of vacation marketing*, 7(4): 316-332. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/135676670100700403</u>
- [7] Campo, S., and Garau, J. B. 2008. The Influence of Nationality on the Generation of Tourist Satisfaction with a Destination. Tourism Analysis, 13(1): 81–92. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3727/108354208784548779</u>
- [8] Chang, L. L., Backman, K. F., and Huang, Y. C. 2014. Creative tourism: a preliminary examination of creative tourists' motivation, experience, perceived value and revisit intention. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism,* and Hospitality Research, 8(4): 401–419. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCTHR-04-2014-0032</u>
- [9] Elbagir, S., and Yang, J. (2019, March). Twitter sentiment analysis using natural language toolkit and VADER sentiment. In *Proceedings of the international multiconference of engineers and computer scientists* (Vol. 122, p. 16).
- [10] Fan, X., and Luo, Y. 2020. Value Co-Creation: A Literature Review. Open Journal of Social Sciences, 8(02): 89–98. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2020.82008</u>
- [11] Fong, A. 2010. The influence of online reviews: Case study of TripAdvisor and the effect of fake reviews. *Digital Research and Publishing*, 6: 106-113.
- [12] Garner, B., Thornton, C., Luo Pawluk, A., Mora Cortez, R., Johnston, W., and Ayala, C. 2022. Utilizing textmining to explore consumer happiness within tourism destinations. *Journal of Business Research*, 139: 1366– 1377. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.08.025</u>
- [13] Ge, J. 2022. Research on Small Island Tourism Experience Perception Based on Big Data Analysis. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 2020(115): 39–41. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/48640382</u>
- [14] González-Rodríguez, M. R., Díaz-Fernández, M. C., Bilgihan, A., Shi, F., and Okumus, F. (2021). UGC involvement, motivation and personality: Comparison between China and Spain. *Journal of Destination Marketing and Management*, 19. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2020.100543</u>
- [15] González-Rodríguez, M. R., Martínez-Torres, M. R., and Toral, S. L. (2014, December). Monitoring travelrelated information on social media through sentiment analysis. In 2014 IEEE/ACM 7th International Conference on Utility and Cloud Computing (pp. 636-641). IEEE. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/UCC.2014.102</u>
- [16] Grönroos, C. 2012. Conceptualizing value co-creation: A journey to the 1970s and back to the future. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 28(13–14): 1520–1534. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2012.737357</u>
- [17] Hennig-Thurau, T., Gwinner, K. P., Walsh, G., and Gremler, D. D. 2004. Electronic word-of-mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: What motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the Internet? *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 18(1): 38–52. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dir.10073</u>

- [18] Heung, V. C. S., and Lam, T. 2003. Customer complaint behavior towards hotel restaurant services. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 15(5): 283–289. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09596110310482209</u>
- [19] Jelodar, H., Wang, Y., Yuan, C., Feng, X., Jiang, X., Li, Y., and Zhao, L. (2018). Latent Dirichlet allocation (LDA) and topic modeling: models, applications, a survey. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-018-6894-4</u>
- [20] Lam, J. M. S., Ismail, H., and Lee, S. 2020. From desktop to the destination: User-generated content platforms, co-created online experiences, destination image, and satisfaction. *Journal of Destination Marketing and Management*, 18. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2020.100490</u>
- [21] Larsen, S., Wolff, K., Doran, R., and Øgaard, T. 2019. What makes tourist experiences interesting? Frontiers in Psychology, 10(AUG). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01603</u>
- [22] Lu, W., and Stepchenkova, S. 2015. User-Generated Content as a Research Mode in Tourism and Hospitality Applications: Topics, Methods, and Software. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 24(2): 119– 154. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2014.907758</u>
- [23] Payne, A. F., Storbacka, K., and Frow, P. 2008. Managing the co-creation of value. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 36(1): 83–96. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-007-0070-0</u>
- [24] Pizam, A., and Jeong, G.-H. 1996. Cross-cultural tourist behavior. *Tourism Management*, 17(4): 277–286. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0261-5177(96)00019-2</u>
- [25] Reichenberger, I. 2017. C2C value co-creation through social interactions in tourism. International Journal of Tourism Research, 19(6): 629–638. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.2135</u>
- [26] Rutherford, T., and Marshall, R. 2017. Morocco's Cinema City. Aramcoworld, 68(5), 24-31. Retrieved from https://www.aramcoworld.com/Articles/September-2017/Morocco-s-Cinema-City
- [27] Safaaa, L., Housni, K. E., and Bédard, F. 2017. Authenticity and Tourism: What TripAdvisor Reviews Reveal About Authentic Travel to Marrakech. In R. Schegg and B. Stangl (Eds.), *Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism*. Springer, Cham. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51168-9_43</u>
- [28] Shayaa, S., et al. 2018. Sentiment analysis of big data: Methods, applications, and open challenges. IEEE Access, 6: 37807–37827. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2851311</u>
- [29] Sigala, M. 2016. Social Media and the Co-creation of Tourism Experiences. In The Handbook of Managing and Marketing Tourism Experiences (pp. 85–111). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78635-290-320161033</u>
- [30] Sthapit, E., Del Chiappa, G., Coudounaris, D. N., and Björk, P. 2019. Tourism experiences, memorability and behavioural intentions: a study of tourists in Sardinia, Italy. *Tourism Review*, 75(3): 533–558. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/tr-03-2019-0102</u>
- [31] Taibi, M.A., and Iflahen, F. Z. 2023. Cinema-induced Tourism in Morocco: A narrative review. *Environment-Behaviour Proceedings Journal*, 8. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.21834/ebpj.v8i23.4507</u>
- [32] Vargo, S. L., and Lusch, R. F. (2008). Service-dominant logic: Continuing the evolution. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 36(1): 1–10. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-007-0069-6</u>
- [33] Vargo, S. L., Lusch, R. F., Smith, R. H., Hunt, S., Laczniak, G., Malter, A., Morgan, F., and O'Brien, M. (2004). Evolving to a New Dominant Logic for Marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 68: 1–17.
- [34] Vayansky, I., and Kumar, S. A. P. 2020. A review of topic modeling methods. *Information Systems*, 101582. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.is.2020.101582</u>
- [35] Vickery, G., and Wunsch-Vincent, S. 2007. Participative web and user-created content: Web 2.0 wikis and social networking. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD).
- [36] Von Helversen, B., Abramczuk, K., Kopeć, W., and Nielek, R. 2018. Influence of consumer reviews on online purchasing decisions in older and younger adults. *Decision Support Systems*, 113: 1–10. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2018.05.006</u>

- [37] Wang, Y., and Rodgers, S. 2010. Electronic word of mouth and consumer-generated content: From concept to application. In Handbook of Research on Digital Media and Advertising: User Generated Content Consumption (pp. 212–231). IGI Global. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-792-8.ch011</u>
- [38] Xu, G., Yu, Z., Chen, Z., Qiu, X., and Yao, H. 2019. Sensitive Information Topics-Based Sentiment Analysis Method for Big Data. IEEE Access, 7, 96177–96190. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2927360</u>
- [39] Yoo, K.-H., Sigala, M., and Gretzel, U. 2016. Exploring TripAdvisor. In Tourism on the Verge (pp. 239–255). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-54089-9_17</u>
- [40] Law, R. 2006. Internet and Tourism Part XXI. Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing, 20(1): 75–77. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1300/j073v20n01_06</u>
- [41] Ministère du Tourisme, de l'Artisanat et de l'Economie Sociale et Solidaire (2024). Evolution par destination des nuitées réalisées dans les établissements d'hébergement touristique. Ministère Du Tourisme, De L'Artisanat Et De L'Economie Sociale Et Solidaire. Retrieved May 6, 2024, from https://mtaess.gov.ma/fr/tourisme/chiffres-cles
- [42] Observatoire Du Tourisme 2024. Statistiques sur le tourisme au Maroc pour le mois de mai 2024. In <u>https://www.observatoiredutourisme.ma/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/TDB-NATIONAL-MAI-2024.pdf</u>.
- [43] Office National Des Aéroports. (2024, July 22). Communiqués de presse: Aéroports du Maroc : trafic aérien au premier semestre 2024. Retrieved July 31, 2024, from <u>https://www.onda.ma/Je-d%C3%A9couvre-ONDA/Espace-presse/Communiqu%C3%A9s-de-presse</u>
- [44] TripAdvisor. 2023. Homepage. Retrieved from https://www.tripadvisor.com/



DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).13

Al in Competitive Intelligence, Traditional and New Techniques for Gathering and Analysing Data

Silvia Denisa TARANU Bucharest University of Economic Studies Doctoral School of Business Administration, Bucharest, Romania <u>Taranusilvia08@stud.ase.ro</u>

Adrian Gabriel CIORANU Bucharest University of Economic Studies Doctoral School of Business Administration, Bucharest, Romania <u>Cioranuadrian21@stud.ase.ro</u>

Article info: Received 5 June 2024; Received in revised form 26 June 2024; Accepted for publication 23 July 2024; Published 30 August 2024. Copyright© 2024 The Author(s). Published by ASERS Publishing 2024. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of CC-BY 4.0 license.

Abstract: In this paper we explored the relationship between Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Competitive Intelligence (CI), attempting a definition of CI that considers the various dimensions it is defined by. Thus, we delved into data collection, analysis, and how intelligence is generated. We further analysed how advanced tools and technologies such as machine learning algorithms are used to enable real-time monitoring of competitors to derive CI. Applications of AI/CI to tourism are being discussed in the context of the analysis, bringing a practical approach and insights. We completed our analysis with ethical considerations that have an impact on both the quality of the intelligence and the deeper, social implications. We concluded by proposing a practical definition of CI that incorporates the latest technological advancements, including those brought by AI, with the ultimate goal to provide a reference that ensures companies can draw the best and most reliable results from CI.

Keywords: competitive intelligence; artificial intelligence; business intelligence in tourism.

JEL Classification: O14; O21; O31; D24 ; Z32.

Introduction

1. Literature Review

The tourism industry has become ever more reliant upon data to stay competitive and to increase the offer, reaching new markets and developing new products and services, and to identify emerging travel trends. Tailoring to clients in the era or technology relies on how destinations will be able to attract tourists, as the competition with other destinations is turning global, facilitated by the access to information but also a lower cost of traveling especially by air. Predicting tourist behaviors and preferences as tools of business intelligence becomes thus imperative, and the vast amount of – available –data makes it impossible to track and analyse save for the use of AI.

The first use of "business intelligence" term was back in 1865 by the author Richard Devens in his volume "Cyclopaedia of Commercial and Business Anecdotes". Competitive intelligence is absolutely an old concept, but it emerged as a discipline and a standalone process as of 1970.Until then, companies around the world and regardless the industry reached competitive advantage in their areas thanks to strategic decisions supported by CI but, as authors Gilad and Herring wrote, this was made in a less organized way and without the exact function called Business/Competitive Intelligence. (Gilad, Herring, 2001)

By year 1998, it was estimated that in the US, over 80% of companies with annual revenues of over \$10 billion had implemented a BI/CI system. Even mid-sized companies that did not have the capacity to build in-house BI/CI teams outsourced project development, analysis and reporting to consultants and intelligence companies

As stated in the paper "Towards a universal definition of competitive intelligence" written by Rene Pellissier and Tshilidzi E. Nenzhelele in the SAJIM paper, there are many definitions of CI in the literature (Weiss and Naylor

2010) and none has achieved worldwide acceptance (Roitner 2008). These definitions differ only by semantic changes in language and emphasis (Brody 2008).

According to author Ben Gilad a more focused definition of competitive intelligence considers the organizational function responsible for the early identification of risks and opportunities in the market, before they become apparent. Experts also call this process early signal analysis and it results in an early warning system.

Haddadi, Dousset, and Berrada (2010) assert that the absence of a universally acknowledged definition of CI contributes to its perceived lack of clear boundaries. CI is frequently conflated with industrial espionage (Colakoglu 2011).

The literature review shows that CI transformed over time in terms of definition and got various interpretations. Some of the definitions of the CI process are:

"A process of monitoring the competitive environment by pulling together data and information from a very large and strategic perspective, to predict or forecast what is going to happen in the competitive environment of an enterprise (Bose 2008)."

"An ongoing, systematic evaluation of the external environment for opportunities, threats and developments that could have an impact on the enterprise and influence reactive decision-making (Strauss and Du Toit 2010)."

"The process of collecting, analysing and applying information about products, clients and competitors to meet the enterprise's long-term and short-term planning needs (Othenin-Girard, Caron and Guillemette 2011)."

Other definitions are built around the sources of CI:

"The purposeful and coordinated monitoring of your competitors, wherever and whoever they may be, within a specific marketplace (Johnson 2005)."

"Any type of activity aimed at monitoring competitors (potential and current) and gathering information of all types, including about human resource practices, sales and marketing, research and development and general strategy (Tarraf and Molz 2006)."

"CI is the process and forward-looking practices used in producing knowledge about the competitive environment to improve organizational performance" (Madureira *et al.* 2021).

2. Method also Called Materials and Methods or Experimental Methods

Looking at CI as a process (Figure 1), there are several stages that CI experts build their deliverables on:

Planning: Identifying the purpose and needs of the organization regarding competitive information.

Data collection: Gathering relevant information about competitors, markets, and trends from various sources such as financial reports, press, websites, and other public or private sources of information.

Data analysis: Evaluating and interpreting the collected information to identify patterns, trends, and opportunities relevant to the organization.



Figure 1. Competitive intelligence dimensions

Source: Botha, D.F. & Boon, J.A., 2008, Competitive intelligence in support of strategic training and learning, South African Journal of Information Management 10(3), 1–6.

FIGURE 1: The competitive intelligence process.

Source: Madureira et al. (2021)

Generating insights and reports: Developing and presenting reports or analyses that synthesize competitive information and provide relevant insights and recommendations for strategic decisions.

Distribution and use of information: Communicating the analysis results to key decision-makers within the organization and using this information to guide strategic and operational decisions.

Continuous monitoring and updating: Maintaining constant surveillance of the competitive environment to identify relevant changes and developments and updating the information and analyses accordingly.

These recurrent activities can be summarised and categorised under the following four CI processes: planning, collection, analysis and dissemination. (Cavallo *et al.* 2021).

Competitive Intelligence (CI) holds significant importance within the business landscape. There are several factors to be mentioned:

Strategic Decision Making: CI furnishes invaluable insights into market trends, competitor strategies, and industry dynamics, empowering businesses to make strategic decisions based on solid information. By grasping the competitive environment, organizations can pinpoint growth opportunities and pre-empt potential risks.

Risk Mitigation: CI aids businesses in anticipating and managing risks by identifying potential threats and vulnerabilities in the market. This proactive stance enables companies to adjust their strategies and operations, minimizing risks and leveraging emerging opportunities.

Market Position Enhancement: Through the analysis of competitor actions and market shifts, CI assists businesses in spotting market gaps and crafting distinctive value propositions. This enables companies to set themselves apart from competitors and fortify their market stance.

Fostering Innovation: CI delivers insights into emerging technologies, consumer preferences, and industry trends, fueling innovation within organizations. By staying ahead of market advancements, businesses can develop novel products and services that align with evolving customer demands.

Gaining Competitive Edge: By providing timely and relevant information, CI equips businesses with a competitive advantage that competitors may lack. By comprehending competitor strengths and weaknesses, companies can capitalize on opportunities and address threats more effectively.

Optimizing Resource Allocation: CI assists businesses in optimizing resource allocation by pinpointing promising areas and identifying potential risks. By strategically allocating resources based on CI insights, organizations can maximize their returns on investment while minimizing wastage of resources

Overall, CI is indispensable for businesses navigating the intricate and competitive business environment, enabling them to make well-informed decisions, mitigate risks, and seize opportunities for growth and innovation.

However, it is not only businesses but also tourist destinations that can benefit from analysing vast amounts of data that is posted online. As an applied example, AI would be best suited to comb through destination images posted by tourists that reflect in the end their perception of the given destination, while revealing valuable information about the tourist destination. The perception comprises elements of pleasure and sensation, feelings expressed through online platforms where tourists share their experiences, such as Instagram (Blanco-Moreno *et al.* 2024). Understanding the behavior of tourists as reflected in the social media requires an analysis performed using AI techniques, which would ultimately allow destination managers to adjust their goals and strategies, in what we see as an application of CI to tourism that holds significant practical opportunities of expanding from a scientific/past data analysis to a predictive CI model.

3. Research Methodology

Artificial Intelligence (AI) refers to the simulation of human intelligence processes by machines, particularly computer systems. It encompasses various techniques such as machine learning, natural language processing, computer vision, and robotics, among others. AI has gained significant attention and adoption across various industries due to its potential to automate tasks, analyse vast amounts of data and make predictions or decisions. Public perception about AI raises sentiments ranging from total and arguably reckless adoption to a dystopian image (Sheikh *et al.* 2023).

Having said that, we should acknowledge the benefits of AI, while drawing a line to the limitations and the pitfalls of AI, which can lead to negative interpretations and a resistance to change that has no proven basis. However, we deem that an AI governance structure must exist. In fact, several government initiatives have been made in this regard, with Canada becoming in 2017 the first country to implement a national AI strategy (Attard-Frost *et al.* 2024).

In the realm of Competitive Intelligence (CI), AI plays a transformative role in enhancing the effectiveness and efficiency of CI processes. Here are some key aspects of AI's role in CI:

Data Collection and Analysis: Al-powered tools can automate the collection and analysis of data from diverse sources such as websites, social media platforms, news articles, and market reports. These tools can sift through large volumes of data, identify relevant information, and extract actionable insights, thereby streamlining the CI process.

Pattern Recognition and Prediction: Al algorithms excel at recognizing patterns and trends within data, enabling CI professionals to identify emerging market trends, competitor strategies, and consumer preferences. By leveraging predictive analytics, AI can forecast future developments in the competitive landscape, helping businesses stay ahead of the curve.

Natural Language Processing (NLP): NLP technology allows AI systems to understand and process human language, including text data from sources such as customer reviews, forums, and industry reports. NLP enables CI practitioners to extract valuable insights from unstructured data sources, such as sentiment analysis of customer feedback or identification of key market trends from textual data.

Automated Monitoring and Alerts: Al-driven monitoring systems can continuously track changes in the competitive landscape, alerting CI teams to relevant developments in real-time. These automated alerts enable CI professionals to respond swiftly to market shifts, competitor actions, and emerging threats or opportunities.

Enhanced Decision Support: Al-powered analytics tools provide CI professionals with advanced decision support capabilities, enabling them to make data-driven decisions with greater confidence. By integrating Al-driven insights into strategic planning and decision-making processes, businesses can optimize their competitive strategies and resource allocation.

In the tourism industry, ethical considerations and privacy concerns present high stakes, especially since personal data is intrinsically linked to images and videos posted online by tourists. As with any other system, programming biases should be carefully considered to avoid unfair practices. Arguably, the governance structure we referred to above should also consider these practical implications of what should be a responsible use of data.

Overall, AI serves as a powerful enabler of Competitive Intelligence by automating data collection and analysis, facilitating predictive insights, and enhancing decision support capabilities. As AI technologies continue to evolve, their role in CI is expected to expand further, empowering businesses to gain a competitive edge in increasingly dynamic and complex market environments.

4. Research Results

Part of the "process" CI dimension, data analysis implies the information has been gathered via various means – market reports, competitor websites, news articles, social media, and customer feedback – automated or not, and it is used to derive as output meaningful and actionable insights. The quality of the "intelligence". As Madureira et all (2023) highlighted, the value of intelligence does not reside in it being a factual truth, but rather to provide actionable insights, which would, using the judgement of the analyst, would create more knowledge. This knowledge will then continue to enhance existing data, for a continuation of the cycle that ends with additional information and additional insights that ultimately create more intelligence.

To process vast amounts of datasets and to process that information to derive meaningful and actionable items that would permit the identification of relevant competitive intelligence and insights in terms of threats and opportunities, patterns and trends (Bharadiya, 2023), we need to make us of machine learning algorithms (MLAs). Such MLAs use historical data as data pool from which they draw the relevant conclusions. The sheer amount of data is what makes MLAs essential for the objectives of the tasks to be met, as the volume of information far exceeds human capabilities to process it. Extracting and calculating such volumes of information is nonetheless essential to reveal the hidden potential of the data and to derive competitive intelligence that would advance a company's competitive edge.

5. Discussions

The link between CI and marketing and the subsequent implications regarding company strategy have been studied for a long time (Calof *et al.* 2008). Strategic management relies on effective CI, especially from a resource planning perspective. As such, AI can be used to maximize CI capabilities and monitor competitor's activities

CI has been researched in association with Big Data. Characterized by such high volume, speed and variety that makes its transformation into what de facto becomes CI, Big Data is placed at the intersection between information, technology, methods and impact (De Mauro, A. *et al.* 2016). Research also found there is a lack of standardised architecture in the CI process, and that businesses still rely largely on rather basic tools, given the complexity and of maintaining a data warehouse on one hand, and the challenges of the staff and building a big data model that is able to parse through data and identify fake information (Jayanthi R at all, 2021).

Other authors deem that Big Data may not always represent the ideal solution, despite the majority of the firms believing that it will change the competitive landscape and the significant investments in big data (Ghasemaghaei, M. *et al.* 2020).

However, the authors of this paper find fake data to pose one of the most critical challenges to any CI models and any AI models for this matter, whether grouped under the Big Data umbrella or otherwise, since it becomes ever more complex and difficult to identify it correctly and to avoid false positives. Eventually, to overcome these challenges, a final judgement call will require the human intervention of an analyst.

An interesting study on the impact of social media and the challenges to deriving meaningful information for decision making points to the need to identify business events, as observable actions or circumstances, such as a new service or product, that can be further explored in view of drawing a competitive advantage (Yuan, H. *et al.* 2023).

Drawing on events as mentioned above or any similar activity was enabled by the rapid technological advancements. Automating the actions monitor, detect, and analyse competitors' data moved from a manual, labour-intensive and time-consuming exercise to performing AI tools (Forbes, 2024).

Whether regarding data on competitors' prices, various partnerships they enter, customer feedback, or market opportunities, the speed with which a company can analyse all this and mould the information into CI is critical. Time being of the essence, it required 24/7 digital capabilities. We must draw the attention to the aspect we have mentioned above, which is the need to have a final call made by an analyst that, despite human limitations and possible errors, remains a reliable factor when deciding which CI should be used for business purposes that bear financial and strategical implications.

There is a growing concern amongst all stakeholders - whether general public, regulators, or companies - about the ethics around AI in general and its deployment in particular, with a focus on reducing or ideally eliminating biases and discrimination, ensuring a transparent modus operandi, making the results more trustworthy, accessible and better interpretable according to various inputs (Bharadiya *et al.* 2023).

Conclusions and Further Research

Based on the analysis above, we propose as definition of CI the systematic and ethical process through which companies monitor and maximize publicly available information and internal intelligence on competitors using AI and traditional methods to make strategic decisions.

We deem this definition covers the aspects researched already in the doctrine, while offering a clean – and clear – link between the volume of data, type of data, means used to process the information, capabilities necessary, and technology progress needed to move from data to information to competitive intelligence using Al using a balanced approach, which is ethical and provides tangible competitive advantages.

The significant benefits tourism can draw from integrating AI into CI translate into a better planning and an enhanced operational efficiency, built on developing and tailoring products and services using AI insights on travel behavior, preferences, trends, and (new) needs of the travelers that otherwise would be challenging to identify. The success of this approach relies on one hand on how ethical the practices are, and how reliable and accurate the results are on the other hand. These are the two faces of the same coin, since any progress stemming from an enhanced use of CI in the context of large amounts of publicly available data can only be sustained if ethical considerations are addressed.

We acknowledge that some limitations to the present study may stem from the fact that we did not apply the definition to a wide range of cases. Therefore, some additional tests may be conducted to further our research and to strengthen our definition. Nevertheless, the authors of this study are confident that applying the proposed definition fits well with the goal of providing a reference for companies to draw the best and most reliable results from CI, maximizing the benefits from AI, and reinforcing the framework for a practical yet ethical use of information.

Credit Authorship Contribution Statement

Silvia Denisa Taranu: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing – review and editing.

Adrian Gabriel Cioranu: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing – review and editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Use of Generative AI and AI-Assisted Technologies

The authors declare that they have not used generative AI and AI-assisted technologies during the preparation of this work.

References

- Attard-Frost, B., Brandusescu, A., Lyons, K. The governance of artificial intelligence in Canada: Findings and opportunities from a review of 84 AI governance initiatives, *Government Information Quarterly*, 41(2). DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gig.2024.101929</u>
- [2] Bharadiya, J. P. 2023. Machine learning and AI in business intelligence: Trends and opportunities. *International Journal of Computer (IJC)*, 48(1): 123-134.
- [3] Blanco-Moreno, S., et al. 2024. What do you do or with whom? Understanding happiness with the tourism experience: an AI approach applied to Instagram. Humanit Soc Sci Commun 11, 346. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-024-02859-z</u>
- [4] Calof, J.L. and Wright, S. 2008. Competitive intelligence: A practitioner, academic and inter-disciplinary perspective. *European Journal of Marketing*, 42 (7/8): 717-730. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/03090560810877114</u>
- [5] Cavallo A., Sanasi, S., Ghezzi, A. and Rangone, A. 2021. Competitive intelligence and strategy formulation: connecting the dots. *Competitiveness Review*, 31(2): 250-275. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-01-2020-0009</u>
- [6] De Mauro, A., Greco, M., and Grimaldi, M. 2016. Library Review, 65. 122-135. DOI: <u>10.1108/LR-06-2015-0061.</u>
- [7] Ghasemaghaei, M., and Calic, G. 2020. Assessing the impact of big data on firm innovation performance: Big data is not always better data, *Journal of Business Research*, 108: 147-162, DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.09.062</u>
- [8] Harnessing AI To Take Competitor Analysis To The Next Level, Forbes, <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesbusinesscouncil/2023/10/19/harnessing-ai-to-take-competitor-analysis-to-the-next-level/</u>
- [9] Jayanthi R. and Cyril F. 2021. Big Data Analytics in Building the Competitive Intelligence of Organizations. International Journal of Information Management, Volume 56. DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102231</u>
- [10] Sheikh, H., Prins, C., Schrijvers, E. 2023. Artificial Intelligence: Definition and Background. In: Mission AI. Research for Policy. Springer, Cham. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-21448-6_2</u>
- [11] Yuan, H., Deng, W., Ma, B., Qian, Y. 2023. Monitoring Events of Market Competitors: A Text Mining Method for Analyzing Massive Firm-Generated Social Media. J. Theor. Appl. Electron. Commer. Res. 18: 908-927.

ASERS



Web: www.aserspublishing.eu URL: http://www.journals.aserspublishing.eu/jemt E-mail: jemt@aserspublishing.eu ISSN 2068 – 7729 Journal DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt Journal's Issue DOI: https://doi.org/10.14505/jemt.v15.3(75).00